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PART I

Item 1.    Business.

Company Overview

Baxter International Inc., through its subsidiaries, provides a broad portfolio of essential healthcare products, including acute and chronic dialysis
therapies; sterile intravenous (IV) solutions; infusion systems and devices; parenteral nutrition therapies; inhaled anesthetics; generic injectable
pharmaceuticals; surgical hemostat and sealant products, advanced surgical equipment; smart bed systems; patient monitoring and diagnostic
technologies; and respiratory health devices. These products are used by hospitals, kidney dialysis centers, nursing homes, rehabilitation
centers, ambulatory surgery centers, doctors’ offices and patients at home under physician supervision. Our global footprint and the critical
nature of our products and services play a key role in expanding access to healthcare in emerging and developed countries. As of December 31,
2023, we manufactured products in over 20 countries and sold them in over 100 countries.

Baxter International Inc. was incorporated under Delaware law in 1931. As used in this report, “Baxter International” means Baxter International
Inc. and “we", "our” or "us" means Baxter International and its consolidated subsidiaries, unless the context otherwise requires.

Recent Strategic Actions

In mid-2022, our Board of Directors authorized a strategic review of our business portfolio, with the goal of increasing stockholder value. As part
of that review process, we identified and evaluated a range of potential strategic actions, including opportunities for sales and other separation
transactions. In January 2023, following the completion of that review, we announced the following planned strategic actions that are intended to
enhance our operational effectiveness, accelerate innovation and drive additional stockholder value: (a) a proposed spinoff of our Kidney Care
business into an independent publicly traded company focused on kidney care and organ support (the proposed spinoff), (b) our development of
a new operating model to simplify our operations and better align our manufacturing and supply chain to our commercial activities and (c) our
pursuit of strategic alternatives for our BioPharma Solutions (BPS) business.

Following these actions, we intend to emerge as a stronger hospital solutions and connected care company. As a more focused business, we
expect to be better positioned to make strategic investments to accelerate our vision and to deliver differentiated value to our stakeholders with
our unique combination of products, therapies and connected care platforms.

Proposed Separation of Kidney Care Business

We are working to complete the proposed separation of our Kidney Care business in the interest of establishing an independent company
focused on kidney care and organ support. While we continue to evaluate all strategic options in the interest of maximizing stockholder value, we
continue to progress towards our current target of July 2024 for completion of the proposed spinoff of this business. In both 2023 and 2022 we
generated $4.45 billion of net sales from our Kidney Care segment, representing approximately 30% and 31%, respectively, of our consolidated
net sales. We intend for the proposed spinoff to qualify as tax-free to Baxter and our stockholders for U.S. federal income tax purposes. The
proposed spinoff is subject to the satisfaction of customary conditions, including final approval from our Board of Directors, the filing and
effectiveness of a registration statement on Form 10, receipt of an Internal Revenue Service (IRS) ruling or related tax opinions from counsel,
satisfactory completion of financing arrangements, consultations with works councils and other employee representative bodies and any
necessary regulatory approvals.

There can be no guarantees that the proposed separation will be completed in the form of a spinoff or over the timeframe described above, or at
all.
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Implementation of New Operating Model and Resulting Segment Change

Our reportable segments were previously comprised of the following geographic segments related to our legacy Baxter business: Americas
(North and South America), EMEA (Europe, Middle East and Africa) and APAC (Asia Pacific), and a global segment for our Hillrom business. In
the third quarter of 2023, we completed the implementation of a new operating model intended to simplify and streamline our operations and
better align our manufacturing and supply chain to our commercial activities. Under this new operating model, our business is comprised of four
segments: Medical Products and Therapies, Healthcare Systems and Technologies (formerly referred to as our Hillrom segment),
Pharmaceuticals and Kidney Care (which would become an independent publicly traded company following the completion of the proposed
spinoff transaction). Our segment reporting was changed during the third quarter of 2023 to align with our new operating model and prior period
segment disclosures have been revised to reflect the new segments.

Sale of BPS Business

On September 29, 2023, we completed the sale of our BPS business and received cash proceeds of $3.96 billion from that transaction. The
financial position, results of operations and cash flows of our BPS business, including the $2.88 billion pre-tax gain ($2.59 billion net of tax) from
the sale of that business and the related cash proceeds received, are reported as discontinued operations in the accompanying consolidated
financial statements. We intend to use substantially all of the after-tax proceeds from this transaction to repay certain of our debt obligations,
including $514 million of commercial paper borrowings and $2.28 billion of long-term debt that we repaid during the fourth quarter of 2023.

Acquisition of Hillrom

On December 13, 2021, we completed our acquisition of all outstanding equity interests of Hill-Rom Holdings, Inc. (Hillrom) for a purchase price
of $10.48 billion. Including the assumption of Hillrom's outstanding debt obligations, the enterprise value of the transaction was $12.84 billion.
Hillrom was a global medical technology leader and its products and services help enable earlier diagnosis and treatment, optimize surgical
efficiency, and accelerate patient recovery while simplifying clinical communication and shifting care closer to home. Hillrom made those
outcomes possible through digital and connected care solutions and collaboration tools, including smart bed systems, patient monitoring and
diagnostic technologies, respiratory health devices, advanced equipment for the surgical space and more, delivering actionable, real-time
insights at the point of care. In 2023 and 2022, our Healthcare Systems and Technologies segment generated net sales of $3.01 billion and
$2.94 billion, respectively. During 2022, we also recognized $2.81 billion of goodwill impairments and $332 million of indefinite-lived intangible
asset impairments related to goodwill and trade name intangible assets that arose from the Hillrom acquisition. See Notes 3, 5, 6 and 18 in Item
8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for additional information about the Hillrom acquisition, goodwill and intangible asset impairments, Hillrom
acquisition financing arrangements and the Healthcare Systems and Technologies segment results, respectively.

Business Segments and Products

We currently manage our global operations based on four segments: Medical Products and Therapies, Healthcare Systems and Technologies,
Pharmaceuticals and Kidney Care.

The Medical Products and Therapies segment includes sales of our sterile IV solutions, infusion systems, administration sets, parenteral nutrition
therapies and surgical hemostat, sealant and adhesion prevention products. The Healthcare Systems and Technologies segment includes sales
of our connected care solutions and collaboration tools, including smart bed systems, patient monitoring systems and diagnostic technologies,
respiratory health devices and advanced equipment for the surgical space, including surgical video technologies, precision positioning devices
and other accessories. The Pharmaceuticals segment includes sales of specialty injectable pharmaceuticals, inhaled anesthesia and drug
compounding. The Kidney Care segment includes sales of chronic and acute dialysis therapies and services, including peritoneal dialysis (PD),
hemodialysis (HD), continuous renal replacement therapies (CRRT) and other organ support therapies.

For financial information about our segments, see Note 18 in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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Business Strategy

Our business strategy is focused on driving sustainable growth and innovation aligned with our mission to save and sustain lives and our vision
to transform healthcare with a customer focus to help improve patient outcomes, enhance workflow efficiency, and enable cost-effective care.
Our diversified and broad portfolio of medical products that treat acute or chronic conditions and our global presence are core components of our
strategy as we work to achieve these objectives. We are focused on four strategic pillars as part of our pursuit of industry leading performance:
innovation; market expansion; operational efficiency; and capital allocation.

Innovation

Our innovation strategy, which encompasses both organic and inorganic initiatives, is focused on accelerating our sales growth through the
introduction of new connected care and core therapies offerings. Connected care offerings include devices or software that can connect,
communicate and/or analyze data to help transform healthcare and improve patient outcomes. Through our acquisition of Hillrom, we are
continuing to build out our connected care portfolio offerings, as its product portfolio includes digital and connected care solutions and
collaboration tools such as smart bed systems, patient monitoring and diagnostic technologies, respiratory health devices and advanced
equipment for the surgical space. Our core therapies product offerings include pharmaceuticals and consumable medical products designed to
address essential patient and provider needs across the continuum of care.

As part of this strategy, we are prioritizing investments that drive innovation in product areas where we believe we have compelling opportunities
to better serve patients and healthcare professionals, particularly in markets with higher growth rates. We are working to accelerate the pace at
which we bring these advances to market to support our future growth. We are in the midst of launching several new products, geographic
expansions and line extensions in areas such as smart pump technology, hospital pharmaceuticals and nutritionals, surgical sealants, smart
beds, respiratory vests, chronic and acute renal care and more. These comprise a mix of entirely new product offerings and meaningful
improvements to existing technologies.

Market Expansion

The market expansion component of our strategy includes expanding our portfolio geographically, broadening our portfolio through channel
expansion and increasing utilization of our products and therapies through market development activities. These initiatives include using Baxter’s
geographic footprint to introduce the Healthcare Systems and Technologies product portfolio into new markets, as well as expanding value-
added services, increasing adoption of underpenetrated therapies and providing education and advocacy to improve access to our products.

Operational Excellence

As discussed above under “Recent Strategic Actions,” we recently implemented a new operating model intended to simplify and streamline our
operations and better align our manufacturing and supply chain to our commercial activities. Going forward we expect to be a more integrated
and nimble organization that can respond more effectively to changes in the macroeconomic environment while enhancing our ability to drive
innovation in our product portfolio. We also continue to focus on increasing efficiencies through automation and digitization and delivering on the
targeted cost synergies expected to be achieved from our acquisition of Hillrom. We intend to continue to actively manage our cost structure and
strive to commit resources to the highest value uses. Such high value activities include supporting innovation, building out the portfolio,
expanding patient access and accelerating growth for our stockholders.

Maintaining Disciplined and Balanced Capital Allocation

Subject to market conditions and our investment grade targets, our capital allocation strategies currently include the following:

• debt repayments to support our deleveraging commitments;

• active portfolio management through the identification of attractive acquisition and divestiture transactions, including the recent
divestiture of our BPS business and the proposed Kidney Care separation; and
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• returning capital to stockholders through dividends, while balancing any returns with other strategic actions we take. We also intend
to reinstate share repurchases over the longer term.

We paid down $2.80 billion of debt during 2023, using proceeds from the sale of our BPS business, and we are committed to retaining our
investment grade rating, including taking actions toward achieving a 2.75x net leverage target in 2025. During this deleveraging period, we
currently intend to continue paying a dividend, not make any share repurchases and be highly selective with respect to any potential
acquisitions.

Sales and Distribution

We have our own direct sales force and also make sales to and through independent distributors, drug wholesalers acting as sales agents and
specialty pharmacy or other alternate site providers. In the United States, third parties, such as Cardinal Health, Inc., warehouse and ship a
significant portion of our products through their distribution centers. These centers are generally stocked with adequate inventories to facilitate
prompt customer service. Sales and distribution methods include frequent contact by sales and customer service representatives, automated
communications via various electronic purchasing systems, circulation of catalogs and merchandising bulletins, direct-mail campaigns, trade
publication presence and advertising.

Sales are made and products are distributed on a direct basis or through independent distributors or sales agents in more than 100 countries as
of December 31, 2023.

International Operations

The majority of our revenues are generated outside of the United States and geographic expansion remains a key component of our strategy,
particularly with respect to our Healthcare Systems and Technologies business. Our international presence includes operations in Europe, the
Middle East, Africa, Asia-Pacific, Latin America and Canada. We are subject to certain risks inherent in conducting business outside the United
States. For more information on these risks, see the information under the captions “Risks Relating to Our Business—We are subject to risks
associated with doing business globally” and “—Changes in foreign currency exchange rates and interest rates have, and may in the future
have, an adverse effect on our results of operations, financial condition, cash flows and liquidity” in Item 1A. Risk Factors of this Annual Report
on Form 10-K.

For financial information about our foreign and domestic revenues and segment information, see Note 18, in Item 8 of this Annual Report on
Form 10-K. For more information regarding foreign currency exchange risk, refer to the discussion under the caption entitled “Financial
Instrument Market Risk” in Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations of this Annual
Report on Form 10-K.

Contractual Arrangements

Our products are sold through contracts with customers, both within and outside the United States. Some of these contracts have terms of more
than one year and place limits on our ability to increase prices. In the case of hospitals, governments and other facilities, these contracts may
specify minimum quantities of a particular product or categories of products to be purchased by the customer.

In keeping with the increased emphasis on cost-effectiveness in healthcare delivery, many hospitals and other customers of medical products in
the United States have joined group purchasing organizations (GPOs), or formed integrated delivery networks (IDNs), to enhance purchasing
power. GPOs and IDNs negotiate pricing arrangements with manufacturers and distributors and the negotiated prices are made available to
members. We have purchasing agreements with several of the major GPOs in the United States, which are subject to renewal from time to time.
GPOs may have agreements with more than one supplier for certain products. Accordingly, in these cases, we face competition from other
suppliers even where a customer is a member of a GPO under contract with us, which may constrain our ability to secure negotiated price
increases. Purchasing power is similarly consolidated in many other countries. For example, public contracting authorities often act as the
purchasing entities for the hospitals and other customers of medical products in their region and many hospitals and other customers have
joined joint procurement entities and buying consortia. The result is that demand for healthcare products is increasingly concentrated across our
markets globally. Additionally, our contractual pricing arrangements with GPOs, IDNs and public contracting authorities limit our ability to
increase prices in order to offset raw materials or component price increases or otherwise.
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Raw Materials and Component Parts

Raw materials and component parts essential to our business are purchased from numerous suppliers worldwide in the ordinary course of
business. While many of these materials are generally available, we have experienced and may in the future experience shortages of supply.
Additionally, certain of these materials are secured from single source suppliers or on a spot basis and not pursuant to a contractual
arrangement. In recent periods, we have experienced increased costs and shortages of raw materials and component parts (including resins and
electromechanical devices), which has had a negative impact on our profit margins and on our sales for certain product categories, due to our
inability to fully satisfy demand.

In an effort to manage risk associated with raw materials and component supply, we work closely with our suppliers to help ensure availability
and continuity of supply while maintaining high quality and reliability. We also seek to develop new and alternative sources of supply where
beneficial to our overall raw materials procurement strategy. Refer to Item 1A. Risk Factors of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for further
information regarding risks related to the supply chain, raw materials and component parts (including with respect to the qualification of any new
or alternative supplier).

We are not always able to recover cost increases for raw materials and component parts through customer pricing due to contractual limits,
where applicable, and market forces. For example, during 2022 and 2023, our profit margins were adversely impacted because we were unable
to fully offset all related cost increases resulting from the high inflationary environment through customer pricing adjustments or other pricing
actions. We seek to utilize long-term supply contracts with some suppliers to help maintain continuity of supply and manage the risk of price
increases. Our ability to do so in the face of limited supply of certain raw materials and component parts and inflationary environment may be
limited.

Competition and Healthcare Cost Containment

Our businesses benefit from a number of competitive advantages, including the breadth and depth of our product offerings and our strong
relationships with customers, including hospitals and clinics, GPOs, IDNs, physicians and patients, many of whom self-administer home-based
therapies that we supply. We also benefit from efficiencies and cost advantages resulting from shared manufacturing facilities and the
technological advantages of our products.

Although no single company competes with us in all of our businesses, we face substantial competition in each of our segments from
international and domestic healthcare, medical products and pharmaceutical companies and providers of all sizes, and these competitors often
differ across our businesses. In addition, global and regional competitors continue to expand their manufacturing capacity and sales and
marketing channels. We believe customer purchasing decisions are primarily focused on cost-effectiveness, price, service, product performance
and technological innovation. There has been consolidation in our customer base and by our competitors, which continues to result in pricing
and market pressures.

Global efforts toward healthcare cost containment continue to exert pressure on product pricing. Governments around the world use various
mechanisms to control healthcare expenditures, such as price controls, the formation of public contracting authorities, product formularies (lists
of recommended or approved products), and competitive tenders which require the submission of a bid to sell products. Sales of our products
are dependent, in part, on the availability of reimbursement by government agencies and healthcare programs, as well as insurance companies
and other private payers. In the United States, the federal government and many states have adopted or proposed initiatives relating to Medicaid
and other health programs that may limit reimbursement or increase rebates that we and other providers are required to pay to the state. In
addition to government regulation, managed care organizations in the United States, which include medical insurance companies, medical plan
administrators, health-maintenance organizations, hospital and physician alliances and pharmacy benefit managers, continue to put pressure on
the price and usage of healthcare products. Managed care organizations seek to contain healthcare expenditures, and their purchasing strength
has been increasing due to their consolidation into fewer, larger organizations and a growing number of enrolled patients. We face similar issues
outside of the United States. In Europe and Latin America, for example, the government provides healthcare at low cost to patients, and controls
its expenditures by purchasing products through public tenders, collective purchasing, regulating prices, setting reference prices in public
tenders or limiting reimbursement or patient access to certain products. Additionally, China has been implementing volume-based procurement
policies and a series of centralized reforms on both a national and regional basis which have resulted in significant price cuts for
pharmaceuticals and medical consumables. For further discussion, refer to Item 1A. Risk Factors of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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Intellectual Property

Patents and other proprietary rights are essential to our business. We rely on patents, trademarks, copyrights, trade secrets, know-how and
confidentiality agreements to develop, maintain and strengthen our competitive position. We own numerous patents and trademarks throughout
the world and have entered into license arrangements relating to various third-party patents and technologies. Products manufactured by us are
sold primarily under our own trademarks and trade names. Some products distributed by us are sold under our trade names, while others are
sold under trade names owned by our suppliers or partners. Trade secret protection of unpatented confidential and proprietary information is
also important to us. We maintain certain details about our processes, products and technology as trade secrets and generally require
employees, consultants, and business partners to enter into confidentiality agreements. These agreements may be breached and we may not
have adequate remedies for any breach. In addition, our trade secrets may otherwise become known or be independently discovered by
competitors. To the extent that our employees, consultants, and business partners use intellectual property owned by others in their work for us,
disputes may arise as to the rights in related or resulting know-how and inventions.

Our policy is to protect our products and technology through patents and trademarks on a worldwide basis. This protection is sought in a manner
that balances the cost of such protection against obtaining the greatest value for us. We also recognize the need to promote the enforcement of
our patents and trademarks and take commercially reasonable steps to enforce our patents and trademarks around the world against potential
infringers, including judicial or administrative action where appropriate.

We operate in an industry susceptible to significant patent litigation. At any given time, we are involved as either a plaintiff or defendant in a
number of patent infringement and other intellectual property-related actions. Such litigation can result in significant royalty or other payments or
result in injunctions that can prevent the sale of products. For more information on patent and other litigation, see Note 8 in Item 8 of this Annual
Report on Form 10-K.

Research and Development

We believe our investment in research and development (R&D), consistent with our portfolio optimization and capital allocation strategies, will
help fuel our future growth and our ability to remain competitive. Accordingly, we continue to focus our investment on select R&D programs to
enhance future growth through clinical differentiation. Expenditures for our R&D activities were $667 million in 2023, $602 million in 2022, and
$531 million in 2021. These expenditures include costs associated with R&D activities performed at our R&D centers located around the world,
which include facilities in Belgium, China, Germany, India, Italy, Japan, Sweden and the United States, as well as in-licensing, milestone and
reimbursement payments made to partners for R&D work performed at non-Baxter locations. As discussed above in under "Recent Strategic
Actions," we have recently implemented a new operating model intended to simplify and streamline our operations, including with respect to our
R&D activities. We are also working to create a more resilient supply chain and better align our manufacturing footprint and supply chain to our
commercial activities. These activities may result in the consolidation of one or more R&D facilities.

For more information on our R&D activities, refer to the discussion under the caption entitled “Strategic Objectives” in Item 7. Management's
Discussion of Analysis and Financial Condition and Results of Operations of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Quality Management

Our continued success depends upon the quality of our products. Quality management plays an essential role in determining and meeting
customer requirements, helping to prevent defects, facilitating continuing improvement of our processes, products and services, and helping to
assure the safety and efficacy of our products. Our quality system enables the design, development, manufacturing, packaging, sterilization,
handling, distribution and labeling of our products to help ensure that they conform to customer requirements. In order to consistently improve
the effectiveness and efficiency of our quality system, various measurement, monitoring and analysis methods, such as management reviews
and internal, external and vendor audits, are employed at local and central levels.

Each product that we market is required to meet specific quality standards, both in packaging and in product integrity and quality. If any of those
is determined to be compromised at any time, we endeavor to take corrective and preventive actions designed to ensure compliance with
regulatory requirements and to meet customer expectations. For more information on corrective actions taken by us, refer to the discussion
under the caption
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entitled “Certain Regulatory Matters” in Item 7. Management's Discussion of Analysis and Financial Condition and Results of Operations of this
Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Corporate Responsibility

Driven by our mission to save and sustain lives, Baxter's corporate responsibility strategy focuses on addressing the environmental, social and
governance (ESG) issues that affect our patients, customers, employees, communities and other stakeholders worldwide. Our corporate
responsibility approach supports our business priorities to achieve top quartile results relative to industry peers and other comparators across
four dimensions: patient safety and quality, growth through innovation, best place to work and industry-leading performance. Advancing our
corporate responsibility goals contributes to business, social and economic value, including attraction and retention of employees, enhanced
operational efficiency and implementation of enterprise risk management strategies, among others.

In 2021, we launched our 2030 Corporate Responsibility Commitment featuring ten strategic goals for focused action. Our Commitment is
anchored by three pillars - Empower Our Patients, Protect Our Planet and Champion Our People and Communities - and bolstered by our
approach to the foundational principles of Ethics and Compliance, Human Rights, Diversity, Equity and Inclusion and Privacy and Data
Protection. The 2030 Corporate Responsibility Commitment and Goals highlight Baxter's corporate responsibility focus and help to further
advance our ESG performance. Our progress against these goals is published annually in our Corporate Responsibility Report which is available
on our website under "Our Story-Corporate Responsibility." The Corporate Responsibility Report is not incorporated by reference into this Annual
Report on Form 10-K or any other document filed with the SEC.

Government Regulation

As a medical products company, our operations and many of the products manufactured or sold by us are subject to extensive regulation by
numerous government agencies, both within and outside the United States. The Food and Drug Administration (FDA) in the United States, the
European Medicines Agency (EMA) in Europe, the China Food and Drug Administration (CFDA) in China and other government agencies, inside
and outside of the United States, administer requirements covering the testing, safety, effectiveness, manufacturing, labeling, promotion and
advertising, distribution and post-market surveillance of our products. We must obtain specific approval from FDA and non-U.S. regulatory
authorities before we can market and sell most of our products in a particular country. Even after we obtain regulatory approval to market a
product, the product and our manufacturing processes and quality systems are subject to continued review by FDA and other regulatory
authorities globally, including additional 510(k) and other regulatory submissions, and approvals or the time needed to secure approvals are not
certain. State agencies in the United States also regulate our facilities, operations, employees, products and services within their respective
states. We, along with our facilities, are subject to periodic inspections and possible administrative and legal actions by FDA and other regulatory
agencies inside and outside the United States. Such actions may include warning letters, product recalls or seizures, monetary sanctions,
injunctions to halt the manufacture and distribution of products, civil or criminal sanctions, refusal of a government to grant approvals or licenses,
restrictions on operations or withdrawal of existing approvals and licenses. As situations require, we take steps to ensure the safety and efficacy
of our products, such as removing products from the market that are found not to meet applicable requirements and improving the effectiveness
of quality systems. For more information on compliance actions taken by us, refer to the discussion under the caption entitled “Certain
Regulatory Matters” in Item 7. Management's Discussion of Analysis and Financial Condition and Results of Operations of this Annual Report on
Form 10-K.

We are also subject to various laws inside and outside the United States concerning our relationships with healthcare professionals and
government officials, price reporting and regulation, the promotion, sales and marketing of our products and services, the importation and
exportation of products, the operation of our facilities and the distribution of products. In the United States, we are subject to the oversight of
FDA, Office of the Inspector General within the Department of Health and Human Services (OIG), the Center for Medicare/Medicaid Services
(CMS), the Department of Justice (DOJ), Environmental Protection Agency, Department of Defense and Customs and Border Protection in
addition to others. We supply products and services to healthcare providers that are reimbursed by federally funded programs such as Medicare.
As a result, our activities are subject to regulation by CMS and enforcement by OIG and DOJ. In each jurisdiction outside the United States, our
activities are subject to regulation by government agencies including the EMA in Europe, CFDA in China and other agencies in other
jurisdictions. Many of the agencies enforcing these laws have increased their enforcement activities with respect to
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healthcare companies in recent years. These actions appear to be part of a general trend toward increased enforcement activity globally.

Our operations involve the use of substances regulated under environmental laws, primarily in manufacturing and sterilization processes. Our
environmental policies require compliance with all applicable environmental regulations and contemplate, among other things, appropriate
capital expenditures for environmental protection. For example, we made $6 million and $33 million of capital expenditures in 2022 and 2021,
respectively, related to a new ethylene oxide emissions control system at our Mountain Home, Arkansas facility that was substantially completed
in 2022.

Human Capital Management

As of December 31, 2023, we employed approximately 60,000 people globally, with approximately 41,000 employees in the United States and
approximately 19,000 employees outside of the United States. Our employees set the foundation for our ability to achieve our strategic
objectives. They contribute to our success and are instrumental in driving operational execution and our ability to deliver strong financial
performance, advancing innovation and maintaining a strong quality and compliance program across our organization.

The success and growth of our business depends in large part on our ability to attract, retain and develop a diverse population of talented and
high-performing employees at all levels of our organization, including the individuals who comprise our global workforce as well as executive
officers and other key personnel. To succeed in a competitive labor market, we have developed recruitment and retention strategies, objectives
and measures that we focus on as part of the overall management of our business. These strategies, objectives and measures form our human
capital management framework and are advanced through the following programs, policies and initiatives:

• Competitive Pay and Benefits. Our compensation programs are designed to align the compensation of our employees with our
performance and to provide the proper incentives to attract, retain and motivate employees to achieve superior results. The structure of
our compensation programs balances incentive earnings for both short-term and long-term performance.

• Activating Change Today. Building on the success of our nine business resource groups (BRGs), one such BRG, Baxter’s Black
Alliance, joined forces with colleagues across the company to introduce Activating Change Today (ACT), a multidimensional program to
advance inclusion and racial justice. ACT is focused on driving results across four key areas – Workforce, Workplace, Community and
Marketplace – encompassing employees, external stakeholders and the markets and communities we serve.

• Health and Safety. Health and safety are firmly rooted across our global footprint. We aim for a zero-harm workplace and prioritize the
elimination of risks and incident precursors to drive improvement. In 2023, Baxter focused on employee engagement, hazard
identification and accelerated technology deployment to better understand and address top health and safety risk areas. We have
continued to mobilize our identification program for our operational workforce, in concert with a centralized corrective action tracking tool.
These improvements have enabled us to implement predictive analytics, support ergonomic evaluations and introduce active safety
control technology for improved operation of our powered industrial vehicles.

• Recruitment, Training and Development. We use recruitment vehicles to attract diverse talent to our organization and we prioritize
learning opportunities that foster a growth mindset. Our formal offerings include a tuition reimbursement program, an e-learning platform
known as BaxU and virtual workshops that support our culture, strategy and the development of crucial skills. To assess the impact of
the investments we make in our people, and to help us consistently improve our human resources programs, we regularly conduct
anonymous surveys of our global workforce to seek feedback on a variety of topics including confidence in our leadership,
competitiveness of our compensation and benefits packages, career growth opportunities and improvements on how we can make our
company an employer of choice. Administered and analyzed by an independent third-party, the survey results are reviewed by our senior
leaders, which include our executive officers. Summaries of select surveys are also provided to our Board of Directors. The results of
this engagement survey are also shared with individual managers, who are then tasked with taking action based on their employees’
anonymous feedback.

Available Information
We make available free of charge on our website at www.baxter.com our Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q,
Current Reports on Form 8-K, and amendments to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, as amended (Exchange Act), as soon as
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reasonably practicable after electronically filing or furnishing such material with the Securities and Exchange Commission. These reports are
also available free of charge via EDGAR through the Securities and Exchange Commission website (www.sec.gov).  In addition, our Corporate
Governance Guidelines, Code of Conduct, and the charters for the committees of our Board of Directors are available on our website at
www.baxter.com under “Our Story — Our Governance.” All the foregoing materials will be made available to stockholders in print upon request
by writing to: Corporate Secretary, Baxter International Inc., One Baxter Parkway, Deerfield, Illinois 60015. Information contained on our website
shall not be deemed incorporated into, or to be a part of, this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Item 1A.    Risk Factors.

In addition to the other information in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, stockholders or prospective investors should carefully consider the
following risk factors for a description of the principal risks that we face. If any of the events described below occurs, our business, results of
operations, financial condition, cash flows, future growth prospects and stock price could suffer. Further, other unknown or unpredictable factors
could also have material adverse effects on our future results.

Risk Factors Summary

This summary of risks below is intended to provide an overview of the risks we face and should not be considered a substitute for the more
detailed risk factors discussed immediately following this summary.

Risks Relating to Our Strategic Actions

• The proposed spinoff of our Kidney Care business may not be completed on the terms, structure or timeline we have announced, if at
all.

• We are exposed to new risks as a result of the proposed spinoff and other strategic actions we are undertaking.

• We may continue to experience difficulties with our integration of Hillrom or fail to realize the anticipated benefits of the Hillrom
acquisition.

• If our business strategy and development activities are unsuccessful, our business, results of operations, financial condition and cash
flows could be adversely affected.

Risks Relating to Our Financial Performance and Our Common Stock

• Global economic conditions, including inflation and supply chain disruptions, have adversely affected, and could continue to adversely
affect, our operations.

• Our operating results and financial condition have, and may in the future, fluctuate.

• We may not achieve our financial goals.

• We incurred a substantial amount of debt in connection with the Hillrom acquisition, which could adversely affect our business, results of
operations, financial condition and cash flows.

• Changes in foreign currency exchange rates and interest rates have, and may in the future have, an adverse effect on our results of
operations, financial condition, cash flows and liquidity.

• Our common stock price has fluctuated significantly and may continue to do so.

• Future material impairments in the value of our goodwill, intangible assets and other long-lived assets, would negatively affect our
operating results.

Other Risks Relating to Our Business

• If we are unable to successfully introduce or monetize new and existing products or services, or fail to keep pace with changing
consumer preferences and needs or advances in technology, our business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows
could be adversely affected.

• Issues with product quality could, among other things, have an adverse effect on our business or cause a loss of customer confidence in
us or our products.
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• There is substantial competition in the product markets in which we operate and the risk of declining demand and pricing pressures
could adversely affect our business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.

• Pandemics and other public health emergencies, or the fear thereof, have had, and may in the future have, a material adverse effect on
our business.

• If we fail to attract, develop, retain and engage key employees, our business may suffer.

Risks Relating to Our Business Operations

• Segments of our business are significantly dependent on major contracts with GPOs, IDNs, and certain other distributors and
purchasers.

• We may not be successful in achieving expected operating efficiencies and sustaining or improving operating expense reductions, and
might experience business disruptions and adverse tax consequences associated with restructuring, realignment and cost reduction
activities.

• If we are unable to obtain sufficient components or raw materials on a timely basis or for a cost-effective price or if we experience other
manufacturing, sterilization, supply or distribution difficulties, our business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows may
be adversely affected.

• Climate change, or legal, regulatory or market measures to address climate change, could adversely affect our business, results of
operations, financial condition and cash flows.

• Breaches and breakdowns affecting our information technology systems or protected information could have a material adverse effect
on us.

• We are subject to risks associated with doing business globally.

• A portion of our workforce is unionized, and we could face labor disruptions that would interfere with our operations.

Risks Relating to Legal and Regulatory Matters

• We are subject to a number of laws and regulations, and we are susceptible to a changing regulatory environment.

• Increasing regulatory focus on privacy and cybersecurity issues and expanding laws could impact our business and expose us to
increased liability.

• If reimbursement or other payment for our current or future products is reduced or modified in the United States or in foreign countries or
there are changes to policies with respect to pricing, taxation or rebates, our business could suffer.

• We could be subject to fines or damages and possible exclusion from participation in federal or state healthcare programs if we fail to
comply with the laws and regulations applicable to our business.

• If we are unable to protect or enforce our patents or other proprietary rights, or if we become subject to claims or litigation alleging
infringement of the patents or other proprietary rights of others, our competitiveness and business prospects may be materially
damaged.

• Changes in tax laws or exposure to additional income tax liabilities may have a negative impact on our operating results.

• We are party to a number of pending lawsuits and other disputes which may have an adverse impact on our business, results of
operations, financial condition and cash flows.

• Our Amended and Restated By-Laws designate certain courts in the State of Delaware or the federal district courts of the United States
will be the sole and exclusive forum for substantially all disputes between us and our stockholders.
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Risks Relating to Our Strategic Actions

The proposed spinoff of our Kidney Care business may not be completed on the terms, structure or timeline we have announced, if at
all.

In January 2023, we announced a series of strategic actions, including, among other things, the proposed spinoff of our Kidney Care business
into an independent company (the proposed spinoff) and plans to implement a simplified operating model and manufacturing footprint. While we
have completed implementation of the new operating model, we may encounter challenges to executing the proposed spinoff on the terms,
structure and within the timeframe we have announced, or at all. The proposed spinoff will be subject to the satisfaction of a number of
customary conditions, including final approval from Baxter’s Board of Directors. The failure to satisfy any of the required conditions could delay
the completion of the proposed spinoff for a significant period of time or prevent it from occurring at all. Additionally, the proposed spinoff is
complex in nature, and unanticipated developments or changes, including disruptions in general market conditions, changes in law, challenges
or complexities in executing the spinoff of the two businesses or developments of viable medical, pharmacological and technological advances
(as further discussed in “Other Risks Relating to Our Business If we are unable to successfully introduce or monetize new and existing products
or services, or fail to keep pace with changing consumer preferences and needs or advances in technology, our business, results of operations,
financial condition and cash flows could be adversely affected”) may affect our ability to complete the proposed spinoff on the terms or on the
timeline we have announced, or at all. The terms and conditions of the required regulatory authorizations and consents that are granted, if any,
may also impose requirements, limitations or costs, or place restrictions on the conduct of the independent companies or impact our ability to
complete the proposed spinoff on the terms or timeline we have announced, or at all.

Although we intend for the proposed spinoff to be tax-free to Baxter’s stockholders for U.S. federal income tax purposes, we have initiated the
preparatory restructuring, which has generated, and we expect to continue to generate, non-U.S. tax liabilities and may also generate potential
impairments of deferred tax assets. Moreover, there can be no assurance that the proposed spinoff will qualify as tax-free for U.S. federal
income tax purposes. The IRS ruling and tax opinion mentioned above will be based upon various factual representations and assumptions, as
well as certain undertakings made by Baxter and the new independent company. If any of these factual representations or assumptions are, or
become, untrue or incomplete in any material respect, an undertaking is not complied with, or the facts upon which the opinion or ruling are
based are materially different from the actual facts relating to the proposed spinoff, reliance on the opinion or ruling may be jeopardized. If the
proposed spinoff were ultimately determined to be taxable for U.S. federal income tax purposes, we would incur a significant tax liability, while
the distributions to Baxter’s stockholders would become taxable and the new company could incur income tax liabilities as well.

We are exposed to new risks as a result of the proposed spinoff and other strategic actions we are undertaking. Our strategic actions
may not achieve their anticipated benefits, or our costs may exceed our estimates.

Our businesses have begun to face, and will continue to face, material challenges in connection with the proposed spinoff and the other strategic
actions we are undertaking (including the recent implementation of a simplified operating model and the ongoing simplification of our
manufacturing footprint). These challenges include, without limitation, the diversion of management’s attention from ongoing business concerns;
appropriately allocating assets and liabilities among the companies to be separated in the proposed spinoff, particularly given the complex
nature of the proposed spinoff; attracting, retaining and motivating key management and other employees; retaining existing, or attracting new,
business and operational relationships, including with customers, suppliers, employees and other counterparties; maintaining our relationships
with regulators; assigning customer contracts and intellectual property to each of the businesses; and potential negative reactions from the
financial markets. In particular, in the last few years, we have undertaken other strategic and business transformation actions (including the
recent divestiture of our BPS business, the acquisition of Hillrom and cost reduction initiatives) that have entailed changes across our
organizational structure, senior leadership, culture, functional alignment, outsourcing and other areas. This poses risks in the form of personnel
capacity constraints and institutional knowledge loss that has led to, and could in the future lead to, missed performance or financial targets and
harm to our reputation, and these risks are heightened with the additional interdependent actions that will be needed to complete the proposed
spinoff and other strategic actions we are currently implementing and pursing or which we may pursue in the future.

We have incurred, and will continue to incur, significant expenses in connection with the proposed spinoff and other strategic actions we are
undertaking. These expenses have been significant, and may continue to grow, and may not yield a discernible benefit if the actions are not
completed on schedule or at all. In addition, the anticipated
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benefits of these actions are based on a number of assumptions, some of which may prove incorrect, and we cannot predict with certainty when
the expected benefits will occur, or the extent to which they will be achieved. As a result, even if the proposed spinoff or other strategic actions
are completed, they may not achieve some or all of the anticipated strategic, financial, operational or other benefits in the expected timeframe, or
at all, which could adversely impact our business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.

Further, even if the proposed spinoff is completed, we cannot assure you that each separate company will be successful. Completion of the
proposed spinoff will result in independent companies that are smaller, less diversified companies, with more limited businesses concentrated in
their respective industries than Baxter. As a result, each company will be more vulnerable to changing market conditions, which could have a
material adverse effect on its business, results of operations, financial conditions and cash flows. In addition, the diversification of revenues,
costs and cash flows will diminish, such that each company’s results of operations, cash flows, working capital, effective tax rate and financing
requirements may be subject to increased volatility, and each company’s ability to fund capital expenditures and investments, pay dividends and
meet debt obligations and other liabilities may be diminished. Following completion of the proposed spinoff, each company will also incur one-
time and ongoing costs, including the costs of operating as independent companies, that the separated businesses will no longer be able to
share. In addition, until the market has fully analyzed the values of the separate companies, the price of our common stock and common stock of
the new company may experience volatility. Our common stock or the common stock of the new company may not match some holders’
investment strategies or meet minimum criteria for inclusion in stock market indices or portfolios, which could cause certain investors to sell their
shares, which could in turn lead to declines in the trading price of such stock. As a result of any of the foregoing or other risks, the combined
value of the common stock of the two publicly traded companies may be less than what the value of our common stock would have been absent
the proposed spinoff.

We may continue to experience difficulties with our integration of Hillrom or fail to realize the anticipated benefits of the Hillrom
acquisition.

During 2021, we completed the acquisition of Hillrom. The success of this acquisition depends on, among other things, our ability to integrate
Hillrom in a manner that facilitates growth opportunities, realizes anticipated cost and revenue synergies and achieves certain previously
communicated net leverage targets without adversely affecting current revenues and investments in future growth. If we are not able to
successfully achieve these objectives, the anticipated benefits of the Hillrom acquisition may not be realized fully or at all or may take longer to
realize than expected.

There is a significant degree of difficulty and management distraction inherent in the process of integrating an acquisition. The integration of
Hillrom into our operations is complex and time-consuming and certain aspects have taken longer than originally anticipated and have required
more effort than was originally planned. Challenges associated with our integration efforts are also heightened due to the other strategic actions
we are pursuing. This has resulted in, and may continue to result in, additional expenses and other difficulties as we work to complete our
ongoing strategic initiatives, including challenges consolidating certain operations and functions (including regulatory and other corporate
functions), integrating technologies (including differing information technology systems and processes), organizations, procedures, policies and
operations, addressing differences in the business cultures of the two companies, and retaining key personnel, any of which could adversely
affect our ability to achieve the anticipated benefits of the acquisition. The integration process and other disruptions resulting from the Hillrom
acquisition and our ongoing strategic initiatives also disrupt our ongoing businesses and could cause inconsistencies in standards, controls,
procedures and policies that adversely affect our relationships with market participants, employees, regulators and others with whom we have
business or other dealings. Any failure to successfully or cost-effectively integrate Hillrom could have a material adverse effect on our business
and cause reputational harm.

If our business strategy and development activities are unsuccessful, our business, results of operations, financial condition and
cash flows could be adversely affected.

While we remain committed to deleveraging, we expect to engage in significant business development activities over the longer term (once we
have satisfied our net leverage targets), including evaluating acquisitions, joint development opportunities, technology licensing arrangements
and other opportunities, such as potential divestitures and targeted market exits as we look to optimize our product portfolio and improve our
operating margins. These activities may result in substantial investment of our resources (including resources currently focused on our ongoing
strategic initiatives, such as the proposed spinoff). Our success developing products, expanding into new markets and optimizing our market
presence from such activities will depend on a number of factors, including our ability to find suitable opportunities or partners for acquisition,
investment, alliance or
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divestiture; competition from other companies in the industries in which we operate that are seeking similar opportunities; whether we are able to
complete an acquisition, investment, alliance or divestiture on terms that are satisfactory to us or at all; the strength of the underlying technology
and products of any of the other parties involved in a transaction, as well as their ability to execute their business strategies; any intellectual
property and litigation related to any other party’s products or technology; and our ability to successfully integrate the acquired company,
business, product, technology or research into our existing operations (or to divest such company, business, product, technology or research
from our existing operations), including the ability to adequately fund acquired in-process R&D projects and to maintain adequate controls over
the combined operations. Certain of these activities are subject to antitrust and competition laws, which could impact our ability to pursue
strategic transactions and could result in mandated divestitures in the context of proposed acquisitions. Additionally, certain divestitures could
result in negative market or regulatory reactions. If we are unsuccessful in our business development activities, we may not realize the intended
benefits of such activities, including that acquisition and integration or divestiture costs may be greater than expected or the possibility that the
expected return on investment, synergies and accretion will not be realized or will not be realized within the expected timeframes. For more
information, see Note 3 in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Risks Relating to Our Financial Performance and Our Common Stock

Global economic conditions, including inflation and supply chain disruptions, have adversely affected, and could continue to
adversely affect, our operations.

General global economic downturns and macroeconomic trends, including heightened inflation, capital markets volatility, interest rate and
currency rate fluctuations, and economic slowdown or recession, have resulted in, and may continue to result in, unfavorable conditions that
negatively affect demand for our products and exacerbate other risks described in this “Risk Factors” section that affect our business, results of
operations, financial condition and cash flows. Both domestic and international markets have been experiencing significant inflationary pressures
in recent years and inflation rates in the U.S., as well as in other countries in which we operate, are currently expected to continue at elevated
levels for the near term. In addition, the Federal Reserve in the U.S. and other central banks in various countries have raised, and may again
raise, interest rates in response to concerns about inflation, which, coupled with reduced government spending and volatility in financial markets,
has had, and may continue to have, the effect of further increasing economic uncertainty and heightening these risks. Interest rate increases or
other government actions taken to reduce inflation have resulted in, and may continue to result in, recessionary pressures in many parts of the
world. Furthermore, currency exchange rates have been especially volatile in the recent past, and these currency fluctuations have affected, and
may continue to affect, the reported value of our assets and liabilities, as well as our cash flows.

We have experienced significant challenges to our global supply chain in recent periods, including production delays and interruptions, increased
costs and shortages of raw materials and component parts (including resins and electromechanical devices), heightened inventory levels to
reduce the risk of patient supply disruption and higher transportation and labor costs, resulting from COVID-19 and other exogenous factors
including significant weather events, elevated inflation levels, disruptions to certain ports of call around the world, the war in Ukraine, the conflict
in the Middle East (including recent attacks on merchant ships in the Red Sea), tensions between China and Taiwan and other geopolitical
events. Due to the nature of our products, which include dense consumable medical products such as IV fluids, and the geographic locations of
our manufacturing, storage and distribution facilities, which often require us to transport our products long distances and which are being further
consolidated in anticipation of the proposed spinoff, we may be more susceptible to increases in freight costs and other supply chain challenges
than certain of our industry peers. We expect to experience some of these and other challenges related to our supply chain in future periods.
These challenges, including the unavailability of certain raw materials and component parts, have also had a negative impact on our sales for
certain product categories due to our inability to fully satisfy demand and may continue to have a negative impact on our sales in the future. They
have also made it increasingly difficult to model accurately our short-term and long-term financial objectives and may continue to do so in the
future.

Our ability to generate cash flows from operations has been affected, and could continue to be affected, if there is a material decline in the
demand for our products or, in the solvency or planned capital expenditures of our customers or suppliers, or if there is deterioration in our key
financial ratios or credit ratings. Current or worsening economic conditions may impact the ability of our customers (including governments) to
pay for our products and services and the amount spent on healthcare generally, which could result in decreased demand for our products and
services, a decline in cash flows, longer sales cycles, increased inventory levels, slower adoption of new technologies and increased price
competition. These conditions may also adversely affect certain of our suppliers, which could disrupt our ability to produce products. We continue
to do business with foreign governments in certain countries that have

13



experienced deterioration in credit and economic conditions. While global economic conditions to date have not significantly impacted our ability
to collect receivables, liquidity issues in certain countries have resulted, and may continue to result, in delays in the collection of receivables and
credit losses and may also impact the stability of the U.S. Dollar, Euro, Renminbi or other currencies.

Our operating results and financial condition have, and may in the future, fluctuate.

Our operating results and financial condition have, and may in the future, fluctuate from quarter-to-quarter and year-to-year for a number of
reasons. Events, such as changes to our expectations, strategy or forecasts (including as a result of evolving global macroeconomic conditions
and updated expectations regarding the timing of new regulatory approvals) or even a relatively small revenue shortfall or increase in supply
chain or other costs which we are unable to offset have, and may in the future, cause financial results for a period to be below our expectations
or projections. As a result, we believe that period-to-period comparisons of our results of operations are not necessarily meaningful, nor should
they be relied upon as an indication of future performance. Our operating results and financial condition are also subject to fluctuation from all of
the risks described throughout this section. These fluctuations may adversely affect our results of operations and financial condition and our
stock price.

We may not achieve our financial goals.

We continue to evaluate and refine both our short-term and long-term financial objectives, including our stated commitment to achieve certain
net leverage targets. Our ability to achieve these targets depends, in part, on our ability to realize the anticipated benefits of the Hillrom
acquisition (and related cost and revenue synergy targets) while working to execute on our stated portfolio management and other ongoing
strategic initiatives including the proposed spinoff. We may fail to achieve our targeted financial results if we are unsuccessful in implementing
our strategies, our estimates or assumptions change or for any other reason. Our failure to achieve our financial goals could have a material
adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.

We incurred a substantial amount of debt in connection with the Hillrom acquisition, which could adversely affect our business,
results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.

We incurred acquisition-related debt financing of $11.80 billion to fund the cash consideration for the Hillrom acquisition, refinance certain
indebtedness of Hillrom and pay related fees and expenses. Our substantially increased indebtedness and higher debt-to-equity ratio following
the acquisition has the effect, among other things, of reducing our flexibility to respond to changing business and economic conditions and has
increased our borrowing costs (including as a result of the downgrades in our senior debt credit ratings since 2021). The increased level of
indebtedness and our future financial performance could also reduce funds available (under our credit facilities or otherwise) for investments in
product development, capital expenditures, dividend payments, acquisitions, share repurchases and other activities and may create competitive
disadvantages for us relative to other companies with lower debt levels. In addition, until we achieve our commitment to reduce our indebtedness
following the Hillrom acquisition, our capital allocation activities and operational flexibility is limited. There can be no assurance that we will be
successful in doing so on a timely basis or at all.

Changes in foreign currency exchange rates and interest rates have, and may in the future have, an adverse effect on our results of
operations, financial condition, cash flows and liquidity.

We generate the majority of our net sales and profit outside the United States. As a result, our results of operations have been, and may in the
future be, adversely affected by fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates. We cannot predict with any certainty changes in foreign
currency exchange rates or our ability to mitigate these risks. We have experienced, and may continue to experience, additional volatility as a
result of inflation and other macroeconomic factors, including in emerging market countries. We are also exposed to changes in interest rates,
and our ability to access the money markets and capital markets on terms that are favorable to us, or at all, could be impeded if market
conditions are not favorable. For more information see “Financial Instrument Market Risk” in Item 7. Management's Discussion of Analysis and
Financial Condition and Results of Operations of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Our common stock price has fluctuated significantly and may continue to do so in the future.

The price of our common stock has fluctuated significantly and may continue to do so in the future for a number of reasons, including, but not
limited to:

• market perceptions of any strategic actions or other developments related to our business including, for example, the proposed spinoff;
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• variations in our net sales, earnings or other financial results from investors’ expectations or our previously issued guidance;

• departure of key personnel;

• fluctuations in the results of our operations and general conditions in the economy, our market, and the markets served by our
customers, including with respect to technological advances; and

• the operating and stock performance of comparable companies or related industries.

In addition, prices in the stock market have generally been volatile in recent years. In certain cases, the fluctuations have been unrelated to the
operating performance of the affected companies. As a result, the price of our common stock could also fluctuate in the future without regard to
our operating performance.

Future material impairments in the value of our goodwill, intangible assets and other long-lived assets would negatively affect our
operating results.

We regularly review our goodwill, intangible assets and property, plant and equipment for potential impairment. Goodwill and indefinite-lived
intangible assets are subject to impairment reviews on an annual basis and whenever potential impairment indicators are present. Intangible
assets subject to amortization and property, plant and equipment are reviewed for potential impairment when there is an indication that an
impairment may have occurred. Adverse changes to macroeconomic conditions or our earnings forecasts, as well as changes in our strategic
goals or business direction, could lead to impairment charges. In addition, we may from time to time pursue the sale of assets that we determine
are not critical to our strategy, including in connection with strategic exits, such as the proposed spinoff. Such transactions could result in
impairment charges if the estimated fair value of the assets, less costs to sell, is less than their related carrying amount. Material impairment
charges would negatively affect our results of operations.

For example, as described in more detail in Note 4 of Item 8 of this Annual Report, we recognized $510 million of long-lived asset impairment
charges related to the HD business within our Kidney Care segment during 2023. Additionally, as described in more detail in Note 5 of Item 8 of
this Annual Report, we recognized $2.81 billion of goodwill impairments and $332 million of indefinite-lived intangible asset impairments during
2022, both related to assets acquired in connection with our December 2021 acquisition of Hillrom. Further adverse changes to macroeconomic
conditions or our earnings forecasts could lead to additional goodwill or intangible asset impairment charges in future periods and such charges
could be material to our results of operations. For more information on the valuation of goodwill and intangible assets, see “Critical Accounting
Policies” in Item 7. Management's Discussion of Analysis and Financial Condition and Results of Operations of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Other Risks Relating to Our Business

If we are unable to successfully introduce or monetize new and existing products or services, or fail to keep pace with changing
consumer preferences and needs or advances in technology, our business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows
could be adversely affected.

We need to successfully introduce or monetize new and existing products and services to achieve our strategic business objectives. We can
provide no assurances that our new products will achieve commercial acceptance in the marketplace, or that we will be able to separately bill for
new or existing services. In addition, difficulties in manufacturing or in obtaining regulatory approvals have delayed, and may in the future delay
or prohibit, the introduction of new products into the marketplace. We may not be able to obtain patent protection on our new products or be able
to defend our intellectual property rights globally. Warranty claims and service costs relating to our new products might be greater than
anticipated, and we might be required to devote significant resources to address any quality issues associated with our new products, which
could reduce the resources available for further new product development and other matters. In addition, the introduction of new products and
services might also cause customers to defer purchases of existing products or services. Our future financial performance will also depend in
part on our ability to influence, anticipate, identify and respond to changing consumer preferences and needs. We might not correctly anticipate
or identify trends in customer preferences or needs or might identify or react to them later than competitors do.

In order to successfully introduce or monetize new and existing products and services, we must commit, and continue to commit, substantial
funds, and other resources to R&D. Failure to successfully introduce new products or services in a cost-effective manner, or delays in customer
purchasing decisions related to the evaluation of new products or services, could cause us to lose market share and could materially adversely
affect our business. Furthermore, product development requires substantial investment and there is inherent risk in the R&D process. A
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successful product development process further depends on many other factors, including our ability to adapt to new technologies, demonstrate
satisfactory clinical results and differentiate our products from those of our competitors. If we cannot successfully introduce new competitive
products or adapt to changing technologies, our products may become obsolete and our net sales and profitability could suffer.

Issues with product quality could have an adverse effect on our business or cause a loss of customer confidence in us or our
products, among other negative consequences.

The development of new or enhanced products involves a lengthy regulatory process and is capital intensive. As a result, our ability to match our
production levels and capacity to market demand is imprecise and may result in a failure to meet market demand or satisfy customer
requirements for our products or, alternatively, an oversupply of inventory. Increased costs relating to freight, raw materials or component parts
and difficulties hiring and retaining staff have had and may continue to have, a negative impact on product supply. Failure to meet market
demand may result in customers transitioning to available competitive products, loss of market share, negative publicity, reputational damage,
loss of customer confidence or other negative consequences (including a decline in stock price).

Our success also depends on our ability to maintain and routinely improve product quality and our quality management program. Quality
management plays an essential role in meeting customer requirements, preventing defects, improving our products and services and assuring
the safety and efficacy of our products. While we have a quality system that covers the lifecycle of our products, quality and safety issues have
occurred, and may in the future occur, with respect to our products. For example, we have experienced certain Class I recalls related to our
Novum IQ Syringe and infusion systems, SIGMA Spectrum pump and Life2000 Ventilator. New or unintended uses of our products (for example,
in response to changing clinical practice) may also raise quality or safety issues. A quality or safety issue may result in negative publicity, product
recalls (either voluntary or required by the FDA or similar governmental authorities in other countries), adverse regulatory site inspection reports,
voluntary or official action indicated classifications, warning letters, import bans or seizures, monetary sanctions, injunctions to halt manufacture
and distribution of products, civil or criminal sanctions (which may include corporate integrity agreements), costly litigation, refusal of a
government to grant approvals and licenses, restrictions on operations or withdrawal of existing approvals and licenses. See “—Risks Relating to
Legal and Regulatory Matters.” An inability to address a quality or safety issue in an effective and timely manner may also cause negative
publicity, potentially leading to a loss of customer confidence in us or our current or future products, which may result in the loss of sales and
difficulty in successfully launching new products. Additionally, we have made, and could in the future make, significant investments in assets,
including inventory and property, plant and equipment, which relate to potential new products or modifications to existing products. Product
quality or safety issues may restrict us from being able to realize the expected returns from these investments, potentially resulting in asset
impairments in the future.

Unaffiliated third-party suppliers provide a number of goods and services to our R&D, clinical and manufacturing organizations, many of whom
do so on a spot basis and not pursuant to a contractual arrangement. Our ability to receive goods or services at all or on reasonable financial
terms from these third parties will be impacted if they are unable or refuse to supply or service us. Moreover, we may have limited or no recourse
if the goods or services are not subject to contractual terms. If we are unable to identify or secure regulatory approval for an alternative provider
on reasonable terms, our ability to meet our obligations to our customers could be negatively impacted, which could adversely affect our financial
results and our reputation. Additionally, third-party suppliers are required to comply with our quality standards and those of applicable regulatory
bodies. Failure of a third-party supplier to provide compliant raw materials, component parts or supplies, give us adequate notice of issues or
help us secure all required regulatory approvals for the use of their products or services has resulted in delays, service interruptions and quality-
related issues, and may do so again in the future, and may negatively impact our business results and results of operations.

There is substantial competition in the product markets in which we operate and the risk of declining demand and pricing pressures
could adversely affect our business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.

Although no single company competes with us in all of our businesses, we face substantial competition in all of our markets from international
and domestic healthcare medical products and pharmaceutical companies and providers of all sizes, and these competitors often differ across
our businesses. Competition is primarily focused on cost-effectiveness, price, service, product performance and technological innovation.

Competition may increase further as additional companies begin to enter our markets, launch new products or modify their existing products to
compete directly with ours. If our competitors respond more quickly to new or emerging technologies and changes in customer requirements or
we do not introduce new versions or upgrades to
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our product portfolio in response to those requirements, our products may be rendered obsolete or non-competitive. If our competitors develop
more effective or affordable products or achieve earlier patent protection or product commercialization than we do, our business, results of
operations, financial condition and cash flows will likely be negatively affected. For example, new developments such as pharmaceuticals that
reduce the progression of chronic kidney disease into ESRD or reduce its incidence (including through weight loss), as well as innovations in
technology and care delivery models, could materially adversely affect the demand for and future pricing and sale of our products and services.
Furthermore, if we are forced to reduce our prices due to increased competition, our business could become less profitable.

In addition, many healthcare industry companies, including healthcare systems, distributors, manufacturers, providers and insurers, are
consolidating or have formed strategic alliances. As the healthcare industry consolidates and new entrants emerge, competition to provide goods
and services to industry participants has become, and will continue to become, more intense. Further, this consolidation creates larger
enterprises with greater negotiating power, which they can use to negotiate price concessions. If we face an increase in costs or are unable to
achieve targeted price increases because of industry consolidation or otherwise, the long-term nature of our customer contracts or for other
reasons, or if we lose customers as a result of consolidation, our business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows could be
adversely affected.

Demand for our products and services depends in large part on overall demand in the healthcare market. With the healthcare market’s increased
focus on asset and resource efficiency, as well as reimbursement constraints and competitive dynamics, we have seen margins for some of our
products decline and they may continue to do so over time. Further, the competitive pressures in our industry could cause us to lose market
share unless we increase our commercial investments or reduce our prices, which could adversely impact our operating results. These factors,
along with possible legislative, regulatory and other developments, might result in significant shifts in market share among the industry’s major
participants, which includes us. Accordingly, if we are unable to effectively differentiate ourselves from our competitors in terms of new products
and diversification of our product portfolio, then our market share, sales and profitability could be adversely impacted through lower volume or
decreased prices.

Pandemics and other public health emergencies, or the fear thereof, have had, and may in the future have, a material adverse effect on
our business. The nature and extent of future impacts are uncertain and unpredictable.

Our global operations expose us to risks associated with public health emergencies, including epidemics and pandemics, such as the COVID-19
pandemic. Pandemics or other public health emergencies have adversely impacted, and may continue to adversely impact, our operations,
supply chains and distribution systems, and have increased, and may continue to increase, our expenses, including due to preventive and
precautionary measures that we, other businesses and governments have taken and may continue to take.

A pandemic or other public health emergency has adversely affected, and many continue to adversely affect, our business in many ways,
including, but not limited to, the following:

• During the COVID-19 pandemic, we experienced significant and unpredictable reductions and increases in demand for certain of our
products as healthcare customers re-prioritized the treatment of patients. Some of our products are particularly sensitive to reductions in
elective medical procedures. For example, many elective procedures were suspended or postponed in our principal markets as hospital
systems prioritized treatment of COVID-19 patients or otherwise were required to comply with changing government guidelines. If
patients and hospital systems de-prioritize, delay or cancel elective procedures in the future, our business, financial condition and results
of operations may be negatively affected. Additionally, through the pandemic, certain portions of our patient populations (including End
Stage Renal Disease patients) have experienced heightened mortality levels. Demand for related products and services may not
rebound to pre-pandemic levels in light of these increased mortality rates.

• A significant number of our customers, suppliers, manufacturers, distributors and vendors were adversely affected by the COVID-19
pandemic, including obstacles relating to their ability to maintain the continuity of their on-site operations, which impacted demand for
certain of our products and services. These impacts caused interruptions and delays in our supply chain, and may do so in the future,
resulting in more expensive alternative sources of labor and materials and heightened supply chain costs. Any delay or shortage in the
supply of components or materials or other operational or logistical challenges may impact our ability to satisfy consumer demand for
our products in a timely manner or at all, which could harm our reputation, future sales and profitability. For example, we have
experienced supply constraints for amino acid raw materials used in our parenteral nutrition products, as such materials are being used
to produce
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COVID-19 vaccines. These constraints have resulted in certain product backorders and may do so in the future.

• We have experienced, and may continue to experience, a loss of sales or profitability due to delayed payments, reduced demand or
capital constraints (including potential insolvency) of healthcare professionals, hospitals and other customers, as well as suppliers and
vendors facing liquidity or other financial issues. These liquidity issues, as well as other financial issues, could be exacerbated if
prolonged high levels of unemployment or loss of insurance coverage impact patients’ ability to access treatments that use our products
and services.

• COVID-19 adversely impacted the continued service and availability of skilled personnel necessary to run our operations (and those of
our customers).

Any of these and other impacts have had, and could in the future have, a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial
condition and cash flows. The scope and duration of any future public health emergency will depend on a number of factors, including the
potential emergence of a new pandemic, new variants of COVID-19, the pace at which government restrictions are imposed and lifted and the
extent of such restrictions, the scope of additional actions taken to mitigate the spread of disease and the availability and effectiveness and
acceptance of vaccines. The effect of such a health emergency on our business will also vary based on the speed with and extent to which
global markets and utilization rates for our products fully recover from the disruptions caused by such a public health emergency. The impact of
these and other factors on our business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows will depend on future developments that are
highly uncertain and cannot be predicted with confidence. Finally, to the extent COVID-19 or any future public health emergency adversely
affects our operations and global economic conditions more generally, many of the other risks described in this “Risk Factors” section may be
heightened.

If we fail to attract, develop, retain and engage key employees, our business may suffer.

Our ability to compete effectively depends on our ability to attract, develop, retain and engage key employees, including people in senior
management, sales, marketing, information technology and R&D positions, as well as our ability to transfer the knowledge and expertise of our
workforce to new employees as our employees retire or we otherwise experience employee turnover (including in connection with the completion
of acquisitions or divestitures or the proposed spinoff). Competition for top talent in the healthcare industry can be intense, especially for
experienced management and technical and professional employees, which could increase costs associated with identifying, attracting and
retaining such individuals. Our ability to recruit, develop, retain and engage such talent will depend on a number of factors, including hiring
practices of our competitors, compensation and benefits (as may be impacted by any financial performance challenges), work location, work
environment (including our competitors’ policies regarding remote or hybrid work arrangements), the market’s perception of our ongoing strategic
initiatives, including the proposed spinoff, and industry economic conditions. Further, a lack of employee engagement could lead to loss of
productivity and increased employee burnout, turnover, absenteeism, product quality incidents and decreased customer and patient satisfaction.
If we cannot effectively recruit, develop, retain and engage qualified employees, our business and results of operations could be adversely
impacted.

Risks Relating to Our Business Operations

Segments of our business are significantly dependent on major contracts with GPOs, IDNs, and certain other distributors and
purchasers.

A portion of our U.S. hospital sales and rentals are made pursuant to contracts with hospital GPOs. At any given time, we are typically at various
stages of responding to bids, negotiating and renewing expiring GPO agreements. Failure to be awarded certain of these agreements could
have a material adverse effect on our business, including product sales and service and rental revenue. In addition, we have faced and continue
to face challenges related to increasing costs associated with these agreements (associated with ongoing supply chain challenges and inflation),
which have negatively impacted our revenues and may continue to do so in the future.

Our participation in these agreements often requires increased discounting or restrictions on our ability to raise prices, and failure to participate
or to be awarded these agreements might result in a reduction of sales to the member hospitals. In addition, in recent years, select market
participants have shown an increased focus on individual GPO members negotiating directly with manufacturers on committed contracts. IDNs
and health systems, when negotiating directly with manufacturers, often request additional discounts or other enhancements. Further, certain
other distributors and purchasers have similar processes to the GPOs and IDNs and failure to be included in agreements with these other
purchasers could have a material adverse effect on our business.
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We may not be successful in achieving expected operating efficiencies and sustaining or improving operating expense reductions,
and might experience business disruptions and adverse tax consequences associated with restructuring, realignment and cost
reduction activities.

Portions of our business have been, and may in the future be, the subject of restructuring, realignment and cost reduction initiatives. For
example, we recently divested our BPS business and have implemented a simplified operating model and we continue to work toward
simplifying our manufacturing footprint and completing the proposed spinoff. While we are undertaking these actions, as well as any future
initiatives, with the goal of realizing potential efficiencies, we may not be successful in achieving efficiencies and cost reduction benefits we
expect in full or at all. Further, such benefits might be realized later than expected, and the ongoing costs of implementing these measures might
be greater than anticipated. If these measures are not successful or sustainable, we might undertake additional realignment and cost reduction
efforts, which could result in future charges. Moreover, our ability to achieve our other strategic goals and business plans might be adversely
affected, and we could experience business disruptions, if our restructuring and realignment efforts and our cost reduction activities prove
ineffective. These actions, the resulting costs, and potential delays or potential lower than anticipated benefits might also impact our foreign tax
positions and might require us to record tax reserves against certain deferred tax assets in our international business.

If we are unable to obtain sufficient components or raw materials on a timely basis or for a cost-effective price or if we experience
other manufacturing, sterilization, supply or distribution difficulties, our business, results of operations, financial condition and cash
flows may be adversely affected.

The manufacture of our products requires, among other things, the timely supply or delivery of sufficient amounts of quality components and raw
materials. We manufacture our products in approximately 60 principal manufacturing locations. We acquire our components, raw materials and
other requirements for manufacturing from many suppliers and vendors in various countries, including sometimes from ourselves for self-
supplied requirements. We endeavor, either alone or working closely with our suppliers, to ensure the continuity of our inputs and supplies, but
we cannot guarantee these efforts will always be successful. Further, while efforts are made to diversify certain of our sources of components
and raw materials, in certain instances there is only a sole source or supplier with no acceptable alternatives yet identified and, as applicable,
qualified. Additionally, we obtain certain components and materials on a spot basis from third party suppliers with whom we do not have
contractual arrangements. For most of our components and raw materials for which a single source or supplier is used, alternative sources or
suppliers may exist, but we have made a strategic determination to use the single source or supplier. Although we carry strategic inventory and
maintain insurance to help mitigate the potential risk related to supply disruption, such measures may not be sufficient or effective. A reduction,
interruption or suspension in supply, other supply chain issues, including those due to the revocation of distribution facilities’ licenses or as a
result of our ongoing strategic initiatives, and our inability to quickly develop acceptable alternative sources for such supply could adversely
affect our ability to manufacture, distribute and sell our products in a timely or cost-effective manner and could prevent us from satisfying
obligations under one or more of our customer contracts or arrangements, which could result in significant failure to supply penalties. We have
faced, and may in the future face, difficulties obtaining supplies of key materials, such as electromechanical components, active ingredients for
pharmaceuticals and resins, due to supply chain disruptions and global pandemics. Moreover, changes in regulation, world trade policies,
international taxes and government-to-government relations and issues with export and import activities could negatively impact our ability to
distribute products within a country and across countries. See “—Risks Relating to Legal and Regulatory Matters.”

Additionally, our success depends upon the availability and quality of our products and the underlying raw materials and component parts. The
medical products and pharmaceutical industries are competitive and subject to complex market dynamics and varying demand levels. These
levels vary in response to economic conditions, regulatory requirements, seasonality, natural disasters, wars, acts of terrorism, pandemics,
epidemics and other matters.

Significant increases in the cost of raw materials, sub-assemblies or materials used in the production of our products that cannot be recovered
through increased prices of our products (or the unavailability of those raw materials, sub-assemblies or production materials) have adversely
affected our business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows and may continue to do so in the future. There can be no
assurance that the marketplace will support higher prices or that such prices and productivity gains will fully offset any commodity cost increases
in the future. From time to time, we enter into fixed price supply contracts with respect to raw material purchases. Future decisions not to enter
into fixed price supply contracts may result in increased cost volatility, potentially adversely impacting our profitability. Volatility in the demand for
our products or our costs of energy, transportation, freight, raw materials and component parts and other supply, manufacturing, distribution and
warehousing or storage costs have adversely affected, and could in the future adversely affect, our business, results
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of operations, financial condition and cash flows and have prevented, and may continue to prevent, suppliers from providing goods and services
to us on reasonable terms or at all. See also “Risks Relating to Our Financial Performance and Our Common Stock—Global economic
conditions, including inflation and supply chain disruptions, have adversely affected, and could continue to adversely affect, our operations.”

Many of our products are difficult to manufacture. This is due to the complex nature of manufacturing devices and pharmaceuticals, including
biologics, as well as the strict regulatory regime governing our manufacturing operations. Variations in the manufacturing process may result in
production failures which could lead to launch delays, product shortage, unanticipated costs, lost revenues and damage to our reputation. A
failure to identify and address manufacturing problems prior to the release of products to our customers may also result in a quality or safety
issue of the type discussed in the “Risk Factors” section.

We rely heavily on a limited number of providers of transport services for reliable and secure point-to-point transport of our products to our
customers and patients and for tracking of these shipments, and from time to time we require warehousing for our products. If any of these
providers were to encounter delivery performance issues such as loss, damage or destruction of any systems or machines, it would be costly to
replace such systems or machines in a timely manner and such occurrences may damage our reputation and lead to decreased demand for our
products and increased cost and expense to our business.

Some of our products are manufactured at a single manufacturing facility or stored at a single storage site. Additionally, some of our
manufacturing facilities are located in the same geographic area. Loss or damage to, or closure of, a manufacturing facility or storage site due to
a natural disaster, such as we experienced as a result of Hurricane Maria, a pandemic, such as COVID-19, war or acts of terrorism or otherwise
could adversely affect our ability to manufacture sufficient quantities of key products or deliver products to meet customer demand or contractual
requirements, which may result in a loss of revenue and other adverse business consequences, including those identified in the paragraphs
above. We may be unable to transfer manufacturing of the relevant products to another facility or location in a cost-effective or timely manner, if
at all. This potential inability to transfer production could occur for several reasons, including, but not limited to, a lack of necessary relevant
manufacturing capability at another facility, or the regulatory requirements of FDA or other governmental regulatory bodies. Such an event could
materially negatively impact our business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.

In addition, several of our manufacturing facilities are leased and we may not be able to renew leases on favorable terms or at all. Because of
the time required to approve and license a manufacturing facility, a third-party manufacturer may not be available on a timely basis (if at all) to
replace production capacity in the event we lose manufacturing capacity or products are otherwise unavailable. Any of the foregoing could
adversely affect our business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.

Some of our products require sterilization prior to sale or distribution, and we utilize both Baxter-owned and third-party facilities for this process.
If an event occurs that results in damage to or closure, whether temporarily or permanent, of one or more of these facilities, we may be unable to
manufacture or sterilize the relevant products at prior levels or at all, and a third party may not be available on a timely basis (if at all) to replace
sterilization capacity.

For example, in 2021, our facility in Mountain Home, Arkansas entered into a Consent Administrative Order with the Arkansas Division of
Environmental Quality relating to certain air emissions control technology used to reduce ethylene oxide emissions from sterilization equipment.
Although the events giving rise to the Consent Administrative Order only caused a temporary pause in operations, these events or other
disruptions of manufacturing or sterilization processes that we or third parties may experience, whether due to a lack of capacity, environmental,
regulatory or compliance issues (including evolving regulatory requirements) or otherwise, could result in product shortage, unanticipated costs,
loss of revenues, operational restrictions, additional capital expenditure requirements, litigation and damage to our reputation, all of which could
have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.

Climate change, or legal, regulatory or market measures to address climate change, could adversely affect our business, results of
operations, financial condition and cash flows.

The long-term effects of climate change are difficult to predict and may be widespread. The impacts of climate change may include physical risks
(such as water scarcity, rising sea levels or frequency and severity of extreme weather conditions, including natural disasters such as hurricanes,
cyclones and typhoons), social and human effects (such as population dislocations or harm to health and well-being), compliance costs and
transition risks (including due to regulatory or technology changes), shifts in market trends (for example if customers increasingly prioritize
purchasing products that are sustainably made and that can be reused or recycled) and other adverse effects. Such impacts, such as damage to
manufacturing facilities, local infrastructure and utilities (including as a
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result of Hurricane Maria) have disrupted, and may in the future disrupt, our supply chain and manufacturing operations by adversely affecting
our ability to procure goods or services required for the operation of our business at the quantities and levels we require due to impairment of the
availability and increases in the cost of certain products, materials, commodities and energy. For example, material or sustained increases in the
price of oil have had an adverse impact on the cost of many of the plastic materials or resins we use to make and package our products, as well
as our transportation/freight costs. Further, the impacts of climate change, particularly severe weather events and droughts, have negatively
impacted, and may in the future negatively impact, our ability to obtain material energy and water sources and other resources, including
employee availability and access to shipping routes. Any of these outcomes may, in turn, result in customers transitioning to available
competitive products, loss of market share, negative publicity, reputational damage, loss of customer confidence or other negative
consequences, such as a decline in stock price. Further, any perceived increase in the potential of severe weather events and business
interruption may put an upward pressure on the cost of our risk insurance premiums, which could adversely impact our business, results of
operations, financial condition and cash flows.

In addition, the increasing concern over climate change has resulted in, and is expected to continue to result in, more local, state, regional,
federal and global legal and regulatory requirements relating to climate change, including regulating greenhouse gas emissions and related
reporting requirements (and the establishment of enhanced internal processes or systems to track them), alternative energy policies and
sustainability initiatives. Legislation and regulations have been, and are expected to continue to be, enacted and promulgated in the United
States, United Kingdom, EU or in any other jurisdictions in which we do business that impose more stringent restrictions and requirements than
our current legal or regulatory obligations (as a result of our publicly disclosed corporate responsibility goals or otherwise), we may experience
disruptions in, or increases in the costs associated with research, development, sourcing, manufacturing and distributing our products.
Additionally, rising climate change concerns have led to and could continue to lead to additional regulation that could increase our compliance
costs. As a result, any such regulatory changes could have a significant adverse effect on our business, financial condition, result of operations
and cash flows.

Furthermore, companies across all industries are facing increasing scrutiny from investors, regulators, and other stakeholders related to their
ESG commitments, performance, and disclosures, including related to climate change, diversity and inclusion, and governance standards.
Investor advocacy groups, certain institutional investors, lenders, investment funds, and other influential investors are increasingly focused on
companies’ ESG commitments (including our corporate responsibility goals), performance, and disclosures, and in recent years have placed
increasing importance on social costs and related implications of their investments. Additionally, organizations that provide information to
investors on corporate governance and related matters have developed ratings processes for evaluating companies on their respective
approaches to ESG matters, which are increasingly being employed by investors, lenders, and customers to inform their investment, financing,
or purchasing decisions. A failure to adequately meet stakeholder expectations, which may differ or conflict, may result in the loss of business,
reputational impacts, diluted market valuation, an inability to attract customers, and an inability to attract and retain top talent.

Breaches and breakdowns affecting our information technology systems or protected information, including from cyber security
breaches and data leakage, could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial condition, cash
flows, reputation and competitive position.

We rely upon information technology systems and infrastructure, including services provided by our partners and third parties, to support our
business, products and customers. For example, we routinely rely on technology systems and infrastructure in the collection, use, storage and
transfer, disclosure and other processing of voluminous amounts of protected information, including personal data, protected health information,
and sensitive data (of patients, employees, customers and third parties) as well as confidential, business, financial, and other sensitive
information (collectively, “Protected Information”). We also rely on systems for manufacturing, customer orders, shipping, regulatory compliance
and various other matters. Certain of our products and systems collect Protected Information regarding patients and their therapies and some
are internet enabled or connect to our systems for maintenance and other purposes. The acquisition of Hillrom in December 2021 increased the
number of these products and systems within our portfolio. Some of our products connect to the internet, hospital networks, electronic medical
record systems or electronic health record systems. Further, we expect that the breadth and complexity of our information and technology
systems and infrastructure will increase as we expand our product offerings to utilize and generate data analytics and potentially artificial
intelligence (which create emerging enterprise risks, including but not limited to cybersecurity, monitoring, and oversight). The continuing
evolution of technology we use, including cloud-based computing and data hosting as well as artificial intelligence, and reliance on third parties,
whom may also use cloud-based computing and data hosting or artificial intelligence tools, create
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additional opportunities for the unintentional, intentional, unauthorized or unlawful disclosure, exposure, dissemination, loss, alteration, access or
destruction of Protected Information stored or processed in our devices, systems, servers, infrastructure and products (collectively,
“Technology”). Security threats, including cyber and other attacks, have become very sophisticated, frequent and adaptive.

Our Technology is vulnerable to breakdown, interruption, cyber and other security attacks, system malfunction, unauthorized access, inadvertent
exposure or disclosure of information, theft and other events. Third-party systems that we rely upon are also vulnerable to the same risks and
may contain defects in design or manufacture or other problems that could result in system disruption or compromise the information security of
our own systems. Any such vulnerability could compromise our Technology and could expose Protected Information to unauthorized third parties
and/or cause temporary or permanent loss or unavailability of such Protected Information. In addition, our Technology may cause product
functionality issues that could result in risk to patient safety, field actions or product recalls. We, like other large multi-national companies, have
experienced cyber incidents in the past and may experience them in the future which have exposed and may continue to expose vulnerabilities
in our information technology systems. Although the prior incidents have not had a material effect on our business and we have invested and
continue to invest in the protection of data and Technology, there can be no assurance that our efforts (i) have prevented or will prevent future
breakdowns, attacks, breaches in our Technology, cyber incidents or other incidents or (ii) ensure compliance with all applicable cybersecurity
and privacy laws, regulations and standards, including with respect to third-party service providers that host or process Protected Information on
our behalf. Any failure to protect against such incidents or non-compliance with applicable security and privacy laws, regulations and standards
could lead to substantial and material regulatory fines and penalties, business disruption, reputational harm, financial loss or litigation, as well as
other damages. Misappropriation or other loss of our intellectual property from any of the foregoing may have an adverse effect on our
competitive position and may cause us to incur substantial litigation costs. See “Risks Relating to Legal and Regulatory Matters.” As our
customers and FDA and other global regulators, including data protection authorities or supervisory bodies, become more sensitive to risks
related to cybersecurity, our ability to meet certain information technology safety standards could affect our products’ marketability and
competitiveness. We could also suffer strained relationships with customers, business partners, physicians and other healthcare professionals,
increased costs (for security measures, remediation or otherwise), litigation (including class actions and stockholder derivative actions) or other
negative consequences (including a decline in stock price) as a result of breaches, cyber and other security attacks, industrial espionage,
ransomware, phishing scams, malware or other cyber incidents, which could compromise our system infrastructure and/or lead to data leakage,
including at our third-party providers or other business partners. Although we maintain insurance related to cybersecurity risks, there can be no
assurance that our insurance will cover a particular cyber incident at issue or that such coverage will be sufficient.

In addition, significant implementation issues may arise as we continue to consolidate and outsource certain computer operations and
application support activities, including as a result of our ongoing business transformation activities and in connection with the ongoing Hillrom
integration and our other ongoing strategic initiatives, including the proposed spinoff). Further, a number of our employees have fully remote or
hybrid work arrangements, which, among other things, expose us to heightened risks related to our information technology systems and
networks, including cyber attacks, computer viruses, malicious software, security breaches and telecommunication failures, both for systems and
networks we control directly and for those that employees and third-party developers rely on to work remotely. We also face all of the same risks
listed above and other heightened risks when acquiring a company, in particular if we need to transition or implement certain processes or
controls with the acquired company. For example, as we continue to integrate Hillrom into our business, we have identified certain potential
areas of vulnerability as we transition its information technology systems, products and processes to our processes and controls, including with
respect to cybersecurity and privacy matters. While we are working to fully address those vulnerabilities (consistent with our processes and
controls) we do not believe any of them present any material risks to our business or operations (including with respect to our Technology). Any
such vulnerabilities (or any others) if unidentified or unremediated could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations,
financial condition and cash flows.

We are subject to risks associated with doing business globally.

Our operations are subject to risks inherent in conducting business globally and under the laws, regulations and customs of various jurisdictions
and geographies. These risks include changes in exchange controls and other governmental actions, loss of business in government and public
tenders that are held annually in many cases, increasingly complex labor environments, availability of raw materials and component parts,
changes in taxation, tariffs, export control restrictions, changes in or violations of U.S. or local laws, dependence on a few government entities as
customers, pricing restrictions, economic and political instability, monetary or currency volatility or
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instability (including as it relates to the U.S. Dollar, the Euro, the Renminbi and currencies in emerging market countries), disputes between
countries, trade relationships and conflicts, diminished or insufficient protection of intellectual property, and disruption or destruction of
operations in a significant geographic region regardless of cause, including natural disaster, pandemic, power loss, cyber attack, data breach,
war, terrorism, riot, labor disruption, civil insurrection or social unrest. Failure to comply with, or material changes to, the laws and regulations
that affect our global operations could have an adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.

The escalating global economic competition and trade tensions among the United States, China and Russia could have an adverse effect on our
business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows. Although we have been able to mitigate some of the impact from increased
duties imposed by these countries (through petitioning the governments for tariff exclusions and other mitigations), the risk remains of additional
tariffs and other kinds of restrictions. Tariff exclusions awarded to us by the United States Government require annual renewal, and policies for
granting exclusions could shift. The United States, China and Russia could impose other types of restrictions such as limitations on government
procurement or technology export restrictions, which could affect our access to the markets. See also “Risks Relating to Legal and Regulatory
Matters—We are subject to a number of laws and regulations, non-compliance with which could adversely affect our business, results of
operations, financial condition and cash flows, and we are susceptible to a changing regulatory environment.”

More generally, several governments have raised the possibility of policies to induce “re-shoring” of supply chains, less reliance on imported
supplies and greater national production. For example, the Chinese government has issued a series of policies in the past several years to
promote local medical devices or suggest government procurement budgets for local products. Another example is the stronger “Buy American”
requirements in the U.S. (pursuant to a U.S. executive order on January 25, 2021). If such steps triggered retaliation in other markets, such as
by restricting access to foreign products by their government-owned healthcare systems the outcomes could have an adverse effect on our
business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.

A portion of our workforce is unionized, and we could face labor disruptions that would interfere with our operations.

Some of our employees both in and outside of the United States work under collective bargaining agreements or national trade union
agreements or are subject to works councils. Although we have not recently experienced any significant work stoppages as a result of labor
disagreements, we cannot ensure that such a stoppage will not occur in the future. For example, a collective bargaining agreement for one of
our U.S. manufacturing facilities is scheduled to expire in January 2025. Our inability to negotiate satisfactory new agreements or a labor
disturbance at any of our manufacturing facilities could have a material adverse effect on our operations.

Risks Relating to Legal and Regulatory Matters

We are subject to a number of laws and regulations, non-compliance with which could adversely affect our business, results of
operations, financial condition and cash flows, and we are susceptible to a changing regulatory environment.

As a participant in the healthcare industry, our operations and products, and those of our customers, are regulated by numerous government
agencies, both inside and outside the United States.

Laws and regulations, such as the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act and the Health Care and Education Reconciliation Act (collectively,
the Healthcare Reform Act), which aim to decrease costs through comparative effectiveness research and pilot programs to evaluate alternative
payment methodologies. Compliance with these and similar regulations could result in pricing pressure or negatively impact the demand for our
products. In a number of situations, even though specific laws and regulations may not directly apply to us, our products must be capable of
being used by our customers in a manner that complies with those laws and regulations.

The manufacture, distribution, marketing and use of our products are subject to extensive regulation and scrutiny by FDA and other regulatory
authorities globally. Any new product must undergo lengthy and rigorous testing and other extensive, costly, and time-consuming procedures
mandated by FDA and foreign regulatory authorities. The same testing and procedures sometimes apply to our products that are up for
authorization or renewal or are subject to changes in laws or regulations. For example, our medical devices that are sold or distributed in the EU
have to comply with the EU Medical Device Regulation that entered into force in May 2021. This Medical Device Regulation currently provides a
staggered phase-in period for manufacturers to comply with related regulations through December 2028. These regulations require companies
that wish to manufacture and distribute medical devices in EU member states to meet certain quality system and safety requirements and
ongoing product monitoring
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responsibilities and obtain a “CE” marking (i.e., a mandatory conformity marking for certain products sold within the European Economic Area)
for their products. Various penalties exist for non-compliance with the laws implementing the European Medical Device Regulations which, if
incurred, could have a material adverse impact on portions of our business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows. Changes to
current products may be subject to vigorous review, including additional FDA 510(k) and other regulatory submissions, and approvals or the time
needed to secure approvals are not certain. We may not be able to obtain such approvals on the timing or conditions we expect, or at all. Our
facilities must be approved and licensed prior to production and remain subject to inspection from time to time thereafter. Failure to comply with
the requirements of FDA or other regulatory authorities, including a failed inspection or a failure in our adverse event reporting system, has
resulted in, and could in the future result in, adverse inspection reports, voluntary or official action indicated, warning letters, import bans, product
recalls or seizures, monetary sanctions, reputational damage, injunctions to halt the manufacture and distribution of products, civil or criminal
sanctions, refusal of a government to grant approvals or licenses, restrictions on operations or withdrawal of existing approvals and licenses.
The failure of our suppliers to comply with regulations could also adversely affect segments of our business as regulatory actions taken by FDA
against those manufacturers can result in product shortages, recalls or modifications. Any of these actions could cause a loss of customer
confidence in us and our products, which could adversely affect our sales.

Our business is also subject to risks associated with U.S. and foreign legislation, regulations and trade agreements relating to the materials we
import, including quotas, duties, tariffs or taxes, other charges or restrictions on imports and the nature of materials that can be used in our
products, which could adversely affect our operations and our ability to import materials used in our products at current or increased levels. We
cannot predict whether additional U.S. and foreign customs quotas, duties (including antidumping or countervailing duties), tariffs, taxes or other
charges or restrictions, requirements as to where raw materials and component parts must be purchased, additional workplace regulations or
other restrictions on our imports will be imposed in the future or adversely modified, or what effect such actions would have on our costs of
operations. Future quotas, duties or tariffs may have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial condition and
cash flows. Future trade agreements could also provide our competitors with an advantage over us, or increase our costs, either of which could
have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows. See also “Risks Relating to Our
Business Operations—We are subject to risks associated with doing business globally.”
The sales, marketing and pricing of products and relationships that medical device and pharmaceutical companies have with healthcare
providers are under increased scrutiny by federal, state and foreign government agencies. Compliance with the Anti-Kickback Statute, False
Claims Act, Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act (including as these laws relate to off-label promotion of products) and other healthcare-related laws, as
well as competition and export and import laws, is under increased focus by the agencies charged with overseeing such activities. The
Department of Justice (the “DOJ”) and the SEC are focused on the enforcement of the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (the “FCPA”),
particularly as it relates to the conduct of medical product and pharmaceutical companies. The FCPA and similar anti-bribery laws generally
prohibit companies and their employees, contractors or agents from making improper payments to government officials for the purpose of
obtaining or retaining business. Healthcare professionals in many countries are employed by the government and consequently may be
considered government officials. Foreign governments are also focused on examining medical product and pharmaceutical companies’ sales
and marketing activities and relationships with healthcare providers and competitive practices generally. The laws and standards governing the
promotion, pricing, sale and reimbursement of our products and those governing our relationships with healthcare providers and governments,
including the Physician Payments Sunshine Act, are complicated, subject to frequent change and may be violated unknowingly. Compliance with
these and similar laws (or failure to comply with these laws) could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial
condition and cash flows. Additionally, failure to comply with applicable laws or our internal policies has resulted, and may result in the future, in
the departure or termination of key personnel, which has the potential of disrupting our operations or future performance. Furthermore,
governments have chosen (as in the case of the Chinese government) or may choose to prioritize anti-corruption efforts in the healthcare sector
as part of their law enforcement activities.

We are also subject to environmental laws, which are becoming more stringent throughout the world. For example, the Environmental Protection
Agency (the “EPA”) regulates the use of ethylene oxide for sterilization of medical devices and is increasingly focused on reducing emissions
from the ethylene oxide sterilization process, which has increased our costs of operations and necessitated changes to our manufacturing plants
and processes. Additionally, the European Economic Area (the “EEA”) is phasing out the use of Bis(2-ethylhexyl) phthalate in the immediate
packaging of medicinal products and in medical devices, and the EEA is also considering regulations on per- and polyfluoroalkyl substances,
fluorinated gases and Polyvinyl Chloride. Other governments globally have, or are considering, limiting or prohibiting the use of certain
chemicals, including Polyvinyl Chloride and Diethyl
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Phthalate. These regulatory changes could adversely impact our ability to manufacture or supply certain products in the EEA. Other
environmental laws may have similar consequences for us or our suppliers, or result in liability to us.

Additionally, the U.S. Department of the Treasury’s Office of Foreign Assets Control and the Bureau of Industry and Security at the U.S.
Department of Commerce administer laws and regulations that restrict U.S. persons and, in some instances, non- U.S. persons, in conducting
activities, transacting business or making investments in certain countries, or with governments, entities and individuals subject to U.S. economic
sanctions. From time to time, certain of our subsidiaries have limited business dealings with and/or provide humanitarian donations to countries
subject to comprehensive sanctions and/or embargoes, including Afghanistan, Belarus, Cuba, Russia, Syria and Venezuela. These dealings
represent an insignificant amount of our combined net sales and income but expose us to an increased risk of operating in these countries,
including foreign exchange risks or restrictions or limitations on our ability to access funds generated in these jurisdictions or the risk of violating
applicable sanctions or regulations, which are complex and subject to frequent change.

Our ethics and compliance programs, training, monitoring and policies may not always protect us from conduct by individual employees that
violate these laws. Violations or allegations of violations of these laws may result in large civil and criminal penalties, debarment or exclusion
from participating in government programs, diversion of management time, attention and resources and may otherwise have an adverse effect
on our business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.

The laws and regulations discussed above are broad in scope and subject to evolving interpretations and changes, which may be violated
unknowingly, could require us to incur substantial costs regarding compliance or to alter our sales and marketing practices and may subject us to
enforcement actions or litigation, and of which could adversely affect our business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows. We
cannot predict with certainty what laws, regulations and healthcare initiatives, if any, will be implemented, or what the ultimate effect of
healthcare reform or any future legislation or regulation will have on us. For more information related to ongoing government investigations, see
Note 8 in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. For more information on regulatory matters currently affecting us, including quality-related
matters, see “Certain Regulatory Matters” in Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations of
this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Increasing regulatory focus on privacy and cybersecurity issues and expanding laws could impact our business and expose us to
increased liability.

As a global company, we are subject to global data privacy and cybersecurity laws, regulations and codes of conduct that apply to our
businesses. We are required to comply with increasingly complex and changing legal and regulatory requirements and frameworks in the United
States and in other countries that govern not only the collection, use, storage, security, transfer, disclosure and other processing of protected
health information and personal and sensitive data, but also the timely disclosure of cybersecurity incidents. Further, new and emerging digital
and technology laws are gradually being implemented globally and have a strong interplay with privacy and cybersecurity rules, which
contributes to the complexity of the regulatory landscape. In the United States, we are subject to the Health Insurance Portability and
Accountability Act, as amended (HIPAA), the Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health Act and the California Consumer
Privacy Act (the CCPA) and California Privacy Rights Act (CPRA) as well as other new and emerging state laws. HIPAA imposes stringent data
privacy and security requirements, and the regulatory authority has imposed significant fines and penalties on organizations found to be out of
compliance. The CCPA provides consumers with a private right of action against companies that have a security breach due to a lack of
appropriate security measures. In addition, to the HHS and the Federal Trade Commission’s (FTC) enforcement activity has become more
intense, with higher fines, in areas related to heath data that are out of scope of HIPAA. Further, we are subject to the EU’s General Data
Protection Regulation (the GDPR) and the NIS2 Directive, an EU wide cybersecurity legislation, which will be fully in force in 2024. The GDPR
imposes stringent EU data protection requirements and provides for significant penalties for noncompliance, including heightened fines as
compared to prior years. Governmental bodies are increasingly imposing cyber-incident disclosure regulations with differing criteria for what
incidents must be reported as well as the timelines in which to report them.

We or our third-party providers and business partners may also be subjected to audits or investigations by one or more domestic or foreign
government agencies relating to compliance with information security and privacy laws and regulations, and noncompliance with such laws and
regulations could result in substantial and material fines or class action litigation.

If reimbursement or other payment for our current or future products is reduced or modified in the United States or in foreign
countries, including through the implementation or repeal of government-sponsored
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healthcare reform or other similar actions, cost containment measures, or there are changes to policies with respect to pricing,
taxation or rebates, our business could suffer.

Sales of our products depend, in part, on the extent to which the costs of our products are paid by both public and private payers. These payers
include Medicare, Medicaid, private healthcare insurers in the United States and foreign governments and third-party payers outside the United
States. Our work with government payers carries various risks inherent in working with government entities and agencies, including government
reporting and auditing, additional regulatory oversight, mandated contractual terms, failure of government appropriations and other complex
procedural requirements.

Public and private payers have challenged, and are expected to continue to challenge, prices charged for medical products and services. Such
downward pricing pressures from any or all of these payers may result in an adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial
condition and cash flows.

Global efforts toward healthcare cost containment continue to exert pressure on product pricing. Governments around the world continue to use
various mechanisms to control healthcare expenditures, such as price controls, the formation of public contracting authorities, product
formularies, which are lists of recommended or approved products, and competitive tenders, which require the submission of a bid to sell
products. Sales of our products are dependent, in part, on the availability of reimbursement by government agencies and healthcare programs,
as well as insurance companies and other private payers. In much of Europe, Latin America, Asia and Australia, governments provide healthcare
at low cost to patients and control their expenditures by various means, such as purchasing products through public tenders, collective
purchasing, regulating prices, setting reference prices in public tenders and limiting reimbursement or patient access to certain products. For
example, China has been implementing volume-based procurement policies, a series of centralized reforms being instituted in China on both a
national and regional basis that has resulted in significant price cuts for pharmaceuticals and medical consumables. Additionally, austerity
measures or other reforms by foreign governments may limit, reduce or eliminate payments for our products and adversely affect both pricing
flexibility and demand for our products. In addition, operations within our Healthcare Systems and Technologies segment increase our exposure
to risks related to reimbursement as certain portions of that business directly bill various government agencies.

The Healthcare Reform Act includes several provisions which impact our businesses in the United States, including increased Medicaid rebates
and an expansion of the 340B Drug Pricing Program, which provides certain qualified entities with discounts on the purchase of drugs for
outpatient use and an excise tax on the sale of certain drugs. The Healthcare Reform Act reduces Medicare and Medicaid payments to hospitals
and other providers, which may cause us to experience downward pricing pressure. Certain portions of the Healthcare Reform Act could
negatively impact the demand for our products, and therefore our results of operations, financial position and cash flows.

In 2019, the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services launched a new kidney health initiative. The CMS published the final ESRD
Treatment Choices (ETC) mandatory payment model in 2020. The ETC launched in 30% of dialysis clinics across the country on January 1,
2021 and creates payment incentives for the greater use of home dialysis and kidney transplants for those new to and already on dialysis. CMS
also announced the implementation of four voluntary payment models with the stated goal of helping healthcare providers reduce the cost and
improve the quality of care for patients with late-stage chronic kidney disease and ESRD. In addition, the 2022 Physician Fee Schedule issued
by CMS has extended coverage of certain Medicare telehealth services through December 31, 2023 and the Consolidated Appropriations Act of
2023 further extended such coverage through December 31, 2024. While the availability of telehealth services can improve access to medical
care, increased reliance on, and utilization of, telemedicine for delivery of healthcare services increases the risk of privacy and data breaches
and cyberattacks. These proposed regulatory changes in kidney health policy and reimbursement may substantially change the U.S. end stage
renal disease market and could increase demand for our peritoneal dialysis products, necessitating significant multi-year capital expenditures in
order to meet that demand. However, the impact of such changes and related expenses are difficult to estimate in advance.

In addition, a substantial portion of our revenues is dependent on federal healthcare program reimbursement, and any disruptions in federal
government operations, including a federal government shutdown or failure of the U.S. government to enact annual appropriations, could have a
material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows. Additionally, disruptions in federal government
operations may negatively impact regulatory approvals and guidance that are important to our operations and create uncertainty about the pace
of upcoming healthcare regulatory developments or approvals.

As a result of these and other measures, including future measures or reforms that cannot be predicted, reimbursement may not be available or
sufficient to allow us to sell our products on a competitive basis. Legislation and regulations affecting reimbursement for our products may
change at any time and in ways that may be adverse
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to us. We cannot predict the impact of these pressures and initiatives, or any negative effects of any additional regulations that may affect our
business.

We could be subject to fines or damages and possible exclusion from participation in federal or state healthcare programs if we fail to
comply with the laws and regulations applicable to our business.

Portions of our business are subject to stringent laws and regulations at the federal or state levels governing the participation of durable medical
equipment suppliers and independent diagnostic testing facilities in federal and state healthcare programs. From time to time, the U.S.
government seeks additional information related to our claims submissions, and in some instances government contractors perform audits of
payments made to us under Medicare, Medicaid, and other federal healthcare programs. On occasion, these reviews identify overpayments for
which we submit refunds. At other times, our own internal audits identify the need to refund payments. We believe the frequency and intensity of
government audits and review processes has grown, and we expect this will continue, due to increased resources allocated to these activities at
both the federal and state Medicaid level, and greater sophistication in data review techniques.

In addition, our business contracts with foreign and U.S. federal, state and local government entities are subject to specific rules, regulations and
approvals applicable to government contractors. Our failure to comply with these could result in contract terminations, suspension or debarment
from contracting with these entities, civil fines and damages, criminal prosecution and possible exclusion from participation in federal healthcare
programs, such as Medicare and Medicaid, as well as possible recoupment of any overpayments related to such violations. While we believe
that our practices materially comply with applicable state, federal and foreign requirements, the requirements might be interpreted in a manner
inconsistent with our interpretation. Failure to comply with applicable laws and regulations, even if inadvertent, could have a material adverse
impact on our business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.

If we are unable to protect or enforce our patents or other proprietary rights, or if we become subject to claims or litigation alleging
infringement of the patents or other proprietary rights of others, our competitiveness and business prospects may be materially
damaged.

Patent and other proprietary rights are essential to our business. Our success depends to a significant degree on our ability to obtain and
enforce patents and licenses to patent rights, both in the United States and in other countries. We cannot guarantee that our pending patent
applications, or any future patent applications, will result in issued patents, our patents issued or licensed will not be challenged or circumvented
by competitors, our patents will not be found to be invalid or the intellectual property rights of others will not prevent us from selling certain
products or including key features in our products.

The patent position of a healthcare company is often uncertain and involves complex legal and factual questions. Significant litigation concerning
patents and products is pervasive in our industry. Patent claims include challenges to the coverage and validity of our patents on products or
processes as well as allegations that our products infringe patents held by competitors or other third parties. An unfavorable litigation outcome in
any of these types of cases could result in a loss of patent protection or the ability to market products, which could lead to a significant loss of
sales, or otherwise materially affect our business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows. We also rely on trademarks,
copyrights, trade secrets and know-how to develop, maintain and strengthen our competitive positions. Third parties may know, discover or
independently develop equivalent proprietary information or techniques, or they may gain access to our trade secrets or publicly disclose our
trade secrets.

Although our employees, consultants, parties to collaboration agreements and other business partners are generally subject to confidentiality or
similar agreements to protect our confidential and proprietary information, these agreements may be breached, and we may not have adequate
remedies for any breach. To the extent that our employees, consultants, parties to collaboration agreements and other business partners use
intellectual property owned by others in their work for us, disputes may arise as to the rights in related or resulting know-how and inventions.

Furthermore, our intellectual property, proprietary technology and sensitive company data is potentially vulnerable to loss, damage and
misappropriation from system malfunction, computer viruses and unauthorized access to our data or misappropriation or misuse thereof by
those with permitted access and other events. While we have invested to protect our intellectual property, confidential information and other
data, and continue to work diligently in this area, there can be no assurance that our precautionary measures have prevented or will prevent
future breakdowns, breaches, cyber incidents or other events. See also “Risks Relating to Our Business Operations—Breaches and breakdowns
affecting our information technology systems or protected information, including from cyber security breaches and data leakage, could have a
material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial
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condition, cash flows, reputation and competitive position.” Any of the events referenced above could have a material adverse effect on our
reputation, business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.

Changes in tax laws or exposure to additional income tax liabilities may have a negative impact on our operating results.

Changes to the tax laws in the United States or other countries in which we operate could have an adverse effect on our operating results. For
example, the Organization of Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) and the G20 Inclusive Framework on Base Erosion and Profit
Shifting (the Inclusive Framework) has put forth two proposals—Pillar One and Pillar Two—that revise the existing profit allocation and nexus
rules and ensure a minimal level of taxation, respectively. On December 12, 2022, the EU member states agreed to implement the Inclusive
Framework’s global corporate minimum tax rate of 15%, and various countries both within and outside the EU have enacted new laws
implementing Pillar Two or have draft legislation proposed for adoption. The OECD continues to release additional guidance on the two-pillar
framework, with widespread implementation in 2024. We are continuing to evaluate the potential impact of the Inclusive Framework on future
periods, pending legislative adoption by individual countries, which could have an adverse impact on our effective tax rate, income tax expense
and cash flows.

Taxing authorities audit us from time to time and may disagree with certain positions we have taken in respect of our tax liabilities. Our tax
liabilities are affected by many factors, including the amounts we charge in intra-company transactions for inventory, services, licenses, funding
and other items, which are subject to the use of assumptions and judgment. Because we operate in multiple income tax jurisdictions both inside
and outside the United States, cross border transactions among our affiliates are a significant part of the manner in which we operate. Although
we believe that we transact intra-company business in accordance with arm’s-length principles, tax authorities may disagree with our intra-
company charges, cross-jurisdictional transfer pricing or other matters, and may assess additional taxes as a result, including in connection with
their review of the restated financial statements we have filed as part of our 2019 Annual Report on Form 10-K.

We regularly assess the likely outcomes of these audits in order to determine the appropriateness of our tax provision. However, we may not
accurately predict the outcome of these audits and, as a result, the actual outcome of these audits may have an adverse impact on our financial
results. For more information on ongoing audits, see Note 14 in Item 8 of this Annual Report.

We are party to a number of pending lawsuits and other disputes which may have an adverse impact on our business, results of
operations, financial condition and cash flows.

We are party to a number of pending lawsuits, settlement discussions, mediations, arbitrations and other disputes, some of which are set forth in
Note 8 in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. In addition, in the future we may be party to additional lawsuits, disputes or other matters,
including patent, product liability or other lawsuits. These current and future matters may result in a loss of patent protection, reduced net sales,
incurrence of significant liabilities and diversion of our management’s time, attention and resources. Given the uncertain nature of litigation and
other disputes generally, we are not able in all cases to estimate the amount or range of loss that could result from an unfavorable outcome in
our current matters. In view of these uncertainties, the outcome of these current matters may result in charges in excess of any established
reserves, and, to the extent available, liability insurance. We also continue to be self-insured with respect to product liability claims. The
unavailability or inadequacy of third-party insurance coverage for current or future liability claims could increase our potential exposure to
unanticipated claims and adverse decisions. Protracted litigation and other disputes, including any adverse outcomes, may have an adverse
impact on our business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows. Even claims without merit could subject us to adverse publicity
and require us to incur significant legal fees.

Our Amended and Restated Bylaws designate certain courts in the State of Delaware or the federal district courts of the United States
will be the sole and exclusive forum for substantially all disputes between us and our stockholders, which could limit our
stockholders’ ability to obtain a favorable judicial forum for disputes with us or our directors, officers, or employees.

Our Amended and Restated Bylaws (Bylaws) provide that, unless we consent in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, the Court of
Chancery in the State of Delaware (or, if no state court located in the State of Delaware has jurisdiction, the federal district court for the District of
Delaware) is the sole and exclusive forum, to the fullest extent permitted by law, to bring (i) any derivative action or proceeding brought on our
behalf, (ii) any action asserting a claim for or based on a breach of a fiduciary duty owed by any current or former director or officer or other
employee of the company to the company or our stockholders, (iii) any action asserting a claim arising pursuant to any provision of the Delaware
General Corporation Law or our Certificate of Incorporation or these
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Bylaws, as either may be amended from time to time, or (iv) any action to interpret, apply, enforce or determine the validity of the Certificate of
Incorporation or Bylaws or (v) any other action asserting a claim governed by the internal affairs doctrine or that is otherwise an “internal
corporate claim” as defined in Section 115 of the Delaware General Corporation Law. The exclusive forum provisions of our Bylaws are not a
waiver of, and do not relieve person or entity of duties to comply with, federal securities laws including those specifying the exclusive jurisdiction
of federal courts under the Exchange Act and concurrent jurisdiction of federal and state courts under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

Any person or entity purchasing or otherwise acquiring any interest in shares of our common stock is deemed to have received notice of and
consented to the foregoing provisions of our Bylaws described above. The choice of forum provision may result in increased costs for investors
to bring a claim. Further, the choice of forum provision may limit a stockholder’s ability to bring a claim in a judicial forum that it finds favorable for
disputes with us or our directors, officers, other employees, or stockholders, which may discourage such lawsuits against us and our directors,
officers, other employees, or stockholders. However, the enforceability of similar forum provisions in other companies’ certificates of
incorporation or bylaws have been challenged in legal proceedings. If a court were to find the exclusive choice of forum provision contained in
our Bylaws to be inapplicable or unenforceable in an action, we may incur additional costs associated with resolving such action in other
jurisdictions.

Item 1B.    Unresolved Staff Comments.

None.

Item 1C.    Cybersecurity.

We assess, identify and manage risks from cybersecurity threats through our Global Cybersecurity and Compliance Program (Cybersecurity
Program), which is part of our larger enterprise risk management framework. The Cybersecurity Program is currently overseen by the Audit
Committee and Quality, Compliance and Technology Committee (QCT Committee) of the Board of Directors and is managed by a dedicated
Chief Information Security Officer (CISO), whose organization has oversight of cybersecurity strategy, policy, standards, architecture and
processes for the security of our enterprise network, information assets and medical device technologies. Our current CISO has over 20 years of
experience in cybersecurity and has held numerous positions in the cybersecurity sector, including serving as Global Cyber Risk Officer at
another Fortune 500 medical products and equipment company and CISO at another healthcare company. The CISO’s organization monitors
and manages, and works to identify and assess, cybersecurity risk through various technologies, resources, processes and policies that are
regularly updated to align with the changing threat landscape, our evolving business needs as well as global regulatory requirements. In
addition, from time to time, we also utilize external auditors and assessors to help evaluate our Cybersecurity Program, including our control
measures, and to assist in conducting risk and maturity assessments. We also actively engage with industry experts, regulatory agencies,
advocacy groups, intelligence and law enforcement communities as part of our continuing efforts to evaluate and enhance the effectiveness of
our Cybersecurity Program.

We use a range of defenses to help protect against cybersecurity threats and to work to secure our assets, reduce detection time and improve
recoverability, such as the ongoing monitoring of our systems, including with the assistance of third party vendors, conducting routine exercises
with employees and senior management, including our executive officers, to promote awareness and improve internal processes, and engaging
with proxy advisors and external cybersecurity rating agencies that assess our cyber risk to improve our internal evaluations and vulnerability
management processes. In addition, to help promote privacy and security awareness throughout the company, all employees with a valid Baxter
email address receive annual training and access to virtual events and updated materials. Further, our Third-Party Risk Management Program
includes assessment and monitoring of security standards and control procedures for external suppliers and vendors, with enhanced
engagement or internal controls depending on the results of the assessment.

The Cybersecurity Program maintains a cybersecurity governance and oversight framework that seeks to drive accountability for all levels of
employees, including senior management and executive officers. Cybersecurity matters are generally managed by a combination of working
groups led by senior management that report to the cybersecurity steering committee or cybersecurity executive oversight committee, as
appropriate, on matters such as, among other things, enterprise level cybersecurity initiatives and directives, threat intelligence and product
cybersecurity risks and remediations. Our cross functional cybersecurity steering committee, which is led by the CISO, is composed of members
of senior management, including the Chief Information Officer, and reviews matters such as product security escalations, critical remediations
and disclosure recommendations. The output from the
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steering committee meetings is discussed at meetings of Baxter’s cybersecurity executive oversight committee, which is led by the CISO and
includes the Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer, General Counsel, Chief Compliance & Trust Officer and our business segment
presidents. The cybersecurity executive oversight committee meets quarterly, oversees enterprise and cybersecurity risk management and
reports to the Audit Committee and QCT Committee of the Board. The Audit Committee currently oversees our information technology functions
generally, including non-product-related cybersecurity matters, and the QCT Committee oversees product or service-based information
technology matters, including with respect to product cybersecurity matters. The Audit Committee is also responsible for the oversight of any
cybersecurity incident, including ones related to our products and services. Both committees receive updates from management on
cybersecurity-related topics within their purview throughout the year. Additionally, the full Board generally receives periodic updates on
information technology and cybersecurity matters from management and external advisors.

The CISO maintains and annually updates a Cybersecurity Incident Response Plan which is a guide for our Cyber Security Incident Response
Team to respond effectively and efficiently to cybersecurity incidents in a coordinated manner in the interest of minimizing the risk of harm to our
patients, customers, operations, partners, employees and third parties, consistent with our legal obligations. Cybersecurity risks and threats,
including as a result of any previous cybersecurity incidents, have not materially impacted and are not reasonably expected to materially impact
us or our operations to date. However, we recognize the ever-evolving cyber risk landscape and cannot provide any assurances that we will not
be subject to a material cybersecurity incident in the future. See Item 1A. Risk Factors “Breaches and breakdowns affecting our information
technology systems or protected information, including from cyber security breaches and data leakage, could have a material adverse effect on
our business, results of operations, financial condition, cash flows, reputation and competitive position” for a discussion of cybersecurity-related
risks.

Item 2.    Properties.

Our corporate offices are owned and located at One Baxter Parkway, Deerfield, Illinois 60015.

We manage our global operations based on four segments: Medical Products and Therapies, Healthcare Systems and Technologies,
Pharmaceuticals and Kidney Care. We own or have long-term leases on all of our manufacturing facilities and the location of the principal
manufacturing facilities of each of our segments are listed below:

Segments Location Owned/Leased
Medical Products and Therapies

Aibonito, Puerto Rico Leased
Alliston, Canada Owned
Cali, Colombia Owned
Cartago, Costa Rica Owned
Haina, Dominican Republic Leased
Hayward, California Leased
Cleveland, Mississippi Leased
Medina, New York Leased
Jayuya, Puerto Rico Leased
Sao Paulo, Brazil Owned
North Cove, North Carolina Owned
St. Paul, Minnesota Leased
Irvine, California Owned
Mountain View, California Leased
Toongabbie, Australia Owned
Lessines, Belgium Owned
Marsa, Malta Owned
Sabinanigo, Spain Owned
San Vittore, Switzerland Owned
Thetford, United Kingdom Owned
Tel Aviv, Israel Leased
Elstree, United Kingdom Leased

Healthcare Systems and Technologies
Acton, Massachusetts Leased
Batesville, Indiana Owned
Cary, North Carolina Leased
Charleston, South Carolina Leased
Milwaukee, Wisconsin Owned
St. Paul, Minnesota Leased
Skaneateles Falls, New York Owned
Suzhou, China Leased
Taicang, China Leased
Pluvigner, France Owned
Saalfeld, Germany Owned
Tijuana, Mexico Owned
Monterrey, Mexico Owned
Luleå, Sweden Owned



Pharmaceuticals
Guayama, Puerto Rico Owned
Round Lake, Illinois Owned
Ahmedabad, India Owned

Kidney Care
Cuernavaca, Mexico Owned
Pesa, Mexico Leased
Tijuana, Mexico Owned
Mountain Home, Arkansas Owned/Leased(1)
Guangzhou, China Owned
Shanghai, China Owned
Suzhou, China Owned
Woodlands, Singapore Owned/Leased(2)
Amata, Thailand Owned
Tianjin, China Owned
Miyazaki, Japan Owned
Castlebar, Ireland Owned
Grosotto, Italy Owned
Hechingen, Germany Leased
Liverpool, United Kingdom Leased
Lund, Sweden Leased
Medolla, Italy Owned
Meyzieu, France Owned
Rostock, Germany Leased
Sondalo, Italy Owned
Swinford, Ireland Owned
Tunis, Tunisia Owned
Dammam, Saudi Arabia Owned

__________________________________________________________________

(1) Includes both owned and leased facilities.
(2) We own the facility located at Woodlands, Singapore and lease the property upon which it rests.

We also own or operate shared distribution facilities throughout the world. In the United States and Puerto Rico, there are six shared distribution
facilities with the principal facilities located in Memphis, Tennessee; Cataño, Puerto Rico; North Cove, North Carolina; and Round Lake, Illinois.
Internationally, we have more than 100 shared distribution facilities located in Argentina, Australia, Austria, Belgium, Brazil, Canada, Chile,
China, Colombia, Costa Rica, the Czech Republic, Ecuador, France, Germany, Greece, Guatemala, Hong Kong, India, Ireland, Italy, Japan,
Korea, Mexico, New Zealand, Panama, the Philippines, Poland, Portugal, Russia, Singapore, Spain, Sweden, Switzerland, Thailand, Turkey, the
United Arab Emirates, and the United Kingdom.

We regularly evaluate our plants and production lines and believe that our current facilities plus any planned expansions are generally sufficient
to meet our expected needs and expected near-term growth. Expansion projects and facility closings will be undertaken as necessary in
response to market needs.
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Item 3.    Legal Proceedings.

Incorporated by reference to Note 8 in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Item 4.    Mine Safety Disclosures.

Not Applicable.

Information about our Executive Officers

As of February 8, 2024, the following serve as Baxter’s executive officers:

José E. Almeida, age 61, is Chair, President and Chief Executive Officer, having served in that capacity since January 2016. He began serving
as an executive officer of Baxter in October 2015. He served as Senior Advisor with The Carlyle Group from May 2015 until October 2015.
Previously, he served as the Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer of Covidien plc (Covidien), a global health care products company,
from March 2012 to January 2015, prior to the acquisition of Covidien by Medtronic plc (Medtronic), and President and Chief Executive Officer of
Covidien from July 2011 to March 2012. Mr. Almeida served in other executive roles with Covidien (formerly Tyco Healthcare (Tyco)) between
April 2004 and June 2011. Mr. Almeida currently serves on the Board of Directors of Bank of America. He previously served as a member of the
Board of Directors of Ortho-Clinical Diagnostics, Walgreens Boots Alliance, Inc., and the board of trustees of Partners in Health.

James Borzi, age 61, is Executive Vice President and Chief Supply Chain Officer. He joined Baxter in August 2020 from GE Healthcare, where
he served as Vice President, Chief Supply Chain Officer from 2019 to 2020. Prior to joining GE Healthcare, he served in various manufacturing
operations leadership roles at Becton Dickinson (BD), including Executive Vice President of Global Operations and Chief Supply Chain Officer
from 2013 to 2019. Earlier in his career, he was Senior Vice President of Operations & Technology at Hydro Aluminum and Executive Vice
President of Worldwide Operations at Lennox International. Prior to that, he was the Chief Operating Officer at AEES Inc. and Senior Vice
President of Americas Operations at Alcoa Corporation. Mr. Borzi is a senior advisor to the NAI Group, a Pritzker Private Capital company.

Joel T. Grade, age 53, is Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer. Mr. Grade joined Baxter in 2023 following a 25-year career with
Sysco Corporation (Sysco), the world’s global foodservice leader. He most recently served as Sysco’s Executive Vice President, Corporate
Development from 2020 to 2023. His previous roles at Sysco included Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer from 2015 to 2020,
Senior Vice President of Finance and Chief Accounting Officer, and Senior Vice President of foodservice operations. He currently serves as a
member of Northwestern University-Kellogg School of Business Financial Network Advisory Board and the Dean’s External Advisory Board of
the University of Wisconsin School of Business.

Heather Knight, age 52, is Executive Vice President and Group President, Medical Products & Therapies. She was appointed to her role leading
Medical Products & Therapies in 2023 after serving as President, Acute Therapies, Clinical Nutrition, Medication Delivery, Latin America and
Canada since 2021. She previously served as General Manager, U.S. Hospital Products from 2019 to 2021. Ms. Knight joined Baxter in 2019
from Medtronic plc (Medtronic), where she served as Vice President/General Manager of the global gynecologic health, colorectal health and
hernia businesses from 2016 to 2019. She has nearly 30 years of experience across the pharmaceutical and medical device industries in roles
of increasing responsibility. Prior to joining Medtronic, she held key commercial leadership positions at Kendal Healthcare, Tyco Healthcare, and
Covidien. Ms. Knight is a member of the Board of Chanell Medsystems, a medical device company dedicated to empowering every woman to
take control of her health journey and live her best life, and Technovation, a global technology education nonprofit that inspires girls to be leaders
and problem solvers in their lives and their community. She previously served as a member of the Board of Titan Medical Inc.

Jeanne K. Mason, Ph.D., age 68, is Executive Vice President and Chief Human Resources Officer having served in that capacity since 2006.
Ms. Mason joined Baxter in 2006 from GE Insurance Solutions, a primary insurance and reinsurance business, where she was responsible for
global human resource functions. Ms. Mason began her career with General Electric (GE) in 1988 after serving with the U.S. General Accounting
Office in Washington, D.C. Her GE experience included leadership roles in Europe for GE Information Services and GE Capital Real Estate. She
is a member of the Board of Directors of Family Service of Lake County and is a member of the Executive Advisory Council for the Chicago
Chapter of National Association of African Americans in Human Resources.

Reazur Rasul, age 47, is Executive Vice President and Group President, Healthcare Systems & Technologies. He was appointed to his current
role in 2023 after serving as President of Front Line Care since 2022. Prior to that, Mr.
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Rasul served as General Manager for the Acute Therapies & Medication Delivery businesses from 2021 to 2022, and General Manager, for the
Acute Therapies business from 2017 to 2021. Before joining Baxter in 2017, he worked with Hewlett Packard Enterprise where he was Vice
President and General Manager of the Global Cloud infrastructure business. Previously, he worked with GE Healthcare where he held several
roles of increasing responsibility in business leadership and strategy, including General Manager of the Global Interventional Cardiology
business. Mr. Rasul began his professional career with Toyota Motor Corporation and ultimately held multiple leadership positions in strategy,
product development and operations.

David S. Rosenbloom, age 64, is Executive Vice President and General Counsel. Mr. Rosenbloom joined Baxter from McDermott Will & Emery
(McDermott), where he served as a partner for 24 years and Global Head of the Litigation Practice Group from 2017 to 2022. Prior to
McDermott, he served for eight years in the U.S. Attorney’s Office for the Northern District of Illinois. Mr. Rosenbloom is a member of the Board
of the Digestive Health Foundation, which supports research at Northwestern Digestive Health Center, which is part of Northwestern Medicine at
Northwestern Memorial Hospital.

Alok Sonig, age 51, is Executive Vice President and Group President, Pharmaceuticals. He was appointed to his new role in 2023 after serving
as President since 2022. Mr. Sonig joined Baxter in 2022 from Lupin, Inc. (Lupin), where he served as U.S. CEO and Global Head of R&D and
Biosimilars from 2018 to 2022. He brings more than 25 years of experience in the life sciences industry. Prior to Lupin, Mr. Sonig served as CEO
of Developed Markets (U.S., Canada, Europe, and Japan) at Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories. He also spent more than 15 years at Bristol Myers
Squibb, where he held several positions of increasing responsibility in general management, global strategy and marketing. Mr. Sonig is
currently a member of the Advisory Boards for the American University, Kogod School of Business, and Sentry Sciences, Inc., and is a member
of the Board of the Southern Asian Pharmaceutical Council.

Christopher A. Toth, age 44, is Executive Vice President and Group President, Kidney Care. Mr. Toth assumed his responsibilities at Baxter in
June 2023 and has been selected as the Chief Executive Officer of the independent company to emerge from the proposed separation of our
Kidney Care business into an independent company. Before joining Baxter, he served as Chief Executive Officer of Varian, a Siemens
Healthineers Company from 2021 to 2023. Prior to this, he held numerous executive leadership roles across a two-decade career with Varian,
including as President and Chief Operating Officer from 2019 to 2021, President of Varian Oncology Systems from 2018 to 2019; and President
of Global Commercial and Field Operations. Mr. Toth was previously a member of the U.S. India Strategic Partnership Forum Board and
President Biden’s Advisory Council on Doing Business in Africa.

All executive officers hold office until the next annual election of officers or until their respective successors are elected and qualified.
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PART II

Item 5.    Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities.

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

In July 2012, the Board of Directors authorized a share repurchase program and the related authorization was subsequently increased a number
of times. During the fourth quarter of 2023, we did not repurchase any shares under this authority. The remaining authorization under this
program totaled approximately $1.30 billion at December 31, 2023. This program does not have an expiration date.

Market Information and Holders of our Common Stock

Our common stock is listed on the New York and Chicago stock exchanges. The New York Stock Exchange is the principal market on which our
common stock is traded under the symbol “BAX”. As of January 31, 2024, there were 19,117 holders of record of our common stock.

Performance Graph

The following graph compares the change in our cumulative total stockholder return (including reinvested dividends) on our common stock with
the Standard & Poor’s 500 Composite Index and the Standard & Poor’s 500 Health Care Index over the past five years.

TSR calculations (as provided by FactSet) include reinvested dividends.

Item 6.    Reserved.

Item 7.    Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

The following commentary should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes included in Item 8
of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

1 
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EXECUTIVE OVERVIEW

Description of the Company, Recent Strategic Actions and Business Segments

Baxter International Inc. is a global medical technology with approximately 60,000 employees worldwide who are engaged in the development,
manufacture and sale of a broad range of products, digital health solutions and therapies used by hospitals, kidney dialysis centers, nursing
homes, rehabilitation centers, ambulatory surgery centers, doctors’ offices and patients at home under physician supervision. Our global footprint
and the critical nature of our products and services, which are sold in over 100 countries as of December 31, 2023, play a key role in expanding
access to healthcare in emerging and developed countries.

In mid-2022, our Board of Directors authorized a strategic review of our business portfolio, with the goal of increasing stockholder value. As part
of that review process, we identified and evaluated a range of potential strategic actions, including opportunities for sales and other separation
transactions. In January 2023, following the completion of that review, we announced the following planned strategic actions that are intended to
enhance our operational effectiveness, accelerate innovation and drive additional stockholder value: (a) a proposed spinoff of our Kidney Care
business into an independent publicly traded company focused on kidney care and organ support (the proposed spinoff), (b) our development of
a new operating model to simplify our operations and better align our manufacturing and supply chain to our commercial activities and (c) our
pursuit of strategic alternatives for our BioPharma Solutions (BPS) business.

Proposed Separation of Kidney Care Business

We are working to complete the proposed separation of our Kidney Care business in the interest of establishing an independent company
focused on kidney care and organ support. While we continue to evaluate all strategic options in the interest of maximizing stockholder value, we
continue to progress towards our current target of July 2024 for completion of the proposed spinoff of this business. In both 2023 and 2022 we
generated $4.45 billion of combined net sales from our Kidney Care segment, representing approximately 30% and 31%, respectively, of our
consolidated net sales. We intend for the proposed spinoff to qualify as tax-free to Baxter and our stockholders for U.S. federal income tax
purposes. The proposed spinoff is subject to the satisfaction of customary conditions, including final approval from our Board of Directors, the
filing and effectiveness of a registration statement on Form 10, receipt of an Internal Revenue Service (IRS) ruling or related tax opinions from
counsel, satisfactory completion of financing arrangements, consultations with works councils and other employee representative bodies and
any necessary regulatory approvals.

We incurred $225 million of pre-tax costs related to the proposed spin-off during 2023 and we expect to continue to incur significant separation-
related costs in 2024. Additionally, we expect to incur dis-synergies following our completion of the proposed spinoff transaction due to the
reduced size of our company and, as a result, we will need to undertake actions to ensure that our cost structure is appropriate to support our
remaining businesses.

There can be no guarantees that the proposed spinoff will be completed in the manner or over the timeframes described above, or at all.

Implementation of New Operating Model and Resulting Segment Change

Our reportable segments were previously comprised of the following geographic segments related to our legacy Baxter business: Americas
(North and South America), EMEA (Europe, Middle East and Africa) and APAC (Asia Pacific), and a global segment for our Hillrom business. As
discussed below under “Recent Strategic Actions,” in the third quarter of 2023, we completed the implementation of a new operating model
intended to simplify and streamline our operations and better align our manufacturing and supply chain to our commercial activities. Under this
new operating model, our business is comprised of four segments: Medical Products and Therapies, Healthcare Systems and Technologies
(formerly referred to as our Hillrom segment), Pharmaceuticals and Kidney Care (which would become an independent publicly traded company
following the completion of the proposed spinoff transaction). Our segment reporting was changed during the third quarter of 2023 to align with
our new operating model and prior period segment disclosures have been revised to reflect the new segments.

The Medical Products and Therapies segment includes sales of our sterile IV solutions, infusion systems, administration sets, parenteral nutrition
therapies and surgical hemostat, sealant and adhesion prevention products. The Healthcare Systems and Technologies segment includes sales
of our connected care solutions and

34



collaboration tools, including smart bed systems, patient monitoring systems and diagnostic technologies, respiratory health devices and
advanced equipment for the surgical space, including surgical video technologies, precision positioning devices and other accessories. The
Pharmaceuticals segment includes sales of specialty injectable pharmaceuticals, inhaled anesthesia and drug compounding. The Kidney Care
segment includes sales of chronic and acute dialysis therapies and services, including peritoneal dialysis (PD), hemodialysis (HD), continuous
renal replacement therapies (CRRT) and other organ support therapies. Other sales not allocated to a segment primarily include sales of
products and services provided directly through certain of our manufacturing facilities and royalty income under a business development
arrangement that ended in early 2023 when we acquired the related product rights.

For financial information about our segments, see Note 18 in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Sale of BPS Business

On September 29, 2023, we completed the sale of our BPS business and received cash proceeds of $3.96 billion from that transaction. The
financial position, results of operations and cash flows of our BPS business, including the $2.88 billion pre-tax gain ($2.59 billion net of tax) from
the sale of that business and the related cash proceeds received, are reported as discontinued operations in the accompanying consolidated
financial statements. We intend to use substantially all of the after-tax proceeds from this transaction to repay certain of our debt obligations,
including $514 million of commercial paper borrowings and $2.28 billion of long-term debt that we repaid during the fourth quarter of 2023.

See Note 2 in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for additional information.

Financial Results

Our global net sales totaled $14.81 billion in 2023, an increase of 2% over 2022 on a reported basis and 3% on a constant currency basis.
International sales totaled $7.81 billion in 2023, an increase of 3% compared to 2022 on a reported basis and 4% on a constant currency basis.
Sales in the United States totaled $7.00 billion in 2023, an increase of 1% compared to 2022. Refer to the Net Sales discussion in the Results of
Operations section below for more information related to changes in net sales on a constant currency basis.

Net income (loss) attributable to Baxter stockholders totaled $2.66 billion, or $5.25 per diluted share, in 2023. Net income (loss) attributable to
Baxter stockholders in 2023 included special items which increased net income by $1.18 billion, or $2.33 per diluted share. See our special
items subsection, in the Results of Operations section below, for information about special items for all periods present.

Net income (loss) from continuing operations totaled $(69) million, or $(0.15) per diluted share, in 2023. Net income (loss) from continuing
operations in 2023 included special items which adversely impacted our results by $1.40 billion, or $2.75 per diluted share.

Our financial results included research and development (R&D) expenses totaling $667 million in 2023, which reflects our focus on balancing
investments to support our new product pipeline with efforts to optimize overall R&D spending (including with respect to the maintenance of our
portfolio).

While we continue to face continuing global macroeconomic challenges, our financial position remains strong, with operating cash flows from
continuing operations totaling $1.70 billion in 2023. We have continued to execute on our disciplined capital allocation framework, as discussed
in the "Business Strategy" section in Item 1. Business of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, which is designed to optimize stockholder value
creation through reinvestment in our businesses, dividends and share repurchases, as well as acquisitions and other business development
initiatives and debt repayments, consistent with our previously stated commitment to achieve our net leverage targets.

Capital expenditures totaled $692 million in 2023 as we continue to invest across our businesses to support future growth, including additional
investments in support of new and existing product capacity expansions. Our investments in capital expenditures in 2023 were focused on
projects that improve production efficiency, enhance our quality systems and optimize manufacturing capabilities to support our business growth.

We also continued to return value to our stockholders. During 2023, we paid cash dividends to our stockholders totaling $586 million.
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During 2024, we expect to continue to incur significant separation-related costs related to the proposed spinoff, which may adversely impact our
earnings and operating cash flows.

FACTORS AFFECTING OUR RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Supply Constraints and Global Economic Conditions

We have experienced significant challenges to our global supply chain in recent periods, including production delays and interruptions, increased
costs and shortages of raw materials and component parts (including resins and electromechanical devices) and higher transportation costs,
resulting from the pandemic and other exogenous factors including significant weather events, elevated inflation levels, increased interest rates,
disruptions to certain ports of call and access to shipping ports around the world, the war in Ukraine, the conflict in the Middle East (including
recent attacks on merchant ships in the Red Sea), tensions between China and Taiwan and other geopolitical events. Due to the nature of our
products, which include dense consumable medical products such as IV fluids, and the geographic locations of our manufacturing facilities,
which often require us to transport our products long distances, we may be more susceptible to increases in freight costs and other supply chain
challenges than certain of our industry peers. While we have seen some improvements in the availability of certain component parts and
improved pricing in certain raw materials, these challenges have not completely subsided and may continue to have a negative impact on our
supply chain in future periods. These challenges, including the unavailability of certain raw materials and component parts, have also had a
negative impact on our sales for certain product categories (including those acquired in our December 2021 acquisition of Hill-Rom Holdings,
Inc. (Hillrom)) due to our inability to fully satisfy demand and may continue to have a negative impact on our sales in the future.

Our results of operations are also affected by macroeconomic conditions and levels of business confidence. The war in Ukraine, the conflict in
the Middle East (including recent attacks on merchant ships in the Red Sea), tensions between China and Taiwan and the sanctions and other
measures being imposed in response to these conflicts (and the potential for escalation of these conflicts) have increased the levels of economic
and political uncertainty and we continue to closely monitor the developing situations. With respect to the war in Ukraine and our business in
Russia, we have substantially completed our wind down efforts related to our business in Russia in a manner that we structured to be compliant
with all applicable U.S. and European Union sanctions and regulations. While these countries do not constitute a material portion of our
business, a significant escalation or expansion of economic disruption or the current scope of these conflicts could have an adverse effect on our
business in the region.

Our global operations expose us to risks associated with public health crises and epidemics/pandemics. COVID-19 had, and it or any other
future public health crisis could in the future have an adverse impact on, among other things, our expenses, operations, supply chains and
distribution systems. Over the course of the COVID-19 pandemic, our business was impacted by shifting healthcare priorities and significant
volatility in the demand for our products, and any resurgence of the pandemic or any new public health crisis could again impact healthcare
priorities and cause volatility in the demand for our products.

The existence of high inflation rates in the United States and in many of the countries where we conduct business has resulted in, and may
continue to result in, higher interest rates, shipping costs, labor costs and other costs and expenses. Additionally, adverse changes in foreign
currency exchange rates have increased our costs of sourcing certain raw materials in some jurisdictions. We have experienced and may
continue to experience inflationary increases in manufacturing costs and operating expenses, and we may not be able to pass these cost
increases on to our customers in a timely manner or at all, which could have a material adverse impact on our profitability and results of
operations. Inflation and general macroeconomic factors have caused certain of our customers to reduce or delay orders for our products and
services and could cause them to do so in the future, which could have a material adverse impact on our sales and results of operations.

As a medical products company, our operations and many of the products manufactured or sold by us are subject to extensive regulation by
numerous government agencies, both within and outside the United States. These regulations, as described in "Government Regulation" in Item
1. Business of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, require that we obtain specific approval from the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) and non-
U.S. regulatory authorities before we can market and sell most of our products in a particular country. Failure to obtain or maintain those
approvals or clearances could have a material adverse impact on our business (including with respect to our ability to compete in the product
markets in which we currently operate). Furthermore, FDA in the United States, the European Medicines Agency (EMA) in Europe, the China
Food and Drug Administration (CFDA) in China and other
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government agencies, inside and outside of the United States, administer requirements covering the testing, safety, effectiveness,
manufacturing, labeling, promotion and advertising, distribution and post-market surveillance of our products. Our failure to comply with these
requirements may subject us to various actions, including warning letters, product recalls or seizures, monetary sanctions, injunctions to halt the
manufacture and distribution of products, civil or criminal sanctions, refusal of a government to grant approvals or licenses, restrictions on
operations or withdrawal of existing approvals and licenses and may have a material adverse impact on our results of operations.

For further discussion, please refer to Item 1A. Risk Factors of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

RECENT BUSINESS COMBINATIONS AND ASSET ACQUISITIONS

Zosyn

On March 22, 2022, we entered into an agreement with a subsidiary of Pfizer Inc. to acquire the rights to Zosyn, a premixed frozen piperacillin-
tazobactam product, in the U.S. and Canada. Zosyn is used for the treatment of intra-abdominal infections, nosocomial pneumonia, skin and
skin structure infections, female pelvic infections and community-acquired pneumonia. Under the terms of the acquisition, we paid the acquisition
price of $122 million and received specified intellectual property, including patent rights, in the first quarter of 2022 and received additional
intellectual property, including the product rights to Zosyn, in the first quarter of 2023. Under the arrangement, we received profit sharing
payments from sales of Zosyn until the product rights transferred to us in March 2023. Refer to Note 3 in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form
10-K for additional information regarding our acquisition of the rights to Zosyn.

Hillrom

On December 13, 2021, we completed our acquisition of all outstanding equity interests of Hillrom for a purchase price of $10.48 billion.
Including the assumption of Hillrom's outstanding debt obligations, the enterprise value of the transaction was $12.84 billion.

Hillrom was a global medical technology leader whose products and services help enable earlier diagnosis and treatment, optimize surgical
efficiency, and accelerate patient recovery while simplifying clinical communication and shifting care closer to home. Hillrom made those
outcomes possible through digital and connected care solutions and collaboration tools, including smart bed systems, patient monitoring and
diagnostic technologies, respiratory health devices, advanced equipment for the surgical space and more, delivering actionable, real-time
insights at the point of care.

In 2023 and 2022 our Healthcare Systems and Technologies segment (formerly our Hillrom segment) generated net sales of $3.01 billion and
$2.94 billion, respectively. During 2022, we also recognized $2.81 billion of goodwill impairments and $332 million of indefinite-lived intangible
asset impairments related to goodwill and trade name intangible assets that arose from the Hillrom acquisition. See Notes 3, 5, 6 and 18 in Item
8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for additional information about the Hillrom acquisition, goodwill and intangible asset impairments, Hillrom
acquisition financing arrangements and our Healthcare Systems and Technologies segment results, respectively.

PerClot

On July 29, 2021, we acquired certain assets related to PerClot Polysaccharide Hemostatic System (PerClot), including distribution rights for the
U.S. and specified territories outside of the U.S., from CryoLife, Inc. for an upfront purchase price of $25 million and the potential for additional
cash consideration of up to $36 million, which had an acquisition-date fair value of $28 million, based upon regulatory and commercial
milestones. PerClot is an absorbable powder hemostat indicated for use in surgical procedures, including cardiac, vascular, orthopedic, spinal,
neurological, gynecological, ENT and trauma surgery as an adjunct hemostat when control of bleeding from capillary, venous, or arteriolar
vessels by pressure, ligature, and other conventional means is either ineffective or impractical. Refer to Note 3 in Item 8 of this Annual Report on
Form 10-K for additional information regarding the acquisition of PerClot.
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Transderm Scop

On March 31, 2021, we acquired the rights to Transderm Scop (TDS) for the U.S. and specified territories outside of the U.S. from subsidiaries of
GlaxoSmithKline for an upfront purchase price of $60 million including the cost of acquired inventory and the potential for additional cash
consideration of $30 million, which had an acquisition-date fair value of $24 million, based upon regulatory approval of a new contract
manufacturer by a specified date. We previously sold this product under a distribution license to the U.S. institutional market. TDS is indicated for
post-operative nausea and vomiting in the U.S. and motion sickness in European markets. Refer to Note 3 in Item 8 of this Annual Report on
Form 10-K for additional information regarding the acquisition of TDS.

Caelyx and Doxil

On February 17, 2021, we acquired the rights to Caelyx and Doxil, the branded versions of liposomal doxorubicin, from a subsidiary of Johnson
& Johnson for specified territories outside of the U.S for $325 million in cash. We previously acquired the U.S. rights to this product in 2019.
Liposomal doxorubicin is a chemotherapy medicine used to treat various types of cancer. Refer to Note 3 in Item 8 of this Annual Report on
Form 10-K for additional information regarding the acquisition of Caelyx and Doxil.

NON-GAAP FINANCIAL MEASURES

Our presentation of percentage changes in net sales at constant currency rates, which is computed using current period local currency sales at
the prior period’s foreign exchange rates, is a non-GAAP financial measure. This measure provides information about growth (or declines) in our
net sales as if foreign currency exchange rates had not changed between the prior period and the current period. We believe that the non-GAAP
measure of percent change in net sales at constant currency rates, when used in conjunction with the U.S. GAAP measure of percent change in
net sales at actual currency rates, may provide a more complete understanding and facilitate a fuller analysis of our results of operations,
particularly in evaluating performance from one period to another.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

CONSOLIDATED NET SALES
Percent change

At actual
currency rates

At constant
currency rates 

years ended December 31 (in
millions) 2023 2022 2021 2023 2022 2023 2022
United States $ 7,000 $ 6,955 $ 4,938 1 % 41 % 1 % 41 %
Emerging markets 3,319 3,222 3,012 3 % 7 % 5 % 14 %
Rest of world 4,494 4,329 4,196 4 % 3 % 4 % 13 %

Total net sales $ 14,813 $ 14,506 $ 12,146 2 % 19 % 3 % 24 %

Emerging markets include sales from our operations in Eastern Europe, the Middle East, Africa, Latin America and Asia (except for Japan).
 Rest of world includes sales from our operations in Western Europe, Canada, Japan, Australia and New Zealand.
 Percent change in net sales at constant currency rates is a non-GAAP financial measure. See the section entitled “Non-GAAP Financial Measures” for additional information about

our use of that measure.

Foreign currency adversely impacted net sales by 1 percentage point during the year ended December 31, 2023, as compared to the prior year
period, primarily due to the strengthening of the U.S. Dollar relative to the Turkish Lira, Chinese Renminbi, Australian Dollar, Japanese Yen and
the Canadian Dollar, partially offset by the weakening of the U.S. Dollar relative to the Euro and Mexican Peso. Our acquisition of Hillrom in
December 2021 favorably impacted net sales by 23 percentage points for the year ended December 31, 2022, as compared to the prior year
period. Foreign currency adversely impacted net sales by 5 percentage points during the year ended December 31, 2022, as compared to the
prior year period, primarily due to the strengthening of the U.S. Dollar relative to the Euro, British Pound, Turkish Lira, Australian Dollar,
Japanese Yen and Chinese Renminbi.
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NET SALES BY SEGMENT

Medical Products and Therapies

Our Medical Products and Therapies segment includes sales of our sterile IV solutions, infusion systems, administration sets, parenteral nutrition
therapies and surgical hemostat, sealant and adhesion prevention products.

Percent change

years ended December 31 (in millions) 2023 2022
At actual

currency rates
At constant

currency rates 
Infusion Therapies and Technologies $ 3,960 $ 3,817 4 % 4 %
Advanced Surgery 1,051 998 5 % 6 %

Total Medical Product and Therapies net sales $ 5,011 $ 4,815 4 % 4 %

 Percent change in net sales at constant currency rates is a non-GAAP financial measure. See the section entitled “Non-GAAP Financial Measures” for additional information about
our use of that measure.

Medical Product and Therapies segment net sales increased 4% for the year ended December 31, 2023, as compared to the prior year period.

Infusion Therapies and Technologies net sales increased 4% for the year ended December 31, 2023, as compared to the prior year period.
Sales performance in 2023 reflected strong demand for our infusion systems and administration sets, as well as growth in IV solutions and
international nutrition compounding, partially offset by lower sales of parenteral nutrition products in the U.S. as compared with the prior year
period.

Advanced Surgery net sales increased 5% for the year ended December 31, 2023, as compared to the prior year period, driven by continued
recovery in surgical procedures, partially offset by temporary supply constraints, the exit of a product distribution arrangement and a comparison
against prior year periods that benefited from competitor supply constraints. Foreign currency exchange rates adversely impacted net sales by
1% for the year ended December 31, 2023, as compared to the prior year period.

Percent change

years ended December 31 (in millions) 2022 2021
At actual

currency rates
At constant

currency rates 
Infusion Therapies and Technologies $ 3,817 $ 3,844 (1)% 3 %
Advanced Surgery 998 977 2 % 8 %

Total Medical Product and Therapies net sales $ 4,815 $ 4,821 (0)% 4 %

 Percent change in net sales at constant currency rates is a non-GAAP financial measure. See the section entitled “Non-GAAP Financial Measures” for additional information about
our use of that measure.

Medical Product and Therapies segment net sales remained flat for the year ended December 31, 2022, as compared to the prior year period.

Infusion Therapies and Technologies net sales decreased 1% for the year ended December 31, 2022, as compared to the prior year period.
Sales performance in 2022 reflected lower sales of infusion pumps, sales headwinds in China driven by COVID-related lockdowns and lower
sales of vitamins resulting from ongoing supply constraints. Supply chain constraints, including constraints related to the availability of
semiconductor components and other components used in the production of our infusion pumps, adversely impacted sales of infusion pumps.
Those items were offset by increased demand for IV administration sets and solutions, reflecting a recovery in hospital administration rates and
surgical procedures and lower growth in the U.S. for our parenteral nutrition therapies and related products, including multi-chamber bags.
Foreign currency exchange rates adversely impacted net sales by 4% for the year ended December 31, 2022, as compared to the prior year
period.

Advanced Surgery net sales increased 2% for the year ended December 31, 2022, as compared to the prior year period, driven by a continued
recovery in surgical procedures, particularly in Europe, and benefits from competitor supply constraints. Foreign currency exchange rates
adversely impacted net sales by 6% for the year ended December 31, 2022, as compared to the prior year period.
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Healthcare Systems and Technologies

Our Healthcare Systems and Technologies segment includes sales of our connected care solutions and collaboration tools, including smart bed
systems, patient monitoring systems and diagnostic technologies, respiratory health devices and advanced equipment for the surgical space,
including surgical video technologies, precision positioning devices and other accessories.

Percent change

years ended December 31 (in millions) 2023 2022
At actual

currency rates
At constant

currency rates 
Care and Connectivity Solutions $ 1,800 $ 1,791 1 % 1 %
Front Line Care 1,213 1,148 6 % 6 %

Total Healthcare Systems and Technologies net sales $ 3,013 $ 2,939 3 % 3 %

 Sales growth at constant currency rates is a non-GAAP financial measure. See the section entitled “Non-GAAP Financial Measures” for further information.

Healthcare Systems and Technologies segment net sales increased 3% for the year ended December 31, 2023, as compared to the prior year
period.

Care and Connectivity Solutions net sales increased 1% for the year ended December 31, 2023, as compared to the prior year period, driven by
international demand and sales generated from recent product launches in the U.S., partially offset by lower rental revenues and lower capital
spending in the U.S. reflecting the macroeconomic environment in 2023.

Front Line Care net sales increased 6% for the year ended December 31, 2023, as compared to the prior year period, primarily driven by
increased demand for our cardiology products, patient monitoring systems and physical assessment tools. Performance in the current year
benefited from backlog reductions due to improved availability of component parts used in certain of our products.

Percent change

years ended December 31 (in millions) 2022 2021
At actual

currency rates
At constant

currency rates 
Care and Connectivity Solutions $ 1,791 $ 142 NM NM
Front Line Care 1,148 70 NM NM

Total Healthcare Systems and Technologies net sales $ 2,939 $ 212 NM NM

 Percent change in net sales at constant currency rates is a non-GAAP financial measure. See the section entitled “Non-GAAP Financial Measures” for additional information about
our use of that measure.

NM - Not Meaningful

The Healthcare Systems and Technologies segment was added in connection with our acquisition of Hillrom in December 2021. Net sales for the
year ended December 31, 2022 were adversely impacted by supply chain constraints, particularly related to components used in our Front Line
Care product offerings, hospital budget constraints and delays in product installations for Care and Connectivity Solutions resulting from
limitations on hospital access due, in part, to staffing challenges experienced by those customers. The net sales amounts for 2021 reflect sales
over the 18-day period from the Hillrom acquisition date through year-end.
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Pharmaceuticals

Our Pharmaceuticals segment includes sales of specialty injectable pharmaceuticals, inhaled anesthesia and drug compounding.
Percent change

years ended December 31 (in millions) 2023 2022
At actual

currency rates
At constant

currency rates 
Injectables and Anesthesia $ 1,347 $ 1,305 3 % 4 %
Drug Compounding 902 821 10 % 12 %

Total Pharmaceuticals net sales $ 2,249 $ 2,126 6 % 7 %

 Percent change in net sales at constant currency rates is a non-GAAP financial measure. See the section entitled “Non-GAAP Financial Measures” for additional information about
our use of that measure.

Pharmaceuticals segment net sales increased 6% for the year ended December 31, 2023, as compared to the prior year period.

Injectables and Anesthesia net sales increased 3% for the year ended December 31, 2023, as compared to the prior year period, primarily due
to growth in our U.S. injectable products, driven by our launches of Zosyn, following the transfer of the related product rights to us in April 2023,
Bendamustine and Norepinephrine, partially offset by lower sales of inhaled anesthesia products. Foreign currency exchange rates adversely
impacted net sales by 1% for the year ended December 31, 2023, as compared to the prior year period.

Drug Compounding net sales increased 10% for the year ended December 31, 2023, as compared to the prior year period, driven by increased
demand for our international pharmacy compounding services. Foreign currency exchange rates adversely impacted net sales by 2% for the
year ended December 31, 2023, as compared to the prior year period.

Percent change

years ended December 31 (in millions) 2022 2021
At actual

currency rates
At constant

currency rates 

Injectables and Anesthesia $ 1,305 $ 1,390 (6)% (2)%
Drug Compounding 821 901 (9)% (0)%

Total Pharmaceuticals net sales $ 2,126 $ 2,291 (7)% (1)%

 Percent change in net sales at constant currency rates is a non-GAAP financial measure. See the section entitled “Non-GAAP Financial Measures” for additional information about
our use of that measure.

Pharmaceuticals segment net sales decreased 7% for the year ended December 31, 2022, as compared to the prior year period.

Injectables and Anesthesia net sales decreased 6% for the year ended December 31, 2022, as compared to the prior year period, primarily due
to a 4% negative impact from foreign exchange rate changes as compared to the prior year period. Net sales were also adversely impacted by
increased competition from new market entrants and supply constraints impacting the production of certain molecules. Those items were
partially offset by increased international sales of inhaled anesthesia products.

Drug Compounding net sales decreased 9% for the year ended December 31, 2022, as compared to the prior year period, primarily driven by a
9% negative impact from foreign exchange rate changes.
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Kidney Care

Our Kidney Care segment includes sales of products used in PD, HD, CRRT and other organ support therapies (OSTs).
Percent change

years ended December 31 (in millions) 2023 2022
At actual

currency rates
At constant

currency rates 

Chronic Therapies $ 3,683 $ 3,714 (1)% 0 %
Acute Therapies 770 735 5 % 6 %

Total Kidney Care net sales $ 4,453 $ 4,449 0 % 1 %

 Percent change in net sales at constant currency rates is a non-GAAP financial measure. See the section entitled “Non-GAAP Financial Measures” for additional information about
our use of that measure.

Kidney Care segment net sales were flat for the year ended December 31, 2023, as compared to the prior year.

Chronic Therapies net sales decreased 1% for the year ended December 31, 2023, as compared to the prior year. Sales performance in the
current year was primarily due to lower sales in China, driven by government-based procurement initiatives and the impact of COVID-19 on that
country’s renal patient population, and the termination of distribution agreements in the U.S, offset by patient growth in PD, pricing initiatives and
recent government tender awards in EMEA. Foreign currency exchange rates adversely impacted net sales by 1% for the year ended
December 31, 2023, as compared to the prior year period.

Acute Therapies net sales increased 5% for the year ended December 31, 2023, as compared to the prior year, driven by strong demand for our
CRRT offerings. Sales growth in 2023 was adversely impacted by a comparison against a prior year period that included strong COVID-related
demand for our CRRT offerings during the first quarter. Foreign currency exchange rates adversely impacted net sales by 1% for the year ended
December 31, 2023, as compared to the prior year period.

Percent change

years ended December 31 (in millions) 2022 2021
At actual

currency rates
At constant

currency rates 
Chronic Therapies $ 3,714 $ 3,862 (4)% 2 %
Acute Therapies 735 820 (10)% (6)%

Total Kidney Care net sales $ 4,449 $ 4,682 (5)% 1 %

 Percent change in net sales at constant currency rates is a non-GAAP financial measure. See the section entitled “Non-GAAP Financial Measures” for further information.

Kidney Care segment net sales decreased 5% for the year ended December 31, 2022, as compared to the prior year.

Chronic Therapies sales decreased 4% for the year ended December 31, 2022, as compared to the prior year. The decrease in 2022 was driven
by a 6% negative impact from foreign exchange rate changes and non-renewals of certain low margin customer contracts, particularly in
Western Europe, partially offset by global patient growth and $28 million of incremental revenue from a customer that did not meet its contractual
minimum purchase requirements.

Acute Therapies net sales decreased 10% for the year ended December 31, 2022, as compared to the prior year. The decrease in 2022 was
driven by lower COVID-related demand for our CRRT product offerings and a 4% negative impact from foreign exchange rate changes, as
compared to the prior year period.

Other

During the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, we earned $87 million, $177 million and $140 million, respectively, of revenues that
were not attributable to our reportable segments. In the current and prior year periods, those other sales primarily represent revenues earned by
certain of our manufacturing facilities from contract manufacturing activities and royalty income under a business development arrangement. The
decrease for the year ended December 31, 2023 as compared to the prior year period reflects lower contract manufacturing volume and the
termination of the royalty arrangement following our acquisition of the rights to the underlying product in April
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2023. The increase for the year ended December 31, 2022 as compared to the prior year period was primarily driven by increased contract
manufacturing revenue and royalty income from a business development arrangement entered into in March 2022.

Special Items

Management believes that providing the separate impact of the following items on our results in accordance with U.S. GAAP may provide a
more complete understanding of our operations and can facilitate a fuller analysis of our results of operations, particularly in evaluating
performance from one period to another. Intangible asset amortization expense is identified as a special item to facilitate an evaluation of current
and past operating performance and is consistent with how management and our Board of Directors assess performance. Additional special
items are identified because they are highly variable, difficult to predict and of a size that may substantially impact our reported results of
operations for the period.
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The following table provides a summary of our special items and the related impact by line item on our consolidated results of operations for
2023, 2022 and 2021.
years ended December 31 (in millions) 2023 2022 2021
Gross Margin
Intangible asset amortization expense $ (445) $ (466) $ (287)
Long-lived asset impairments (267) (344) — 
Business optimization items (349) (28) (53)
Product-related items — (44) — 
Acquisition and integration items (1) (170) (50)
European medical devices regulation (48) (48) (42)
Separation-related costs (22) — — 
Total Special Items $ (1,132) $ (1,100) $ (432)
Impact on Gross Margin Ratio (7.6 pts) (7.6 pts) (3.5 pts)
Selling, General and Administrative (SG&A) Expenses
Intangible asset amortization expense $ 207 $ 287 $ 11 
Business optimization items 173 194 60 
Acquisition and integration items 18 82 144 
Separation-related costs 203 7 — 
Legal matters 15 — 13 
Investigation and related costs — — 31 
Total Special Items $ 616 $ 570 $ 259 
Impact on SG&A Expense Ratio 4.1 pts 3.9 pts 2.1 pts
R&D Expenses
Business optimization items $ 12 $ 3 $ 1 
Total Special Items $ 12 $ 3 $ 1 
Impact on R&D Expense Ratio 0.1 pts 0.1 pts 0.0 pts
Goodwill Impairments
Goodwill impairments $ — $ 2,812 $ — 
Total Special Items $ — $ 2,812 $ — 
Other Operating Expense (Income), Net
Acquisition and integration items $ (19) $ (39) $ (6)
Legal matters (8) — — 
Loss on product divestiture arrangement — 54 — 
Loss on subsidiary liquidation — 21 — 
Total Special Items $ (27) $ 36 $ (6)
Interest Expense, Net
Acquisition and integration items $ — $ — $ 48 
Total Special Items $ — $ — $ 48 
Other (Income) Expense, Net
Pension curtailment $ — $ (11) $ — 
Reclassification of cumulative translation loss to earnings — 65 — 
Investment impairments 49 — — 
Loss on debt extinguishment — — 5 
Total Special Items $ 49 $ 54 $ 5 
Income Tax Expense (Benefit)
Tax matters $ 4 $ 27 $ (54)
Tax effects of special items (390) (400) (137)
Total Special Items $ (386) $ (373) $ (191)
Impact on Effective Tax Rate 12.0 pts (19.8 pts) (7.4 pts)
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1 Our results in 2023 included long-lived asset impairment charges of $267 million related to the HD business within our Kidney Care segment, comprised of (i) a $190
million impairment charge related to certain manufacturing equipment, operating lease right-of-use assets and HD equipment leased to customers and (ii) a $77 million
impairment charge related to a developed technology intangible asset. Our results in 2022 included long-lived asset impairment charges related to assets acquired in our
December 2021 acquisition of Hillrom, comprised of (i) a $2.81 billion goodwill impairment and (ii) $332 million of indefinite-lived intangible assets. We also recognized $12
million of developed technology intangible asset impairments during 2022. Refer to Notes 4 and 5 in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for further information
regarding the impairments. Long-lived asset impairments presented within this special item do not include impairments of long-lived assets related to restructuring actions,
which are presented within the business optimization special item described in footnote 2 below.

2 Our results in 2023 and 2022 were impacted by costs associated with our execution of programs to optimize our organization and cost structure. These restructuring and
other business optimization costs included actions related to our current implementation of a new operating model intended to simplify and streamline our operations and
better align our manufacturing and supply chain to our commercial activities, our integration of Hillrom, the decision to close one of our U.S.-based manufacturing facilities
this year, which resulted in a $243 million noncash impairment of property, plant and equipment, rationalization of certain other manufacturing and distribution facilities and
transformation of certain general and administrative functions. Our results in 2023 and 2022 and 2021 included business optimization charges of $534 million, $225
million, $114 million, respectively. Refer to Note 12 in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for further information regarding these charges and related liabilities.

3 Our results in 2022 included charges of $44 million related to warranty and remediation activities arising from two field corrective actions on certain of our infusion pumps.
4 Our results in 2023 included $19 million of integration-related costs, primarily related to our integration of Hillrom, offset by a $19 million benefit from changes in the

estimated fair values of contingent consideration liabilities. Our results in 2022 included $213 million of acquisition and integration-related items, which reflected $93 million
of integration-related costs and $159 million of incremental cost of sales from the fair value step-ups on acquired Hillrom inventory that was sold in 2022, partially offset by
a $39 million benefit from changes in the estimated fair value of contingent consideration liabilities. Our results in 2021 included acquisition, integration and related
financing expenses of $236 million. This included acquisition, integration and related financing expenses for our acquisition of Hillrom and the acquisition of the rights to
Caelyx and Doxil for specified territories outside of the U.S. These expenses were partially offset by benefits from changes in the estimated fair value of contingent
consideration liabilities. Refer to Note 3 in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for further information regarding business and asset acquisitions.

5 Our results in 2023, 2022 and 2021 included $48 million, $48 million and $42 million, respectively, of incremental costs to comply with the European Union's medical
device regulations for previously registered products, which primarily consist of contractor costs and other direct third-party costs. We consider the adoption of these
regulations to be a significant one-time regulatory charge and believe that the costs of initial compliance for previously registered products over the implementation period
are not indicative of our core operating results.

6 Our results in 2023 and 2022 included $225 million and $7 million of separation-related costs, primarily reflecting costs of external advisors supporting our activities to
prepare for the proposed spinoff of our Kidney Care segment. We also incurred $17 million and $5 million of additional separation-related costs in 2023 and 2022,
respectively, related to the sale of our BPS business that are reported in discontinued operations and are not presented in the table above.

7 Our results in 2023 included $7 million of net costs from certain legal matters. These costs included $13 million, including related legal fees, related to matters involving
alleged violations of the False Claims Act related to a now-discontinued legacy Hillrom sales line and alleged injury from environmental exposure, partially offset by
$6 million of proceeds received, net of related legal fees, from a settlement related to an intellectual property dispute. Our results in 2021 included legal fees of $13 million
associated with claimants alleging injuries as a result of proximity to one of our plants.

8 Our results in 2021 included charges of $31 million for investigation and related costs for matters associated with our previously announced investigation of foreign
exchange gains and losses. Refer to Note 8 in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for further information regarding these charges.

9 Our results in 2022 included a loss of $54 million under an arrangement to divest certain product rights for an amount that is less than our cost of those product rights,
which was triggered by U.S. and European Union regulatory approvals of the related products. Refer to Note 3 in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for further
information about the related transactions.

10 Our results in 2022 included a loss of $21 million related to our deconsolidation of a foreign subsidiary, including the derecognition of a related noncontrolling interest, upon
its liquidation in December 2022 that was completed in connection with our legal entity rationalization activities.

11 Our results in 2022 included a curtailment gain of $11 million related to an announced change for active non-bargaining participants in our U.S. Hillrom pension plan. Refer
to Note 13 in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for further information regarding this curtailment gain.

12 Our results in 2022 included a charge of $65 million for cumulative translation adjustments (CTA) reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) as a
result of the substantial liquidation of our operations in Argentina.

13 Our results in 2023 included $49 million of net pre-tax losses from non-marketable investments in several early-stage companies, consisting of $52 million of noncash
impairment write-downs, partially offset by a $3 million gain from the sale of an investment.

14 Our results in 2021 included a loss of $5 million on the early extinguishment of the $2.40 billion debt assumed as part of the Hillrom acquisition.
15 Our results in 2023 included a $5 million net income tax benefit from internal reorganization transactions, primarily related to the proposed spinoff of our Kidney Care

segment, and a $9 million valuation allowance to reduce the carrying amount of a deferred tax asset for a tax basis step-up related to previously enacted Swiss tax reform
legislation to reflect our current estimate of its recoverability. Our results in 2022 included a $25 million valuation allowance to reduce the carrying amount of a deferred tax
asset for a tax basis step-up related to previously enacted Swiss tax reform legislation to reflect our current estimate of its recoverability. Our results in 2021 included a
$58 million income tax benefit related to a tax-deductible foreign statutory loss on an investment in a foreign subsidiary and an $18 million income tax benefit related to a
change in U.S. foreign tax credit regulations, partially offset by a $22 million income tax expense related to an unfavorable court ruling for an uncertain tax position.
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16 This item reflects the income tax impact of the special items identified in this table. The tax effect of each special item is based on the jurisdiction in which the item was
incurred and the tax laws in effect for each such jurisdiction.

COSTS AND EXPENSES

Gross Margin and Expense Ratios
2023 2022

years ended December 31 2023 % of net sales 2022 % of net sales 2021 % of net sales $ change % change $ change % change
Gross margin $ 4,975 33.6 % $ 5,066 34.9 % $ 4,720 38.9 % $ (91) (1.8)% $ 346 7.3 %
SG&A $ 3,946 26.6 % $ 3,859 26.6 % $ 2,845 23.4 % $ 87 2.3 % $ 1,014 35.6 %
R&D $ 667 4.5 % $ 602 4.2 % $ 531 4.4 % $ 65 10.8 % $ 71 13.4 %

Gross Margin

The gross margin ratio was 33.6%, 34.9% and 38.9% for the years ended 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively. The special items identified earlier
in this section had an unfavorable impact on gross margin ratio of 7.6 percentage points in both 2023 and 2022 and 3.5 percentage points in
2021. Refer to the Special Items caption earlier in this section for additional detail.

Excluding the impact of special items, the gross margin ratio decreased 1.3 percentage points in 2023 compared to 2022 and increased 0.1
percentage points in 2022 compared to 2021. The decrease in 2023 was primarily due to the adverse cost impacts of raw materials inflation
driving higher manufacturing costs and higher bonus accruals under our annual employee incentive compensation plans, partially offset by
manufacturing initiatives. The increase in 2022 was due to a favorable product mix that was primarily driven by our acquisition of Hillrom, lower
bonus accruals under our annual employee incentive compensation plans, lower U.S. customer rebates and $28 million of incremental revenue
from a customer that did not meet its contractual minimum purchase requirements, partially offset by raw materials inflation and, to a lesser
extent, increased supply chain costs.

SG&A

The SG&A expense ratio was 26.6% in both 2023 and 2022 and 23.4% in 2021. The special items identified earlier in this section had an
unfavorable impact on the SG&A expense ratio of 4.1, 3.9 and 2.1 percentage points in 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively. Refer to the Special
Items caption earlier in this section for additional detail.

Excluding the impact of special items, the SG&A expense ratio decreased 0.2 percentage points in 2023 compared to 2022 and increased 1.4
percentage points in 2022 compared to 2021. The decrease in 2023 was primarily due to savings from restructuring actions implemented in
recent periods, partially offset by higher bonus accruals under our annual employee incentive compensation plans. The increase in 2022 was
primarily due to the acquisition of Hillrom and increased outbound freight costs, partially offset by lower bonus accruals under our annual
employee incentive compensation plans.

R&D

The R&D expense ratio was 4.5%, 4.2% and 4.4% for the years ended 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively. The special items identified earlier in
this section had an unfavorable impact on the R&D expense ratio of 0.1 percentage points both in 2023 and 2022 and had no impact on the R&D
expense ratio in 2021. Refer to the Special Items caption earlier in this section for additional detail.

Excluding the impact of special items, the R&D expense ratio increased 0.3 percentage points in 2023 compared to 2022 and decreased 0.3
basis points in 2022 compared to 2021. The increase in 2023 was driven by increased project-related expenditures, particularly related to the
connected care portfolio in our Healthcare Systems and Technologies segment, and higher bonus accruals under our annual employee incentive
compensation plans. The decrease in 2022 reflected lower bonus accruals under our annual employee incentive compensation plans, partially
offset by an increase in R&D spend following the Hillrom acquisition.
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Business Optimization Items

In recent years, we have undertaken actions to transform our cost structure and enhance operational efficiency. These efforts have included
restructuring the organization, optimizing our manufacturing footprint, R&D operations and supply chain network, employing disciplined cost
management, and centralizing and streamlining certain support functions. The costs of these actions consisted primarily of employee termination
costs, implementation costs, contract termination costs and asset impairments.

We incurred restructuring charges of $534 million, $225 million and $114 million in 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively. In 2023, $111 million of
our restructuring charges, consisting of employee termination costs, were related to the implementation of our previously announced new
operating model intended to simplify and streamline our operations. In addition, $267 million of the restructuring charges, consisting of $243
million of long-lived asset impairment charges, $14 million of other asset write-downs and $10 million of employee termination costs, were
related to our decision to cease production of dialyzers at one of our manufacturing facilities in connection with our initiatives to streamline our
manufacturing footprint and improve our profitability. In 2022, $85 million of our restructuring charges were related to integration activities for the
Hillrom acquisition, consisting of $55 million of employee termination costs, $22 million of contract termination and other costs and $8 million of
asset impairments. For the year ended December 31, 2021, $37 million and $12 million, respectively, of restructuring charges, consisting of
employee termination costs, were related to global programs to simplify and streamline our supply chain and finance functions.

We currently expect to incur additional pre-tax costs, primarily related to the implementation of business optimization programs, of approximately
$50 million through the completion of initiatives that are currently underway. We continue to pursue cost savings initiatives and, to the extent
further cost savings opportunities are identified, we would incur additional restructuring charges and costs to implement business optimization
programs in future periods. Refer to Note 12 in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for additional information regarding our business
optimization programs.

Goodwill Impairments

We assess goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets for impairment annually during the fourth quarter or whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of such assets may not be recoverable. We recognize a goodwill impairment charge for the
amount by which a reporting unit's carrying amount exceeds its fair value.

We acquired Hillrom on December 13, 2021 and recognized $6.83 billion of goodwill and $6.03 billion of other intangible assets, including
$1.91 billion of indefinite-lived intangible assets, in connection with that acquisition. During the third quarter of 2022, we performed trigger-based
impairment tests for each of the reporting units within our Hillrom segment (currently referred to as our Healthcare Systems and Technologies
segment), as well as the indefinite-lived intangible assets, consisting primarily of trade names, that we acquired in connection with the Hillrom
acquisition. We performed those tests as of September 30, 2022 due to (a) current macroeconomic conditions, including the rising interest rate
environment and broad declines in equity valuations, and (b) reduced earnings forecasts for our three Hillrom reporting units, driven primarily by
shortages of certain component parts used in our products, raw materials inflation and increased supply chain costs. Those goodwill impairment
tests resulted in total pre-tax goodwill impairment charges of $2.79 billion in the third quarter of 2022. In connection with our annual goodwill
impairment assessment in the fourth quarter of 2022, we performed quantitative impairment tests for all our reporting units and recorded an
additional $27 million goodwill impairment related to our Global Surgical Solutions reporting unit (now combined with our previous Patient
Support Systems reporting unit in our Care and Connectivity Solutions reporting unit). No goodwill impairments were recorded for our remaining
reporting units in connection with our annual goodwill impairment tests because the fair values of those reporting units exceeded their net book
values. Refer to Note 5 in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for additional information regarding these goodwill impairment charges, as
well as information about related indefinite-lived intangible asset impairment charges.

Further adverse changes to macroeconomic conditions or our earnings forecasts could lead to additional goodwill or intangible asset impairment
charges in future periods and such charges could be material to our results of operations. For further discussion, refer to Item 1A. Risk Factors
of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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Other Operating Expense (Income), Net

Other operating expense (income), net was income of $28 million in 2023, an expense of $36 million in 2022 and income of $6 million in 2021.
The income in 2023 was comprised of gains from changes in the fair values of contingent consideration arrangements and proceeds from a
settlement related to an intellectual property dispute. In 2022, we recognized a loss of $54 million under an arrangement to divest certain product
rights for an amount that was less than our cost of those product rights, which was triggered by U.S. and European Union regulatory approvals
of the related products. Refer to Note 3 in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for further information about the related transactions.
Additionally, we recognized a loss of $21 million related to the deconsolidation of a foreign subsidiary, including the derecognition of a related
noncontrolling interest, upon its liquidation in December 2022 that was completed in connection with our legal entity rationalization activities.
Those losses were partially offset by gains of $39 million from net decreases in the estimated fair values of contingent consideration liabilities. In
2021, we recognized $6 million of gains from net decreases in the estimated fair values of contingent consideration liabilities.

Interest Expense, Net

Interest expense, net was $442 million, $395 million and $193 million in 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively. The increase in 2023 was driven by
higher interest rates on our floating rate debt, partially offset by net repayments in the current year periods and higher interest income in 2023.
The increase in 2022 was primarily driven by higher average debt outstanding in connection with the Hillrom acquisition, partially offset by
acquisition bridge facility commitment fees recognized in 2021 and higher interest income in 2022.

We expect that our net interest expense will decrease in future periods as a result of debt repayments during the fourth quarter of 2023 and
planned debt repayments during the first half of 2024 using the proceeds we received from the recent sale of our BPS business. Refer to Note 6
in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for a summary of the components of interest expense, net for 2023, 2022 and 2021.

Other (Income) Expense, Net

Other (income) expense, net was expense of $51 million, $12 million and $41 million in 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively. The net expense in
2023 was primarily driven by foreign exchange losses and non-marketable investment impairments, partially offset by pension and other
postretirement benefits (OPEB) and increases in the fair value of marketable equity securities. The net expense in 2022 was primarily due to the
reclassification of a cumulative translation loss from accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) to earnings due to the substantial
liquidation of our operations in Argentina, partially offset by pension and OPEB benefits, a pension curtailment gain and net increases in the fair
value of marketable equity securities. The net expense in 2021 was primarily driven by foreign exchange losses, pension and OPEB costs and a
loss on debt extinguishment.

Income Taxes

Our effective income tax rate was 33.0%, (0.2)% and 7.4% in 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively. The special items identified above impacted
our effective tax rate by 12.0 percentage points, (19.8) percentage points and (7.4) percentage points in 2023, 2022 and 2021,
respectively. Refer to the Special Items caption earlier in this section for additional detail. Our effective income tax rate can differ from the 21%
U.S. federal statutory rate due to a number of factors, including tax incentives, foreign rate differences, state income taxes, non-deductible
expenses, non-taxable income, increases or decreases in valuation allowances and liabilities for uncertain tax positions, excess tax benefits or
shortfalls on stock compensation awards, audit developments and legislative changes.

For the year ended December 31, 2023, the difference between our effective income tax rate and the U.S. federal statutory rate was impacted
favorably by the jurisdictional mix of global earnings, which included the long-lived asset impairments we recognized during 2023, a $50 million
net tax benefit after related valuation allowances from notional interest deductions received by certain wholly-owned foreign subsidiaries that
have financed their operations with equity capital and a $21 million tax benefit related to research and development tax credits, partially offset by
non-deductible separation-related income tax costs and tax shortfalls on stock compensation awards.

For the year ended December 31, 2022, the difference between our effective income tax rate and the U.S. federal statutory rate was primarily
attributable to non-deductible impairments of goodwill acquired in the Hillrom acquisition
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and valuation allowance increases, including a $25 million increase related to deferred tax assets from a tax basis step-up related to previously
enacted Swiss tax legislation. Those items were partially offset by a $47 million net tax benefit after related valuation allowances from notional
interest deductions.

For the year ended December 31, 2021, the difference between our effective income tax rate and the U.S. federal statutory rate was primarily
attributable to favorable geographic earnings mix, a $50 million net tax benefit after related valuation allowances from notional interest
deductions, a $58 million tax benefit related to a tax-deductible foreign statutory loss on an investment in a foreign subsidiary, a tax benefit
related to a change in U.S. foreign tax credit regulations and excess tax benefits on stock compensation awards, partially offset by an
unfavorable court decision in a foreign jurisdiction related to an uncertain tax position.

Our tax provisions for 2023, 2022 and 2021 did not include any significant tax charges related to either the Base Erosion and Anti-Abuse Tax
(BEAT) or Global Intangible Low Taxed Income (GILTI) provisions, except for the inability to fully utilize foreign tax credits against such GILTI.
Our accounting policy is to recognize any GILTI charge as a period cost.

Discontinued Operations

On September 29, 2023, we completed the sale of our BPS business and received cash proceeds of $3.96 billion from that transaction. The
financial position, results of operations and cash flows of our BPS business, including our gain from the sale of that business and the related
cash proceeds received, are reported as discontinued operations in the consolidated financial statements included in Item 8 of this Annual
Report on Form 10-K.

Income from discontinued operations, net of tax, was $2.73 billion, $233 million and $262 million in 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively. The
increase in the current year period was primarily driven by the $2.88 billion pre-tax gain from the sale of the BPS business ($2.59 billion net of
tax). Excluding that gain on sale, pre-tax income from discontinued operations decreased by $90 million in 2023 compared to 2022, which was
primarily driven by there being only nine months of activity through the sale of the business on September 29, 2023, lower sales from contract
manufacturing of COVID-19 vaccines and increased SG&A expenses in the current year period from separation-related costs. Pre-tax income
from discontinued operations decreased by $64 million in 2022 compared to 2021, which was primarily driven by lower sales from contract
manufacturing of COVID-19 vaccines. Refer to Note 2 in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for additional information.

Net Income (Loss) and Earnings (Loss) per Diluted Share

Net income (loss) for the total company, including discontinued operations, was income of $2.66 billion in 2023, loss of $2.42 billion in 2022 and
income of $1.30 billion in 2021. Diluted earnings (loss) per share for the total company, including discontinued operations, was $5.25 per share
in 2023, $(4.83) per share in 2022 and $2.53 per share in 2021. The significant factors and events causing the net changes from 2022 to 2023
and from 2021 to 2022 are discussed above. Additionally, earnings (loss) per share was positively impacted by the repurchase of 0.5 million
shares in 2022 through Rule 10b5-1 purchase plans. Refer to Note 9 in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for further information
regarding our stock repurchases.
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SEGMENT OPERATING INCOME (LOSS)

The following is a summary of operating income for our reportable segments.

for the years ended December 31 (in millions) 2023 2022 2021
Medical Products and Therapies $ 972 $ 962 $ 955 
% of Segment Net Sales 19.4 % 20.0 % 19.8 %
Healthcare Systems and Technologies 483 494 60 
% of Segment Net Sales 16.0 % 16.8 % 28.3 %
Pharmaceuticals 401 391 523 
% of Segment Net Sales 17.8 % 18.4 % 22.8 %
Kidney Care 300 408 488 
% of Segment Net Sales 6.7 % 9.2 % 10.4 %
Other 18 77 59 

Total 2,174 2,332 2,085 
Unallocated corporate costs (51) (54) (49)
Intangible asset amortization expense (652) (753) (298)
Business optimization items (534) (225) (114)
European Medical Devices Regulation (48) (48) (42)
Long-lived asset impairments (267) (344) — 
Separation-related costs (225) (7) — 
Legal matters (7) — (13)
Acquisition and integration items — (213) (188)
Product-related items — (44) — 
Loss on product divestiture arrangement — (54) — 
Goodwill impairments — (2,812) — 
Loss on subsidiary liquidation — (21) — 
Investigation and related costs — — (31)

Total operating income (loss) 390 (2,243) 1,350 
Interest expense, net 442 395 193 
Other (income) expense, net 51 12 41 

Loss from continuing operations before income taxes $ (103) $ (2,650) $ 1,116 

Medical Products and Therapies

Segment operating income was $972 million, $962 million and $955 million for the years ended 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively. Segment
operating income increased in 2023 compared to the prior year due to the gross profit from higher sales, partially offset by increases in SG&A
and R&D expenses. Segment operating income increased in 2022 compared to the prior year due to decreases in R&D expenses, partially offset
by lower gross margins.

Healthcare Systems and Technologies

Segment operating income was $483 million, $494 million and $60 million for the years ended 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively. Segment
operating income decreased in 2023 primarily due to increased R&D expenses, particularly related to the connected care portfolio. Segment
operating income increased in 2022 due to our acquisition of Hillrom in December 2021. The 2021 amounts reflect activity over the 18-day
period from the acquisition date through year-end.

Pharmaceuticals

Segment operating income was $401 million, $391 million and $523 million for the years ended 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively. Segment
operating income increased in 2023 primarily due to income from recent product launches, partially offset by a lower gross margin, primarily
driven by raw materials inflation, and increased R&D
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expense. Segment operating income decreased in 2022 primarily due to a lower gross margin driven by lower sales, partially offset by
decreased R&D expenses.

Kidney Care

Segment operating income was $300 million, $408 million and $488 million for the years ended 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively. Segment
operating income decreased in 2023 primarily due to raw materials inflation and higher bonus accruals under our annual employee incentive
compensation plans. Segment operating income decreased in 2022 primarily due to raw materials inflation, lower net sales and, to a lesser
extent, increased supply chain costs, partially offset by lower bonus accruals under our annual employee incentive compensation plans and
$28 million of incremental revenue from a customer that did not meet its contractual minimum purchase requirements.

Other

During the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, we earned $18 million, $77 million and $59 million, respectively, of operating
income that was not attributable to our reportable segments. Operating income generated by activities not attributable to our reportable
segments is presented as Other. In the current and prior year periods, other operating income primarily represents income from revenues earned
by certain of our manufacturing facilities from contract manufacturing activities and royalty income under a business development arrangement.
The decrease in 2023 as compared to the prior year period reflects lower contract manufacturing volume and the termination of the royalty
arrangement following our acquisition of the rights to the underlying product in April 2023. The increase in 2022 as compared to the prior year
period was primarily driven by royalty income from a business development arrangement entered into in March 2022.

Unallocated Corporate Costs

Under our new operating model, most global functional support costs, overhead costs and other shared costs that benefit our segments are
allocated to those segments. Corporate costs that are not allocated to our segments, as well as any differences between actual corporate costs
and the amounts allocated to our segments, are presented as unallocated corporate costs. Additionally, intangible asset amortization and other
special items are not allocated to our segments. Prior to the implementation of our new operating model in the third quarter of 2023, more costs
were maintained at corporate and were not allocated to our previous segments. Certain of the costs that were previously maintained at corporate
under our prior segment structure that are now allocated to our segments include manufacturing variances and centrally managed supply chain
costs, certain R&D costs, product category support costs, stock compensation expense and certain employee benefit plan costs.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

years ended December 31 (in millions) 2023 2022 2021
Cash flows from operations - continuing operations $ 1,702 $ 1,031 $ 2,026 
Cash flows from investing activities - continuing operations (672) (872) (11,148)
Cash flows from financing activities (3,489) (1,438) 8,245 

Cash Flows from Operations — Continuing Operations

In 2023, 2022 and 2021, cash provided by operating activities from continuing operations was $1.70 billion, $1.03 billion and $2.03 billion,
respectively. 

Operating cash flows from continuing operations increased in 2023 compared to 2022 primarily due to a decrease in our net loss from continuing
operations, lower annual payouts under our employee incentive compensation plans, which were based on our 2022 results, the timing of
accounts payable payments and lower increases in inventory and accounts receivable balances as compared to the prior year.

Operating cash flows from continuing operations decreased in 2022 compared to 2021 primarily due to our net loss from continuing operations,
increases in inventory levels and higher annual payouts under our employee incentive compensation plans, which were based on our 2021
results. Operating cash flows were also adversely impacted in 2022 by the timing of accounts receivable collections and accounts payable
payments.
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Cash Flows from Investing Activities

In 2023, cash used for investing activities from continuing operations included capital expenditures of $692 million. In 2022, cash used for
investing activities from continuing operations included capital expenditures of $620 million and payments for acquisitions and investments of
$263 million, primarily related to our acquisition of the rights to Zosyn. In 2021, cash used for investing activities from continuing operations
included payments for acquisitions and investments of $10.50 billion, primarily related to our acquisition of Hillrom, and capital expenditures of
$691 million.

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

In 2023, cash used in financing activities included debt repayments of $2.63 billion, dividend payments of $586 million and a net decrease in
commercial paper borrowings of $299 million, partially offset by proceeds from stock issued under employee benefit plans of $95 million.

In 2022, cash used in financing activities included debt repayments of $954 million and dividend payments of $573 million, partially offset by a
net increase in commercial paper borrowings of $55 million and proceeds from stock issued under employee benefit plans of $127 million.

In 2021, cash generated from financing activities included $11.80 billion to fund the consideration for the Hillrom acquisition, repay certain
indebtedness of Hillrom and pay fees and expenses related to the foregoing. We also had net proceeds from commercial paper borrowings of
$299 million and repaid debt obligations of $2.82 billion, including $2.40 billion of debt that was assumed in the Hillrom acquisition. Financing
activities in 2021 also included payments for treasury stock repurchases of $600 million, dividend payments of $530 million and receipts from
stock issued under employee benefit plans of $187 million.

As authorized by the Board of Directors, we repurchase our stock depending upon our cash flows, net debt levels and market conditions. In July
2012, the Board of Directors authorized a share repurchase program and the related authorization was subsequently increased a number of
times. We did not repurchase any shares under this authority in 2023 and had $1.30 billion remaining available under this authorization as of
December 31, 2023.

Credit Facilities, Commercial Paper Program and Access to Capital and Credit Ratings

Credit Facilities and Commercial Paper Program

As of December 31, 2023, we had a U.S. Dollar-denominated term loan credit facility, which had two tranches of term loans outstanding, a U.S.
Dollar-denominated revolving credit facility and a Euro-denominated revolving credit facility.

As of December 31, 2023, we had $130 million outstanding under one tranche of our U.S. Dollar-denominated term loan credit facility that
matures in 2024 and $1.64 billion outstanding under the other tranche of our U.S. Dollar-denominated term loan credit facility that matures in
2026. Borrowings under the term loan credit facility bear interest on the principal amount outstanding at either Term SOFR plus an applicable
margin plus a credit spread adjustment or a “base rate” plus an applicable margin. The term loan credit facility contains various covenants,
including a maximum net leverage ratio. We have the option to prepay outstanding amounts under the term loan credit facility in whole or in part
at any time.

As of December 31, 2023, our U.S. Dollar-denominated revolving credit facility and Euro-denominated revolving credit facility had a maximum
capacity of $2.50 billion and €200 million, respectively, and there were no borrowings under either of these revolving credit facilities as of
December, 31, 2023 or December 31, 2022. Each of the revolving credit facilities matures in 2026. The revolving credit facilities enable us to
borrow funds on an unsecured basis at variable interest rates, and contain various covenants, including a maximum net leverage ratio. Facility
fees under the credit facilities were 0.125% annually as of both December 31, 2023 and 2022 and are based on our credit ratings and the total
capacity of the revolving credit facility.

In the first quarter of 2023, we amended the credit agreements governing our U.S. Dollar-denominated term loan credit facility and revolving
credit facility and the guaranty agreement with respect to our Euro-denominated revolving credit facility, in each case to amend the net leverage
ratio covenant to increase the maximum net leverage ratio for the four fiscal quarters ending March 31, 2023, June 30, 2023, September 30,
2023 and December 31, 2023. As of December 31, 2023, we were in compliance with the financial covenants in these agreements.
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Based on our covenant calculations as of December 31, 2023, we have capacity to draw on the full amounts under our revolving credit facilities.
The non-performance of any financial institution supporting either of the revolving credit facilities would reduce the maximum capacity of the
revolving credit facilities by the institution’s respective commitment. Additionally, a deterioration in our financial performance may reduce our
ability to draw on our revolving credit facilities.

We have a commercial paper program that currently enables us to borrow efficiently at short-term interest rates. Upon maturity of any
commercial paper borrowings under this program, and to the extent old issuances are not repaid by cash on hand, we are exposed to the
rollover risk of not being able to issue new commercial paper. Our commercial paper borrowing arrangements require us to maintain undrawn
borrowing capacity under our revolving credit facilities for an amount at least equal to our outstanding commercial paper borrowings. If we were
not able to issue new commercial paper, we have the option of drawing on the revolving credit facilities; however, electing to do so would result
in higher interest expense. We had no commercial paper borrowings outstanding as of December 31, 2023.

We also maintain other credit arrangements, as described in Note 6 in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Access to Capital and Credit Ratings

We intend to fund short-term and long-term obligations as they mature through cash on hand, including the proceeds from the recently
completed sale of our BPS business, future cash flows from operations, or by issuing additional debt, which could include commercial paper. We
had $3.19 billion of cash and cash equivalents as of December 31, 2023, with adequate cash available to meet operating requirements in each
jurisdiction in which we operate. We invest our excess cash in money market and other funds and diversify the concentration of cash among
different financial institutions. As of December 31, 2023, we had $13.80 billion of long-term debt and finance lease obligations, including current
maturities, and no short-term debt. During the fourth quarter of 2023, we used a portion of the approximately $3.70 billion of net after-tax cash
proceeds from the BPS divestiture to repay $2.80 billion of short- and long-term indebtedness and we expect to use substantially all of the
remaining net after-tax proceeds to continue to repay indebtedness through the first half of 2024. Subject to market conditions, we regularly
evaluate opportunities with respect to our capital structure.

Our ability to generate cash flows from operations, issue debt, including commercial paper, or enter into other financing arrangements on
acceptable terms could be adversely affected if there is a material decline in the demand for our products or in the solvency of our customers or
suppliers, deterioration in our key financial ratios or credit ratings or other significantly unfavorable changes in conditions. However, we believe
we have sufficient financial flexibility to issue debt, enter into other financing arrangements and attract long-term capital on acceptable terms to
support our growth objectives and reduce our post-Hillrom acquisition debt levels as we take actions consistent with our capital allocation
priorities.
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Our credit ratings at December 31, 2023 were as follows:
Standard & Poor’s Fitch Moody’s

Ratings
Senior debt BBB BBB Baa2
Short-term debt A2 F2 P2

Outlook Negative Rating Watch Negative Stable

In January 2024, Fitch revised our senior debt credit rating from BBB to BBB-, our senior debt credit rating outlook rating from rating watch
negative to stable and our short-term debt credit rating from F2 to F3.

Contractual Obligations

As of December 31, 2023, we had contractual obligations, excluding accounts payable and accrued expenses and other current liabilities,
payable or maturing in the following periods.

(in millions) Total
Less than
one year

More than one
year

Long-term debt and finance lease obligations, including current maturities $ 13,855 $ 2,677 $ 11,178 
Interest on short- and long-term debt and finance lease obligations 2,768 393 2,375 
Operating leases 622 143 479 
Other non-current liabilities 383 — 383 
Purchase obligations 965 430 535 
Contractual obligations $ 18,593 $ 3,643 $ 14,950 

Interest payments on debt and finance lease obligations are calculated for future periods using interest rates in effect at the end of 2023.
Certain of these projected interest payments may differ in the future based on foreign currency fluctuations or other factors or events.
The projected interest payments only pertain to obligations and agreements outstanding at December 31, 2023. Refer to Note 6 and
Note 7, respectively, in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for further discussion regarding our debt instruments outstanding and
finance lease obligations at December 31, 2023.

The primary components of other non-current liabilities in our consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2023 are pension and
other postretirement benefits, deferred tax liabilities, long-term tax liabilities, and litigation and environmental reserves. We projected the
timing of the related future cash payments based on contractual maturity dates (where applicable) and estimates of the timing of
payments (for liabilities with no contractual maturity dates). The actual timing of payments could differ from our estimates.

We contributed $47 million to our defined benefit pension plans in 2023 and 2022. The timing of funding in future periods is uncertain
and is dependent on future movements in interest rates, investment returns, changes in laws and regulations, and other variables.
Therefore, the table above excludes cash outflows related to our pension plans. The amount included within other non-current liabilities
(and excluded from the table above) related to our pension plan liabilities was $782 million as of December 31, 2023. We have no
obligation to fund our principal plans in the United States in 2024. We continually reassess the amount and timing of any discretionary
contributions. In 2024, we expect to make contributions of at least $18 million to our Puerto Rico plan and $48 million to our foreign
pension plans. We expect to have net cash outflows relating to our OPEB plans of $17 million in 2024. Additionally, we have excluded
long-term tax liabilities, which include liabilities for unrecognized tax positions, and deferred tax liabilities from the table above because
we are unable to estimate the timing of the related cash outflows. The amounts of long-term tax liabilities and deferred tax liabilities
included within other non-current liabilities (and excluded from the table above) were $125 million and $447 million, respectively, as of
December 31, 2023.

Includes our significant contractual unconditional purchase obligations. For cancellable agreements, any penalty due upon cancellation
is included. These commitments do not exceed our projected requirements and are in the normal course of business. Examples include
firm commitments for raw material and component part purchases, utility agreements and service contracts.

1

2

3

2

1.

2.

3.
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Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We periodically enter into off-balance sheet arrangements. Certain contingencies arise in the normal course of business and are not recorded in
the consolidated balance sheets in accordance with U.S. GAAP (such as contingent joint development and commercialization arrangement
payments). Also, upon resolution of uncertainties, we may incur charges in excess of presently established liabilities for certain matters (such as
contractual indemnifications). For a discussion of our significant off-balance sheet arrangements, refer to Note 16 in Item 8 of this Annual Report
on Form 10-K for information regarding receivable transactions, and Note 3 and Note 8 in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for
information regarding joint development and commercialization arrangements, indemnifications and legal contingencies.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENT MARKET RISK

We operate on a global basis and are exposed to the risk that our earnings, cash flows and equity could be adversely impacted by fluctuations in
foreign exchange and interest rates. Our hedging policy attempts to manage these risks to an acceptable level based on our judgment of the
appropriate trade-off between risk, opportunity and costs. Refer to Note 16 in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for further information
regarding our financial instruments and hedging strategies.

Currency Risk

We are primarily exposed to foreign exchange risk with respect to revenues generated outside of the United States denominated in the Euro,
British Pound, Chinese Renminbi, Korean Won, Australian Dollar, Canadian Dollar, Japanese Yen, Colombian Peso, Brazilian Real, Mexican
Peso, Indian Rupee and Swedish Krona. We manage our foreign currency exposures on a consolidated basis, which allows us to net exposures
and take advantage of any natural offsets. In addition, we use derivative and nonderivative financial instruments to further reduce the net
exposure to foreign exchange. Gains and losses on the hedging instruments offset losses and gains on the hedged transactions and reduce the
earnings and stockholders’ equity volatility relating to foreign exchange. However, we don't hedge our entire foreign exchange exposure and are
still subject to earnings and stockholders' equity volatility relating to foreign exchange risk. Financial market and currency volatility may limit our
ability to cost-effectively hedge these exposures.

We primarily use forward contracts to hedge the foreign exchange risk to earnings relating to forecasted transactions and recognized assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies. The maximum term over which we have cash flow hedge contracts in place related to foreign
exchange risk on forecasted transactions as of December 31, 2023 is 12 months. We also enter into derivative instruments to hedge foreign
exchange risk on certain intra-company and third-party receivables and payables and debt denominated in foreign currencies.

As part of our risk-management program, we perform sensitivity analyses to assess potential changes in the fair value of our foreign exchange
instruments relating to hypothetical and reasonably possible near-term movements in foreign exchange rates.

A sensitivity analysis of changes in the fair value of foreign exchange contracts outstanding as of December 31, 2023, while not predictive in
nature, indicated that if the U.S. Dollar uniformly weakened by 10% against all currencies, the net pre-tax asset balance of $46 million with
respect to those contracts would change by $106 million. A similar analysis performed with respect to contracts outstanding as of December 31,
2022 indicated that, on a pre-tax basis, the net asset balance of $2 million would change by $68 million.

The sensitivity analysis model recalculates the fair value of the foreign exchange contracts outstanding as of December 31, 2023 by replacing
the actual exchange rates as of December 31, 2023 with exchange rates that are 10% weaker compared to the actual exchange rates for each
applicable currency. All other factors are held constant. These sensitivity analyses disregard the possibility that currency exchange rates can
move in opposite directions and that gains from one currency may or may not be offset by losses from another currency. The analyses also
disregard the offsetting change in value of the underlying hedged transactions and balances.

In February 2022, the three-year cumulative inflation rate in Turkey exceeded 100 percent. As a result, on April 1, 2022, we began reporting the
results of our subsidiary in that jurisdiction using highly inflationary accounting, which requires that the functional currency of the entity be
changed to the reporting currency of its parent. As of December 31, 2023, our subsidiary in Turkey had net monetary assets of $28 million.
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Interest Rate Risk

We are also exposed to the risk that our earnings and cash flows could be adversely impacted by fluctuations in interest rates. Our policy is to
manage interest costs using the mix of fixed- and floating-rate debt that we believe is appropriate at that time. To manage this mix in a cost-
efficient manner, we periodically enter into interest rate swaps in which we agree to exchange, at specified intervals, the difference between fixed
and floating interest amounts calculated by reference to an agreed-upon notional amount. We also periodically use forward-starting interest rate
swaps and treasury rate locks to hedge the risk to earnings associated with fluctuations in interest rates relating to anticipated issuances of term
debt. As of December 31, 2023, there were no interest rate derivative contracts outstanding and we had $2.07 billion of outstanding floating rate
debt. A 100 basis point change in interest rates would impact our pre-tax earnings and cash flows by $21 million over a one-year period.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING STANDARDS

Refer to Note 1 in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for information on recently adopted accounting pronouncements.

RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

Recently issued accounting standards not yet adopted

In November 2023, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued Accounting Standards Update (ASU) 2023-07, Segment Reporting
(Topic 280): Improvements to Reportable Segment Disclosures, which requires enhanced disclosures about segment expenses on an annual
and interim basis. This standard is effective for our annual consolidated financial statements for the year ending December 31, 2024 and for
interim periods beginning in 2025. We are currently evaluating the impact of this standard on our consolidated financial statements.

In December 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-09, Income Taxes (Topic 740): Improvement to Income Tax Disclosures, which requires (1)
disclosure of specific categories in the rate reconciliation and (2) additional information for reconciling items that meet a quantitative threshold.
Additionally, the amendment requires disclosure of certain disaggregated information about income taxes paid, income from continuing
operations before income tax expense (benefit) and income tax expense (benefit). The standard is effective for our annual consolidated financial
statements for the year ending December 31, 2025. We are currently evaluating the impact of this standard on our consolidated financial
statements.

In June 2022, the FASB issued ASU 2022-03, Fair Value Measurement of Equity Securities Subject to Contractual Sales Restrictions, which (1)
clarifies the guidance in Topic 820 on the fair value measurement of an equity security that is subject to contractual restrictions that prohibit the
sale of an equity security and (2) requires specific disclosures related to such an equity security. The standard is effective for our annual
consolidated financial statements for the year ending December 31, 2024 and for interim periods beginning in 2025. The impact of the adoption
of this ASU is not expected to have a material effect on our consolidated financial statements.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and judgments that affect the
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses. A summary of our significant accounting policies is included in Note 1 in Item 8 of
this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Certain of our accounting policies are considered critical, as these policies are the most important to the
depiction of our financial statements and require significant, difficult or complex judgments by us, often employing the use of estimates about the
effects of matters that are inherently uncertain. Actual results that differ from our estimates could have an unfavorable effect on our results of
operations and financial position. The following is a summary of accounting policies that we consider critical to the consolidated financial
statements.

Revenue Recognition and Related Provisions and Allowances

Revenues from product sales are recorded at the net sales price (transaction price), which includes estimates of variable consideration primarily
related to rebates and distributor chargebacks. These reserves are based on estimates of the amounts earned or to be claimed on the related
sales. Our estimates take into consideration historical experience, current contractual and statutory requirements, specific known market events
and trends,
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industry data, and forecasted customer buying and payment patterns. Overall, these reserves reflect our best estimates of the amount of
consideration to which we are entitled based on the terms of the contract. The amount of variable consideration included in the net sales price is
limited to the amount that is probable not to result in a significant reversal in the amount of the cumulative revenue recognized in a future period.
Additionally, our contracts with customers often include promises to transfer multiple products and services to a customer. Determining whether
products and services are considered distinct performance obligations that should be accounted for separately and determining the allocation of
the transaction price may require significant judgment.

Pension and OPEB Plans

We provide pension and other postretirement benefits to certain of our employees. The service component of employee benefit expenses is
reported in the same line items in the consolidated income statements as the applicable employee’s compensation expense. All other
components of these employee benefit expenses are reported in other (income) expense, net in our consolidated statements of income (loss).
The valuation of the funded status and net periodic benefit cost for the plans is calculated using actuarial assumptions. These assumptions are
reviewed annually and revised if appropriate. The significant assumptions include the following:

• interest rates used to discount pension and OPEB plan liabilities;

• the long-term rate of return on pension plan assets;

• rates of increase in employee compensation (used in estimating liabilities);

• anticipated future healthcare trend rates (used in estimating the OPEB plan liability); and

• other assumptions involving demographic factors such as retirement, mortality and turnover (used in estimating liabilities).

Selecting assumptions involves an analysis of both short-term and long-term historical trends and known economic and market conditions at the
time of the valuation (also called the measurement date). The use of different assumptions would result in different measures of the funded
status and net cost. Actual results in the future could differ from expected results.

Our key assumptions are listed in Note 13 in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. The most critical assumptions relate to the plans
covering U.S. and Puerto Rico employees, because these plans are the most significant to our consolidated financial statements.

Discount Rate Assumption

Effective for the December 31, 2023 measurement date, we utilized discount rates of 5.21% and 5.12%, respectively, to measure the benefit
obligations for our most significant pension and OPEB plans, which cover U.S. and Puerto Rico employees. We used a broad population of
approximately 200 Aa-rated corporate bonds as of December 31, 2023 to determine the discount rate assumption. All bonds were denominated
in U.S. Dollars, with a minimum amount outstanding of $50 million. This population of bonds was narrowed from a broader universe of
approximately 700 Moody’s Aa rated, non-callable (or callable with make-whole provisions) bonds by eliminating the top 10th percentile and
bottom 40th percentile to adjust for any pricing anomalies and to represent the bonds we would most likely select if we were to actually annuitize
our pension and OPEB plan liabilities. This portfolio of bonds was used to generate a yield curve and associated spot rate curve to discount the
projected benefit payments for the U.S. and Puerto Rico plans. The discount rate is the single level rate that produces the same result as the
spot rate curve.

For plans in Canada, Japan, the United Kingdom and other European countries, we use a method essentially the same as that described for the
U.S. and Puerto Rico plans. For our other international plans, the discount rate is generally determined by reviewing country- and region-specific
government and corporate bond interest rates.

To understand the impact of changes in discount rates on pension and OPEB plan cost, we perform a sensitivity analysis. Holding all other
assumptions constant, for each 50 basis point increase in the discount rate, global pre-tax pension and OPEB plan cost would decrease by $7
million, and for each 50 basis point decrease in the discount rate, global pre-tax pension and OPEB plan cost would increase by $6 million.
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Return on Plan Assets Assumption

In measuring the net periodic cost for 2023, we used a long-term expected rate of return of 6.50% for our most significant pension plans, which
cover U.S. and Puerto Rico employees. This assumption will increase to 6.75% in 2024. This assumption is not applicable to our OPEB plan
because it is not funded.

We establish the long-term asset return assumption based on a review of historical compound average asset returns, both company-specific and
relating to the broad market (based on our asset allocation), as well as an analysis of current market and economic information and future
expectations. The current asset return assumption is supported by historical market experience for both our actual and targeted asset allocation.
In calculating net pension cost, the expected return on assets is applied to a calculated value of plan assets, which recognizes changes in the
fair value of plan assets in a systematic manner over five years. The difference between this expected return and the actual return on plan
assets is a component of the total net unrecognized gain or loss and is subject to amortization in the future.

To understand the impact of changes in the expected asset return assumption on net cost, we perform a sensitivity analysis. Holding all other
assumptions constant, for each 50 basis point increase (decrease) in the asset return assumption, global pre-tax pension plan cost would
decrease (increase) by approximately $15 million.

Other Assumptions

For the U.S. and Puerto Rico plans, we used the Pri-2012 combined mortality table with improvements projected using the MP-2021 projection
scale adjusted to a long-term improvement of 0.8% as of December 31, 2023. For all other pension plans, we utilized country- and region-
specific mortality tables to calculate the plans’ benefit obligations. We periodically analyze and update our assumptions concerning demographic
factors such as retirement, mortality and turnover, considering historical experience as well as anticipated future trends.

The assumptions relating to employee compensation increases and future healthcare costs are based on historical experience, market trends,
and anticipated future company actions.

Deferred Tax Asset Valuation Allowances and Reserves for Uncertain Tax Positions

We maintain valuation allowances unless it is more likely than not that all or a portion of the deferred tax asset will be realized. Changes in
valuation allowances are included in our tax provision in the period of change. In determining whether a valuation allowance is warranted, we
evaluate factors such as prior earnings history, expected future earnings, carryback and carryforward periods, and tax strategies that could
potentially enhance the likelihood of realization of a deferred tax asset. The realizability assessments made at a given balance sheet date are
subject to change in the future, particularly if earnings of a subsidiary are significantly higher or lower than expected, or if we take operational or
tax planning actions that could impact the future taxable earnings of a subsidiary.

In the normal course of business, we are audited by federal, state and foreign tax authorities, and are periodically challenged regarding the
amount of taxes due. These challenges relate to the timing and amount of deductions and the allocation of income among various tax
jurisdictions. We believe our tax positions comply with applicable tax law and we intend to defend our positions. In evaluating the exposure
associated with various tax filing positions, we record reserves for uncertain tax positions in accordance with U.S. GAAP based on the technical
support for the positions, our past audit experience with similar situations, and potential interest and penalties related to the matters. Our results
of operations and effective tax rate in a given period could be impacted if, upon final resolution with taxing authorities, we prevail in positions for
which reserves have been established, or we are required to pay amounts in excess of established reserves.

Realization of our U.S. and foreign operating loss and tax credit carryforwards depends on generating sufficient future earnings. A valuation
allowance of $658 million and $704 million was recognized as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively, to reduce the deferred tax assets
associated with net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards because we do not believe it is more likely than not that these assets will be fully
realized prior to expiration. After evaluating relevant U.S. tax laws, any elections or other opportunities that may be available, and the future
expiration of certain U.S. tax provisions that will impact the utilization of our U.S. foreign tax credit carryforwards, management expects to be
able to realize some, but not all, of the U.S. foreign tax credit deferred
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tax assets up to its recurring and non-recurring foreign inclusions. Therefore, a valuation allowance of $130 million and $119 million was
recognized with respect to the foreign tax credit carryforwards as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. We will continue to evaluate the
need for additional valuation allowances and, as circumstances change, the valuation allowance may change.

Impairment of Goodwill and Other Long-Lived Assets

Goodwill

Goodwill is initially measured as the excess of the purchase price over the fair value (or other measurement attribute required by U.S. GAAP) of
acquired assets and liabilities in a business combination. Goodwill is not amortized but is subject to an impairment review annually and
whenever indicators of impairment exist. We have the option to assess goodwill for impairment by initially performing a qualitative assessment to
determine whether it is more-likely-than-not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount. If we determine that it is not
more-likely-than-not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount, then the quantitative goodwill impairment test is not
required to be performed. If we determine that it is more-likely-than-not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount, or if
we do not elect the option to perform an initial qualitative assessment, we perform a quantitative goodwill impairment test. In the quantitative
impairment test, we calculate the estimated fair value of the reporting unit. If the carrying amount of the reporting unit exceeds the estimated fair
value, an impairment charge is recorded for the amount that the reporting unit’s carrying amount, including goodwill, exceeds its fair value,
limited to the total amount of goodwill allocated to that reporting unit.

In a quantitative goodwill impairment test, the fair values of our reporting units are generally determined based on a discounted cash flow model
(an income approach) and earnings multiples (a market approach) based on the guideline public company method. Significant assumptions used
in reporting unit fair value measurements generally include forecasted cash flows, discount rates, terminal growth rates and earnings multiples.
The discounted cash flow models used to determine the fair values of our reporting units during 2023 reflected our most recent cash flow
projections, discount rates ranging from 8.0% to 9.5% and terminal growth rates ranging from 2.0% to 3.5%. Each of these inputs can
significantly affect the fair values of our reporting units.

Our operating and reportable segments were changed in the third quarter of 2023 to align with our new operating model: Medical Products and
Therapies, Healthcare Systems and Technologies (formerly referred to as our Hillrom segment), Pharmaceuticals and Kidney Care. As a result
of this segment change, we reallocated the goodwill from our previous Americas, EMEA and APAC segments to the reporting units within our
new Medical Products and Therapies, Pharmaceuticals and Kidney Care segments based on the relative fair values of those reporting units. We
performed impairment tests both before and after the reporting unit change and determined that no goodwill impairment had occurred.

Upon our segment change in the third quarter of 2023, we initially identified three reporting units within our new Kidney Care segment: PD, HD
and Acute Therapies. In connection with the ongoing activities related to the proposed separation of our Kidney Care segment, that business
completed an organizational realignment during the fourth quarter of 2023. As a result of that organizational realignment within our Kidney Care
segment, the previous PD and HD reporting units were combined into a single Chronic Therapies reporting unit. We performed impairment tests
of the Kidney Care reporting units, both before and after the combination of PD and HD into Chronic Therapies, and determined that no goodwill
impairment had occurred.

In connection with our November 1, 2023 annual goodwill impairment tests, we determined that no goodwill impairments had occurred. The fair
values of the Front Line Care reporting unit within our Healthcare Systems and Technologies segment and the Chronic Therapies reporting unit
within our Kidney Care segment exceeded their carrying values by approximately 5% and 6%, respectively. We are continuing to closely monitor
the performance of those reporting units, and if there is a significant adverse change in our outlook for those businesses in the future, a goodwill
impairment could arise at that time. As of December 31, 2023, the carrying amounts of goodwill for our Front Line Care and Chronic Therapies
reporting units were $2.42 billion and $444 million, respectively.

We acquired Hillrom on December 13, 2021 and recognized $6.83 billion of goodwill and $6.03 billion of other intangible assets, including $1.91
billion of indefinite-lived intangible assets, in connection with that acquisition. In the second half of 2022, we recognized $2.81 of goodwill
impairments related to the reporting units within our Hillrom segment (currently referred to as out Healthcare Systems and Technologies
segment). As discussed below,
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we also recognized impairments of indefinite-lived intangible assets related to that business, consisting primarily of trade names.

Other Long-Lived Assets

Other long-lived assets are primarily comprised of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets, including both indefinite-lived intangible
assets and amortizing intangible assets.

Indefinite-Lived Intangible Assets

Indefinite-lived intangible assets, such as IPR&D acquired in business combinations and certain trade names with indefinite lives, are subject to
an impairment review annually and whenever indicators of impairment exist. We have the option to assess indefinite-lived intangible assets for
impairment by first performing qualitative assessments to determine whether it is more-likely-than-not that the fair values of the indefinite-lived
intangible assets are less than the carrying amounts. If we determine that it is more-likely-than-not that an indefinite-lived intangible asset is
impaired, or if we elect not to perform an initial qualitative assessment, we then perform the quantitative impairment test by comparing the fair
value of the indefinite-lived intangible asset with its carrying amount. If the carrying amount exceeds the fair value of the indefinite-lived
intangible asset, we write the carrying amount down to the fair value.

In a quantitative indefinite-lived intangible asset impairment test, fair values are generally determined based on a discounted cash flow model.
Significant assumptions used in valuations of indefinite-lived intangible assets include the forecasted cash flows, discount rates, the assessment
of the asset’s life cycle, the stage in completion (for acquired IPR&D intangible assets), royalty rates, terminal growth rates and contributory
asset charges. The relief from royalty models used in the determination of the fair values of our trade name intangible assets during 2023
reflected our most recent revenue projections, a discount rate of 9%, royalty rates ranging from 4% to 5% and terminal growth rates ranging from
3.0% to 3.5%. Each of these factors and assumptions can significantly affect the value of the intangible asset.

As a result of an update to our long-term branding strategy, we reclassified two trade name intangible assets with carrying amounts of $870
million and $21 million from indefinite-lived intangible assets to amortizing intangible assets during the fourth quarter of 2023. The estimated
useful lives assigned to those assets were 15 years and 5 years, respectively, and we recognized $10 million of amortization expense on those
intangible assets from the date of reclassification through December 31, 2023. We performed impairment tests of those intangible assets at the
time of the reclassification and determined that no impairment had occurred.

The total carrying amount of our indefinite-lived intangible assets was $837 million as of December 31, 2023, comprised of a trade name
intangible asset and IPR&D. We tested our indefinite-lived intangible assets for impairment during the fourth quarter of 2023 and determined that
no impairment had occurred.

Intangible Assets with Definite Lives and Property, Plant and Equipment

We review the carrying amounts of long-lived assets used in operations, other than goodwill and intangible assets not subject to amortization, for
potential impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. In
evaluating recoverability, we group assets and liabilities at the lowest level such that the identifiable cash flows relating to the group are largely
independent of the cash flows of other assets and liabilities. We then compare the carrying amounts of the assets or asset groups with the
related estimated undiscounted future cash flows. In the event an asset (or asset group) is not recoverable, an impairment charge is recorded as
the amount by which the carrying amount of the asset (or asset group) exceeds its fair value. However, the portion of an impairment loss
allocated to an individual long-lived asset within an asset group cannot reduce the carrying amount of that asset below its fair value if its fair
value is determinable without undue cost and effort.

Our manufacturing facility in Opelika, Alabama was one of three Baxter manufacturing facilities that produced dialyzers used in hemodialysis
(HD) treatments. The current competitive environment has increased the global supply of those products and, in connection with our initiatives to
streamline our manufacturing footprint and improve our profitability, we made the decision in the second quarter of 2023 to cease production of
dialyzers at the Opelika facility near the end of 2023. As a result of our decision to cease dialyzer production at this manufacturing facility, we
performed a trigger-based recoverability assessment of its long-lived assets, which consist of a building
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and manufacturing equipment, including specialized equipment used in the production of dialyzers. The carrying amount of that asset group
exceeded the estimated undiscounted cash flows expected to be generated, and we recognized an impairment charge of $243 million, classified
within cost of sales in the accompanying consolidated statements of income (loss), during the year ended December 31, 2023 to reduce the
carrying amounts to their estimated fair values. The fair values of the building and manufacturing equipment tested for impairment during the
second quarter of 2023 were determined based on transaction prices of comparable assets. Significant assumptions used in the determination of
the fair values included the identification of representative comparable assets.

As discussed above, we identified new reporting units as a result of our segment change in the third quarter of 2023 and performed fair value
measurements of our reporting units to reallocate goodwill to the new reporting units based on their relative fair values and to assess those
reporting units for impairment. The HD business within our Kidney Care segment was initially identified as one of the new reporting units at that
time. Based on the estimated fair value of our HD business, we allocated no goodwill to it. Additionally, we determined that a triggering event
was present to review the carrying amounts of long-lived assets within the HD business, which include four manufacturing facilities that primarily
manufacture HD products, HD equipment leased to customers under operating leases and developed technology intangible assets, for potential
impairment. In connection with that evaluation, we determined that the carrying amount of the asset group represented by our HD business,
which is the lowest level for which identifiable cash flows are largely independent of other assets and liabilities, exceeded its forecasted
undiscounted cash flows. We then measured the excess of the carrying amount of that asset group over its fair value and allocated the resulting
impairment to its long-lived assets, limiting the impairments of individual assets within the group to amounts that would not result in their carrying
amounts being written down below their fair values. As a result, we recognized $267 million of long-lived asset impairment charges, comprised of
(i) a $190 million impairment charge related to certain manufacturing equipment, operating lease right-of-use assets and HD equipment leased
to customers and (ii) a $77 million impairment charge related to developed technology intangible assets.

The fair value of the HD asset group was based on a discounted cash flow model (an income approach). Significant assumptions used in the
determination of its fair value include forecasted cash flows, discount rates and terminal growth rates. The discounted cash flow model used to
determine the fair value of the HD asset group during the third quarter 2023 reflected our most recent cash flow projections, a discount rate of
8% and a terminal growth rate of 1.5%. We also measured the fair values of individual assets within that asset group to ensure that the allocation
of the asset group’s impairment to the long-lived assets within that group would not reduce the carrying amount of any individual asset below its
fair value. The fair values of the buildings within that asset group were determined based on a cost approach. Significant assumptions used in
the determination of those fair values included replacement costs of assets with a similar age and condition. The fair values of manufacturing
equipment and HD equipment leased to customers within that group were determined based on transaction prices of comparable assets.
Significant assumptions used in the determination of those fair values included the identification of representative comparable assets. The fair
value of the right-of-use asset within that group was determined based on market rents and discount rates.

During the third quarter of 2022, we recognized pre-tax impairment charges of $332 million to reduce the carrying amounts of certain indefinite-
lived intangible assets, which primarily related to the Hillrom and Welch Allyn trade names acquired in the Hillrom acquisition, to their estimated
fair values. Additionally, during 2022 we recognized pre-tax impairment charges of $12 million related to developed technology intangible assets
due to declines in market expectations for the related products.

Long-Lived Assets Held for Sale

Long-lived assets are classified as held for sale when certain criteria are met, including when management has committed to sell the asset, the
asset is available for sale in its present condition and the sale is probable of being completed within one year of the balance sheet date. Assets
held for sale are no longer depreciated or amortized and they are reported at the lower of their carrying amount or fair value less cost to sell.

Our goodwill and other long-lived asset fair value measurements are classified as Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy because they involve
significant unobservable inputs.
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Further adverse changes to macroeconomic conditions or our earnings forecasts could lead to additional goodwill or other long-lived asset
impairment charges in future periods and such charges could be material to our results of operations.

CERTAIN REGULATORY MATTERS

In July 2017, immediately prior to the closing of our acquisition of Claris Injectables Limited (Claris), FDA commenced an inspection of the Claris’
facilities in Ahmedabad, India. FDA completed the inspection and subsequently issued a Warning Letter based on observations identified in the
2017 inspection (2017 Warning Letter).¹ FDA re-inspected the facilities and issued a Form FDA 483 on May 17, 2022. On September 1, 2022,
FDA notified us that the inspection had been classified as voluntary action indicated. From January 19, 2023 to January 27, 2023, FDA
performed an inspection at the Ahmedabad site, concluding with the issuance of a Form FDA 483. On April 26, 2023, FDA notified us that the
inspection had been classified as official action indicated. We received a Warning Letter on July 25, 2023 based on observations identified in the
January 2023 inspection (2023 Warning Letter) . Since the issuance of the 2017 Warning Letter, we have implemented corrective and preventive
actions to address FDA's related observations, as well as other enhancements at the site. We have fully responded to the 2023 Warning Letter,
have implemented additional corrective and preventive actions, and continue to engage with FDA regarding the agency's observations. In
addition, since the issuance of the 2017 Warning Letter, we have secured other sites in our manufacturing network and have launched and
distribute select products from those sites in the U.S.

Refer to Item 1A. Risk Factors of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for additional discussion of regulatory matters and how they may impact us.

Available online at https://www.fda.gov/ICECI/EnforcementActions/WarningLetters/ucm613538.htm

Available online at https://www.fda.gov/inspections-compliance-enforcement-and-criminal-investigations/warning-letters/baxter-healthcare-
corporation-654136-07252023

FORWARD-LOOKING INFORMATION
Certain statements contained in this Annual Report may constitute “forward-looking statements,” as defined in the Private Securities Litigation
Reform Act of 1995, that involve risks and uncertainties. Forward-looking statements provide current expectations of future events based on
certain assumptions and include any statement that does not directly relate to any historical or current fact. These statements by their nature
address matters that are uncertain to different degrees. Use of the words “may,” “will,” “would,” “could,” “should,” “believes,” “estimates,”
“projects,” “potential,” “expects,” “plans,” “seeks,” “intends,” “evaluates,” “pursues,” “anticipates,” “continues,” “designs,” “impacts,” “affects,”
“forecasts,” “target,” “outlook,” “initiative,” “objective,” “designed,” “priorities,” “goal,” or the negative of those words or other similar expressions
may identify forward-looking statements, although not all forward-looking statements contain such words. These forward-looking statements
include statements with respect to the proposed separation of our Kidney Care business and other portfolio management activities we may
undertake in the future, the costs and timing associated with strategic initiatives including the proposed separation, the viability and accuracy of
anticipated benefits of our strategic actions, accounting estimates and assumptions (including with respect to goodwill and other intangible asset
impairments), global economic conditions, litigation-related matters, future regulatory filings (or the withdrawal or resubmission of any pending
submissions) and our R&D pipeline (including anticipated product approvals or clearances), sales from new product offerings, credit exposure to
foreign governments, the adequacy of cash flows and credit facilities, potential developments with respect to credit ratings, investment of foreign
earnings, estimates of liabilities including those related to uncertain tax positions, contingent payments, future pension plan contributions, costs,
discount rates and rates of return, our exposure to financial market volatility and foreign currency, interest rate and credit risks, our net interest
expense, the impact of inflation on our business, the impact of competition, future sales growth, business development activities, cost saving
initiatives, future capital and R&D expenditures, future debt issuances and refinancings, the adequacy of tax provisions and reserves, the
effective income tax rate and all other statements that do not relate to historical facts.

These forward-looking statements are based on certain assumptions and analyses made in light of our experience and perception of historical
trends, current conditions, and expected future developments as well as other factors that we believe are appropriate in the circumstances.
While these statements represent our judgment on what the future may hold, and we believe these judgments are reasonable, these statements
are not guarantees of any events or financial results. Whether actual future results and developments will conform to expectations and
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predictions is subject to a number of risks and uncertainties, including the following factors, many of which are beyond our control:

• our ability to execute and complete strategic initiatives, asset dispositions and other transactions and development activities, including
the proposed separation of our Kidney Care business, our plans to simplify our manufacturing footprint and the timing for such
transactions, the ability to satisfy any applicable conditions and the expected proceeds, consideration and benefits;

• failure to accurately forecast or achieve our short-and long-term financial performance and goals (including with respect to our strategic
initiatives and other actions) and related impacts on our liquidity;

• our ability to execute on our capital allocation plans, including our debt repayment plans, the timing and amount of any dividends, share
repurchases and divestiture proceeds and the capital structure of the public company that we expect to form as a result of the proposed
spinoff of our Kidney Care business (and the resulting capital structure for the remaining company);

• our ability to successfully integrate acquisitions;

• the impact of global economic conditions (including, among other things, inflation levels, interest rates, financial market volatility, banking
crises, the potential for a recession, the war in Ukraine, the conflict in the Middle East (including recent attacks on merchant ships in the
Red Sea), tensions between China and Taiwan and the potential for escalation of these conflicts, the related economic sanctions being
imposed globally in response to the conflicts and potential trade wars and global public health crises, pandemics and epidemics, such as
the COVID-19 pandemic, or the anticipation of any of the foregoing, on our operations and our employees, customers, suppliers and
foreign governments in countries in which we operate;

• downgrades to our credit ratings or ratings outlooks, and the impact on our funding costs and liquidity;

• product development risks, including satisfactory clinical performance and obtaining and maintaining required regulatory approvals
(including as a result of evolving regulatory requirements or the withdrawal or resubmission of any pending applications), the ability to
manufacture at appropriate scale and the general unpredictability associated with the product development cycle;

• product quality or patient safety issues leading to product recalls, withdrawals, launch delays, warning letters, import bans, sanctions,
seizures, litigation or declining sales, including the focus on evaluating product portfolios for the potential presence or formation of
nitrosamines;

• future actions of, or failures to act or delays in acting by, FDA, the European Medicines Agency or any other regulatory body or
government authority (including the SEC, DOJ or the Attorney General of any state) that could delay, limit or suspend product
development, manufacturing or sale or result in seizures, recalls, injunctions, monetary sanctions or criminal or civil liabilities;

• demand and market acceptance risks for, and competitive pressures related to, new and existing products, challenges with accurately
predicting changing customer preferences and future expenditures and inventory levels and with being able to monetize new and
existing products and services, the impact of those products on quality and patient safety concerns and the need for ongoing training
and support for our products;

• breaches, including by cyber-attack, data leakage, unauthorized access or theft, or failures of or vulnerabilities in, our information
technology systems or products;

• the continuity, availability and pricing of acceptable raw materials and component parts, our ability to pass some or all of these costs to
our customers through price increases or otherwise, and the related continuity of our manufacturing and distribution and those of our
suppliers;

• inability to create additional production capacity in a timely manner or the occurrence of other manufacturing, sterilization or supply
difficulties, including as a result of natural disaster, war, terrorism, global public health crises and epidemics/pandemics, regulatory
actions or otherwise;

• our ability to finance and develop new products or enhancements on commercially acceptable terms or at all;

• loss of key employees, the occurrence of labor disruptions (including as a result of labor disagreements under bargaining agreements or
national trade union agreements or disputes with works councils) or the inability to attract, develop, retain and engage employees

• failures with respect to our quality, compliance or ethics programs;
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• future actions of third parties, including third-party payors and our customers and distributors (including GPOs and IDNs);

• changes to legislation and regulation and other governmental pressures in the United States and globally, including the cost of
compliance and potential penalties for purported noncompliance thereof, including new or amended laws, rules and regulations as well
as the impact of healthcare reform and its implementation, suspension, repeal, replacement, amendment, modification and other similar
actions undertaken by the United States or foreign governments, including with respect to pricing, reimbursement, taxation and rebate
policies;

• the outcome of pending or future litigation;

• the impact of competitive products and pricing, including generic competition, drug reimportation and disruptive technologies;

• global regulatory, trade and tax policies, including with respect to climate change and other sustainability matters;

• the ability to protect or enforce our patents or other proprietary rights (including trademarks, copyrights, trade secrets and know-how) or
where the patents of third parties prevent or restrict our manufacture, sale or use of affected products or technology;

• the impact of any goodwill, intangible asset or other long-lived asset impairments on our operating results;

• fluctuations in foreign exchange and interest rates;

• any changes in law concerning the taxation of income (whether with respect to current or future tax reform);

• actions by tax authorities in connection with ongoing tax audits;

• other factors discussed elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K including those factors described in Item 1A. Risk Factors and
other filings with the SEC, all of which are available on our website.

Actual results may differ materially from those projected in the forward-looking statements, which are more fully discussed in Item 1A. Risk
Factors and Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations and elsewhere in this Annual
Report on Form 10-K. These forward-looking statements are not exclusive and are in addition to other factors discussed elsewhere in this
Annual Report on Form 10-K. Further, other unknown or unpredictable factors could also have material adverse effects on future results. Any
forward-looking statement in this information statement speaks only as of the date on which it is made. Except as required by law, we assume no
obligation, and expressly disclaim any obligation, to update or revise any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information or
future events.

Item 7A.    Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.

Incorporated by reference to the section entitled “Financial Instrument Market Risk” in Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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Item 8.    Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
as of December 31 (in millions, except share information) 2023 2022
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 3,194 $ 1,718 
Accounts receivable, net of allowance of $129 in 2023 and $114 in 2022 2,690 2,571 

Inventories 2,824 2,679 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 892 857 
Current assets of discontinued operations — 186 

Total current assets 9,600 8,011 
Property, plant and equipment, net 4,433 4,695 
Goodwill 6,514 6,452 
Other intangible assets, net 6,079 6,793 
Operating lease right-of-use assets 524 541 
Other non-current assets 1,126 1,109 
Non-current assets of discontinued operations — 686 

Total assets $ 28,276 $ 28,287 
Current liabilities:

Short-term debt $ — $ 299 
Current maturities of long-term debt and finance lease obligations 2,668 1,105 
Accounts payable 1,241 1,110 
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities 2,594 2,170 
Current liabilities of discontinued operations — 61 

Total current liabilities 6,503 4,745 
Long-term debt and finance lease obligations, less current portion 11,130 15,232 
Operating lease liabilities 438 447 
Other non-current liabilities 1,737 1,848 
Non-current liabilities of discontinued operations — 120 

Total liabilities 19,808 22,392 
Commitments and contingencies
Equity:
Common stock, $1 par value, authorized 2,000,000,000 shares, issued 683,494,944 shares in 2023 and
2022 683 683 

Common stock in treasury, at cost, 175,861,893 shares in 2023 and 179,062,594 shares in 2022 (11,230) (11,389)
Additional contributed capital 6,389 6,322 
Retained earnings 16,114 14,050 
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) (3,554) (3,833)

Total Baxter stockholders’ equity 8,402 5,833 
Noncontrolling interests 66 62 

Total equity 8,468 5,895 
Total liabilities and equity $ 28,276 $ 28,287 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME (LOSS)
years ended December 31 (in millions, except per share data) 2023 2022 2021
Net sales $ 14,813 $ 14,506 $ 12,146 
Cost of sales 9,838 9,440 7,426 
Gross margin 4,975 5,066 4,720 
Selling, general and administrative expenses 3,946 3,859 2,845 
Research and development expenses 667 602 531 
Goodwill impairments — 2,812 — 
Other operating expense (income), net (28) 36 (6)
Operating income (loss) 390 (2,243) 1,350 
Interest expense, net 442 395 193 
Other (income) expense, net 51 12 41 
Income (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes (103) (2,650) 1,116 
Income tax (benefit) expense (34) 4 83 
Income (loss) from continuing operations (69) (2,654) 1,033 
Income from discontinued operations, net of tax 2,732 233 262 
Net income (loss) 2,663 (2,421) 1,295 
Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests 7 12 11 
Net income (loss) attributable to Baxter stockholders $ 2,656 $ (2,433) $ 1,284 
Income (loss) from continuing operations per common share

Basic $ (0.15) $ (5.29) $ 2.04 
Diluted $ (0.15) $ (5.29) $ 2.01 

Income from discontinued operations per common share
Basic $ 5.40 $ 0.46 $ 0.52 
Diluted $ 5.40 $ 0.46 $ 0.52 

Net Income (loss) per common share
Basic $ 5.25 $ (4.83) $ 2.56 
Diluted $ 5.25 $ (4.83) $ 2.53 

Weighted-average number of shares outstanding
Basic 506 504 502 
Diluted 506 504 508 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)
years ended December 31 (in millions) 2023 2022 2021
Income (loss) from continuing operations $ (69) $ (2,654) $ 1,033 
Other comprehensive income (loss) from continuing operations, net of tax:

Currency translation adjustments, net of tax expense (benefit) of ($18) in 2023, $41 in 2022 and
$30 in 2021 213 (445) (264)
Pension and other postretirement benefit plans, net of tax expense of $(27) in 2023, $12 in 2022
and $60 in 2021 (117) (2) 218 
Hedging activities, net of tax expense (benefit) of zero in 2023, $2 in 2022 and $7 in 2021 (1) 7 27 
Available-for-sale debt securities, net of tax expense of zero in 2023, $1 in 2022 and zero in 2021 — 3 — 

Total other comprehensive income (loss) from continuing operations, net of tax 95 (437) (19)
Comprehensive income (loss) from continuing operations 26 (3,091) 1,014 
Income from discontinued operations, net of tax 2,732 233 262 
Other comprehensive income (loss) from discontinued operations

Currency translation adjustments, net of tax expense (benefit) of zero in 2023, 2022 and 2021 185 (34) (56)
Pension and other postretirement benefit plans, net of tax expense of zero in 2023, 2022 and 2021 (4) 18 9 

Total other comprehensive income from discontinued operations 181 (16) (47)
Comprehensive income from discontinued operations 2,913 217 215 

Comprehensive income (loss) 2,939 (2,874) 1,229 
Less: Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests 7 12 11 
Less: Other comprehensive income (loss) attributable to noncontrolling interests (3) (5) — 
Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to Baxter stockholders $ 2,935 $ (2,881) $ 1,218 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
Baxter International Inc. stockholders' equity

(in millions)
Common stock

shares
Common

stock

Common stock
shares in
treasury

Common stock
in treasury

Additional
contributed

capital
Retained
earnings

Accumulated
other

comprehensive
income (loss)

Total Baxter
stockholders'

equity
Noncontrolling

interests Total equity
Balance as of January 1, 2021 683 $ 683 179 $ (11,051) $ 6,043 $ 16,328 $ (3,314) $ 8,689 $ 37 $ 8,726 
Net income (loss) — — — — — 1,284 — 1,284 11 1,295 
Other comprehensive income (loss) — — — — — — (66) (66) — (66)
Purchases of treasury stock — — 7 (600) — — — (600) — (600)
Stock issued under employee benefit plans and
other — — (4) 163 154 — — 317 — 317 
Dividends declared on common stock — — — — — (547) — (547) — (547)
Change in noncontrolling interests — — — — — — — — (4) (4)
Balance as of December 31, 2021 683 $ 683 182 $ (11,488) $ 6,197 $ 17,065 $ (3,380) $ 9,077 $ 44 $ 9,121 
Net income (loss) — — — — — (2,433) — (2,433) 12 (2,421)
Other comprehensive income (loss) — — — — — — (453) (453) (5) (458)
Purchases of treasury stock — — — (32) — — — (32) — (32)
Stock issued under employee benefit plans and
other — — (3) 131 125 — — 256 — 256 
Dividends declared on common stock — — — — — (582) — (582) — (582)
Change in noncontrolling interests — — — — — — — — 11 11 
Balance as of December 31, 2022 683 $ 683 179 $ (11,389) $ 6,322 $ 14,050 $ (3,833) $ 5,833 $ 62 $ 5,895 
Net income (loss) — — — — — 2,656 — 2,656 7 2,663 
Other comprehensive income (loss) — — — — — — 279 279 (3) 276 
Stock issued under employee benefit plans and
other — — (3) 159 67 — — 226 — 226 
Dividends declared on common stock — — — — — (592) — (592) — (592)
Balance as of December 31, 2023 683 $ 683 176 $ (11,230) $ 6,389 $ 16,114 $ (3,554) $ 8,402 $ 66 $ 8,468 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
years ended December 31 (in millions) 2023 2022 2021
Cash flows from operations

Net income (loss) $ 2,663 $ (2,421) $ 1,295 
Less: Income from discontinued operations, net of tax 2,732 233 262 
Loss from continuing operations (69) (2,654) 1,033 
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to cash flows operations:
Depreciation and amortization 1,263 1,380 867 
Pension settlement and curtailment (gains) losses 1 (12) 2 
Net periodic pension and other postretirement costs (19) 50 99 
Deferred income taxes (499) (230) (161)
Stock compensation 133 153 146 
Losses on debt extinguishments — — 5 
Goodwill impairments — 2,812 — 
Intangible asset impairments 77 344 — 
Other long-lived asset impairments 470 9 11 
Loss on product divestiture arrangement — 54 — 
Reclassification of cumulative translation loss to earnings — 65 — 
Loss on subsidiary liquidation — 21 — 
Other 77 (20) 81 
Changes in balance sheet items:

Accounts receivable, net (66) (125) (170)
Inventories (114) (367) (27)
Prepaid expenses and other current assets (40) (49) (35)
Accounts payable 107 (73) 105 
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities 412 (221) 207 
Other (31) (106) (137)
Cash flows from operations – continuing operations 1,702 1,031 2,026 
Cash flows from operations – discontinued operations 24 180 196 
Cash flows from operations 1,726 1,211 2,222 

Cash flows from investing activities
Capital expenditures (692) (620) (691)
Acquisitions, net of cash acquired, and investments (6) (263) (10,502)
Other investing activities, net 26 11 45 

Cash flows from investing activities - continuing operations (672) (872) (11,148)
Cash flows from investing activities - discontinued operations 3,885 (59) (52)
Cash flows from investing activities 3,213 (931) (11,200)

Cash flows from financing activities
Issuances of debt — — 11,903 
Repayments of debt (2,634) (954) (2,823)
Net (decreases) increases in debt with original maturities of three months or less (299) 55 246 
Cash dividends on common stock (586) (573) (530)
Proceeds from stock issued under employee benefit plans 95 127 187 
Purchases of treasury stock — (32) (600)
Debt issuance costs — — (98)
Other financing activities, net (65) (61) (40)

Cash flows from financing activities (3,489) (1,438) 8,245 
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes on cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash 26 (76) (47)
Increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash 1,476 (1,234) (780)
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at beginning of year 1,722 2,956 3,736 
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at end of year $ 3,198 $ 1,722 $ 2,956 

The following table provides a reconciliation of cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash amounts as shown in the consolidated statement of
cash flows to the amount reported in the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021:
As of December 31 (in millions) 2023 2022 2021
Cash and cash equivalents $ 3,194 $ 1,718 $ 2,951 
Restricted cash included in prepaid expenses and other current assets 4 4 5 
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash $ 3,198 $ 1,722 $ 2,956 

(1)

(1)

(1) 



The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 1
SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Nature of Operations

Baxter International Inc., through our subsidiaries (collectively, Baxter, we, our or us), provides a broad portfolio of essential healthcare products,
including sterile intravenous (IV) solutions; infusion systems, administrative sets; parenteral nutrition therapies; surgical hemostat, sealant and
adhesion prevention products; connected care solutions and collaboration tools, including smart bed systems, patient monitoring systems and
diagnostic technologies; respiratory health devices; advanced equipment for the surgical space, including surgical video technologies, precision
positioning devices and other accessories; injectable pharmaceuticals; inhaled anesthesia; drug compounding; chronic and acute dialysis
therapies and services, including peritoneal dialysis (PD), hemodialysis (HD), continuous renal replacement therapies (CRRT) and other organ
support therapies. These products are used by hospitals, kidney dialysis centers, nursing homes, rehabilitation centers, ambulatory surgery
centers, doctors’ offices and patients at home under physician supervision. Our global footprint and the critical nature of our products and
services play a key role in expanding access to healthcare in emerging and developed countries. Our reportable segments were previously
comprised of the following geographic segments related to our legacy Baxter business: Americas (North and South), EMEA (Europe, Middle East
and Africa) and APAC (Asia Pacific), and a global segment for our Hillrom Business. In the third quarter of 2023, we completed the
implementation of a new operating model intended to simplify and streamline our operations and better align our manufacturing and supply chain
to our commercial activities. Under this new operating model, our business is comprised of four segments under this new operating model:
Medical Products and Therapies, Healthcare Systems and Technologies (formerly referred to as our Hillrom segment), Pharmaceuticals and
Kidney Care which are described in Note 18. Our segments were changed during the third quarter of 2023 to align with our new operating model
and prior period segment disclosures have been revised to reflect the new segment presentation.

In January 2023, we announced our intention to separate our Kidney Care business into a new, publicly traded company. While we continue to
evaluate all strategic options in the interest of maximizing stockholder value, we continue to progress towards our current target of July 2024 for
completion of the proposed spinoff of this business.

Risks and Uncertainties

Supply Constraints and Global Economic Conditions

We have experienced significant challenges to our global supply chain in recent periods, including production delays and interruptions, increased
costs and shortages of raw materials and component parts (including resins and electromechanical devices) and higher transportation costs,
resulting from the pandemic and other exogenous factors including significant weather events, elevated inflation levels, disruptions to certain
ports of call and access to shipping lanes around the world, the war in Ukraine, the conflict in the Middle East (including recent attacks on
merchant ships in the Red Sea), tensions between China and Taiwan and other geopolitical events. We expect to continue to experience some
of these and other challenges related to our supply chain in future periods. These challenges, including the unavailability of certain raw materials
and component parts, have also had a negative impact on our sales for certain product categories due to our inability to fully satisfy demand.
While we have seen improvements in the availability of certain component parts and improved pricing of certain raw materials, these challenges
have not completely subsided and may continue to have a negative impact on our sales in the future.

We expect that the challenges caused by global economic conditions, among other factors, may continue to have an adverse effect on our
business.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (U.S. GAAP) requires us to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts and related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements and accompanying
notes. Actual results could differ from those estimates.
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Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Baxter and our majority-owned subsidiaries that we control, after elimination of
intra-company balances and transactions.

Reclassifications

Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current year presentation.

Revenue Recognition

Revenue is measured as the amount of consideration we expect to receive in exchange for transferring goods or providing services. A
performance obligation is a promise in a contract to transfer a distinct good or service to the customer and is the unit of account in the contract. A
contract’s transaction price is allocated to each distinct performance obligation and recognized as revenue when, or as, the performance
obligation is satisfied. Some of our contracts have multiple performance obligations. For contracts with multiple performance obligations, we
allocate the contract’s transaction price to each performance obligation using our best estimate of the standalone selling price of each distinct
good or service in the contract. Our global payment terms are typically between 30-90 days.

Our primary customers are hospitals, healthcare distribution companies, dialysis providers and government agencies that purchase healthcare
products on behalf of providers. Most of our performance obligations are satisfied at a point in time. This includes sales of our broad portfolio of
essential healthcare products across our business segments. We earn revenues from acute and chronic dialysis therapies; sterile IV solutions;
infusion systems and devices; parenteral nutrition therapies; inhaled anesthetics; generic injectable pharmaceuticals; surgical hemostat and
sealant products, smart bed systems; patient monitoring and diagnostic technologies; respiratory health devices; and advanced equipment for
the surgical space. For most of those offerings, our performance obligation is satisfied upon delivery to the customer. Shipping and handling
activities are considered to be fulfillment activities and are not considered to be a separate performance obligation.

To a lesser extent, we enter into arrangements for which revenue may be recognized over time. For example, we lease medical equipment to
customers under operating lease arrangements and recognize the related revenues on a monthly basis over the lease term. Our Healthcare
Systems and Technologies segment includes connected care solutions and collaboration tools that are implemented over time. We recognize
revenue for these arrangements over time or at a point in time depending on our evaluation of when the customer obtains control of the
promised goods or services. We also earn revenue from contract manufacturing activities, which is recognized over time as the services are
performed. Revenue is recognized over time when we are creating or enhancing an asset that the customer controls as the asset is created or
enhanced or our performance does not create an asset with an alternative use and we have an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed.

As of December 31, 2023, we had $6.51 billion of transaction price allocated to remaining performance obligations related to executed contracts
with an original duration of more than one year, which are primarily included in the Medical Product and Therapies and Kidney Care segments.
Some contracts in the United States included in this amount contain index-dependent price increases, which are not known at this time. We
expect to recognize approximately 50% of this amount as revenue in 2024, 25% in 2025, 15% in 2026, 10% in 2027 and the remainder
thereafter.

Significant Judgments

Revenues from product sales are recorded at the net sales price, which includes estimates of variable consideration, primarily related to rebates
and distributor chargebacks. These reserves are based on estimates of the amounts earned or to be claimed on the related sales and are
included in accrued expenses and other current liabilities and as reductions of accounts receivable, net on the consolidated balance sheets.
Management's estimates take into consideration historical experience, current contractual and statutory requirements, specific known market
events and trends, industry data and forecasted customer buying and payment patterns. Overall, these reserves reflect our best estimates of the
amount of consideration to which we are entitled based on the terms of the contract using the expected value method. The amount of variable
consideration included in the net sales price is limited to the amount for which it is probable that a significant reversal in revenue will not occur
when the related uncertainty is resolved. Revenue recognized in the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021 related to performance
obligations satisfied in prior periods was not material. Additionally, our contracts with customers often include promises to transfer multiple
products and services to a customer. Determining whether products and services are considered distinct performance obligations that should be
accounted for separately and determining the allocation of the transaction price may require significant judgment.
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Practical Expedients

We apply a practical expedient to expense as incurred costs to obtain a contract with a customer when the amortization period would have been
one year or less. We do not disclose the value of the transaction price that is allocated to unsatisfied performance obligations for contracts with
an original expected length of less than one year. We have elected to use the practical expedient to not adjust the promised amount of
consideration for the effects of a significant financing component if it is expected, at contract inception, that the period between when we transfer
a promised good or service to a customer and when the customer pays for that good or service will be one year or less. Additionally, all taxes
assessed by a governmental authority that are both imposed on and concurrent with a specific revenue-producing transaction and collected from
a customer are excluded from revenue.

Accounts Receivable and Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

In the normal course of business, we provide credit to our customers, perform credit evaluations of these customers and maintain reserves for
potential credit losses. In determining the amount of the allowance for doubtful accounts, we consider, among other items, historical credit
losses, the past-due status of receivables, payment histories, other customer-specific information, current economic conditions and reasonable
and supportable future forecasts. Receivables are written off when we determine that they are uncollectible.

Shipping and Handling Costs

Shipping costs incurred to physically move product from our premises to the customer’s premises are classified as selling, general and
administrative (SG&A) expenses. Handling costs, which are costs incurred to store, move and prepare products for shipment, are classified as
cost of sales. Approximately $455 million in 2023, $493 million in 2022 and $380 million in 2021 of shipping costs were classified in SG&A
expenses.

Cash, Cash Equivalents and Restricted Cash

Cash and cash equivalents include cash, certificates of deposit and money market and other short-term funds with original maturities of three
months or less. Restricted cash represents cash balances restricted as to withdrawal or use and are included in prepaid expenses and other
current assets on the consolidated balance sheets.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or net realizable value determined by the first-in, first-out method. We review inventories on hand at
least quarterly and record provisions for estimated excess, slow-moving and obsolete inventory, as well as inventory with a carrying value in
excess of net realizable value.

Property, Plant and Equipment, Net

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost. Depreciation expense is calculated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful
lives of the related assets, which range from 20 to 50 years for buildings and improvements and from 3 to 15 years for machinery and
equipment. Leasehold improvements are amortized over the life of the related facility lease (including any renewal periods, if appropriate) or the
asset, whichever is shorter. We capitalize certain computer software and software development costs incurred in connection with developing or
obtaining software for internal use. Capitalized software costs are included within machinery and equipment and are amortized on a straight-line
basis over the estimated useful lives of the software, which generally range from three to five years.

Research and Development

Research and development (R&D) costs, including R&D acquired in transactions that are not business combinations, are expensed as incurred.
Pre-regulatory approval contingent milestone obligations to counterparties in collaborative arrangements, which include acquired R&D, are
expensed when the milestone is probable to be achieved. Contingent milestone payments made to such counterparties on or after regulatory
approval are capitalized and amortized over the remaining useful life of the related product. Amounts capitalized for such payments are included
in other intangible assets, net.
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Acquired in-process R&D (IPR&D) is the value assigned to technology or products under development acquired in a business combination which
have not received regulatory approval and have no alternative future use. Acquired IPR&D is capitalized as an indefinite-lived intangible asset.
Development costs incurred after the acquisition are expensed as incurred. Upon receipt of regulatory approval of the related technology or
product, the indefinite-lived intangible asset is accounted for as a finite-lived intangible asset and amortized on a straight-line basis over the
estimated economic life of the related technology or product, subject to annual impairment reviews as discussed below. If the R&D project is
abandoned, the indefinite-lived asset is charged to expense.

Collaborative Arrangements

We periodically enter into collaborative arrangements in the normal course of business. These collaborative arrangements take a number of
forms and structures and are designed to enhance and expedite long-term sales and profitability growth. These arrangements may provide for
us to obtain commercialization rights to a product under development, and require us to make upfront payments, contingent milestone payments,
profit-sharing, and/or royalty payments. We may be responsible for ongoing costs associated with the arrangements, including R&D cost
reimbursements to the counterparty. See the Research and Development section of this note regarding the accounting treatment of upfront and
contingent milestone payments. Any royalty and profit-sharing payments during the commercialization phase are expensed as cost of sales
when they become due and payable.

Restructuring Charges

We record liabilities for costs associated with exit or disposal activities in the period in which the liability is incurred. Employee termination costs
are primarily recorded when actions are probable and estimable. Costs for one-time termination benefits in which the employee is required to
render service until termination in order to receive the benefits are recognized ratably over the future service period. Refer to the discussion
below regarding the accounting for asset impairment charges.

Goodwill, Intangible Assets and Other Long-Lived Assets

Goodwill is initially measured as the excess of the purchase price over the fair value (or other measurement attribute required by U.S. GAAP) of
acquired assets and liabilities in a business combination. Goodwill is not amortized but is subject to an impairment review annually and
whenever indicators of impairment exist. We have the option to assess goodwill for impairment by initially performing a qualitative assessment to
determine whether it is more-likely-than-not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount. If we determine that it is not
more-likely-than-not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount, then the quantitative goodwill impairment test is not
required to be performed. If we determine that it is more-likely-than-not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount, or if
we do not elect the option to perform an initial qualitative assessment, we perform a quantitative goodwill impairment test.  In the quantitative
impairment test, we calculate the estimated fair value of the reporting unit. If the carrying amount of the reporting unit exceeds the estimated fair
value, an impairment charge is recorded for the amount that its carrying amount, including goodwill, exceeds its fair value, limited to the total
amount of goodwill allocated to that reporting unit. In a quantitative goodwill impairment test, the fair values of our reporting units are generally
determined based on a discounted cash flow model (an income approach) and earnings multiples (a market approach). Significant assumptions
in reporting unit fair value measurements generally include forecasted cash flows, discount rates, terminal growth rates and earnings multiples.
Each of those assumptions can significantly affect the fair values of our reporting units.

Indefinite-lived intangible assets, such as IPR&D acquired in business combinations and certain trade names with indefinite lives, are subject to
an impairment review annually and whenever indicators of impairment exist. We have the option to assess indefinite-lived intangible assets for
impairment by first performing qualitative assessments to determine whether it is more-likely-than-not that the fair values of the indefinite-lived
intangible assets are less than the carrying amounts. If we determine that it is more-likely-than-not that an indefinite-lived intangible asset is
impaired, or if we elect not to perform an initial qualitative assessment, we then perform the quantitative impairment test by comparing the fair
value of the indefinite-lived intangible asset with its carrying amount. If the carrying amount exceeds the fair value of the indefinite-lived
intangible asset, we write the carrying amount down to the fair value.

We review the carrying amounts of long-lived assets used in operations, other than goodwill and intangible assets not subject to amortization, for
potential impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. In
evaluating recoverability, we group assets and liabilities at the lowest level such that the identifiable cash flows relating to the group are largely
independent of the cash flows
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of other assets and liabilities. We then compare the carrying amounts of the assets or asset groups with the related estimated undiscounted
future cash flows. In the event an asset (or asset group) is not recoverable, an impairment charge is recorded as the amount by which the
carrying amount of the asset (or asset group) exceeds its fair value.

Long-lived assets are classified as held for sale when certain criteria are met, including when management has committed to sell the asset, the
asset is available for sale in its present condition and the sale is probable of being completed within one year of the balance sheet date. Assets
held for sale are no longer depreciated or amortized and they are reported at the lower of their carrying amount or fair value less cost to sell.

See Notes 4 and 5 for further information about impairments of goodwill and other long-lived assets recognized in the accompanying
consolidated financial statements.

Investments in Debt and Equity Securities

Investments in debt securities classified as available-for-sale are measured at fair value with changes in fair value reported in other
comprehensive (loss) income (OCI). Investments in marketable equity securities are classified as other non-current assets and are measured at
fair value with gains and losses recognized in other (income) expense, net. We have elected to apply the measurement alternative to equity
securities without readily determinable fair values. As such, our non-marketable equity securities are measured at cost, less any impairment, and
are adjusted for changes in fair value resulting from observable transactions for identical or similar investments of the same issuer. Gains and
losses on non-marketable equity securities are also recognized in other (income) expense, net. Noncontrolling investments in common stock or
in-substance common stock are accounted for under the equity method if we have the ability to exercise significant influence over the operating
and financial policies of the investee. We review our investments in debt and equity securities for impairment and adjust impaired investments to
fair value through earnings, as required.

Income Taxes

Deferred taxes are recognized for the future tax effects of temporary differences between financial and income tax reporting based on enacted
tax laws and rates. We maintain valuation allowances unless it is more-likely-than-not that the deferred tax asset will be realized. With respect to
uncertain tax positions, we determine whether the position is more-likely-than-not to be sustained upon examination based on the technical
merits of the position. Any tax position that meets the more-likely-than-not recognition threshold is measured and recognized in the consolidated
financial statements at the largest amount of benefit that is greater than 50% likely of being realized upon ultimate settlement. The liability
relating to uncertain tax positions is classified as current in the consolidated balance sheets to the extent that we anticipate making a payment
within one year. Interest and penalties associated with income taxes are classified in the income tax expense (benefit) line in the consolidated
statements of income (loss).

Foreign Currency Translation

Cumulative translation adjustments (CTA) related to foreign operations are included in OCI. For foreign operations in highly inflationary
economies, translation gains and losses are included in other (income) expense, net, and were not material in 2023, 2022 and 2021.

Derivatives and Hedging Activities

Derivative instruments are recognized as either assets or liabilities at fair value in the consolidated balance sheets and are classified as short-
term or long-term based on the scheduled maturity of the instrument. We designate certain of our derivatives and foreign-currency denominated
debt as hedging instruments in cash flow, fair value or net investment hedges.

For each derivative instrument that is designated and effective as a cash flow hedge, the gain or loss on the derivative is recorded in OCI and
then recognized in earnings consistent with the underlying hedged item. Option premiums or net premiums paid are initially recorded as assets
and reclassified to OCI over the life of the option, and then recognized in earnings consistent with the underlying hedged item. Cash flow hedges
are classified in cost of sales and interest expense, net, and are primarily related to forecasted intra-company sales denominated in foreign
currencies and forecasted interest payments on anticipated issuances of debt, respectively.
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For each derivative instrument that is designated and effective as a fair value hedge, the gain or loss on the derivative is recognized immediately
to earnings, and offsets changes in fair value attributable to a particular risk, such as changes in interest rates, of the hedged item, which are
also recognized in earnings.

We have designated certain of our Euro-denominated senior notes as hedges of our net investment in our European operations and, as a result,
mark to spot rate adjustments on the outstanding debt balances are recorded as a component of AOCI.

For derivative instruments that are not designated as hedges, the change in fair value is recorded directly to other (income) expense, net.

If it is determined that a derivative or nonderivative hedging instrument is no longer highly effective as a hedge, we discontinue hedge
accounting prospectively. Gains or losses relating to terminations of effective cash flow hedges generally continue to be deferred and are
recognized consistent with the loss or income recognition of the underlying hedged items. However, if it is probable that the hedged forecasted
transactions will not occur, any gains or losses would be immediately reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) (AOCI)
to earnings. If we terminate a fair value hedge, an amount equal to the cumulative fair value adjustment to the hedged item at the date of
termination is amortized to earnings over the remaining term of the hedged item. If we remove a net investment hedge designation, any gains or
losses recognized in AOCI are not reclassified to earnings until we sell, liquidate, or deconsolidate the foreign investments that were being
hedged.

Cash flows related to the settlement of derivative instruments designated as net investment hedges of foreign operations are classified in the
consolidated statements of cash flows within investing activities. Cash flows for all other derivatives, including those that are not designated as a
hedge, are classified in the same line item as the cash flows of the related hedged item, which is generally within operating activities.

New Accounting Standards

Recently issued accounting standards not yet adopted

In November 2023, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued Accounting Standards Update (ASU) 2023-07, Segment Reporting
(Topic 280): Improvements to Reportable Segment Disclosures, which requires enhanced disclosures about segment expenses on an annual
and interim basis. This standard is effective for our annual consolidated financial statements for the year ending December 31, 2024 and for
interim periods beginning in 2025. We are currently evaluating the impact of this standard on our consolidated financial statements.

In December 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-09, Income Taxes (Topic 740): Improvement to Income Tax Disclosures, which requires (1)
disclosure of specific categories in the rate reconciliation and (2) additional information for reconciling items that meet a quantitative threshold.
Additionally, the amendment requires disclosure of certain disaggregated information about income taxes paid, income from continuing
operations before income tax expense (benefit) and income tax expense (benefit). The standard is effective for our annual consolidated financial
statements for the year ending December 31, 2025. We are currently evaluating the impact of this standard on our consolidated financial
statements.

In June 2022, the FASB issued ASU 2022-03, Fair Value Measurement (Topic 820): Fair Value Measurement of Equity Securities Subject to
Contractual Sales Restrictions, which (1) clarifies the guidance in Topic 820 on the fair value measurement of an equity security that is subject to
contractual restrictions that prohibit the sale of an equity security and (2) requires specific disclosures related to such an equity security. The
standard is effective for our annual consolidated financial statements for the year ending December 31, 2024 and for interim periods beginning in
2025. The impact of the adoption of this ASU is not expected to have a material effect on our consolidated financial statements.

Recently adopted accounting pronouncements 

As of January 1, 2022, we adopted ASU 2021-05, Leases (Topic 842), which requires a lessor to classify a lease with variable lease payments
(that do not depend on an index or rate) as an operating lease if (1) the lease would have been classified as a sales-type or direct financing
lease, and (2) the lessor would have recognized a selling loss at lease commencement. These changes are intended to avoid recognizing a day-
one loss for a lease with
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variable payments even though the lessor expects the arrangement will be profitable overall. The adoption of this ASU did not have a material
impact on our consolidated financial statements.

In the fourth quarter of 2021, we adopted ASU 2021-08, Business Combinations - Accounting for Contract Assets and Contract Liabilities from
Contracts with Customers. This ASU requires an entity to recognize and measure contract assets and contract liabilities acquired in a business
combination in accordance with Topic 606 (Revenue from Contracts with Customers). This ASU is expected to reduce diversity in practice and
increase comparability for both the recognition and measurement of acquired revenue contracts with customers at the date of and after a
business combination. In accordance with this ASU we recognized contract liabilities of $142 million as part of the Hillrom acquisition in
December 2021. We did not acquire contract assets or liabilities in connection with other acquisitions completed since the adoption of this ASU.

NOTE 2
DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

On September 29, 2023, we sold our BPS business to Advent International and Warburg Pincus (collectively, the buyers). Under the terms of the
related Equity Purchase agreement entered into with the buyers in May 2023, we were entitled to aggregate consideration of $4.25 billion,
subject to adjustment for specified items. After giving effect to those adjustments, we received cash proceeds of $3.96 billion. We recognized a
pre-tax gain on the sale of $2.88 billion ($2.59 billion net of tax), which represents the excess of (a) the $3.91 billion in net consideration
received, consisting of (i) $3.96 billion in cash proceeds from the buyers, less (ii) $47 million in transaction costs, over (b) the sum of (i) the
$840 million net book value of the BPS business upon the closing of the transaction and (ii) BPS's $181 million other comprehensive loss, which
was reclassified to earnings.

The BPS business, which was historically reported within our former Americas segment, provided contract manufacturing and development
services, which include sterile fill-finish manufacturing and support services across clinical and commercial applications, primarily serving
customers in the pharmaceutical industry. BPS was historically operated through our former, wholly-owned subsidiaries Baxter Pharmaceutical
Solutions LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, and Baxter Oncology GmbH, a German limited liability company (collectively, the divested
entities).

We concluded that our BPS business met the criteria to be classified as held-for-sale in May 2023. A component of an entity is reported in
discontinued operations after meeting the criteria for held-for-sale classification if the disposition represents a strategic shift that has (or will
have) a major effect on the entity's operations and financial results. We analyzed the quantitative and qualitative factors relevant to the
divestiture of our BPS business, including its significance to our overall net income (loss) and earnings (loss) per share, and determined that
those conditions for discontinued operations presentation had been met. As such, the financial position, results of operations and cash flows of
that business, including our gain from the sale of that business and the related cash proceeds received, are reported as discontinued operations
in the accompanying consolidated financial statements. Prior period amounts have been adjusted to reflect discontinued operations
presentation.

At closing of the transaction, Baxter Pharmaceutical Solutions LLC included a BPS manufacturing facility in Bloomington Indiana and Baxter
Oncology GmbH included a manufacturing facility in Halle Germany. Previously, Baxter Oncology GmbH included an additional manufacturing
site in Bielefeld Germany that was not part of the BPS business and was transferred to another Baxter entity prior to closing of the divestiture.
Accordingly, amounts related to the Bielefeld site continue to be presented as continuing operations in the accompanying consolidated financial
statements.

At closing of the transaction, Baxter entered into a Transition Services Agreement (TSA) and a Master Commercial Manufacturing and Supply
Agreement (MSA) with the divested entities. Pursuant to the TSA, Baxter and the divested entities will provide to each other, on an interim basis,
specific transition services for up to 24 months post-closing to help ensure business continuity and minimize disruptions. Services to be provided
under the TSA include finance, information technology, human resources, integrated supply chain and certain other administrative services.
Pursuant to the MSA, the divested entities will provide development, manufacturing, regulatory and other related services for certain Baxter
pharmaceutical products for up to 5 years post-closing (with certain extension rights as provided therein).
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Results of Discontinued Operations and Assets and Liabilities of Discontinued Operations

The following table summarizes the major classes of line items included in income from discontinued operations, net of tax, for the years ended
December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021:

(in millions) 2023 2022 2021
Net sales $ 469 $ 607 $ 638 
Cost of sales 216 276 253 
Gross margin 253 331 385 
Selling, general and administrative expenses 45 28 22 
Research and development expenses 1 3 3 
Interest expense, net (1) — (1)
Other (income) expense, net 1 3 — 
Income from discontinued operations before gain on disposition and income taxes 207 297 361 
Gain on disposition 2,882 — — 
Income tax expense 357 64 99 
Income from discontinued operations, net of tax $ 2,732 $ 233 $ 262 

For the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, SG&A expenses include $17 million and $5 million, respectively, of separation-related costs
incurred in connection with the sale of BPS.

The following table summarizes the carrying amounts of the major classes of assets and liabilities classified as discontinued operations in the
consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2022:

as of December 31 (in millions) 2022
Accounts receivable, net of allowances $ 88 
Inventories 39 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 59 
Property, plant and equipment, net 284 
Goodwill 391 
Operating lease right-of-use assets 9 
Other non-current assets 2 
Assets of discontinued operations $ 872 
Accounts payable $ 29 
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities 32 
Operating lease liabilities 9 
Other non-current liabilities 111 
Liabilities of discontinued operations $ 181 

NOTE 3
ACQUISITIONS AND OTHER ARRANGEMENTS

Results of operations of acquired businesses are included in our results of operations beginning as of the respective acquisition dates. The
purchase price of each acquisition is allocated to the net assets acquired based on estimates of their fair values (or other measurement attribute
required under U.S. GAAP) at the date of the acquisition. Any purchase price in excess of these net assets is recorded as goodwill.

Contingent consideration related to business combinations is recognized at its estimated fair value on the acquisition date. Subsequent changes
to the fair value of those contingent consideration arrangements are
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recognized in earnings. Contingent consideration related to business acquisitions may consist of development, regulatory and commercial
milestone payments, and sales or earnings-based payments, and are valued using discounted cash flow techniques. The fair value of
development, regulatory and commercial milestone payments reflects management’s expectations of the probability of payment, and increases
or decreases as the probability of payment or expectation of timing or amount of payments changes. The fair value of sales-based payments is
based upon probability-weighted future revenue estimates and increases or decreases as revenue estimates or expectation of timing or amount
of payments changes.

Hillrom

On December 13, 2021, we completed our acquisition of all outstanding equity interests of Hillrom for a purchase price of $10.48 billion.
Including the assumption of Hillrom's outstanding debt obligations, the enterprise value of the transaction was approximately $12.84 billion.
Under the terms of the transaction agreement, Hillrom shareholders received $156.00 in cash per each outstanding Hillrom common share.

Hillrom was a global medical technology leader whose products and services help enable earlier diagnosis and treatment, optimize surgical
efficiency, and accelerate patient recovery while simplifying clinical communication and shifting care closer to home. Hillrom made those
outcomes possible through digital and connected care solutions and collaboration tools, including smart bed systems, patient monitoring and
diagnostic technologies, respiratory health devices, advanced equipment for the surgical space and more, delivering actionable, real-time
insights at the point of care.

The following table summarizes the fair value of the total consideration paid:
(in millions)
Cash consideration paid to Hillrom shareholders $ 10,474 
Fair value of equity awards issued to Hillrom equity award holders 2 
Total Consideration $ 10,476 

Represents cash consideration transferred of $156.00 per outstanding Hillrom common share to existing shareholders and holders of equity
awards that vested at closing pursuant to their original terms.

 Represents the pre-acquisition service portion of the fair value of 668 thousand replacement restricted stock units issued to Hillrom equity
award holders at closing.

(a)

(b)

(a) 

(b)
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The valuation of assets acquired and liabilities assumed was finalized during the fourth quarter of 2022. The following table summarizes the fair
values of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed as of the acquisition date:

(in millions)
Assets acquired and liabilities assumed
Cash and cash equivalents $ 399 
Accounts receivable 561 
Inventories 559 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 49 
Property, plant and equipment 506 
Goodwill 6,834 
Other intangible assets 6,029 
Operating lease right-of-use assets 74 
Other non-current assets 133 
Short-term debt (250)
Accounts payable (140)
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities (578)
Long-term debt and finance lease obligations (2,118)
Operating lease liabilities (57)
Other non-current liabilities (1,525)
Total assets acquired and liabilities assumed $ 10,476 

In the fourth quarter of 2022, we finalized our valuation of the acquisition date assets acquired and liabilities assumed. The measurement period
adjustments recorded in 2022 primarily impacted accounts receivable, property plant and equipment, other intangible assets, accrued expenses
and other current liabilities and deferred income tax liabilities. Individually, the measurement period adjustments were not material and in total
increased goodwill by $49 million. The measurement period adjustments did not have a significant impact on our results of operations. We
allocated $804 million of the total consideration to developed technology with a weighted-average useful life of 5 years, $1.91 billion to trade
names with an indefinite useful life, $62 million to trade names with a weighted-average useful life of 7 years, $3.19 billion to customer
relationships with a weighted-average useful life of 15 years and $30 million to IPR&D that is considered an indefinite lived intangible asset. The
fair values of the intangible assets were determined using the income approach. We used a discount rate of 8.5% to value the developed
technology, trade names and customer relationships and 9.0% to value the IPR&D. We consider the fair value of the intangible assets to be
Level 3 measurements due to the significant estimates and assumptions used by management in establishing the estimated fair value. We also
recognized $1.33 billion of deferred income tax liabilities in connection with the acquisition.

The goodwill, which is not deductible for tax purposes, includes the value of an assembled workforce as well as the overall strategic benefits
provided to our product portfolio and is included in the Healthcare Systems and Technologies segment.

See Note 5 for additional information about the impairments recognized in the second half of 2022 related to goodwill and certain intangible
assets acquired in the Hillrom acquisition.

The results of operations of the acquired business have been included in our consolidated statement of income (loss) since the date the
business was acquired. The Hillrom acquisition contributed $212 million of net sales and a $96 million of pretax loss for the year ended
December 31, 2021. Significant drivers of the acquired business's pretax loss for 2021, which reflects the period from the December 13, 2021
acquisition date through year-end, included intangible asset amortization expense, incremental cost of sales from fair value step-ups on acquired
inventory, acquisition-related expenses and interest expense on the borrowings used to finance the acquisition.

For the year ended December 31, 2023, we incurred $19 million of integration-related costs related to the Hillrom acquisition. For the year ended
December 31, 2022, we incurred $93 million of integration-related costs and $159 million of incremental cost of sales from the fair value step-ups
on acquired Hillrom inventory that was sold in 2022.
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We also incurred $85 million of restructuring charges in 2022 related to our integration of Hillrom. See Note 12 for additional information about
our restructuring activities. For the year ended December 31, 2021, we incurred $139 million of acquisition and integration-related costs,
$48 million of bridge facility fees and other pre-acquisition financing costs and $42 million of incremental cost of sales from the fair value step-
ups on acquired Hillrom inventory that was sold in 2021. See Note 6 for additional information about financing arrangements related to the
Hillrom acquisition.

The following table presents the unaudited pro forma combined results of Baxter and Hillrom for the year ended December 31, 2021 as if the
acquisition of Hillrom had occurred on January 1, 2020:

year ended December 31 (in millions) 2021
Net sales $ 15,574 
Net income attributable to Baxter stockholders 962 

The acquisition has been accounted for in the unaudited pro forma combined financial information using the acquisition method of accounting
with Baxter as the acquirer. In order to reflect the occurrence of the acquisition as if it occurred on January 1, 2020 as required, the unaudited
pro forma combined financial information includes adjustments to reflect incremental depreciation and amortization expense based on the
current preliminary fair values of the identifiable tangible and intangible assets acquired, additional interest expense associated with the issuance
of debt to finance the acquisition, nonrecurring costs directly attributable to the acquisition and the income tax effects of the pro forma
adjustments. The unaudited pro forma combined financial information is not necessarily indicative of what the consolidated results of operations
would have been had the acquisition been completed on January 1, 2020. In addition, the unaudited pro forma combined financial information is
not a projection of future results of operations of the combined company nor does it reflect the expected realization of any potential synergies or
cost savings associated with the acquisition.

PerClot

On July 29, 2021, we acquired certain assets related to PerClot Polysaccharide Hemostatic System (PerClot), including distribution rights for the
U.S. and specified territories outside of the U.S., from CryoLife, Inc. for an upfront purchase price of $25 million and the potential for additional
cash consideration of up to $36 million, which had an acquisition-date fair value of $28 million, based upon regulatory and commercial
milestones. PerClot is an absorbable powder hemostat indicated for use in surgical procedures, including cardiac, vascular, orthopedic, spinal,
neurological, gynecological, ENT and trauma surgery as an adjunct hemostat when control of bleeding from capillary, venous, or arteriolar
vessels by pressure, ligature, and other conventional means is either ineffective or impractical. PerClot is approved for distribution in the
European Union and other markets and was submitted for Pre-Market Approval for distribution in the U.S. in the fourth quarter of 2021, for which
approval was subsequently received in May 2023. We concluded that the acquired assets met the definition of a business and accounted for the
transaction as a business combination using the acquisition method of accounting. The fair values of the potential contingent consideration
payments were estimated by applying probability-weighted expected payment models and are Level 3 fair value measurements due to the
significant estimates and assumptions used by management in establishing the estimated fair values.

The following table summarizes the fair value of the consideration transferred:
(in millions)
Cash $ 25 
Contingent Consideration 28 
Total Consideration $ 53 
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The following table summarizes the fair value of the assets acquired as of the acquisition date:
(in millions)
Assets acquired
Goodwill $ 4 
Other intangible assets 49 
Total assets acquired $ 53 

The results of operations of the acquired business have been included in our consolidated statement of income (loss) since the date the
business was acquired and were not material for the year ended December 31, 2021.

We allocated $39 million of the total consideration to an IPR&D asset with an indefinite useful life, $9 million to the approved PerClot developed
product rights with an estimated useful life of 10 years and $1 million to customer relationships with an estimated useful life of 10 years. The fair
values of the intangible assets were determined using the income approach. The discount rates used to measure the intangible assets were
18.7% for IPR&D, 16.0% for developed product rights and 15.0% for customer relationships. We consider the fair values of the intangible assets
to be Level 3 measurements due to the significant estimates and assumptions used by management in establishing the estimated fair values.

The goodwill, which is deductible for tax purposes, includes the value of overall strategic benefits provided to our surgical portfolio of hemostats
and sealants and is included in the Medical Products and Therapies segment.

Transderm Scop

On March 31, 2021, we acquired the rights to Transderm Scop (TDS) for the U.S. and specified territories outside of the U.S. from subsidiaries of
GlaxoSmithKline for an upfront purchase price of $60 million including the cost of acquired inventory and the potential for additional cash
consideration of $30 million, which had an acquisition-date fair value of $24 million, based upon regulatory approval of a new contract
manufacturer by a specified date. We previously sold this product under a distribution license to the U.S. institutional market. TDS is indicated for
post-operative nausea and vomiting in the U.S. and motion sickness in European markets. We concluded that the acquired assets met the
definition of a business and accounted for the transaction as a business combination using the acquisition method of accounting. The fair value
of the potential contingent consideration payment was estimated by applying a probability-weighted expected payment model and is a Level 3
fair value measurement due to the significant estimates and assumptions used by management in establishing the estimated fair value.

The following table summarizes the fair value of the consideration transferred:
(in millions)
Cash $ 60 
Contingent Consideration 24 
Total Consideration $ 84 

The following table summarizes the fair value of the assets acquired as of the acquisition date:
(in millions)
Assets acquired
Inventory $ 16 
Goodwill 1 
Other intangible assets 67 
Total assets acquired $ 84 

The results of operations of the acquired business have been included in our consolidated statement of income (loss) since the date the
business was acquired and were not material for the year ended December 31, 2021.

We allocated $64 million of the total consideration to the TDS developed product rights with an estimated useful life of 9 years and $3 million to
customer relationships with an estimated useful life of 7 years. The fair values of the intangible assets were determined using the income
approach. The discount rates used to measure the intangible assets were 22.5% for developed product rights and 15.5% for customer
relationships. We consider the fair values
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of the intangible assets to be Level 3 measurements due to the significant estimates and assumptions used by management in establishing the
estimated fair values.

Other

Total consideration transferred for other acquisitions totaled $32 million and $21 million in 2022 and 2021, respectively, and primarily resulted in
the recognition of goodwill and other intangible assets. These acquisitions did not materially affect our results of operations.

Except for Hillrom, we have not presented pro forma financial information for any of the 2023, 2022 or 2021 acquisitions because their results
are not material to our consolidated financial statements.

Other Business Development Activities

Zosyn

In March 2022, we entered into an agreement with a subsidiary of Pfizer Inc. to acquire the rights to Zosyn, a premixed frozen piperacillin-
tazobactam product, in the U.S. and Canada. Zosyn is used for the treatment of intra-abdominal infections, nosocomial pneumonia, skin and
skin structure infections, female pelvic infections and community-acquired pneumonia. Under the terms of the acquisition, we paid the acquisition
price of $122 million and received specified intellectual property, including patent rights, in the first quarter of 2022 and received additional
intellectual property, including the product rights to Zosyn, in the first quarter of 2023. Under the arrangement, we received profit sharing
payments from sales of Zosyn until the product rights transferred to us in April 2023. The related profit sharing payments that were earned during
2023 and 2022 were not material.

The transaction has been accounted for as an asset acquisition, as substantially all of the fair value of the assets acquired under the
arrangement was concentrated in the product rights that we received, which we classify as a developed technology intangible asset. Accordingly,
the $122 million purchase price was primarily allocated to the developed technology intangible asset class and is being amortized over an
estimated useful life of 9 years.

Celerity Pharmaceuticals, LLC

In September 2013, we entered into an agreement with Celerity Pharmaceuticals, LLC (Celerity) to develop certain acute care generic injectable
premix and oncolytic products through regulatory approval. We transferred our rights in these products to Celerity and Celerity assumed
ownership and responsibility for development of the products. We were obligated to purchase the individual product rights from Celerity if the
products obtained regulatory approval. In December 2020, we entered into an agreement with a third party to divest our rights to one of the
products that was being developed by Celerity, a generic version of liposomal doxorubicin, for less than $1 million if that product were to receive
regulatory approval in the U.S. and European Union in 2022. Liposomal doxorubicin is a chemotherapy medicine used to treat various types of
cancer and we entered into this transaction to divest our rights to this generic version of that product after we had separately entered into a
transaction to acquire the branded version.

The related regulatory approvals were subsequently obtained for the generic version of liposomal doxorubicin and we recognized a loss of
approximately $54 million in the third quarter of 2022, representing the difference between the amount we owed Celerity following those
regulatory approvals and the proceeds that we were entitled to receive from our divestiture of those product rights. That loss is reported within
other operating expense (income), net in our consolidated statements of operations for the year ended December 31, 2022.

Caelyx and Doxil

On February 17, 2021, we acquired the rights to Caelyx and Doxil, the branded versions of liposomal doxorubicin, from a subsidiary of Johnson
& Johnson for specified territories outside of the U.S. We previously acquired the U.S. rights to this product in 2019. Liposomal doxorubicin is a
chemotherapy medicine used to treat various types of cancer. The transaction was accounted for as an asset acquisition, as substantially all of
the fair value of the gross assets acquired was concentrated in the developed technology intangible asset. The purchase price of $325 million
was allocated to the assets acquired, which included a $314 million developed-technology intangible asset with an estimated useful life of 9
years and an $11 million customer relationship intangible asset with an estimated useful life of 8 years. Net sales related to this acquisition were
$108 million for the year ended December 31, 2021.
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Other Asset Acquisitions

During 2021, we also entered into distribution license arrangements for multiple products that have not yet obtained regulatory approval for
upfront cash payments of $3 million. The cash paid was treated as R&D expenses on our consolidated statements of income (loss). We could
make additional payments of up to $32 million upon the achievement of certain development, regulatory or commercial milestones.

Other

In addition to the arrangements described above, we have entered into several other collaborative arrangements. We could make additional
payments of up to $19 million upon the achievement of certain development and regulatory milestones, in addition to future payments related to
contingent commercialization milestones, profit-sharing and royalties.

NOTE 4
SUPPLEMENTAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

The following table is a summary of changes in our allowance for doubtful accounts for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022.

years ended December 31
(in millions) 2023 2022 2021
Balance at beginning of period $ 114 $ 122 $ 125 
Acquisition — — 13 
Charged to costs and expenses 16 7 (2)
Write-offs (9) (7) (5)
Currency translation adjustments 8 (8) (9)
Balance at end of period $ 129 $ 114 $ 122 

Inventories
as of December 31 (in millions) 2023 2022
Raw materials $ 731 $ 698 
Work in process 285 294 
Finished goods 1,808 1,687 
Inventories $ 2,824 $ 2,679 

Prepaid Expenses and Other Current Assets
as of December 31 (in millions) 2023 2022
Prepaid value added taxes $ 190 $ 188 
Prepaid income taxes 211 185 
Contract assets 53 52 
Assets held for sale — 50 
Derivative assets 51 14 
Other 387 368 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets $ 892 $ 857 

In September 2022, we entered into a purchase agreement with a buyer to sell our corporate headquarters in Deerfield, Illinois for $52 million,
which approximated its net book value. The related assets were classified as held for sale at that time and were presented within prepaid
expenses and other current assets in the accompanying
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consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2022. During 2023, the purchase agreement was terminated and the property was taken off the
market. We currently intend to continue using the property as our corporate headquarters for the foreseeable future and the related assets,
which became classified as assets held for use upon termination of the purchase agreement, are presented within property, plant and
equipment, net in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2023.

Property, Plant and Equipment, Net
as of December 31 (in millions) 2023 2022
Land and land improvements $ 149 $ 137 
Buildings and leasehold improvements 1,791 1,757 
Machinery and equipment 6,693 6,364 
Equipment on lease with customers 1,640 1,613 
Construction in progress 950 909 
Total property, plant and equipment, at cost 11,223 10,780 
Accumulated depreciation (6,790) (6,085)
Property, plant and equipment, net $ 4,433 $ 4,695 

Depreciation expense was $611 million in 2023, $627 million in 2022 and $592 million in 2021.

Impairments of Property, Plant and Equipment and Certain Other Long-Lived Assets

We review the carrying amounts of long-lived assets used in operations for potential impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. In evaluating recoverability of long-lived assets other than goodwill and
intangible assets not subject to amortization, we group assets and liabilities at the lowest level such that the identified cash flows relating to the
group are largely independent of the cash flows of other assets and liabilities. If the carrying amount of an asset group is greater than the related
estimated undiscounted future cash flows, the carrying value is not considered recoverable. In that case, an impairment charge is recorded if,
and to the extent that, the amount by which the asset group's carrying amount exceeds its fair value. However, the portion of an impairment loss
allocated to an individual long-lived asset within an asset group cannot reduce the carrying amount of that asset below its fair value if its fair
value is determinable without undue cost and effort.

Impairment of Opelika, Alabama Manufacturing Facility

Our manufacturing facility in Opelika, Alabama was one of three Baxter manufacturing facilities that produced dialyzers used in hemodialysis
(HD) treatments. The competitive environment has increased the global supply of those products and, in connection with our initiatives to
streamline our manufacturing footprint and improve our profitability, we made the decision in the second quarter of 2023 to cease production of
dialyzers at the Opelika facility near the end of 2023.

As a result of our decision to cease dialyzer production at this manufacturing facility, we performed a trigger-based recoverability assessment of
its long-lived assets, which consist of a building and manufacturing equipment, including specialized equipment used in the production of
dialyzers. The carrying amount of that asset group exceeded the estimated undiscounted cash flows expected to be generated, and we
recognized an impairment charge of $243 million, classified within cost of sales in the accompanying consolidated statements of income (loss),
during the second quarter of 2023 to reduce the carrying amounts to their estimated fair values.

The fair values of the building and manufacturing equipment tested for impairment during the second quarter of 2023 were determined based on
transaction prices of comparable assets. Significant assumptions used in the determination of the fair values included the identification of
representative comparable assets. Our long-lived asset fair value measurements are classified as Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy because
they involve significant unobservable inputs.
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Other Impairments of Long-Lived Assets Related to HD Business

In the third quarter of 2023, we completed the implementation of a new operating model intended to simplify and streamline our operations and
better align our manufacturing and supply chain to our commercial activities. Our segments were changed during the third quarter of 2023 to
align with our new operating model. See further discussion in Note 18, Segment Information. In connection with that segment change, we
identified new reporting units for impairment testing purposes and performed fair value measurements of our reporting units to reallocate
goodwill to the new reporting units based on their relative fair values and to assess those reporting units for impairment. We identified our HD
business within our Kidney Care segment as one of the new reporting units at that time. Based on the estimated fair value of our HD business,
we allocated no goodwill to it, and we determined that a triggering event was present to review the carrying amounts of long-lived assets within
the HD business, which include four manufacturing facilities that primarily manufacture HD products, HD equipment leased to customers under
operating leases and developed technology intangible assets, for potential impairment. In connection with that evaluation, we determined that
the carrying amount of the asset group represented by our HD business, which is the lowest level for which identifiable cash flows are largely
independent of other assets and liabilities, exceeded its forecasted undiscounted cash flows. We then measured the excess of the carrying
amount of that asset group over its fair value and allocated the resulting impairment to its long-lived assets, limiting the impairments of individual
assets within the group to amounts that would not result in their carrying amounts being written down below their fair values. As a result, we
recognized $267 million of long-lived asset impairment charges, comprised of (i) a $190 million impairment charge related to certain
manufacturing equipment, operating lease right-of-use assets and HD equipment leased to customers and (ii) a $77 million impairment charge
related to developed technology intangible assets. The impairments are classified within cost of sales in the accompanying consolidated
statement of income (loss) for the year ended December 31, 2023.

The fair value of the HD asset group was based on a discounted cash flow model (an income approach). Significant assumptions used in the
determination of its fair value include forecasted cash flows, discount rates and terminal growth rates. The discounted cash flow model used to
determine the fair value of the HD asset group during the third quarter 2023 reflected our most recent cash flow projections, a discount rate of
8% and a terminal growth rate of 1.5%. We also measured the fair values of individual assets within that asset group to ensure that the allocation
of the asset group’s impairment to the long-lived assets within that group would not reduce the carrying amount of any individual asset below its
fair value. The fair values of the buildings within that asset group were determined based on a cost approach. Significant assumptions used in
the determination of those fair values included replacement costs of assets with a similar age and condition. The fair values of manufacturing
equipment and HD equipment leased to customers within that group were determined based on transaction prices of comparable assets.
Significant assumptions used in the determination of those fair values included the identification of representative comparable assets. The fair
value of the right-of-use asset within that group was determined based on market rents and discount rates. Our long-lived asset fair value
measurements are classified as Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy because they involve significant unobservable inputs.

Other Non-Current Assets
as of December 31 (in millions) 2023 2022
Deferred tax assets $ 384 $ 280 
Non-current receivables, net 67 89 
Contract assets 113 122 
Capitalized implementation costs in hosting arrangements 121 119 
Pension and other postretirement benefits 129 123 
Investments 194 247 
Other 118 129 
Other non-current assets $ 1,126 $ 1,109 
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Accrued Expenses and Other Current Liabilities
as of December 31 (in millions) 2023 2022
Common stock dividends payable $ 147 $ 146 
Employee compensation and withholdings 636 409 
Property, payroll and certain other taxes 147 161 
Contract liabilities 148 154 
Restructuring liabilities 110 100 
Accrued rebates 263 257 
Operating lease liabilities 128 120 
Income taxes payable 268 91 
Pension and other postretirement benefits 49 48 
Contingent payments related to acquisitions 3 34 
Other 695 650 
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities $ 2,594 $ 2,170 

Other Non-Current Liabilities
as of December 31 (in millions) 2023 2022
Pension and other postretirement benefits $ 919 $ 846 
Deferred tax liabilities 447 661 
Long-term tax liabilities 125 64 
Contingent payments related to acquisitions 11 50 
Contract liabilities 46 40 
Litigation and environmental reserves 22 20 
Restructuring liabilities 18 7 
Other 149 160 
Other non-current liabilities $ 1,737 $ 1,848 

Interest Expense, net
years ended December 31 (in millions) 2023 2022 2021
Interest costs $ 527 $ 426 $ 217 
Interest costs capitalized (15) (11) (10)
Interest expense 512 415 207 
Interest income (70) (20) (14)
Interest expense, net $ 442 $ 395 $ 193 

Other (Income) Expense, net
years ended December 31 (in millions) 2023 2022 2021
Foreign exchange (gains) losses, net $ 52 $ 1 $ 17 
Change in fair value of marketable equity securities (7) (8) 7 
Loss on debt extinguishment — — 5 
Pension settlement and curtailment (gains) losses 1 (12) 2 
Pension and other postretirement benefit (gains) losses (42) (26) 8 
Reclassification of cumulative translation loss to earnings — 65 — 
Non-marketable investment impairments    52 — — 
Other, net (5) (8) 2 
Other (income) expense, net $ 51 $ 12 $ 41 
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Following the wind down of our operations in Argentina, we determined that the net assets of the related entities were substantially liquidated
during the third quarter of 2022. As a result of that determination, we reclassified their $65 million cumulative translation loss from accumulated
other comprehensive income (loss) to other (income) expense, net.

Supplemental Cash Flow Information

Non-Cash Investing Activities

Purchases of property, plant and equipment included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities as of December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021 was
$80 million, $91 million and $79 million, respectively.

Other Supplemental Information
year ended December 31 (in millions) 2023 2022 2021
Interest paid, net of portion capitalized $ 484 $ 355 $ 145 
Income taxes paid $ 262 $ 273 $ 182 

NOTE 5
GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS, NET

Goodwill

The following is a reconciliation of goodwill by business segment.

(in millions) Americas EMEA APAC

Medical
Products and

Therapies

Healthcare
Systems and
Technologies Pharmaceuticals Kidney Care Total

December 31, 2021 $ 2,099 $ 309 $ 224 $ — $ 6,786 $ — $ — $ 9,418 
Impairments — — — — (2,812) — — (2,812)
Measurement period adjustments — — — — 49 — — 49 
Currency translation (134) (20) (14) — (35) — — (203)
December 31, 2022 $ 1,965 $ 289 $ 210 $ — $ 3,988 $ — $ — $ 6,452 
Currency translation and other (27) (4) (3) 46 1 21 28 62 
Reallocation of goodwill (1,938) (285) (207) 1,195 — 542 693 — 
December 31, 2023 $ — $ — $ — $ 1,241 $ 3,989 $ 563 $ 721 $ 6,514 

Prior to the third quarter of 2023, our Healthcare Systems and Technologies segment was referred to as our Hillrom segment.

Change in Reportable Segments

As discussed in Note 18, Segment Information, our reportable segments were previously comprised of the following geographic segments
related to our legacy Baxter business: Americas (North and South America), EMEA (Europe, Middle East and Africa) and APAC (Asia Pacific),
and a global segment for our Hillrom business. In the third quarter of 2023, we completed the implementation of a new operating model intended
to simplify and streamline our operations and better align our manufacturing and supply chain to our commercial activities. Our segments were
changed during the third quarter of 2023 to align with our new operating model. Under this new operating model, our business is comprised of
four segments: Medical Products and Therapies, Healthcare Systems and Technologies (formerly referred to as our Hillrom segment),
Pharmaceuticals and Kidney Care. As a result of this segment change, we reallocated the goodwill from our previous Americas, EMEA and
APAC segments to the reporting units within our new Medical Products and Therapies, Pharmaceuticals and Kidney Care segments based on
the relative fair values of those reporting units. We performed goodwill impairment assessments both before and after the reporting unit change
and we did not identify any goodwill impairments.

In connection with our November 1, 2023 annual goodwill impairment tests, we determined that no goodwill impairments had occurred. The fair
values of the Front Line Care reporting unit within our Healthcare Systems and Technologies segment and the Chronic Therapies reporting unit
within our Kidney Care segment exceeded their
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carrying values by approximately 5% and 6%, respectively. We are continuing to closely monitor the performance of those reporting units, and if
there is a significant adverse change in our outlook for those businesses in the future, a goodwill impairment could arise at that time. As of
December 31, 2023, the carrying amounts of goodwill for our Front Line Care and Chronic Therapies reporting units were $2.42 billion and
$444 million, respectively.

Goodwill Impairments

As described in Note 3, we acquired Hillrom on December 13, 2021 and recognized $6.83 billion of goodwill and $6.03 billion of other intangible
assets, including $1.91 billion of indefinite-lived intangible assets, in connection with that acquisition. During the third quarter of 2022, we
performed trigger-based impairment tests of the goodwill of each of the reporting units within our Hillrom segment (currently referred to as our
Healthcare Systems and Technologies segment), as well as the indefinite-lived intangible assets, consisting primarily of trade names, that we
acquired in connection with the Hillrom acquisition. We performed those tests as of September 30, 2022 due to (a) current macroeconomic
conditions, including the rising interest rate environment and broad declines in equity valuations, and (b) reduced earnings forecasts for our
Hillrom reporting units, driven primarily by shortages of certain component parts used in our products, raw materials inflation and increased
supply chain costs. Those impairment tests resulted in total pre-tax goodwill impairment charges of $2.79 billion in the third quarter of 2022. In
connection with our annual goodwill impairment assessment in the fourth quarter of 2022, we performed quantitative impairment tests for all of
our reporting units and recorded an additional $27 million goodwill impairment related to our Hillrom segment. No goodwill impairments were
recorded for our remaining reporting units in connection with our annual goodwill impairment tests because the fair values of those reporting
units exceeded their carrying amounts.

The fair values of the reporting units tested for impairment during 2022 were determined based on a discounted cash flow model (an income
approach) and earnings multiples (a market approach) based on the guideline public company method. Significant assumptions used in the
determination of the fair values of our reporting units generally include forecasted cash flows, discount rates, terminal growth rates and earnings
multiples. The discounted cash flow models used to determine the fair values of our reporting units during 2022 reflected our most recent cash
flow projections, discount rates ranging from 9% to 10% and terminal growth rates ranging from 2% to 3%. Our reporting unit fair value
measurements are classified as Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy because they involve significant unobservable inputs.

See further discussion below for information regarding intangible asset impairment charges recognized during the third and fourth quarters of
2022.

Other Intangible Assets, Net

The following is a summary of our other intangible assets.
Indefinite-lived intangible assets

(in millions)
Customer

relationships

Developed
technology,

including patents Trade Names
Other amortized
intangible assets Trade Names

In process Research
and Development Total

December 31, 2023
Gross other intangible assets $ 3,446 $ 3,823 $ 1,106 $ 120 $ 680 $ 157 $ 9,332 
Accumulated amortization (689) (2,285) (180) (99) — — (3,253)
Other intangible assets, net $ 2,757 $ 1,538 $ 926 $ 21 $ 680 $ 157 $ 6,079 
December 31, 2022
Gross other intangible assets $ 3,442 $ 3,836 $ 209 $ 116 $ 1,571 $ 202 $ 9,376 
Accumulated amortization (460) (1,888) (147) (88) — — $ (2,583)
Other intangible assets, net $ 2,982 $ 1,948 $ 62 $ 28 $ 1,571 $ 202 $ 6,793 

Intangible asset amortization expense was $652 million in 2023, $753 million in 2022 and $298 million in 2021. The anticipated annual
amortization expense for definite-lived intangible assets recorded as of December 31, 2023 is $665 million in 2024, $632 million in 2025, $602
million in 2026, $437 million in 2027 and $427 million in 2028.
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As a result of an update to our long-term branding strategy, we reclassified two trade name intangible assets with carrying amounts of
$870 million and $21 million from indefinite-lived intangible assets to amortizing intangible assets during the fourth quarter of 2023. The
estimated useful lives assigned to those assets were 15 years and 5 years, respectively, and we recognized $10 million of amortization expense
on those intangible assets from the date of reclassification through December 31, 2023.

Intangible Asset Impairments

Impairment of Developed Technology Intangible Asset Related to HD Business

In the third quarter of 2023, we reviewed the long-lived assets of our HD reporting unit for potential impairment and recognized a $77 million
impairment of developed technology intangible assets, in addition to other impairments of property, plant and equipment and operating lease
right-of-use assets.

See Note 4, Supplemental Financial Information, for information about the impairment of this intangible asset, impairments of other long-lived
assets related to our HD business and related fair value measurements.

Impairment of Indefinite-Lived Intangible Assets from Our Hillrom Acquisition

In addition to the goodwill impairments discussed above, we recognized pre-tax impairment charges of $332 million in the third quarter of 2022
to reduce the carrying amounts of certain indefinite-lived intangible assets, which primarily related to the Hillrom and Welch Allyn trade names
acquired in the Hillrom acquisition, to their estimated fair values. Those intangible asset impairment charges are classified within cost of sales in
the accompanying consolidated statements of income (loss) for the year ended December 31, 2022.

The fair values of the trade name intangible assets were determined using the relief from royalty method. Significant assumptions used in the
determination of the fair value of the trade name intangible assets included revenue growth rates, terminal growth rates, discount rates and
royalty rates. The relief from royalty models used in the determination of the fair values of our trade name intangible assets during 2022 reflected
our most recent revenue projections, a discount rate of 9.5%, royalty rates ranging from 3% to 5% and terminal growth rates ranging from 2% to
3%. Our trade name intangible asset fair value measurements are classified as Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy because they involve
significant unobservable inputs.

In the fourth quarter of 2022, we recognized an impairment charge of $12 million related to developed-technology intangible assets due to
declines in market expectations for the related products. The fair values of the intangible assets were measured using a discounted cash flow
approach and the charge is classified within cost of sales in the accompanying consolidated statements of income (loss) for the year ended
December 31, 2022. We consider the fair values of the assets to be Level 3 measurements due to the significant estimates and assumptions,
including forecasted future cash flows, that we used in establishing the estimated fair values.
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NOTE 6
DEBT AND CREDIT FACILITIES

Debt Outstanding

At December 31, 2023 and 2022, we had the following debt outstanding:

as of December 31 (in millions)
Effective interest rate in

2023¹ 2023 2022
Commercial paper — % $ — $ 299 
0.868% notes due 2023 — % — 799 
Floating-rate notes due 2023 — % — 299 
0.4% notes due 2024 0.3 % 828 799 
1.322% notes due 2024 1.5 % 1,398 1,395 
7.0% notes due 2024 7.0 % 13 13 
Floating-rate notes due 2024 5.7 % 300 299 
Term loan maturing 2024 6.9 % 130 1,664 
1.3% notes due 2025 1.1 % 662 640 
2.6% notes due 2026 2.7 % 748 748 
Term loan maturing 2026 6.5 % 1,643 1,643 
7.65% debentures due 2027 8.3 % 5 5 
1.915% notes due 2027 2.0 % 1,445 1,443 
6.625% debentures due 2028 5.7 % 95 96 
2.272% notes due 2028 2.4 % 1,244 1,242 
1.3% notes due 2029 1.4 % 828 792 
3.95% notes due 2030 4.1 % 496 496 
1.73% notes due 2031 2.7 % 646 645 
2.539% notes due 2032 2.6 % 1,540 1,538 
6.25% notes due 2037 6.4 % 265 265 
3.65% notes due 2042 3.8 % 6 7 
4.5% notes due 2043 4.6 % 256 256 
3.5% notes due 2046 3.7 % 440 441 
3.132% notes due 2051 3.2 % 741 742 
Finance leases and other 9.1 % 69 70 
Total debt and finance lease obligations 13,798 16,636 
Short-term debt — (299)
Current maturities of long-term debt and finance lease obligations (2,668) (1,105)
Long-term debt and finance lease obligations $ 11,130 $ 15,232 

Book values include any discounts, premiums and adjustments related to hedging instruments and effective interest rates reflect amortization of those items.

Significant Debt Activity

In 2023, we repaid our $800 million 0.868% notes due 2023, our $300 million floating rate notes due 2023 and $1.54 billion under our
$2.00 billion three-year term loan facility maturing in 2024.

In 2022, we repaid our $203 million 2.4% notes due 2022, $335 million under our $2.00 billion three-year term loan facility maturing in 2024 and
$355 million under our $2.00 billion five-year term loan facility maturing in 2026.

The losses from our early extinguishments of debt in 2023 and 2022 were not significant.

1 1
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Credit Facilities

As of December 31, 2023, we had a U.S. Dollar-denominated term loan credit facility, which had two tranches of term loans outstanding, a U.S.
Dollar-denominated revolving credit facility and a Euro-denominated revolving credit facility.

Borrowings under the term loan credit facility bear interest on the principal amount outstanding at either Term SOFR plus an applicable margin
plus a credit spread adjustment or a “base rate” plus an applicable margin. The term loan credit facility contains various covenants, including a
maximum net leverage ratio. We have the option to prepay outstanding amounts under the term loan credit facility in whole or in part at any time.

Our U.S. Dollar-denominated revolving credit facility has a capacity of $2.50 billion and our Euro-denominated revolving credit facility has a
capacity of €200 million. Fees under the credit facilities are 0.125% annually as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, and are based on our credit
ratings and the total capacity of the facility. There were no borrowings outstanding under the revolving credit facilities as of December 31, 2023
and 2022. Our commercial paper borrowing arrangements require us to maintain undrawn borrowing capacity under our revolving credit facilities
for an amount at least equal to our outstanding commercial paper borrowings. Each of the revolving credit facilities matures in 2026. The
revolving credit facilities enable us to borrow funds on an unsecured basis at variable interest rates and contain various covenants, including a
maximum net leverage ratio. In the first quarter of 2023, we amended the credit agreements governing our U.S. Dollar-denominated term loan
credit facility and revolving credit facility and the guaranty agreement with respect to our Euro-denominated revolving credit facility, in each case
to amend the net leverage ratio covenant to increase the maximum net leverage ratio for the four fiscal quarters ending March 31, 2023, June
30, 2023, September 30, 2023 and December 31, 2023. In the third quarter of 2022, we previously amended the credit agreements governing
our term loan facility and our U.S. Dollar-denominated revolving credit facility and the guaranty agreement with respect to our Euro-denominated
revolving credit facility, in each case to delay the commencement of our net leverage ratio covenant step-down schedule until June 30, 2024. We
also amended the credit agreements governing our term loan facility and our U.S. Dollar-denominated revolving credit facility to transition the
benchmark rate from LIBOR to the Secured Overnight Financing Rate (SOFR). Based on our covenant calculations as of December 31, 2023
we have capacity to draw on the full amounts under our revolving credit facilities.

We also maintain other credit arrangements, which totaled approximately $238 million and $230 million as of December 31, 2023 and 2022,
respectively. There were no amounts outstanding under these arrangements as of December 31, 2023 and 2022.

As of December 31, 2023, we were in compliance with the financial covenants in these agreements. The non-performance of any financial
institution supporting any of the credit facilities would reduce the maximum capacity of these facilities by each institution’s respective
commitment.

Commercial Paper

There was no commercial paper outstanding as of December 31, 2023. As of December 31, 2022, we had $299 million of commercial paper
outstanding with a weighted-average interest rate of 4.75% and an original weighted-average term of 32 days.
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Future Debt and Finance Lease Maturities
as of and for the years ended December 31 (in millions) Debt maturities
2024 $ 2,677 
2025 668 
2026 2,401 
2027 1,460 
2028 1,347 
Thereafter 5,302 
Total debt and finance lease maturities 13,855 
Discounts, premiums, and adjustments relating to hedging instruments (57)
Total debt and finance lease obligations $ 13,798 

NOTE 7
LEASES

Lessee Activity

We have entered into operating and finance leases primarily for office, manufacturing, warehouse and R&D facilities, vehicles and equipment.
Our leases have remaining terms from 1 to 39 years and some of those leases include options that provide us with the ability to extend the lease
term for periods ranging from 1 to 12 years. Such options are included in the lease term when it is reasonably certain that the option will be
exercised.

Certain of our leases include provisions for variable lease payments which are based on, but not limited to, maintenance, insurance, taxes, index
escalations and usage-based amounts. For all asset classes, we have elected to apply a practical expedient to account for other services within
lease contracts as components of the lease. We also have elected to apply a practical expedient for short-term leases whereby we do not
recognize a lease liability and right-of-use asset for leases with a term of less than 12 months.

We classify our leases as operating or finance at the lease commencement date. Finance leases are generally those leases for which we will
pay substantially all of the underlying asset’s fair value or will use the asset for all or a major part of its economic life, including circumstances in
which we will ultimately own the asset. All other leases are operating leases. For finance leases, we recognize interest expense using the
effective interest method and we recognize amortization expense on the right-of-use asset over the shorter of the lease term or the useful life of
the asset. For operating leases, we recognize lease cost on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.

Lease liabilities and right-of-use assets are recognized at the lease commencement date based on the present value of minimum lease
payments over the lease term. We determine the present value of payments under a lease based on our incremental borrowing rate as of the
lease commencement date. The incremental borrowing rate is equal to the rate of interest that we would have to pay to borrow on a
collateralized basis over a similar term in an amount equal to the lease payments in a similar economic environment.

The components of lease cost for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021 were:
(in millions) 2023 2022 2021
Operating lease cost $ 127 $ 124 $ 112 
Finance lease cost

Amortization of right-of-use assets 6 6 6 
Interest on lease liabilities 5 5 5 

Variable lease cost 63 62 52 
Lease cost $ 201 $ 197 $ 175 
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The following table contains supplemental cash flow information related to leases for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021:
(in millions) 2023 2022 2021
Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities:

Operating cash flows from operating leases $ 154 $ 141 $ 123 
Operating cash flows from finance leases 5 5 5 
Financing cash flows from finance leases 4 4 4 

Right-of-use operating lease assets obtained in exchange for lease obligations 90 73 71 
Right-of-use finance lease assets obtained in exchange for lease obligations 15 3 4 

Supplemental balance sheet information related to leases as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 include:
(in millions) 2023 2022
Operating leases
Operating lease right-of-use assets $ 524 $ 541 

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities $ 128 $ 120 
Operating lease liabilities 438 447 
Total operating lease liabilities $ 566 $ 567 

Finance leases
Property, plant and equipment, at cost $ 91 $ 82 
Accumulated depreciation (39) (34)
Property, plant and equipment, net $ 52 $ 48 

Current maturities of long-term debt and finance lease obligations $ 3 $ 2 
Long-term debt and finance lease obligations 66 62 
Total finance lease liabilities $ 69 $ 64 
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Lease term and discount rates as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 were:
December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022

Weighted-average remaining lease term (years)
Operating leases 7 7
Finance leases 10 11

Weighted-average discount rate
Operating leases 3.0 % 2.7 %
Finance leases 9.1 % 9.5 %

Maturities of operating and finance lease liabilities as of December 31, 2023 were:
(in millions) Finance Leases Operating Leases
2024 $ 11 $ 143 
2025 11 115 
2026 11 94 
2027 10 76 
2028 10 55 
Thereafter 63 139 
Total minimum lease payments 116 622 
Less: imputed interest (47) (56)
Present value of lease liabilities $ 69 $ 566 

Lessor Activity

We lease medical equipment, such as smart beds, renal dialysis equipment and infusion pumps, to customers, often in conjunction with
arrangements to provide consumable medical products such as dialysis therapies, intravenous (IV) fluids and inhaled anesthetics. Certain of our
equipment leases are classified as sales-type leases and the remainder are operating leases. The terms of the related contracts, including the
proportion of fixed versus variable payments and any options to shorten or extend the lease term, vary by customer. We allocate revenue
between equipment leases and medical products based on their standalone selling prices.

The components of lease revenue for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021 were:
(in millions) 2023 2022 2021
Sales-type lease revenue $ 10 $ 15 $ 27 
Operating lease revenue 518 513 135 
Variable lease revenue 53 54 79 
Total lease revenue $ 581 $ 582 $ 241 

The components of our net investment in sales-type leases as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 were:
(in millions) 2023 2022
Minimum lease payments $ 71 $ 87 
Unguaranteed residual values — 1 
Net investment in leases $ 71 $ 88 
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Our net investment in sales-type leases is classified as follows in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2023 and
2022:
(in millions) 2023 2022
Accounts receivable, net $ 31 $ 35 
Other non-current assets 40 53 
Total $ 71 $ 88 

Our net investment in sales-type leases was $71 million as of December 31, 2023, of which $14 million originated in 2019 and prior, $17 million
in 2020, $17 million in 2021, $13 million in 2022 and $10 million in 2023.

Maturities of sales-type and operating leases as of December 31, 2023 were:
(in millions) Sales-type Leases Operating Leases
2024 $ 34 $ 80 
2025 18 75 
2026 9 55 
2027 4 39 
2028 3 11 
Thereafter 3 — 
Total minimum lease payments $ 71 $ 260 

Unamortized imputed interest on minimum lease payments was less than $1 million as of December 31, 2023.

In the third quarter of 2023, we recognized $267 million of long-lived asset impairments related to our HD business, which included impairments
of $14 million of operating lease right-of-use assets and $58 million of equipment leased to customers. See Note 4 for additional information.

NOTE 8
COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Refer to Note 3 for information regarding contingent payments associated with collaborative and other arrangements.

Indemnifications

During the normal course of business, we make indemnities, commitments and guarantees pursuant to which we may be required to make
payments related to specific transactions. Indemnifications include: (i) intellectual property indemnities to customers in connection with the use,
sales or license of products and services; (ii) indemnities to customers in connection with losses incurred while performing services on their
premises; (iii) indemnities to vendors and service providers pertaining to claims based on negligence or willful misconduct; (iv) indemnities
involving the representations and warranties in certain contracts; and (v) contractual indemnities for our directors and certain of our executive
officers for services provided to or at the request of us. In addition, under our Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation, and consistent
with Delaware General Corporation Law, we have agreed to indemnify our directors and officers for certain losses and expenses upon the
occurrence of certain prescribed events. The majority of these indemnities, commitments and guarantees do not provide for any limitation on the
maximum potential for future payments that we could be obligated to make. To help address some of these risks, we maintain various insurance
coverages. Based on historical experience and evaluation of the agreements, we do not believe that any payments related to our indemnities will
have a material impact on our financial condition or results of operations.

Legal Contingencies

We are involved in product liability, patent, commercial, and other legal matters that arise in the normal course of our business. We record a
liability when a loss is considered probable and the amount can be reasonably estimated. If the reasonable estimate of a probable loss is a
range, and no amount within the range is a better
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estimate than any other amount, the minimum amount in the range is accrued. If a loss is not probable or a probable loss cannot be reasonably
estimated, no liability is recorded. As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, our total recorded reserves with respect to legal and environmental
matters were $31 million and $28 million, respectively. 

We have established reserves for certain of the matters discussed below. We are not able to estimate the amount or range of any loss for certain
contingencies for which there is no reserve or additional loss for matters already reserved. While our liability in connection with these claims
cannot be estimated and the resolution thereof in any reporting period could have a significant impact on our results of operations and cash
flows for that period, the outcome of these legal proceedings is not expected to have a material adverse effect on our consolidated financial
position. While we believe that we have valid defenses in the matters set forth below, litigation is inherently uncertain, excessive verdicts do
occur, and we may incur material judgments or enter into material settlements of claims.  

In addition to the matters described below, we remain subject to the risk of future administrative and legal actions. With respect to governmental
and regulatory matters, these actions may lead to product recalls, injunctions, and other restrictions on our operations (including our ability to
launch new products) and monetary sanctions, including significant civil or criminal penalties. With respect to intellectual property, we may be
exposed to significant litigation concerning the scope of our and others’ rights. Such litigation could result in a loss of patent protection or the
ability to market products, which could lead to a significant loss of sales, or otherwise materially affect future results of operations.

Environmental

We are involved as a potentially responsible party (PRP) for environmental clean-up costs at six Superfund sites. Under the U.S. Superfund
statute and many state laws, generators of hazardous waste sent to a disposal or recycling site are liable for site cleanup if contaminants from
that property later leak into the environment. The laws generally provide that a PRP may be held jointly and severally liable for the costs of
investigating and remediating the site. Separate from these Superfund cases noted above, we are involved in ongoing environmental
remediations associated with historic operations at certain of our facilities. As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, our environmental reserves,
which are measured on an undiscounted basis, were $15 million and $19 million, respectively. After considering these reserves, the outcome of
these matters is not expected to have a material adverse effect on our financial position or results of operations.

General Litigation

In August 2019, we were named in an amended complaint filed by Fayette County, Georgia in the MDL In re: National Prescription Opiate
Litigation pending in the U.S. District Court, Northern District of Ohio. The complaint alleges that multiple manufacturers and distributors of opiate
products improperly marketed and diverted these products, which caused harm to Fayette County. The complaint is limited in its allegations as to
Baxter and does not distinguish between injectable opiate products and orally administered opiates. We manufactured generic injectable opiate
products in our facility in Cherry Hill, NJ, which we divested in 2011. On July 17, 2023, we were voluntarily dismissed from the litigation without
prejudice.

In November 2019, we and certain of our officers were named in a class action complaint alleging that we and certain officers violated Sections
10(b) and 20(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and Rule 10b-5 promulgated thereunder by making allegedly false and misleading
statements and failing to disclose material facts relating to certain intra-company transactions undertaken for the purpose of generating foreign
exchange gains or avoiding foreign exchange losses, as well as our internal controls over financial reporting. The parties reached an agreement
to settle the case for $16 million, which became effective on September 13, 2021 and was paid in 2021. We also cooperated with the staff of the
SEC in connection with its investigation into those matters and, on February 18, 2022, we reached a settlement with the SEC. Without admitting
or denying the findings in the administrative order issued by the SEC, we agreed to pay a civil penalty of $18 million and to cease and desist
from violations of specified provisions of the federal securities laws and related rules. In the order, the SEC acknowledged Baxter’s cooperation
and we paid the penalty in the first quarter of 2022.

In March 2020, two lawsuits were filed against us in the Northern District of Illinois by plaintiffs alleging injuries as a result of exposure to
ethylene oxide used in our manufacturing facility in Mountain Home, Arkansas to sterilize certain of our products. The plaintiffs sought damages,
including compensatory and punitive damages in an unspecified amount, and unspecified injunctive and declaratory relief. The parties reached
agreement to settle these lawsuits in the third quarter of 2021 for amounts that were not material to our financial results, which were paid in the
fourth quarter of 2021. We have since resolved, without litigation, additional claims of injuries from exposure to
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ethylene oxide at Mountain Home for amounts within accruals previously established as of December 31, 2021. On October 20, 2022, a lawsuit
was filed against us in the Western District of Arkansas alleging injury as a result of exposure to ethylene oxide at Mountain Home. On
December 16, 2022, we filed a motion to dismiss and for a more definite statement. In response, Plaintiffs filed a First Amended Complaint on
January 6, 2023. We answered the First Amended Complaint on January 27, 2023. The parties reached agreement to settle this lawsuit in the
third quarter of 2023 for an amount that was not material to our financial results, which was paid in the fourth quarter of 2023. The case was
dismissed on October 17, 2023. In December 2023, five lawsuits were filed against us in the Circuit Court of Cook County, Illinois by plaintiffs
alleging injuries as a result of exposure to ethylene oxide used by several companies, including us at our manufacturing facility in Round Lake,
Illinois to sterilize certain of our products. The plaintiffs seek damages in an unspecified amount.

We acquired Hillrom on December 13, 2021. In July 2021, Hill-Rom, Inc., a wholly-owned subsidiary of Hillrom, received a subpoena from the
United States Office of Inspector General for the Department of Health and Human Services (the DHHS) requesting documents and information
related to compliance with the False Claims Act and the Anti-Kickback Statute. The subpoena was related to a lawsuit brought under the qui tam
provisions of False Claims Act. The allegations included in the unsealed complaint relate to conduct prior to our acquisition of Hillrom, and the
division involved is no longer operational. Hillrom voluntarily began a related internal review and Hillrom and Baxter cooperated fully with the
DHHS and the Department of Justice (DOJ) with respect to this matter. In January 2024, the parties reached agreement to settle the allegations.
We paid the settlement amounts, which were not material to our financial results, in January 2024. A stipulated request for dismissal has been
filed and is pending before the court. In October 2022, the DOJ issued a separate Civil Investigative Demand (CID) addressed to Hillrom,
requesting documents and information related to compliance with the False Claims Act and the Anti-Kickback Statute. Baxter is cooperating fully
with the DOJ in responding to the CID. The DHHS and DOJ often issue these types of requests when investigating alleged violations of the
False Claims Act.

On December 28, 2021, Linet Americas, Inc. (Linet) filed a complaint against Hill-Rom Holdings, Inc., Hill-Rom Company, Inc., and Hill-Rom
Services, Inc. in the United States District Court for the Northern District of Illinois, captioned Linet Americas, Inc. v. Hill-Rom Holdings, Inc.; Hill-
Rom Company, Inc.; Hill-Rom Services, Inc. Linet alleges that Hillrom violated Sections 1, 2 and 3 of The Sherman Antitrust Act of 1890 and the
Illinois Antitrust Act by allegedly engaging in anti-competitive conduct in alleged markets for standard, ICU and birthing beds. Hillrom filed an
answer to the complaint on January 28, 2022 and filed a motion challenging certain aspects of plaintiff's case on May 27, 2022, which was
denied on January 17, 2024, subject to further discovery.

In July 2023, we and certain of our officers were named in a class action complaint captioned Grover J. Kelley et al. v. Baxter International Inc. et
al. that was filed in the United States District Court for the Northern District of Illinois. The plaintiff, who allegedly purchased securities during the
specified class period, filed this putative class action on behalf of himself and shareholders who acquired Baxter securities on the public market
between May 25, 2022, and February 8, 2023. The plaintiff alleged that we and certain officers violated Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and Rule 10b-5 promulgated thereunder by making allegedly false and misleading statements
and failing to disclose material facts relating to supply chain and financial guidance. The Court appointed Kelley as lead plaintiff on September
20, 2023. This matter was voluntarily dismissed on December 3, 2023.

NOTE 9
STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

Stock-Based Compensation

Our stock-based compensation generally includes stock options, restricted stock units (RSUs), performance share units (PSUs) and purchases
under our employee stock purchase plan. Shares issued relating to our stock-based plans are generally issued out of treasury stock.

As of December 31, 2023, approximately 20 million authorized shares are available for future awards under our stock-based compensation
plans.

Stock Compensation Expense

Stock compensation expense was $133 million, $153 million and $146 million in 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively. The related tax benefit
recognized was $14 million in 2023, $34 million in 2022 and $36 million in 2021. Included in
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the benefit in 2023 was tax expense for stock-based compensation shortfalls of $11 million. Included in the benefit in 2022 and 2021 were
realized excess tax benefits for stock-based compensation of, $5 million and $13 million, respectively.

Approximately 70% of stock compensation expense is classified in SG&A expenses, with the remainder classified in cost of sales and R&D
expenses. Costs capitalized in the consolidated balance sheets at December 31, 2023 and 2022 were not material.

Stock compensation expense is based on awards expected to vest, and therefore has been reduced by estimated forfeitures.

Stock Options

Stock options are granted to employees and non-employee directors with exercise prices equal to 100% of the market value on the date of grant.
Stock options granted to employees generally vest in one-third increments over a three-year period. Stock options granted to non-employee
directors generally vest immediately on the grant date and are issued with a six-month claw-back provision. Stock options typically have a
contractual term of 10 years. The grant-date fair value, adjusted for estimated forfeitures, is recognized as expense on a straight-line basis over
the substantive vesting period.

The fair value of stock options is determined using the Black-Scholes model. The weighted-average assumptions used in estimating the fair
value of stock options granted during each year, along with the weighted-average grant-date fair values, were as follows:

years ended December 31 2023 2022 2021
Expected volatility 27 % 24 % 24 %
Expected life (in years) 6.0 5.5 5.5
Risk-free interest rate 4.2 % 1.8 % 0.8 %
Dividend yield 3.0 % 1.3 % 1.3 %
Fair value per stock option $ 9 $ 18 $ 16 

The following table summarizes stock option activity for the year ended December 31, 2023 and the outstanding stock options as of
December 31, 2023.

(options and aggregate intrinsic values in thousands) Options

Weighted-
average
exercise

price

Weighted-
average

remaining
contractual

term
(in years)

Aggregate
intrinsic
value

Outstanding as of January 1, 2023 19,641 $ 63.51 
Granted 4,361 $ 39.03 
Exercised (1,204) $ 38.13 
Forfeited (1,232) $ 57.33 
Expired (2,099) $ 69.36 
Outstanding as of December 31, 2023 19,467 $ 59.35 5.29 $ 3,688 
Vested or expected to vest as of December 31, 2023 18,994 $ 59.69 5.20 $ 3,635 
Exercisable as of December 31, 2023 13,987 $ 61.93 4.02 $ 3,458 

The aggregate intrinsic value in the table above represents the difference between the exercise price and our closing stock price on the last
trading day of the year. The total intrinsic value of options exercised in 2023, 2022 and 2021 was $5 million, $38 million and $78 million,
respectively.

As of December 31, 2023, $35 million of unrecognized compensation cost related to stock options is expected to be recognized as expense over
a weighted-average period of approximately 1.7 years.
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RSUs

RSUs are granted to employees and non-employee directors. RSUs granted to employees generally vest in one-third increments over a three-
year period. RSUs granted to non-employee directors generally vest immediately on the grant date and are issued with a six-month claw-back
provision. The grant-date fair value, adjusted for estimated forfeitures, is recognized as expense on a straight-line basis over the substantive
vesting period. The fair value of RSUs is determined based on the number of shares granted and the closing price of our common stock on the
date of grant.

The following table summarizes nonvested RSU activity for the year ended December 31, 2023.

(share units in thousands) Share units

Weighted-
average

grant-date
fair value

Nonvested RSUs as of January 1, 2023 1,912 $ 79.51 
Granted 3,443 $ 39.21 
Vested (752) $ 76.02 
Forfeited (597) $ 51.13 
Nonvested RSUs as of December 31, 2023 4,006 $ 49.77 

As of December 31, 2023, $121 million of unrecognized compensation cost related to RSUs is expected to be recognized as expense over a
weighted-average period of approximately 1.9 years. The weighted-average grant-date fair value of RSUs granted in 2023, 2022 and 2021 was
$39.21, $81.53 and $79.30, respectively. The fair value of RSUs vested in 2023, 2022 and 2021 was $30 million, $76 million and $47 million,
respectively.

PSUs

Our annual equity awards stock compensation program for senior management includes the issuance of PSUs. PSUs awarded after 2019 were
based on our compound annual sales growth rate (CAGR) performance, our adjusted return on invested capital (ROIC) performance and on our
stock performance relative to our peer group. PSUs awarded between 2018 and 2019 were based on adjusted operating margin as well as stock
performance relative to our peer group. The vesting condition for CAGR and ROIC PSUs is set at the beginning of the 3-year service period
while the vesting condition for adjusted operating margin is set at the beginning of each year for each tranche of the award during the 3-year
service period. Compensation cost for the CAGR, adjusted ROIC and adjusted operating margin PSUs is measured based on the fair value of
the awards on the date that the specific vesting terms for each award are established and the fair value of the awards is determined based on
the quoted price of our stock on the grant date of the award. The compensation cost for CAGR, adjusted ROIC and adjusted operating margin
PSUs is adjusted at each reporting date to reflect the estimated vesting outcome.

The fair value for PSUs based on our stock performance relative to our peer group is determined using a Monte Carlo model. The assumptions
used in estimating the fair value of these PSUs granted during the period, along with the grant-date fair values, were as follows:

years ended December 31 2023 2022 2021
Baxter volatility 27 % 27 % 28 %
Peer group volatility 23%-54% 24%-54% 26%-81%
Correlation of returns 0.23-0.48 0.21-0.61 0.05-0.65
Risk-free interest rate 4.6 % 1.6 % 0.3 %
Fair value per PSU $ 30 $ 102 $ 86 
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The following table summarizes nonvested PSU activity for the year ended December 31, 2023.

(share units in thousands) Share units

Weighted-
average

grant-date
fair value

Nonvested PSUs as of January 1, 2023 698 $ 85.00 
Granted 451 $ 29.57 
Vested (80) $ 76.25 
Forfeited (340) $ 73.52 
Nonvested PSUs as of December 31, 2023 729 $ 57.03 

Unrecognized compensation cost related to all unvested PSUs of $17 million at December 31, 2023 is expected to be recognized as expense
over a weighted-average period of 2.7 years.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

Nearly all employees are eligible to participate in our employee stock purchase plan. The employee purchase price is 85% of the closing market
price on the purchase date.

As of December 31, 2023, approximately 9 million shares of common stock were available for issuance to eligible participants.

During 2023, 2022, and 2021, we issued approximately 1.4 million, 0.9 million and 0.7 million shares, respectively, under the employee stock
purchase plan.

Cash Dividends

Total cash dividends declared per share for 2023, 2022, and 2021 were $1.16, $1.15 and $1.085, respectively.

A quarterly dividend of $0.29 per share ($1.16 on an annualized basis) was declared in February, May and July of 2023 and was paid in April,
July and October of 2023, respectively. Our Board of Directors declared a quarterly dividend of $0.29 per share in November of 2023, which was
paid in January of 2024.

Stock Repurchase Programs

As authorized by the Board of Directors, we repurchase our stock depending on our cash flows, net debt level and market conditions. In July
2012, the Board of Directors authorized a share repurchase program and the related authorization was subsequently increased a number of
times. We did not repurchase any shares under this authority in 2023. We repurchased 0.5 million shares under this authority pursuant to a Rule
10b5-1 plan for $32 million in cash in 2022 and 7.3 million shares under this authority pursuant to Rule 10b5-1 plans for $600 million in cash in
2021. We had $1.30 billion of purchase authority available as of December 31, 2023.  

Other

In addition to common stock, our authorized capital structure includes 100 million shares of preferred stock, no par value. As of December 31,
2023 and 2022, no shares of preferred stock were outstanding.

NOTE 10
ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)

Comprehensive income (loss) includes all changes in stockholders’ equity that do not arise from transactions with stockholders, and consists of
net income (loss), CTA, certain gains and losses from pension and other postretirement employee benefit (OPEB) plans, certain gains and
losses from hedging activities and unrealized gains and losses on available-for-sale debt securities.
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The following table is a net-of-tax summary of the changes in AOCI by component for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022.

(in millions) CTA
Pension and
OPEB plans

Hedging
activities

Available-for-sale
debt securities Total

Gains (losses)
Balance as of December 31, 2022 $ (3,386) $ (331) $ (119) $ 3 $ (3,833)
Other comprehensive income (loss) before reclassifications 216 (106) 5 — 115 
Amounts reclassified from AOCI (a) 185 (15) (6) — 164 

Net other comprehensive income (loss) 401 (121) (1) — 279 
Balance as of December 31, 2023 $ (2,985) $ (452) $ (120) $ 3 $ (3,554)

(in millions) CTA
Pension and
OPEB plans

Hedging
activities

Available-for-sale
debt securities Total

Gains (losses)
Balance as of December 31, 2021 $ (2,907) $ (347) $ (126) $ — $ (3,380)
Other comprehensive income (loss) before reclassifications (544) (9) 22 3 (528)
Amounts reclassified from AOCI (a) 65 25 (15) — 75 

Net other comprehensive income (loss) (479) 16 7 3 (453)
Balance as of December 31, 2022 $ (3,386) $ (331) $ (119) $ 3 $ (3,833)

(a)    See table below for details about these reclassifications.
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The following table is a summary of the amounts reclassified from AOCI to net income (loss) during the years ended December 31, 2023 and
2022.

Amounts reclassified from
AOCI (a)

(in millions) 2023 2022
Location of impact

in income statement
CTA

Reclassification of cumulative translation loss to
earnings $ — $ (65) Other (income) expense, net
Reclassification of cumulative translation loss to
earnings from BPS divestiture (185) — Income from discontinued operations, net of tax

(185) (65)
Less: Tax effect — — Income tax expense (benefit)

$ (185) $ (65)
Pension and OPEB items

Amortization of net losses and prior service costs or
credits $ 18 $ (30) Other (income) expense, net
Settlement charges (2) (1) Other (income) expense, net
Pension settlement from BPS divestiture 4 — Income from discontinued operations, net of tax

20 (31) Total before tax
Less: Tax effect (5) 6 Income tax expense (benefit)

$ 15 $ (25) Net of tax
Gains (losses) on hedging activities  

Foreign exchange contracts $ 16 $ 26 Cost of sales
Interest rate contracts (6) (6) Interest expense, net
Fair value hedges (3) — Other (income) expense, net

7 20 Total before tax
Less: Tax effect (1) (5) Income tax expense (benefit)

$ 6 $ 15 Net of tax
Total reclassifications for the period $ (164) $ (75) Total net of tax

(a) Amounts in parentheses indicate reductions to net income.

Refer to Note 4 for additional information regarding the reclassification of a cumulative translation loss to earnings, Note 13 for additional
information regarding the amortization of pension and OPEB items and Note 16 for additional information regarding hedging activity.

NOTE 11
REVENUES

Contract Balances

The timing of revenue recognition, billings and cash collections results in the recognition of trade accounts receivable, unbilled receivables,
contract assets, and customer advances and deposits (contract liabilities) on our consolidated balance sheets. Net trade accounts receivable
was $2.43 billion and $2.34 billion as of December 31, 2023 and 2022.

For contract manufacturing arrangements, revenue is primarily recognized throughout the production cycle, which typically lasts up to 90 days,
resulting in the recognition of contract assets until the related services are completed and the customers are billed. Additionally, for certain
arrangements containing a performance obligation to deliver software that can be used with medical devices, we recognize revenue upon
delivery of the software, which results in the recognition of contract assets when customers are billed over time, generally over one to five years.
For
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bundled contracts involving equipment delivered up-front and consumable medical products to be delivered over time, total contract revenue is
allocated between the equipment and consumable medical products. In certain of those arrangements, a contract asset is created for the
difference between the amount of equipment revenue recognized upon delivery and the amount of consideration initially receivable from the
customer. In those arrangements, the contract asset becomes a trade account receivable as consumable medical products are provided and
billed, generally over one to seven years.

The following table summarizes our contract assets:

as of December 31 (in millions) 2023 2022
Contract manufacturing services $ 5 $ 10 
Software sales 44 43 
Bundled equipment and consumable medical products contracts 117 121 
Contract assets $ 166 $ 174 

Contract liabilities represent deferred revenues that arise as a result of cash received from customers or where the timing of billing for services
precedes satisfaction of our performance obligations. Such remaining performance obligations represent the portion of the contract price for
which work has not been performed and are primarily related to our installation and service contracts. We expect to satisfy the majority of the
remaining performance obligations and recognize revenue related to installation and service contracts within the next 12 months with most of the
non-current performance obligations satisfied within 24 months.

The following table summarizes contract liability activity for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022. The contract liability balance
represents the transaction price allocated to the remaining performance obligations.

year ended December 31 (in millions) 2023 2022
Balance at beginning of period $ 194 $ 196 
New revenue deferrals 623 665 
Revenue recognized upon satisfaction of performance obligations (625) (661)
Currency translation 2 (6)
Balance at end of period $ 194 $ 194 

In 2023 and 2022, $127 million and $115 million of revenue was recognized that was included in contract liabilities as of December 31, 2022 and
2021, respectively. In 2021, $17 million of revenue was recognized that was included in contract liabilities as of December 31, 2020.

The following table summarizes the classification of contract assets and contract liabilities as reported in the consolidated balance sheet:

as of December 31 (in millions) 2023 2022
Prepaid expenses and other current assets $ 53 $ 52 
Other non-current assets 113 122 
Contract assets $ 166 $ 174 

Accrued expenses and other current liabilities $ 148 $ 154 
Other non-current liabilities 46 40 
Contract liabilities $ 194 $ 194 

Disaggregation of Net Sales

Refer to Note 18 for additional information on our net sales including the disaggregation of net sales within each of our segments and net sales
by geographic location.
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NOTE 12
BUSINESS OPTIMIZATION CHARGES

In recent years, we have undertaken actions to transform our cost structure and enhance operational efficiency. These efforts include
restructuring the organization, optimizing the manufacturing footprint, R&D operations and supply chain network, employing disciplined cost
management and centralizing and streamlining certain support functions. We currently expect to incur additional pre-tax cash costs, primarily
related to the implementation of business optimization programs, of approximately $50 million through the completion of initiatives that are
currently underway. We continue to pursue cost savings initiatives, including those intended to mitigate a portion of the dis-synergies expected to
arise as a result of the proposed spinoff of our Kidney Care business, and to the extent further cost savings opportunities are identified, we
would incur additional restructuring charges and costs to implement business optimization programs in future periods. For segment reporting,
business optimization charges are unallocated expenses.

We recorded the following charges related to business optimization programs in 2023, 2022, and 2021:

years ended December 31 (in millions) 2023 2022 2021
Restructuring charges $ 478 $ 163 $ 91 
Costs to implement business optimization programs 56 62 23 
Total business optimization charges $ 534 $ 225 $ 114 

Costs to implement business optimization programs for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively, consisted primarily of external consulting and transition
costs, including employee compensation and related costs. The costs were primarily included within cost of sales and SG&A expenses.

The costs of restructuring actions consisted primarily of employee termination costs, contract termination costs and asset impairments. During
the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, we recorded the following restructuring charges:

2023
(in millions) COGS SG&A R&D Total

Employee termination costs $ 47 $ 115 $ 12 $ 174 
Contract termination and other costs 6 2 — 8 
Asset impairments 289 7 — 296 

Total restructuring charges $ 342 $ 124 $ 12 $ 478 
2022

(in millions) COGS SG&A R&D Total
Employee termination costs $ 24 $ 102 $ 3 $ 129 
Contract termination and other costs — 22 — 22 
Asset impairments 2 10 — 12 

Total restructuring charges $ 26 $ 134 $ 3 $ 163 
2021

(in millions) COGS SG&A R&D Total
Employee termination costs $ 37 $ 35 $ 1 $ 73 
Contract termination and other costs — 2 — 2 
Asset impairments 16 — — 16 

Total restructuring charges $ 53 $ 37 $ 1 $ 91 

For the year ended December 31, 2023, $111 million of the restructuring charges reflected above, consisting of employee termination costs,
were related to the implementation of our previously announced new operating model intended to simplify and streamline our operations. For the
year ended December 31, 2023, $267 million of the restructuring charges reflected in the table above, consisting of $243 million of long-lived
asset impairment charges, $14 million of other asset write-downs related to inventory and spare parts and $10 million of employee termination
costs, were related to our decision to cease production at one of our dialyzer manufacturing facilities in connection with our initiatives to
streamline our manufacturing footprint and improve our profitability. See Note 4 for additional information.

1

1 
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For the year ended December 31, 2022, $85 million of the restructuring charges reflected in the table above were related to integration activities
for the Hillrom acquisition, consisting of $55 million of employee termination costs, $22 million of contract terminations and other costs and $8
million of asset impairments.

For the year ended December 31, 2021, $37 million and $12 million, respectively, of restructuring charges reflected in the table above, consisting
of employee termination costs, were related to global programs to simplify and streamline our supply chain and finance functions.

The following table summarizes activity in the liability related to our restructuring initiatives.
(in millions)
Liability balance as of December 31, 2020 $ 113 
Assumed in acquisition 6 
Charges 94 
Payments (78)
Reserve adjustments (19)
Currency translation (7)
Liability balance as of December 31, 2021 109 
Charges 172 
Payments (145)
Reserve adjustments (21)
Currency translation (8)
Liability balance as of December 31, 2022 107 
Charges 212 
Payments (151)
Reserve adjustments (30)
Currency translation (10)
Liability balance as of December 31, 2023 $ 128 

Reserve adjustments primarily relate to employee termination cost reserves established in prior periods.

Substantially all of our restructuring liabilities as of December 31, 2023 relate to employee termination costs, with the remaining liabilities
attributable to contract termination costs. Substantially all of the cash payments for those liabilities are expected to be disbursed by the end of
2024.

NOTE 13
PENSION AND OTHER POSTRETIREMENT BENEFIT PROGRAMS

We sponsor a number of qualified and nonqualified pension plans for eligible employees. We also sponsor certain unfunded contributory
healthcare and life insurance benefits for substantially all domestic retired employees. Newly hired employees in the United States and Puerto
Rico are not eligible to participate in the pension plans but receive a higher level of company contributions in our defined contribution plans.
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Reconciliation of Pension and Other Postretirement Benefit Plan Obligations, Assets and Funded Status

The benefit plan information in the table below pertains to all of our pension and OPEB plans, both in the United States and in other countries.    
Pension benefits OPEB

as of and for the years ended December 31 (in millions) 2023 2022 2023 2022
Benefit obligations
Beginning of period $ 3,112 $ 4,390 $ 160 $ 211 
Service cost 23 75 — 1 
Interest cost 155 97 8 4 
Participant contributions 4 4 — — 
Actuarial (gain) loss 195 (1,197) 5 (37)
Benefit payments (141) (123) (19) (19)
Settlements (19) (17) — — 
Curtailment — (13) — — 
Acquisitions 2 — — — 
Plan Amendments 3 1 — — 
Foreign exchange and other 44 (105) — — 
End of period 3,378 3,112 154 160 
Fair value of plan assets
Beginning of period 2,501 3,784 — — 
Actual return on plan assets 268 (1,118) — — 
Employer contributions 47 47 19 19 
Participant contributions 4 4 — — 
Benefit payments (141) (123) (19) (19)
Settlements (19) (17) — — 
Acquisitions — — — — 
Foreign exchange and other 33 (76) — — 
End of period 2,693 2,501 — — 
Funded status at December 31 $ (685) $ (611) $ (154) $ (160)
Amounts recognized in the consolidated balance sheets
Noncurrent asset $ 129 $ 123 $ — $ — 
Current liability (32) (30) (17) (18)
Noncurrent liability (782) (704) (137) (142)
Net liability recognized at December 31 $ (685) $ (611) $ (154) $ (160)

Actuarial gains and losses result from changes in actuarial assumptions (such as changes in the discount rate and revised mortality rates).
Actuarial losses in 2023 and gains in 2022 related to plan benefit obligations were primarily the result of changes in discount rates.

The pension obligation information in the table above represents the projected benefit obligation (PBO). The PBO incorporates assumptions
relating to future compensation levels. The accumulated benefit obligation (ABO) is the same as the PBO except that it includes no assumptions
relating to future compensation levels. The ABO for all of our pension plans was $3.28 billion and $3.01 billion at the 2023 and 2022
measurement dates, respectively.
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The information in the funded status table above represents the totals for all of our pension plans. The following table is information relating to
the individual plans in the funded status table above that have an ABO in excess of plan assets.
as of December 31 (in millions) 2023 2022
ABO $ 2,710 $ 2,561 
Fair value of plan assets $ 1,932 $ 1,865 

The following table presents information relating to the individual plans in the funded status table above that have a PBO in excess of plan
assets (many of which also have an ABO in excess of assets and are therefore also included in the table directly above).
as of December 31 (in millions) 2023 2022
PBO $ 2,796 $ 2,740 
Fair value of plan assets $ 1,982 $ 2,006 

Expected Net Pension and OPEB Plan Payments for the Next 10 Years
(in millions) Pension benefits OPEB
2024 $ 161 $ 17 
2025 167 16 
2026 178 15 
2027 189 14 
2028 199 14 
2029 through 2033 1,092 59 
Total expected net benefit payments for next 10 years $ 1,986 $ 135 

The expected net benefit payments above reflect the total net benefits expected to be paid from the plans’ assets (for funded plans) or from our
assets (for unfunded plans). The federal subsidies relating to the Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modernization Act are not
expected to be significant.

Amounts Recognized in AOCI

The pension and OPEB plans’ gains or losses, prior service costs or credits, and transition assets or obligations not yet recognized in net
periodic benefit cost are recognized on a net-of-tax basis in AOCI and will be amortized from AOCI to net periodic benefit cost in the future. For
active employees, we utilize the average future working lifetime as the amortization period for prior service. For inactive employees, we utilize
the average remaining life expectancy as the amortization period for prior service.

The following table is a summary of the pre-tax losses included in AOCI at December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022.
(in millions) Pension benefits OPEB
Actuarial loss (gain) $ 626 $ (50)
Prior service credit and transition obligation 11 (16)
Total pre-tax loss (gain) recognized in AOCI at December 31, 2023 $ 637 $ (66)
Actuarial loss (gain) $ 513 $ (69)
Prior service credit and transition obligation 8 (27)
Total pre-tax loss (gain) recognized in AOCI at December 31, 2022 $ 521 $ (96)
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Refer to Note 10 for the net-of-tax balances included in AOCI as of each of the year-end dates. The following table is a summary of the net-of-tax
amounts recorded in OCI relating to pension and OPEB plans.
Year ended December 31 (in millions) 2023 2022 2021
Gain (loss) arising during the year, net of tax of $31 in 2023, $6 in 2022 and $43 in 2021 $ 132 $ (8) $ 161 
Amortization of loss to earnings, net of tax of $(5) in 2023, $6 in 2022 and $16 in 2021 (13) 23 64 
Settlement charges, net of tax of zero in 2023, 2022 and 2021 2 1 2 
Pension and other employee benefits $ 121 $ 16 $ 227 

In 2023, 2022 and 2021, OCI activity for pension and OPEB plans was primarily related to actuarial gains and losses.

Net Periodic Benefit Cost
Year ended December 31 (in millions) 2023 2022 2021
Pension benefits
Service cost $ 23 $ 75 $ 86 
Interest cost 155 97 71 
Expected return on plan assets (188) (157) (143)
Amortization of net losses and other deferred amounts 6 43 89 
Curtailment gain — (13) — 
Settlement charges 2 1 2 
Other 1 1 (4)
Net periodic pension benefit cost $ (1) $ 47 $ 101 
OPEB
Service cost $ — $ 1 $ 1 
Interest cost 8 4 4 
Amortization of net losses and prior service credit (24) (14) (9)
Curtailment gain (1) — — 
Net periodic OPEB cost $ (17) $ (9) $ (4)

Weighted-Average Assumptions Used in Determining Benefit Obligations at the Measurement Date
Pension benefits OPEB

2023 2022 2023 2022
Discount rate
U.S. and Puerto Rico plans 5.20 % 5.55 % 5.11 % 5.46 %
International plans 3.41 % 4.01 % n/a n/a
Rate of compensation increase
U.S. and Puerto Rico plans 2.60 % 2.93 % n/a n/a
International plans 3.24 % 3.34 % n/a n/a
Annual rate of increase in the per-capita cost n/a n/a 6.25 % 6.50 %
Rate decreased to n/a n/a 5.00 % 5.00 %

by the year ended n/a n/a 2029 2029

The assumptions above, which were used in calculating the December 31, 2023 measurement date benefit obligations, will be used in the
calculation of net periodic benefit cost in 2024.
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Weighted-Average Assumptions Used in Determining Net Periodic Benefit Cost
Pension benefits OPEB

2023 2022 2021 2023 2022 2021
Discount rate
U.S. and Puerto Rico plans 5.55 % 3.01 % 2.73 % 5.46 % 2.76 % 2.33 %
International plans 4.01 % 1.47 % 1.00 % n/a n/a n/a
Expected return on plan assets
U.S. and Puerto Rico plans 6.43 % 5.00 % 5.50 % n/a n/a n/a
International plans 5.00 % 3.82 % 3.58 % n/a n/a n/a
Rate of compensation increase
U.S. and Puerto Rico plans 2.93 % 3.68 % 3.68 % n/a n/a n/a
International plans 3.34 % 3.11 % 3.03 % n/a n/a n/a
Annual rate of increase in the per-capita cost n/a n/a n/a 6.25 % 6.50 % 6.25 %
Rate decreased to n/a n/a n/a 5.00 % 5.00 % 5.00 %

by the year ended n/a n/a n/a 2029 2029 2027

We established the expected return on plan assets assumption primarily based on a review of historical compound average asset returns, both
company-specific and relating to the broad market (based on our asset allocation), as well as an analysis of current market and economic
information and future expectations. We plan to use a 6.65% assumption for our U.S. and Puerto Rico plans for 2024.

Pension Plan Assets

An investment committee of members of senior management is responsible for supervising, monitoring and evaluating the invested assets of our
funded pension plans. The investment committee, which meets at least quarterly, abides by documented policies and procedures relating to
investment goals, targeted asset allocations, risk management practices, allowable and prohibited investment holdings, diversification, use of
derivatives, the relationship between plan assets and benefit obligations, and other relevant factors and considerations.

The investment committee’s policies and procedures include the following:

• Ability to pay all benefits when due;

• Targeted long-term performance expectations relative to applicable market indices, such as Russell, MSCI EAFE, and other
indices;

• Targeted asset allocation percentage ranges (summarized below), and periodic reviews of these allocations;

• Diversification of assets among third-party investment managers, and by geography, industry, stage of business cycle and other
measures;

• Specified investment holding and transaction prohibitions (for example, private placements or other restricted securities,
securities that are not traded in a sufficiently active market, short sales, certain derivatives, commodities and margin
transactions);

• Specified portfolio percentage limits on holdings in a single corporate or other entity (generally 5% at time of purchase, except
for holdings in U.S. government or agency securities);

• Specified average credit quality for the fixed-income securities portfolio (at least A- by Standard & Poor’s or A3 by Moody’s);

• Specified portfolio percentage limits on foreign holdings; and

• Periodic monitoring of investment manager performance and adherence to the investment committee’s policies.

Plan assets are invested using a total return investment approach whereby a mix of equity securities, debt securities and other investments are
used to preserve asset values, diversify risk and exceed the planned benchmark
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investment return. Investment strategies and asset allocations are based on consideration of plan liabilities, the plans’ funded status and other
factors, such as the plans’ demographics and liability durations. Investment performance is reviewed by the investment committee on a quarterly
basis and asset allocations are reviewed at least annually.

Plan assets are managed in a balanced portfolio comprised of two major components: return-seeking investments and liability hedging
investments. The target allocations for plan assets are 50% in return-seeking investments and 50% in liability hedging investments and other
holdings. The documented policy includes an allocation range based on each individual investment type within the major components that allows
for a variance from the target allocations depending on the investment type. Return-seeking investments primarily include common stock of U.S.
and international companies, common/collective trust funds, mutual funds, hedge funds, and partnership investments. Liability hedging
investments and other holdings primarily include cash, money market funds with an original maturity of three months or less, U.S. and foreign
government and governmental agency issues, corporate bonds, municipal securities, derivative contracts and asset-backed securities.

While the investment committee provides oversight over plan assets for U.S. and international plans, the summary above is specific to the plans
in the United States. The plan assets for international plans are managed and allocated by the entities in each country, with input and oversight
provided by the investment committee. The plan assets for the U.S. and international plans are included in the table below.

The following tables summarize our pension plan financial instruments that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis.
Basis of fair value measurement

(in millions)
Balance at December

31, 2023

Quoted prices
in active

markets for
identical assets

(Level 1)

Significant
other

observable
inputs

(Level 2)

Significant
unobservable

inputs
(Level 3)

Measured at NAV
(a)

Assets
Cash $ 63 
Fixed income securities

Cash equivalents $ 399 $ — $ 399 $ — $ — 
U.S. government and government agency issues 96 — 96 — — 
Corporate bonds 265 — 265 — — 

Equity securities
Common stock 345 345 — — — 
Mutual funds 211 211 — — —
Common/collective trust funds 834 — 294 — 540 
Partnership investments 216 — — — 216 

Other holdings 264 13 94 157 — 
Fair value of pension plan assets $ 2,693 $ 569 $ 1,148 $ 157 $ 756 

(a) Certain assets that are measured at fair value using the NAV per share (or its equivalent) practical expedient have not been classified in the fair value hierarchy.
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Basis of fair value measurement

(in millions)
Balance at December

31, 2022

Quoted prices
in active

markets for
identical assets

(Level 1)

Significant
other

observable
inputs

(Level 2)

Significant
unobservable

inputs
(Level 3)

Measured at NAV
(a)

Assets
Cash $ 74 
Fixed income securities

Cash equivalents $ 297 $ — $ 297 $ — $ — 
U.S. government and government agency issues 46 — 46 — — 
Corporate bonds 310 — 310 — — 

Equity securities
Common stock 296 296 — — — 
Mutual funds 340 184 156 — —
Common/collective trust funds 790 — 251 — 539 
Partnership investments 263 — — — 263 

Other holdings 85 21 56 8 — 
Fair value of pension plan assets $ 2,501 $ 501 $ 1,116 $ 8 $ 802 

(a) Certain assets that are measured at fair value using the NAV per share (or its equivalent) practical expedient have not been classified in the fair value hierarchy.

The following table is a reconciliation of changes in fair value measurements that used significant unobservable inputs (Level 3).

(in millions)
Other

holdings
Balance at December 31, 2021 $ 9 

Transfers out (1)
Balance at December 31, 2022 8 

Purchases 149 
Balance at December 31, 2023 $ 157 

Purchases in 2023 included $148 million for an insurance contract buy-in related to our pension plan in the United Kingdom.

1

1 
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The assets and liabilities of our pension plans are valued using the following valuation methods:

Investment category Valuation methodology
Cash equivalents These largely consist of a short-term investment fund, U.S. Dollars and foreign currency. The fair

value of the short-term investment fund is based on the net asset value.
U.S. government and government agency
issues

Values are based on reputable pricing vendors, who typically use pricing matrices or models that
use observable inputs.

Corporate bonds Values are based on reputable pricing vendors, who typically use pricing matrices or models that
use observable inputs.

Common stock Values are based on the closing prices on the valuation date in an active market on national and
international stock exchanges.

Mutual funds Values are based on the net asset value of the units held in the respective fund which are
obtained from national and international exchanges or based on the net asset value of the
underlying assets of the fund provided by the fund manager.

Common/collective trust funds Values are based on the net asset value of the units held at year end.
Partnership investments Values are based on the net asset value of the participation by us in the investment as

determined by the general partner or investment manager of the respective partnership.
Other holdings Other holdings includes assets valued by pricing vendors using pricing matrices or models that

use observable inputs and an insurance contract held by our pension plan in the United Kingdom,
which is measured using a discounted cash flow model. In addition to observable market inputs
such as interest rates, the fair value measurement of the insurance contract also reflects
unobservable inputs, such as qualitative judgments about pricing of similar contracts in the
insurance market.

Expected Pension and OPEB Plan Funding

Our funding policy for our pension plans is to contribute amounts sufficient to meet legal funding requirements, plus any additional amounts that
we may determine to be appropriate considering the funded status of the plans, tax deductibility, the cash flows generated by us, and other
factors. Volatility in the global financial markets could have an unfavorable impact on future funding requirements. In 2024, we have no obligation
to fund our principal plans in the United States, but we regularly reassess the amount and timing of any discretionary contributions. Conversely,
we do expect to make contributions of at least $18 million to our Puerto Rico plan and $48 million to our foreign pension plans in 2024.
Additionally, we expect to have net cash outflows relating to our OPEB plans of approximately $17 million in 2024.

The following table details the funded status percentage of our pension plans as of December 31, 2023, including certain plans that are
unfunded in accordance with the guidelines of our funding policy outlined above.

United States and Puerto Rico International

as of December 31, 2023 (in millions)
Qualified

plans
Nonqualified

plan
Funded
plans

Unfunded
plans Total

Fair value of plan assets $ 1,846 $ n/a $ 847 $ n/a $ 2,693 
PBO 2,097 197 760 324 3,378 
Funded status percentage 88 % n/a 111 % n/a 80 %

Pension Plan Amendments

In May 2022, we announced that the pay and service amounts used to calculate pension benefits for active non-bargaining participants in our
U.S. Hillrom pension plan would freeze as of December 31, 2022. Years of additional service earned and eligible compensation received after
December 31, 2022 will not be included in the determination of the benefits payable to those participants. This change resulted in an $11 million
decline in the
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projected benefit obligation (PBO) with an offsetting curtailment gain included within other (income) expense, net on the consolidated statements
of income (loss) for the year ended December 31, 2022.

As of December 31, 2022, we transferred the assets and liabilities of the Baxter International Inc. and Subsidiaries Pension Plan II to the Baxter
International Inc. and Subsidiaries Pension Plan, resulting in one qualified U.S. defined benefit plan.

U.S. Defined Contribution Plan

Most U.S. employees are eligible to participate in a qualified defined contribution plan. We recognized expense of $116 million in 2023, $96
million in 2022 and $59 million in 2021 related to contributions to this plan.

NOTE 14
INCOME TAXES

Income (Loss) Before Income Tax Expense (Benefit) by Category
years ended December 31 (in millions) 2023 2022 2021
United States $ (1,666) $ (3,831) $ (505)
International 1,563 1,181 1,621 
Income (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes $ (103) $ (2,650) $ 1,116 

Income Tax Expense (Benefit)
years ended December 31 (in millions) 2023 2022 2021
Current

United States
Federal $ 9 $ 3 $ (11)
State and local (3) — 6 

International 459 231 249 
Current income tax expense (benefit) 465 234 244 
Deferred

United States
Federal (346) (248) (120)
State and local (41) (52) (7)

International (112) 70 (34)
Deferred income tax expense (benefit) (499) (230) (161)
Income tax expense (benefit) $ (34) $ 4 $ 83 
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Deferred Tax Assets and Liabilities
as of December 31 (in millions) 2023 2022
Deferred tax assets

Accrued liabilities and other $ 326 $ 404 
Pension and other postretirement benefits 152 143 
Tax credit and net operating loss carryforwards 800 1,143 
Swiss tax reform net asset basis step-up 157 151 
Operating lease liabilities 141 144 
Valuation allowances (658) (704)

Total deferred tax assets 918 1,281 
Deferred tax liabilities

Subsidiaries’ unremitted earnings 81 55 
Long-lived assets and other 769 1,470 
Operating lease right-of-use assets 131 137 

Total deferred tax liabilities 981 1,662 
Net deferred tax asset (liability) $ (63) $ (381)

At December 31, 2023, we had U.S. state operating loss carryforwards totaling $756 million, U.S. federal operating loss carryforwards totaling
$129 million and tax credit carryforwards totaling $299 million, which includes a U.S. foreign tax credit carryforward of $228 million. The U.S.
federal and state operating loss and tax credit carryforwards expire between 2024 and 2043, with $165 million of the operating loss
carryforwards having no expiration date.

At December 31, 2023, with respect to our operations outside the U.S., we had foreign operating loss carryforwards totaling $698 million and
foreign tax credit carryforwards totaling $15 million. The foreign operating loss carryforwards expire between 2024 and 2040 with $432 million
having no expiration date. All of the foreign tax credit carryforwards have no expiration date.

Realization of the U.S. and foreign operating loss and tax credit carryforwards depends on generating sufficient future earnings. A valuation
allowance of $658 million and $704 million was recognized as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively, to reduce the deferred tax assets
associated with net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards because we do not believe it is more likely than not that these assets will be fully
realized prior to expiration.

After evaluating relevant U.S. tax laws, any elections or other opportunities that may be available and the future expiration of certain U.S. tax
provisions that will impact the utilization of our U.S. foreign tax credit carryforwards, management expects to be able to realize some, but not all,
of the U.S. foreign tax credit deferred tax assets up to its recurring and non-recurring foreign inclusions. Therefore, a valuation allowance of
$130 million and $119 million was recognized with respect to the foreign tax credit carryforwards as of December 31, 2023 and 2022,
respectively. We will continue to evaluate the need for additional valuation allowances and, as circumstances change, the valuation allowance
may change.

As a result of Swiss tax reform legislation enacted during 2019, we recognized an $863 million net asset tax basis step-up that is amortizable as
a tax deduction ratably over tax years 2025 through 2029. A deferred tax asset of $157 million and $151 million for the tax basis step-up was
recognized as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. We expect to realize some, but not all, of the Swiss deferred tax assets for that tax
basis step-up based on expected future earnings generated by our Swiss subsidiary during the period in which the tax basis will be amortized.
Therefore, a valuation allowance of $90 million and $84 million was recognized on the Swiss deferred tax assets for the tax basis step-up as of
December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. For the year ended December 31, 2023, we recognized $9 million of deferred tax expense to
increase our valuation allowance to reflect our current estimate of its recoverability.

The following table is a summary of changes in our deferred tax valuation allowance for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021.
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years ended December 31 (in millions) 2023 2022 2021
Balance at beginning of period $ 704 $ 401 $ 454 
Acquisition — — 38 
Divestiture (5) — — 
Charged to income tax expense 90 315 37 
Deductions (135) (1) (98)
Currency translation adjustments 4 (11) (30)
Balance at end of period $ 658 $ 704 $ 401 

Income Tax Expense (Benefit) Reconciliation
years ended December 31 (in millions) 2023 2022 2021
Income tax expense (benefit) at U.S. statutory rate $ (22) $ (557) $ 234 
Tax incentives (209) (157) (193)
State and local taxes, net of federal benefit (36) (26) 8 
Impact of foreign taxes 189 89 180 
Tax-deductible foreign statutory loss on an investment in a foreign subsidiary — — (58)
Unfavorable court decision in a foreign jurisdiction related to an uncertain tax position — — 22 
Non-deductible goodwill impairments — 591 — 
Non-deductible separation-related costs 26 — — 
Notional interest deduction expense (benefit) 31 (306) (97)
Valuation allowances (45) 314 (61)
Stock compensation (windfall) shortfall tax expense (benefit) 11 (5) (13)
Research and development tax credits (21) (10) (4)
Uncertain tax positions 5 (13) 14 
Unutilized foreign tax credits 20 43 13 
Subpart F income 26 11 10 
Foreign tax credits (9) 6 (2)
Other, net — 24 30 
Income tax expense (benefit) $ (34) $ 4 $ 83 

Our effective income tax rate can differ from the 21% U.S. federal statutory rate due to a number of factors, including tax incentives, foreign rate
differences, state income taxes, non-deductible expenses, non-taxable income, increases or decreases in valuation allowances and liabilities for
uncertain tax positions, excess tax benefits or shortfalls on stock compensation awards, audit developments and legislative changes.

In 2023, our effective income tax rate was impacted favorably by geographic earnings mix, which was impacted by the long-lived asset
impairments we recognized during 2023, a $50 million net tax benefit after related valuation allowances from notional interest deductions that are
received by certain wholly-owned foreign subsidiaries that have financed their operations with equity capital and a $21 million tax benefit related
to research and development tax credits, partially offset by non-deductible separation-related costs and tax shortfalls on stock compensation
awards.

In 2022, our effective income tax rate was adversely impacted by non-deductible impairments of goodwill acquired in the Hillrom acquisition and
valuation allowance increases, including the increase described above related to deferred tax assets from a tax basis step-up that arose from
Swiss tax reform legislation in 2019. Those items were partially offset by a $47 million net tax benefit after related valuation allowances from
notional interest deductions.
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In 2021, our effective income tax rate was impacted favorably by geographic earnings mix, including a $50 million net tax benefit after related
valuation allowances from notional interest deductions, a $58 million tax benefit related to a tax-deductible foreign statutory loss on an
investment in a foreign subsidiary, a tax benefit related to a change in U.S. foreign tax credit regulations, which is reflected in the valuation
allowances item in the table above, and excess tax benefits on stock compensation awards, partially offset by an unfavorable court decision in a
foreign jurisdiction related to an uncertain tax position.

We plan to repatriate our foreign earnings with the exception of approximately $505 million of accumulated earnings that are indefinitely
reinvested as of December 31, 2023 related to two of our foreign operations. Additional withholding and capital gain taxes of $61 million would
be incurred if such earnings were remitted currently.

Our tax provisions for 2023, 2022 and 2021 do not include any significant tax charges related to either the Base Erosion and Anti-Abuse Tax
(BEAT) or Global Intangible Low Taxed Income (GILTI) provisions, except for the inability to fully utilize foreign tax credits against such GILTI.
Our accounting policy is to recognize any GILTI charge as a period cost.

Unrecognized Tax Benefits
We classify interest and penalties associated with income taxes in income tax expense (benefit) within the consolidated statements of income
(loss). Net interest and penalties recognized were not significant during 2023, 2022 and 2021. The liability recognized related to interest and
penalties was $23 million and $16 million as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. The total amount of gross unrecognized tax benefits
that, if recognized, would impact the effective tax rate are $57 million, $33 million and $39 million as of December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021,
respectively. We believe that it is reasonably possible that our gross unrecognized tax benefits will be reduced within the next 12 months by $11
million.

The following table is a reconciliation of our unrecognized tax benefits for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021. 

as of and for the years ended (in millions) 2023 2022 2021
Balance at beginning of the year $ 89 $ 111 $ 90 
Increase due to acquisition — — 11 
Increase associated with tax positions taken during the current year 77 11 31 
Increase (decrease) associated with tax positions taken during a prior year 12 11 (3)
Settlements (3) (7) (2)
Decrease associated with lapses in statutes of limitations (8) (37) (16)
Balance at end of the year $ 167 $ 89 $ 111 

Of the gross unrecognized tax benefits, $83 million and $35 million were recognized as liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets as of
December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

Tax Incentives

We have received tax incentives in Puerto Rico, Switzerland, Dominican Republic, Costa Rica and Thailand. The financial impact of the
reductions as compared to the statutory tax rates is indicated in the income tax expense (benefit) reconciliation table above. The tax reductions
as compared to the local statutory rate favorably impacted earnings (loss) per diluted share by $0.41 in 2023, $0.31 in 2022 and $0.38 in 2021.
The above grants provide that our manufacturing operations are and will be partially exempt from local taxes with varying expirations from 2024
to 2034.

Examinations of Tax Returns

As of December 31, 2023, we had ongoing audits in the United States, Germany, Italy and other jurisdictions. During 2022, we closed U.S. tax
years 2017-2018 with the IRS with no material adjustments to our financial statements. Tax years 2019 and 2020 remain under examination by
the IRS and tax years 2012 and forward remain
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under examination by various foreign taxing authorities. While the final outcome of these matters is inherently uncertain, we believe we have
made adequate tax provisions for all years subject to examination.

NOTE 15
EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE

The numerator for both basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share (EPS) is net income (loss) attributable to Baxter stockholders. The
denominator for basic EPS is the weighted-average number of shares outstanding during the period. The dilutive effect of outstanding stock
options, RSUs and PSUs is reflected in the denominator for diluted EPS using the treasury stock method.

The following table is a reconciliation of net income (loss) attributable to Baxter stockholders.

years ended December 31(in millions) 2023 2022 2021
Income (loss) from continuing operations $ (69) $ (2,654) $ 1,033 
Less: Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests 7 12 11 

Income (loss) from continuing operations attributable to Baxter stockholders (76) (2,666) 1,022 
Income from discontinued operations 2,732 233 262 

Net income (loss) attributable to Baxter stockholders $ 2,656 $ (2,433) $ 1,284 

The following table is a reconciliation of basic shares to diluted shares.
years ended December 31(in millions) 2023 2022 2021
Basic shares 506 504 502 
Effect of dilutive securities — — 6 
Diluted shares 506 504 508 

Basic and diluted shares are the same for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 due to our net losses from continuing operations for
those periods. The effect of dilutive securities for the year ended December 31, 2021 includes unexercised stock options, unvested RSUs and
contingently issuable shares related to granted PSUs. The computation of diluted EPS excluded 25 million, 22 million, and 7 million equity
awards in 2023, 2022, and 2021, respectively, because their inclusion would have had an anti-dilutive effect on diluted EPS. Refer to Note 9 for
additional information regarding items impacting basic shares.

NOTE 16
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, DERIVATIVES AND HEDGING ACTIVITIES

Accounts Receivable Sales

For accounts receivable originated in Japan, we have entered into agreements with a financial institution in which the entire interest in and
ownership of the receivable is sold. We continue to service the receivables in this arrangement.

The following is a summary of the activity relating to the arrangement.
as of and for the years ended December 31 (in millions) 2023 2022 2021
Sold receivables at beginning of year $ 71 $ 81 $ 96 
Proceeds from sales of receivables 274 291 339 
Cash collections (remitted to the owners of the receivables) (275) (293) (346)
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes (4) (8) (8)
Sold receivables at end of year $ 66 $ 71 $ 81 

The net gains or losses relating to the sales of accounts receivable were immaterial for each year.
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Concentrations of Credit Risk

We invest excess cash in certificates of deposit or money market or other funds and diversify the concentration of cash among different financial
institutions. With respect to financial instruments, where appropriate, we have diversified our selection of counterparties, and have arranged
collateralization and master-netting agreements to minimize the risk of loss.

Global economic conditions and liquidity issues in certain countries have resulted, and may continue to result, in delays in the collection of
receivables and credit losses. Global economic conditions, governmental actions and customer-specific factors may require us to re-evaluate the
collectability of our receivables and we could potentially incur additional credit losses.

Foreign Currency and Interest Rate Risk Management

We operate on a global basis and are exposed to the risk that our earnings, cash flows and equity could be adversely impacted by fluctuations in
foreign exchange and interest rates. Our hedging policy attempts to manage these risks to an acceptable level based on our judgment of the
appropriate trade-off between risk, opportunity and costs.

We are primarily exposed to foreign exchange risk with respect to recognized assets and liabilities, forecasted transactions and net assets
denominated in the Euro, British Pound, Chinese Renminbi, Japanese Yen, Swedish Krona, British Pound, Polish Zloty, Mexican Peso,
Australian Dollar, Canadian Dollar, Korean Won, Colombian Peso, Brazilian Real, Russian Ruble, Turkish Lira and Indian Rupee. We manage
our foreign currency exposures on a consolidated basis, which allows us to net exposures and take advantage of any natural offsets. In addition,
we use derivative and nonderivative instruments to further reduce the net exposure to foreign exchange risk. Gains and losses on the hedging
instruments offset losses and gains on the hedged transactions and reduce the earnings and equity volatility resulting from changes in foreign
exchange rates. Financial market and currency volatility may limit our ability to cost-effectively hedge these exposures.

We are also exposed to the risk that our earnings and cash flows could be adversely impacted by fluctuations in interest rates. Our policy is to
manage interest costs using the mix of fixed- and floating-rate debt that we believe is appropriate at that time. To manage this mix in a cost-
efficient manner, we periodically enter into interest rate swaps in which we agree to exchange, at specified intervals, the difference between fixed
and floating interest amounts calculated by reference to an agreed-upon notional amount.

We do not hold any instruments for trading purposes and none of our outstanding derivative instruments contain credit-risk-related contingent
features.

Cash Flow Hedges

We may use options, including collars and purchased options, forwards and cross-currency swaps to hedge the foreign exchange risk to
earnings relating to forecasted transactions and recognized assets and liabilities. We periodically use treasury rate locks to hedge the risk to
earnings associated with movements in interest rates relating to anticipated issuances of debt.

The notional amounts of foreign exchange contracts designated as cash flow hedges were $340 million and $398 million as of December 31,
2023 and 2022, respectively. The maximum term over which we have cash flow hedge contracts in place related to forecasted transactions at
December 31, 2023 is 12 months for foreign exchange contracts. There were no outstanding interest rate contracts designated as cash flow
hedges as of December 31, 2023 and 2022.

Fair Value Hedges

We periodically use interest rate swaps to convert a portion of our fixed-rate debt into variable-rate debt. These instruments hedge our earnings
from changes in the fair value of debt due to fluctuations in the designated benchmark interest rate.

There were no outstanding interest rate contracts designated as fair value hedges as of December 31, 2023 and 2022.  
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In October 2023, we entered into a foreign currency forward contract with a notional amount of $798 million maturing in May 2024 and
designated that derivative as a fair value hedge of our €750 million of 0.40% senior notes due May 2024.

Net Investment Hedges

In May 2017, we issued €600 million of 1.3% senior notes due May 2025. In May 2019, we issued €750 million of 1.3% senior notes due May
2029. We have designated these debt obligations as hedges of our net investment in our European operations and, as a result, mark to spot rate
adjustments of the outstanding debt balances are recorded as a component of AOCI.

In May 2019, we issued €750 million of 0.40% senior notes due May 2024. We had designated these debt obligations as hedges of our net
investment in our European operations and, as a result, mark to spot rate adjustments of the outstanding debt balances were previously
recorded as a component of AOCI. In October 2023, we dedesignated this previously designated net investment hedge and concurrently entered
into a fair value hedging relationship as discussed in the “Fair Value Hedges” section above.

As of December 31, 2023, we had an accumulated pre-tax unrealized translation gain in AOCI of $37 million related to the Euro-denominated
senior notes.

Dedesignations

If it is determined that a derivative or nonderivative hedging instrument is no longer highly effective as a hedge, we discontinue hedge
accounting prospectively. Gains or losses relating to terminations of effective cash flow hedges generally continue to be deferred and are
recognized consistent with the loss or income recognition of the underlying hedged items. However, if it is probable that hedged forecasted
transactions will not occur, any gains or losses would be immediately reclassified from AOCI to earnings. There were no cash flow hedge
dedesignations in 2023, 2022 or 2021 resulting from changes in our assessment of the probability that the hedged forecasted transactions would
occur. The losses relating to these terminations continue to be deferred and are being recognized consistent with the underlying hedged item,
interest expense on the issuance of debt.

If we terminate a fair value hedge, an amount equal to the cumulative fair value adjustment to the hedged item at the date of termination is
amortized to earnings over the remaining term of the hedged item. There were no fair value hedges terminated in 2023, 2022 or 2021.

If we remove a net investment hedge designation, any gain or loss recognized in AOCI is not reclassified to earnings until we sell, liquidate, or
deconsolidate the foreign investments that were being hedged. In October 2023, we dedesignated one of our net investment hedges as
discussed in the "Net Investment Hedges" section above. There were no net investment hedges terminated in 2022 or 2021.

Undesignated Derivative Instruments

We use forward contracts to hedge earnings from the effects of foreign exchange relating to certain of our intra-company and third-party
receivables and payables denominated in a foreign currency. These derivative instruments are generally not formally designated as hedges and
the terms of these instruments generally do not exceed one month.

The total notional amount of undesignated derivative instruments was $709 million and $753 million as of December 31, 2023 and 2022,
respectively.

Gains and Losses on Hedging Instruments and Undesignated Derivative Instruments

The following tables summarize the gains and losses on our hedging instruments and the classification of those gains and losses within our
consolidated financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and
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2021.

(in millions)

Gain (loss)
recognized in OCI Location of gain

(loss) in
income statement

Gain (loss) reclassified from
AOCI into income

2023 2022 2021 2023 2022 2021
Cash flow hedges

Interest rate contracts $ — $ — $ — Interest expense, net $ (6) $ (6) $ (6)
Foreign exchange contracts 16 28 5 Cost of sales 16 26 (23)

Fair value hedges
Foreign exchange contracts (4) — — Other (income) expense, net (3) — — 

Net investment hedges (58) 141 200 Other (income) expense, net — — — 
Total $ (46) $ 169 $ 205 $ 7 $ 20 $ (29)

Location of gain (loss) in
income statement

Gain (loss) recognized
in income

(in millions) 2023 2022 2021
Fair value hedges

Foreign exchange contracts Other (income) expense, net $ 38 $ — $ — 
Undesignated derivative instruments

Foreign exchange contracts Other (income) expense, net 2 (30) (36)
Total $ 40 $ (30) $ (36)

The following table summarizes net-of-tax activity in AOCI, a component of stockholders’ equity, related to our cash flow hedges.
as of and for the year ended December 31 (in millions) 2023 2022 2021
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) balance at beginning of year $ (119) $ (126) $ (153)
(Loss) gain in fair value of derivatives during the year 5 22 4 
Amount reclassified to earnings during the year (6) (15) 23 
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) balance at end of year $ (120) $ (119) $ (126)

As of December 31, 2023, $6 million of deferred, net after-tax losses on derivative instruments included in AOCI are expected to be recognized
in earnings during the next 12 months, coinciding with when the hedged items are expected to impact earnings.

120



Derivative Assets and Liabilities

The following table summarizes the classification and fair values of derivative instruments reported in the consolidated balance sheet as of
December 31, 2023.

Derivatives in asset positions Derivatives in liability positions
(in millions) Balance sheet location Fair value Balance sheet location Fair value
Derivative instruments designated as
hedges

Foreign exchange contracts
Prepaid expenses and other

current assets $ 47 
Accrued expenses and other

current liabilities $ — 
Undesignated derivative instruments

Foreign exchange contracts
Prepaid expenses and other

current assets 4 
Accrued expenses and other

current liabilities 5 
Total derivative instruments $ 51 $ 5 

The following table summarizes the classification and fair values of derivative instruments reported in the consolidated balance sheet as of
December 31, 2022.

Derivatives in asset positions Derivatives in liability positions
(in millions) Balance sheet location Fair value Balance sheet location Fair value
Derivative instruments designated as
hedges

Foreign exchange contracts
Prepaid expenses and other

current assets $ 8 
Accrued expenses and other

current liabilities $ 5 
Undesignated derivative instruments

Foreign exchange contracts
Prepaid expenses and other

current assets 6 
Accrued expenses and other

current liabilities 7 
Total derivative instruments $ 14 $ 12 

While some of our derivatives are subject to master netting arrangements, we present our assets and liabilities related to derivative instruments
on a gross basis within the consolidated balance sheets. Additionally, we are not required to post collateral for any of our outstanding derivatives.

The following table provides information on our derivative positions as if they were presented on a net basis, allowing for the right of offset by
counterparty.

December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022
(in millions) Asset Liability Asset Liability
Gross amounts recognized in the consolidated balance sheets $ 51 $ 5 $ 14 $ 12 
Gross amount subject to offset in master netting arrangements not offset
in the consolidated balance sheets (5) (5) (4) (4)
Total $ 46 $ — $ 10 $ 8 

The following table presents the amounts recorded on the consolidated balance sheets related to fair value hedges:

Carrying amount of hedged items
Cumulative amount of fair value hedging adjustment

included in the carrying amount of the hedged items (a)

(in millions)
Balance as of December

31, 2023
Balance as of December

31, 2022
Balance as of December

31, 2023
Balance as of December

31, 2022
Long-term debt $ 100 $ 101 $ 3 $ 4 

(a) These fair value hedges were terminated in 2018 and earlier periods.
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NOTE 17
FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

The fair value hierarchy consists of the following three levels:

• Level 1 — Quoted prices in active markets that we have the ability to access for identical assets or liabilities;

• Level 2 — Quoted prices for similar instruments in active markets, quoted prices for identical or similar instruments in markets
that are not active, and model-based valuations in which all significant inputs are observable in the market; and

• Level 3 — Valuations using significant inputs that are unobservable in the market and include the use of judgment by
management about the assumptions market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability.

The following tables summarize our assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis.
Basis of fair value measurement

(in millions)

Balance as of
December 31,

2023

Quoted prices
in active

markets for
identical assets

(Level 1)

Significant
other

observable
inputs

(Level 2)

Significant
unobservable

inputs
(Level 3)

Assets
Foreign exchange contracts $ 51 $ — $ 51 $ — 
Available-for-sale debt securities 22 — — 22 
Marketable equity securities 44 44 — — 

Total $ 117 $ 44 $ 51 $ 22 
Liabilities
Foreign exchange contracts $ 5 $ — $ 5 $ — 
Contingent payments related to acquisitions 14 — — 14 

Total $ 19 $ — $ 5 $ 14 

Basis of fair value measurement

(in millions)

Balance as of
December 31,

2022

Quoted prices
in active

markets for
identical assets

(Level 1)

Significant
other

observable
inputs

(Level 2)

Significant
unobservable

inputs
(Level 3)

Assets
Foreign exchange contracts $ 14 $ — $ 14 $ — 
Available-for-sale debt securities 47 — — 47 
Marketable equity securities 32 32 — — 

Total $ 93 $ 32 $ 14 $ 47 
Liabilities
Foreign exchange contracts $ 12 $ — $ 12 $ — 
Contingent payments related to acquisitions 84 — — 84 

Total $ 96 $ — $ 12 $ 84 

As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, cash and cash equivalents of $3.19 billion and $1.72 billion, respectively, included money market and other
short-term funds of approximately $1.63 billion and $341 million, respectively, that are considered Level 2 in the fair value hierarchy.

For assets that are measured using quoted prices in active markets, the fair value is the published market price per unit multiplied by the number
of units held, without consideration of transaction costs. A majority of the derivatives entered into by us are valued using internal valuation
techniques as no quoted market prices exist for such instruments. The principal techniques used to value these instruments are discounted cash
flow and Black-Scholes
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models. The key inputs, which are considered observable and vary depending on the type of derivative, include contractual terms, interest rate
yield curves, foreign exchange rates and volatility.

Available-for-sale debt securities, which consist of convertible debt and convertible redeemable preferred shares issued by nonpublic entities,
are measured using discounted cash flow and option pricing models. Those available-for-sale debt securities are classified as Level 3 fair value
measurements when there are no observable transactions near the balance sheet date due to the lack of observable data over certain fair value
inputs such as equity volatility. The fair values of available-for-sale debt securities increase when interest rates decrease, equity volatility
increases, or the fair values of the equity shares underlying the conversion options increase.

Contingent payments related to acquisitions, which consist of milestone payments and sales-based payments, are valued using discounted cash
flow techniques incorporating management's expectations of future outcomes. The fair value of milestone payments increases as the estimated
probability of payment increases or the expected timing of payments is accelerated. The fair value of sales-based payments is based upon
probability-weighted future revenue estimates, and increases as revenue estimates increase, probability weighting of higher revenue scenarios
increases or the expected timing of payment is accelerated.

The following table is a reconciliation of recurring fair value measurements that use significant unobservable inputs (Level 3), which consist of
contingent payments related to acquisitions and available-for-sale debt securities.

2023 2022

as of and for the years ended December 31 (in millions)
Contingent payments
related to acquisitions

Available-for-sale debt
securities

Contingent payments
related to acquisitions

Available-for-sale debt
securities

Fair value at beginning of period $ 84 $ 47 $ 143 $ 30 
Additions — 2 — 23 
Change in fair value recognized in earnings (19) (22) (39) — 
Change in fair value recognized in AOCI — — — 4 
Payments (51) — (20) — 
Transfers out of Level 3 — (5) — (10)

Fair value at end of period $ 14 $ 22 $ 84 $ 47 

During the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, available-for-sale debt securities were reclassified from Level 3, upon conversion to
marketable equity securities, which are classified as Level 1 in the fair value hierarchy, upon initial public offerings of the investees.

Financial Instruments Not Measured at Fair Value

In addition to the financial instruments that we are required to recognize at fair value in the consolidated balance sheets, we have certain
financial instruments that are recognized at amortized cost or some basis other than fair value. For these financial instruments, the following
table provides the values recognized in the consolidated balance sheets and the estimated fair values.

Book values Fair values(a)
as of December 31 (in millions) 2023 2022 2023 2022
Liabilities
Short-term debt $ — $ 299 $ — $ 299 
Current maturities of long-term debt and finance lease obligations 2,668 1,105 2,621 1,079 
Long-term debt and finance lease obligations 11,130 15,232 10,067 13,657 

(a)    These fair value amounts are classified as Level 2 within the fair value hierarchy as they are estimated based on observable inputs.

The carrying value of short-term debt approximates its fair value due to the short-term maturities of the obligations. The estimated fair values of
current and long-term debt were computed by multiplying price by the notional amount of the respective debt instruments. Price is calculated
using the stated terms of the respective debt instrument and yield curves commensurate with our credit risk. The carrying values of other
financial instruments not presented in the table above, such as accounts receivable and accounts payable, approximate their fair values due to
the short-term maturities of most of those assets and liabilities.

123



The carrying values of equity investments without readily determinable fair values that we measure at cost, less impairment were $66 million and
$104 million at December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. When applicable, we also adjust the measurement of such equity investments for
observable prices in orderly transactions for an identical or similar investment of the same issuer. These investments are included in Other non-
current assets on our consolidated balance sheets.

NOTE 18
SEGMENT INFORMATION

Our reportable segments were previously comprised of the following geographic segments related to our legacy Baxter business: Americas,
EMEA and APAC, and a global segment for our Hillrom business. In the third quarter of 2023, we completed the implementation of a new
operating model intended to simplify and streamline our operations and better align our manufacturing and supply chain to our commercial
activities. Under this new operating model, our business is comprised of four segments: Medical Products and Therapies, Healthcare Systems
and Technologies (formerly referred to as our Hillrom segment), Pharmaceuticals and Kidney Care. Our segments were changed during the third
quarter of 2023 to align with our new operating model and prior period segment disclosures have been revised to reflect the new segment
presentation.

The Medical Products and Therapies segment includes sales of our sterile IV solutions, infusion systems, administration sets, parenteral nutrition
therapies and surgical hemostat, sealant and adhesion prevention products. The Healthcare Systems and Technologies segment includes sales
of our connected care solutions and collaboration tools, including smart bed systems, patient monitoring systems and diagnostic technologies,
respiratory health devices and advanced equipment for the surgical space, including surgical video technologies, precision positioning devices
and other accessories. The Pharmaceuticals segment includes sales of specialty injectable pharmaceuticals, inhaled anesthesia and drug
compounding. The Kidney Care segment includes sales of chronic and acute dialysis therapies and services, including PD, HD, CRRT and other
organ support therapies. Other sales not allocated to a segment primarily include sales of products and services provided directly through certain
of our manufacturing facilities and royalty income under a business development arrangement that ended in early 2023 when we acquired the
related product rights.
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Disaggregation of Net Sales

The following tables present our U.S. and International disaggregated net sales. Intersegment sales are eliminated in consolidation.

for the years ended December 31 2023 2022 2021
(in millions) U.S. International Total U.S. International Total U.S. International Total

Infusion Therapies and
Technologies

$ 2,227 $ 1,733 $ 3,960 $ 2,241 $ 1,576 $ 3,817 $ 2,202 $ 1,642 $ 3,844 

Advanced Surgery 582 469 1,051 574 424 998 545 432 977 
Medical Products and
Therapies

2,809 2,202 5,011 2,815 2,000 4,815 2,747 2,074 4,821 

Care and Connectivity
Solutions

1,263 537 1,800 1,295 496 1,791 98 44 142 

Front Line Care 905 308 1,213 840 308 1,148 51 19 70 

Healthcare Systems and
Technologies

2,168 845 3,013 2,135 804 2,939 149 63 212 

Injectables and Anesthesia 759 588 1,347 682 623 1,305 753 637 1,390 
Drug Compounding — 902 902 — 821 821 — 901 901 

Pharmaceuticals 759 1,490 2,249 682 1,444 2,126 753 1,538 2,291 
Chronic Therapies 927 2,756 3,683 923 2,791 3,714 869 2,993 3,862 
Acute Therapies 271 499 770 263 472 735 308 512 820 

Kidney Care 1,198 3,255 4,453 1,186 3,263 4,449 1,177 3,505 4,682 
Other 66 21 87 137 40 177 112 28 140 

Total Baxter $ 7,000 $ 7,813 $ 14,813 $ 6,955 $ 7,551 $ 14,506 $ 4,938 $ 7,208 $ 12,146 

In connection with our segment change in the third quarter of 2023, we reclassified $16 million of sales from the first half of 2023, $34 million of sales for the year ended December
31, 2022 and $38 million of sales for the year ended December 31, 2021 from Chronic Therapies to Acute Therapies to conform to the current period presentation. Additionally, in
connection with the reclassification of our BPS business to discontinued operations during the second quarter of 2023, we reclassified $2 million of contract manufacturing revenues
from the first quarter of 2023, $37 million of sales for the year ended December 31, 2022 and $31 million of sales for the year ended December 31, 2021 from BPS to Other (within
continuing operations), as the related manufacturing facility was not part of that divestiture transaction.

1
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Geographic Information

Our net sales are attributed to the following geographic regions based on the location of the customer.

for the years ended December 31 (in millions) 2023 2022 2021
Net sales:

United States $ 7,000 $ 6,955 $ 4,938 
Emerging markets 3,319 3,222 3,012 
Rest of world 4,494 4,329 4,196 

Total net sales $ 14,813 $ 14,506 $ 12,146 

Emerging markets include sales from our operations in Eastern Europe, the Middle East, Africa, Latin America and Asia (except for Japan).
 Rest of world includes sales from our operations in Western Europe, Canada, Japan, Australia and New Zealand.

Our property, plant and equipment and operating lease right-of-use assets, net are attributed to the following geographic regions.

as of December 31 (in millions) 2023 2022
Property, plant and equipment and operating lease right-of-use assets, net:

United States $ 1,995 $ 2,011 
Emerging markets 1,485 1,492 
Rest of world 1,477 1,733 

Total property, plant and equipment and operating lease right-of-use assets, net $ 4,957 $ 5,236 

Segment Operating Income

We use segment operating income to evaluate the performance of our segments and to make resource allocation decisions. Segment operating
income represents income before income taxes, interest and other non-operating income or expense, unallocated corporate costs, intangible
asset amortization and other special items. Special items, which are presented below in our reconciliations of segment operating income to
income (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes, are excluded from segment operating income because they are highly variable,
difficult to predict and of a size that may substantially impact our reported results of operations for the period.

Under our new operating model, most global functional support costs, overhead costs and other shared costs that benefit our segments are
allocated to those segments. Corporate costs that are not allocated to our segments, as well as any differences between actual corporate costs
and the amounts allocated to our segments, are presented

1
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as unallocated corporate costs. The following table presents our segment operating income and reconciliations of segment operating income to
income (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes.

for the years ended December 31 (in millions) 2023 2022 2021
Medical Products and Therapies $ 972 $ 962 $ 955 
Healthcare Systems and Technologies 483 494 60 
Pharmaceuticals 401 391 523 
Kidney Care 300 408 488 
Other 18 77 59 

Total 2,174 2,332 2,085 
Unallocated corporate costs (51) (54) (49)
Intangible asset amortization expense (652) (753) (298)
Business optimization items (534) (225) (114)
European Medical Devices Regulation (48) (48) (42)
Long-lived asset impairments (267) (344) — 
Separation-related costs (225) (7) — 
Legal matters (7) — (13)
Acquisition and integration items — (213) (188)
Product-related items — (44) — 
Loss on product divestiture arrangement — (54) — 
Goodwill impairments — (2,812) — 
Loss on subsidiary liquidation — (21) — 
Investigation and related costs — — (31)

Total operating income (loss) 390 (2,243) 1,350 
Interest expense, net 442 395 193 
Other (income) expense, net 51 12 41 

Loss from continuing operations before income taxes $ (103) $ (2,650) $ 1,116 

Additional financial information for our segments is as follows:

for the years ended December 31 (in millions) 2023 2022 2021
Depreciation Expense :
Medical Products and Therapies $ 202 $ 204 $ 213 
Healthcare Systems and Technologies 91 95 3 
Pharmaceuticals 41 57 71 
Kidney Care 277 271 282 

Total depreciation expense $ 611 $ 627 $ 569 

Depreciation expense related to Corporate property, plant and equipment has been fully allocated to our segments and those allocations are reflected in the depreciation amounts
presented herein.

Our chief operating decision maker does not receive asset or capital expenditure information by segment and, accordingly, we do not report that
information for our segments.

NOTE 19
QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (UNAUDITED)

The following table represents data from our unaudited consolidated statements of operations for the most recent eight quarters. This quarterly
information has been prepared on the same basis as the consolidated financial statements and includes all normal recurring adjustments
necessary to fairly state the information for the periods

1
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presented. The results of operations of any quarter are not necessarily indicative of the results that may be expected for any future period.

2023

(in millions, except per share data)
First

Quarter Second Quarter
Third

Quarter Fourth Quarter Full Year 

Net sales $ 3,513 $ 3,707 $ 3,708 $ 3,885 $ 14,813 
Gross margin 1,275 1,111 1,117 1,472 4,975 
Income (loss) from continuing operations — (193) 51 73 (69)
Income (loss) from discontinued operations 45 54 2,460 173 2,732 
Net income (loss) 45 (139) 2,511 246 2,663 
Net income (loss) attributable to Baxter stockholders 44 (141) 2,508 245 2,656 

Income (loss) from continuing operations per common share
Basic $ 0.00 $ (0.39) $ 0.09 $ 0.14 $ (0.15)
Diluted $ 0.00 $ (0.39) $ 0.09 $ 0.14 $ (0.15)

Income (loss) from discontinued operations per common share
Basic $ 0.09 $ 0.11 $ 4.85 $ 0.34 $ 5.40 
Diluted $ 0.09 $ 0.11 $ 4.83 $ 0.34 $ 5.40 

Net Income (loss) per common share
Basic $ 0.09 $ (0.28) $ 4.95 $ 0.48 $ 5.25 
Diluted $ 0.09 $ (0.28) $ 4.93 $ 0.48 $ 5.25 

2022

(in millions, except per share data)
First

Quarter Second Quarter
Third

Quarter Fourth Quarter Full Year 
Net sales $ 3,558 $ 3,594 $ 3,609 $ 3,745 $ 14,506 
Gross margin 1,262 1,371 1,045 1,388 5,066 
Income (loss) from continuing operations 8 185 (2,991) 144 (2,654)
Income from discontinued operations 65 70 57 41 233 
Net income (loss) 73 255 (2,934) 185 (2,421)
Net income (loss) attributable to Baxter stockholders 71 252 (2,937) 181 (2,433)

Income (loss) from continuing operations per common share
Basic $ 0.01 $ 0.36 $ (5.94) $ 0.28 $ (5.29)
Diluted $ 0.01 $ 0.36 $ (5.94) $ 0.28 $ (5.29)

Income from discontinued operations per common share
Basic $ 0.13 $ 0.14 $ 0.11 $ 0.08 $ 0.46 
Diluted $ 0.13 $ 0.14 $ 0.11 $ 0.08 $ 0.46 

Net Income (loss) per common share
Basic $ 0.14 $ 0.50 $ (5.83) $ 0.36 $ (4.83)
Diluted $ 0.14 $ 0.50 $ (5.83) $ 0.36 $ (4.83)

1 The sum of per share amounts for quarterly periods may not equal full year amounts due to rounding.
2 Our results from continuing operations for the quarter ended June 30, 2023 included $243 million of long-lived asset impairment charges resulting from our decision to

cease production at one of our dialyzer manufacturing facilities.

2 3 1
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3 Our results from continuing operations for the quarter ended September 30, 2023 included $267 million of long-lived asset impairment charges related to our HD business
and our results from discontinued operations for that quarterly period included a gain of $2.88 billion from the sale of our BPS business.

4 Our results from continuing operations for the quarter ended September 30, 2022 included $2.79 billion of goodwill impairments and $332 million of long-lived asset
impairments related to assets acquired in connection with our December 2021 acquisition of Hillrom.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Baxter International Inc.

Opinions on the Financial Statements and Internal Control over Financial Reporting

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Baxter International Inc. and its subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of
December 31, 2023 and 2022, and the related consolidated statements of income (loss), of comprehensive income (loss), of changes in equity
and of cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2023, including the related notes (collectively referred to as the
“consolidated financial statements”). We also have audited the Company's internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2023,
based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission (COSO).

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the
Company as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended
December 31, 2023 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Also in our opinion, the
Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2023, based on criteria
established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the COSO.

Basis for Opinions

The Company's management is responsible for these consolidated financial statements, for maintaining effective internal control over financial
reporting, and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in Management’s Assessment of
Internal Control Over Financial Reporting appearing under Item 9A. Our responsibility is to express opinions on the Company’s consolidated
financial statements and on the Company's internal control over financial reporting based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm
registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to
the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange
Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud, and
whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects.

Our audits of the consolidated financial statements included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures
included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Our audits also
included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the consolidated financial statements. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of
internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating
effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audits also included performing such other procedures as we considered
necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinions.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A
company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (ii) provide reasonable assurance
that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance
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with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with
authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of
unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or
that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Critical Audit Matters

The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current period audit of the consolidated financial statements that was
communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that (i) relates to accounts or disclosures that are material to the
consolidated financial statements and (ii) involved our especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The communication of critical
audit matters does not alter in any way our opinion on the consolidated financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by
communicating the critical audit matter below, providing a separate opinion on the critical audit matter or on the accounts or disclosures to which
it relates.

Goodwill Impairment Assessments – Front Line Care and Chronic Therapies Reporting Units
As described in Notes 1 and 5 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company’s consolidated goodwill balance as of December 31, 2023
was $6,514 million. Goodwill is not amortized but is subject to an impairment review annually and whenever indicators of impairment exist. In the
third quarter of 2023, the Company completed the implementation of a new operating model and the Company’s segments were changed to
align with the new operating model. As disclosed by management, the Company identified new reporting units as a result of the segment change
and performed goodwill impairment assessments both before and after the reporting unit change and did not identify any goodwill impairments.
As disclosed by management, in connection with the Company’s November 1, 2023 annual goodwill impairment tests, the fair values of the Front
Line Care reporting unit within the Company’s Healthcare Systems and Technologies segment and the Chronic Therapies reporting unit within
the Company’s Kidney Care segment exceeded their carrying values. As of December 31, 2023, the carrying amounts of goodwill for the Front
Line Care and Chronic Therapies reporting units were $2.42 billion and $444 million, respectively. The fair values of the Company’s reporting
units are generally determined based on a discounted cash flow model (an income approach) and earnings multiples (a market approach).
Significant assumptions in reporting unit fair value measurements generally include forecasted cash flows, discount rates, terminal growth rates
and earnings multiples.

The principal considerations for our determination that performing procedures relating to the goodwill impairment assessments of the Front Line
Care and Chronic Therapies reporting units is a critical audit matter are (i) the significant judgment by management when developing the fair
value estimate of these reporting units; (ii) a high degree of auditor judgment, subjectivity, and effort in performing procedures and evaluating
management’s significant assumptions related to the forecasted cash flows, discount rates, terminal growth rates, and earnings multiples; and
(iii) the audit effort involved the use of professionals with specialized skill and knowledge.

Addressing the matter involved performing procedures and evaluating audit evidence in connection with forming our overall opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. These procedures included testing the effectiveness of controls relating to management’s goodwill impairment
assessments, including controls over the valuation of the Company’s reporting units. These procedures also included, among others (i) testing
management’s process for developing the fair value estimate of the Front Line Care and Chronic Therapies reporting units; (ii) evaluating the
appropriateness of the income approach and market approach; (iii) testing the completeness and accuracy of underlying data used in the income
approach and market approach; (iv) and evaluating the reasonableness of the significant assumptions used by management related to the
forecasted cash flows, discount rates, terminal growth rates, and earnings multiples. Evaluating management’s significant assumption related to
the forecasted cash flows involved evaluating whether the assumption used was reasonable considering (i) the current and past performance of
the Front Line Care and Chronic Therapies reporting units; (ii) the consistency with external market and industry data; and (iii) whether the
assumption was consistent with evidence obtained in other areas of the audit. Professionals with specialized skill and knowledge were used to
assist in evaluating the appropriateness of the income approach and market approach and the reasonableness of the discount rate, terminal
growth rate and earnings multiple assumptions.
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/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chicago, Illinois
February 8, 2024

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 1985.
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Item 9.    Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure.

None.

Item 9A.    Controls and Procedures.

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We have established disclosure controls and procedures that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by us in the
reports that we file or submit under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the Exchange Act) is recorded, processed, summarized and reported
within the time periods specified in the rules and forms of the SEC, and that such information is communicated to our management, including our
Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure. Our management, with the
participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, has evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures
(as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act) as of December 31, 2023. Based on that evaluation, our Chief Executive
Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of December 31, 2023.

Management’s Assessment of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as defined in Rule 13a-15(f)
of the Exchange Act. Our internal control over financial reporting is designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America (U.S. GAAP).

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or
that the degree of compliance with policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Management performed an assessment of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2023. In making
this assessment, management used the framework in Internal Control-Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based on that assessment under the framework in Internal Control-Integrated Framework (2013),
management concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2023.

The effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2023 has been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an
independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report which appears herein.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There have been no changes in our internal control over financial reporting (as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the
Exchange Act) during the quarter ended December 31, 2023 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our
internal control over financial reporting.

Item 9B.    Other Information.

Certain of our officers and directors have made elections to participate in, and are participating in, our employee stock purchase plan or have
made, and may from time to time make, elections to have shares withheld to cover withholding taxes or pay the exercise price of options, which
may constitute non-Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangements (as defined in Item 408(c) of Regulation S-K).

Item 9C.    Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions that Prevent Inspections.

Not Applicable.
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PART III

Item 10.    Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance.

Refer to information under the captions entitled “Corporate Governance at Baxter International Inc. — Proposal 1 — Election of Directors,” “—
Board of Directors — Nomination of Directors,” “— Committees of the Board — Audit Committee,” “— Board Responsibilities — Code of
Conduct,” and “Ownership of Baxter Stock — Delinquent Section 16(a) Reports” in Baxter’s definitive proxy statement to be filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission and delivered to stockholders in connection with the Annual Meeting of Stockholders expected to be held
on May 7, 2024 (the Proxy Statement), all of which information is incorporated herein by reference. Also refer to information regarding executive
officers of Baxter under the caption entitled “Information about our Executive Officers” in Part I of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Item 11.    Executive Compensation.

Refer to information under the captions entitled “Executive Compensation,” and “Corporate Governance at Baxter International Inc.—Director
Compensation” in the Proxy Statement, all of which information is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 12.    Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters.

The following table provides information relating to shares of common stock that may be issued under our existing equity compensation plans as
of December 31, 2023.

Plan Category

Number of Shares
to be Issued upon

Exercise of
Outstanding

Options,
Warrants and

Rights(a)

Weighted-Average
Exercise Price of

Outstanding
Options, Warrants

and Rights(b)

Number of Shares
Remaining

Available for
Future Issuance

Under Equity
Compensation Plans

(Excluding
Shares Reflected in

Column(a)(b))

Equity Compensation Plans Approved by
Stockholders 24,286,290 (1) $ 59.35 (2) 29,535,570 (3)

Equity Compensation Plans Not Approved by
Stockholders 52,245 (4) $ — — 

Total 24,338,535 (5) $ 59.35 (2) 29,535,570 

(1) Excludes purchase rights under the Employee Stock Purchase Plan. Under the Employee Stock Purchase Plan, eligible employees may
purchase shares of common stock through payroll deductions of up to 15 percent of base pay at a purchase price equal to 85 percent of
the closing market price on the purchase date (as defined by the Employee Stock Purchase Plan). A participating employee may not
purchase more than $25,000 in fair market value of common stock under the Employee Stock Purchase Plan in any calendar year and
may withdraw from the Employee Stock Purchase Plan at any time.

(2) Restricted stock units (RSUs) and performance share units (PSUs) are excluded when determining the weighted-average exercise price
of outstanding options.

(3) Includes (i) 9,040,834 shares of common stock available for purchase under the Employee Stock Purchase Plan and (ii) 20,494,735
shares of common stock available under the 2021 Incentive Plan.

(4) Includes 52,245 of outstanding replacement RSUs granted to holders of Hillrom equity awards at closing of the Hillrom acquisition.
These replacement RSUs were approved by our Board of Directors, not our stockholders.

(5) Includes outstanding awards of 19,467,050 stock options, which have a weighted-average exercise price of $59.35 and a weighted-
average remaining term of 5.3 years, 4,005,462 shares of common stock issuable upon vesting of RSUs, and 729,130 shares of
common stock reserved for issuance in connection with PSU grants.

Refer to information under the captions entitled “Ownership of Baxter Stock — Security Ownership by Directors and Executive Officers” and
“— Security Ownership by Certain Beneficial Owners” in the Proxy Statement, all of which information is incorporated herein by reference.

134



Item 13.    Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence.

Refer to the information under the caption entitled “Corporate Governance at Baxter International Inc.—Board of Directors,” “Corporate
Governance at Baxter International Inc.—Board of Directors—Director Independence” and “Corporate Governance at Baxter International Inc.—
Board Responsibilities—Certain Relationships and Related Person Transactions” in the Proxy Statement, all of which information is incorporated
herein by reference.

Item 14.    Principal Accountant Fees and Services.

Refer to the information under the caption entitled “Audit Matters—Audit and Non-Audit Fees” and “—Pre-Approval of Audit and Permissible
Non-Audit Fees” in the Proxy Statement, all of which information is incorporated herein by reference.

PART IV

Item 15.    Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

The following documents are filed as a part of this report:
Page

Number
(1) Financial Statements:

Consolidated Balance Sheets 48 
Consolidated Statements of Income (Loss) 49 
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss) 50 
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Equity 51 
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 52 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 54 
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm (PCAOB ID 238) 105 

(2) Schedules required by Article 12 of Regulation S-X:
All schedules have been omitted because they are not applicable or not required.

(3) Exhibits required by Item 601 of Regulation S-K are listed in the Exhibit Index, which is incorporated herein by
reference. Exhibits in the Exhibit Index marked with a “C” in the left margin constitute management contracts or
compensatory plans or arrangements contemplated by Item 15(b) of Form 10-K.

Item 16.    Form 10-K Summary.

Not applicable.

135



EXHIBIT INDEX
Number and Description of Exhibit

2.1 Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated September 1, 2021, among Hill-Rom Holdings, Inc., the Company and Bel Air
Subsidiary, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to Baxter International Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on
September 2, 2021).

2.2 Equity Purchase Agreement, dated May 8, 2023, by and among Baxter International Inc., Baxter Healthcare Corporation,
Baxter Deutschland Holding GmbH, Gambro Dialysatoren GmbH, Bamboo US BidCo LLC and Blitz 23-317 GmbH
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to Baxter International Inc.'s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on May 9, 2023).

3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Baxter International Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to
Baxter International Inc.'s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on May 6, 2022).

3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws, dated May 6, 2023 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to Baxter International Inc.'s
Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on May 9, 2023).

4.1(P) Form of Common Stock Certificate of the Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit(a) to the Company’s Registration
Statement on Form S-16 (Registration No. 02-65269), filed on August 17, 1979).

4.2 Description of Securities Registered Under Section 12 of the Exchange Act (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.9 to Baxter
International Inc.'s Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed on March 17, 2020).

4.3 Indenture, dated August 8, 2006, between the Company and J.P. Morgan Trust Company, National Association, as Trustee
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to Baxter International Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on August 9, 2006).

4.4 Second Supplemental Indenture, dated December 7, 2007, between the Company and The Bank of New York Trust Company,
N.A. (as successor in interest to J.P. Morgan Trust Company, National Association), as Trustee (including form of 6.250%
Senior Note due 2037) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to Baxter International Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed
on December 7, 2007).

4.5 Eighth Supplemental Indenture, dated August 13, 2012, between the Company and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust
Company, N.A. (as successor in interest to J.P. Morgan Trust Company, National Association), as Trustee (including forms of
2.400% Senior Notes due 2022 and 3.650% Senior Notes due 2042) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to Baxter
International Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on August 13, 2012).

4.6 Ninth Supplemental Indenture, dated June 11, 2013, between the Company and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company,
N.A. (as successor in interest to J.P. Morgan Trust Company, National Association), as Trustee (including form of 4.500%
Senior Notes due 2043) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to Baxter International Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K,
filed on June 11, 2013).

4.7 Tenth Supplemental Indenture, dated August 13, 2016, between the Company and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust
Company, N.A., as Trustee (including forms of 1.700% Senior Notes due 2021, 2.600% Senior Notes due 2026 and 3.500%
Senior Notes due 2046) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to Baxter International Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K,
filed on August 15, 2016).

4.8 Eleventh Supplemental Indenture, dated as of May 30, 2017, by and between the Company and The Bank of New York Mellon
Trust Company, N.A., as Trustee (including form of 1.300% Senior Notes due 2025) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to
Baxter International Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on May 30, 2017).

4.9 Twelfth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of May 15, 2019, by and between the Company and The Bank of New York Mellon
Trust Company, N.A., as Trustee (including form of 0.400% Senior Notes due 2024 and form of 1.300% Senior Notes due
2029) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 of Baxter International Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on May 15,
2019).

4.10 Indenture, dated as of March 26, 2020, between the Company and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., as
Trustee (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to Baxter International Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on March 27,
2020).

4.11 First Supplemental Indenture, dated as of March 26, 2020, to the Indenture, dated as of March 26, 2020, between the
Company and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., as Trustee (including form of form of 3.950% Senior Notes
due 2030) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to Baxter International Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on March
27, 2020).
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Number and Description of Exhibit
4.12 Second Supplemental Indenture, dated as of November 2, 2020, to the Indenture, dated as of March 26, 2020, between the

Company and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A., as Trustee, (including form of 1.730% Senior Notes due
2031) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to Baxter International Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on November 6,
2020).

4.13 Indenture, dated as of July 29, 2021, between the Company, as Issuer, and U.S. Bank National Association, as Trustee
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to Baxter International Inc.’s Registration Statement on Form S-3, filed on July 29,
2021).

4.14 Indenture, dated as of December 1, 2021, between the Company, as Issuer, and U.S. Bank National Association, as Trustee
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to Baxter International Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on December 2, 2021).

4.15 First Supplemental Indenture, dated as of December 1, 2021, to the Indenture, dated as of December 1, 2021, between the
Company and U.S. Bank National Association, as Trustee (including forms of 0.868% Senior Notes due 2023, 1.322% Senior
Notes due 2024, 1.915% Senior Notes due 2027, 2.272% Senior Notes due 2028, 2.539% Senior Notes due 2032, 3.132%
Senior Notes due 2051, Floating Rate Senior Notes due 2023 and Floating Rate Senior Notes due 2024) (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 4.2 to Baxter International Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on December 2, 2021).

4.16 Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of December 1, 2021, by and among the Company and J.P. Morgan Securities LLC
and Citigroup Global Markets Inc. (as representatives of the initial purchasers) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to
Baxter International Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on December 2, 2021).

4.17 Indenture, dated July 29, 2021, between Baxter International Inc. and U.S. Bank Trust Company, National Association, as
successor in interest of U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee for the debt securities (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
4.1 to Baxter International Inc.'s Current Report on Form S-3ASR, filed on April 28, 2022).

10.1 Credit Agreement, dated as of December 20, 2019, among Baxter Healthcare SA and Baxter World Trade SPRL, as
Borrowers, J.P. Morgan Europe Limited, as Administrative Agent and certain other financial institutions named therein
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Baxter International Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on December 20,
2019).

10.2 First Amendment, dated as of October 1, 2021, to the Credit Agreement, dated as of December 20, 2019, among Baxter
Healthcare SA and Baxter World Trade SRL, as Borrowers, the Company, the several banks party thereto, J.P. Morgan AG, as
Administrative Agent and each other party thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to Baxter International Inc.’s
Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on October 4, 2021).

10.3 Second Amendment, dated as of September 28, 2022, to the Credit Agreement, dated as of December 20, 2019, as amended
by the First Amendment, dated as of October 1, 2021, among Baxter Healthcare SA and Baxter World Trade SRL, as
Borrowers, JPMorgan SE, as Administrative Agent and certain other financial institutions named therein (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.5 to Baxter International Inc.'s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on September 30, 2022).

10.4 Credit Agreement, dated as of September 30, 2021, among the Company, as Borrower, the financial institutions named therein,
as Banks, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Administrative Agent, and Citibank, N.A., as Syndication Agent (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Baxter International Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on October 4, 2021).

10.5 First Amendment, dated as of September 28, 2022, to the Credit Agreement, dated as of September 30, 2021, among Baxter
International Inc., as Borrower, JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association, as Administrative Agent and certain other
financial institutions named therein (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Baxter International Inc.'s Current Report on
Form 8-K, filed on September 30, 2022).

10.6 Second Amendment, dated as of September 28, 2022, to the Credit Agreement, dated as of September 30, 2021, as amended
by the First Amendment, dated as of September 28, 2022, amount Baxter International Inc., as Borrower, JPMorgan Chase
Bank, National Association, as Administrative Agent and certain other financial institutions named therein (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Baxter International Inc.'s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on September 30, 2022).
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Number and Description of Exhibit
10.7 Third Amendment, dated as of March 13, 2023, to the Credit Agreement, dated as of September 30, 2021, as amended by that

certain First Amendment, dated as of September 28, 2022, and that certain Second Amendment, dated as of September 28,
2022, among Baxter International Inc. as Borrower, JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association, as Administrative Agent and
certain other financial institutions named therein (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Baxter International Inc.'s Current
Report on Form 8-K, filed on March 13, 2023).

10.8 Five-Year Credit Agreement, dated as of September 30, 2021, among the Company, as Borrower, the financial institutions
named therein, as Banks, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Administrative Agent, and Bank of America, N.A. and Citibank,
N.A., as Syndication Agents (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Baxter International Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-
K, filed on October 4, 2021).

10.9 First Amendment, dated as of September 28, 2022, to the Five-Year Credit Agreement, dated as of September 30, 2021,
among Baxter International Inc., as Borrower, JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association, as Administrative Agent and
certain other financial institutions named therein (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to Baxter International Inc.'s Current
Report on Form 8-K, filed on September 30, 2022).

10.10 Second Amendment, dated as of September 28, 2022, to the Five-Year Credit Agreement, dated as of September 30, 2021,
among Baxter International Inc., as Borrower, JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association, as Administrative Agent and
certain other financial institutions named therein (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to Baxter International Inc.'s Current
Report on Form 8-K, filed on September 30, 2022).

10.11 Third Amendment, dated as of March 13, 2023, to the Five-Year Credit Agreement, dated as of September 30, 2021, as
amended by that certain First Amendment, dated as of September 28, 2022, and that certain Second Amendment, dated as of
September 28, 2022, among Baxter International Inc. as Borrower, JPMorgan Chase Bank, National Association, as
Administrative Agent and certain other financial institutions named therein (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Baxter
International Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on March 13, 2023).

10.12 Second Guaranty Amendment, dated as of March 13, 2023, to the Amended and Restated Guaranty, dated as of October 1,
2021, as amended by that certain Second Amendment, dated as of September 28, 2022, among Baxter Healthcare SA and
Baxter World Trade SRL, as Borrowers, J.P. Morgan SE, as Administrative Agent and certain other financial institutions named
therein (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to Baxter International Inc.'s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on March 13,
2023)

10.13 Tax Matters Agreement, dated as of June 30, 2015, by and between Baxter International Inc. and Baxalta Incorporated
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Baxter International Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on July 7, 2015).

10.14 Letter Agreement, dated as of January 11, 2016, by and among Baxter International Inc., Baxalta Incorporated and Shire plc.
(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Baxter International Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on January 11, 2016).

C 10.15 Form of Indemnification Agreement entered into with directors and officers (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 to Baxter
International Inc.'s Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed on February 21, 2019).

C 10.16 Baxter International Inc. 2011 Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Appendix B to Baxter International Inc.’s Definitive
Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A, filed on March 18, 2011).

C 10.17 Baxter International Inc. Equity Plan for the 2011 Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Baxter
International Inc.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed on May 3, 2011). 

C 10.18 Baxter International Inc. 2015 Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Appendix A to Baxter International Inc.’s Definitive
Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A, filed on March 25, 2015).

  
C 10.19 Baxter International Inc. Equity Plan for the 2015 Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to Baxter

International Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on July 7, 2015).
  
C 10.20 Baxter International Inc. Equity Plan for José E. Almeida under the 2015 Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit

10.2 to Baxter International Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on October 29, 2015).
  
C 10.21 Baxter International Inc. 2017 Equity Plan, effective as of March 2, 2017 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Baxter

International Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on March 3, 2017).
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Number and Description of Exhibit
C 10.22 Baxter International Inc. 2020 Equity Plan, effective as of March 16, 2020 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.22 to Baxter

International Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed on March 17, 2020).

C 10.23 Baxter International Inc. 2021 Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Appendix A to Baxter International Inc.’s Definitive
Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A, filed on March 22, 2021).

C 10.24 Form of Performance Stock Unit Grant Agreement under Baxter International Inc. 2021 Incentive Plan (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Baxter International Inc.'s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed on April 28, 2022).

C 10.25 Form of Restricted Stock Unit Grant Agreement under Baxter International Inc. 2021 Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.2 to Baxter International Inc.'s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed on April 28, 2022).

C 10.26 Form of Stock Option Grant Agreement under Baxter International Inc. 2021 Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.3 to Baxter International Inc.'s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed on April 28, 2022).

C 10.27* Baxter International Inc. Directors' Deferred Compensation Plan (amended and restated effective January 31, 2024) (as
amended and restated effective January 31, 2024).

C 10.28 Amended Offer Letter between the Company and José E. Almeida, dated as of July 25, 2023 (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 to Baxter International Inc.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed on July 27, 2023).

  
C 10.29 Offer letter between Baxter Healthcare SA and Cristiano Franzi, dated June 8, 2017 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit

10.26 to Baxter International Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed on March 17, 2020).

C 10.30 Offer Letter, dated September 26, 2023, by and between the Company and Joel Grade (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.1 to Baxter International Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on October 3, 2023).

C 10.31* Offer Letter, dated April 22, 2023, by and between the Company and Christopher Toth.
C 10.32 Form of Severance Agreement entered into with executive officers (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.11 to Baxter

International Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed on February 21, 2014).
 
C 10.33 Baxter International Inc. Executive Officer Cash Severance Policy, effective February 13, 2023 (incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.1 to Baxter International Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on February 14, 2023).
C 10.34 Baxter International Inc. Employee Stock Purchase Plan (as amended and restated effective July 1, 2011) (incorporated by

reference to Appendix A to Baxter International Inc.’s Definitive Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A, filed on March 18, 2011).
 
C 10.35 First Amendment to Baxter International Inc. Employee Stock Purchase Plan (dated as of July 15, 2016) (incorporated by

reference to Exhibit 10.27 to Baxter International Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed on February 23, 2017).
C 10.36 Baxter International Inc. Non-Employee Director Compensation Plan (as amended and restated effective January 1, 2023

(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.27 to Baxter International Inc.'s Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed on February 9,
2023).

  
C 10.37 Form of Non-Competition, Non-Solicitation and Confidentiality Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Baxter

International Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on April 14, 2017).
C 10.38R Commitment Agreement, dated as of October 4, 2019, by and among the Company, The Prudential Insurance Company of

America and State Street Global Advisors Trust Company, acting solely in its capacity as the independent fiduciary of the
Baxter International Inc. and Subsidiaries Pension Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.32 to Baxter International
Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed on March 17, 2020).

C 10.39 Baxter International Inc. and Subsidiaries Pension Plan (Amended and Restated effective January 5, 2018) (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Baxter International Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on January 8, 2018).
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Number and Description of Exhibit
C 10.40 First Amendment to the Baxter International Inc. and Subsidiaries Pension Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.34 to

Baxter International Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed on March 17, 2020).
C 10.41 Second Amendment to the Baxter International Inc. and Subsidiaries Pension Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.35

to Baxter International Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed on March 17, 2020).

C 10.42 Baxter International Inc. and Subsidiaries Pension Plan II (Amended and Restated effective January 1, 2019) (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.36 to Baxter International Inc.’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed on March 17, 2020).

C 10.43 Baxter International Inc. and Subsidiaries Supplemental Pension Plan (Amended and Restated effective January 5, 2018)
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to Baxter International Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on January 8, 2018).

C 10.44 Baxter International Inc. and Subsidiaries Deferred Compensation Plan (As Amended and Restated effective January 1, 2021)
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.31 to Baxter International Inc.'s Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed on February 11,
2021).

 
C 10.45 Baxter International Inc. Management Incentive Compensation Program – 2020 Program Document (incorporated by reference

to Exhibit 10.1 to Baxter International Inc.’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed on July 30, 2020).
C 10.46 New Change-in-Control Agreement, dated as of September 24, 2020, between the Company and José E. Almeida

(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Baxter International Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on September 25,
2020).

C 10.47 Form of Amended Grandfathered Change-in-Control Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Baxter
International Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on September 25, 2020).

C 10.48 Amended OUS Change-in-Control Agreement, dated as of September 25, 2020, between Baxter Healthcare SA and Cristiano
Franzi (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to Baxter International Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on September
25, 2020).

C 10.49 Change in Control Agreement between the Company and Christopher Toth, dated as of June 15, 2023 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Baxter International Inc.’s Quarterly Report filed on July 27, 2023).

C 10.50 Form of Change-in-Control Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to Baxter International Inc.’s Quarterly Report
on Form 10-Q, filed on October 29, 2020).

C 10.51 Baxter International Inc. Executive Severance Plan, effective November 16, 2020 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to
Baxter International Inc.’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on November 20, 2020).

21* Subsidiaries of Baxter International Inc.
 
23* Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP.
 
31.1* Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as

amended.
 
31.2* Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) and 15d-14(a) of the Securities Exchange

Act of 1934, as amended.
 
32.1** Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the

Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
 
32.2** Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the

Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
97.1* Baxter International Inc. Mandatory Clawback Policy.
  
101.INS* XBRL Instance Document
101.SCH* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document
101.CAL* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document
101.LAB* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document
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Number and Description of Exhibit
101.PRE* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document
101.DEF* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document

______________________________________
*    Filed herewith.
*    Furnished herewith. This exhibit shall not be deemed "filed" for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, or otherwise

subject to the liability of that Section. Such exhibit shall not be deemed incorporated into any filing under the Securities Act of
1933 or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.

R    Includes redactions.
C    Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.
(P) Paper exhibit
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report
to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
BAXTER INTERNATIONAL INC.

By: /s/ José E. Almeida
José E. Almeida
Chair, President and Chief Executive Officer

DATE: February 8, 2024
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Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on
behalf of the registrant and in the capacities indicated on February 8, 2024.

Signature Title
 

/s/ José E. Almeida Chair, President and Chief Executive Officer
José E. Almeida (principal executive officer)
 

/s/ Joel T. Grade Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
Joel T. Grade (principal financial officer)
 

/s/ Brian C. Stevens Senior Vice President, Chief Accounting Officer and Controller
Brian C. Stevens (principal accounting officer)
 

/s/ William A. Ampofo II Director
William A. Ampofo II  
 

/s/ Patricia B. Morrison Director
Patricia B. Morrison  
  
/s/ Stephen N. Oesterle, M.D. Director
Stephen N. Oesterle, M.D.  
  

/s/ Stephen H. Rusckowski Director
Stephen H. Rusckowski

/s/ Nancy M. Schlichting Director
Nancy M. Schlichting

/s/ Brent Shafer Director
Brent Shafer

/s/ Cathy R. Smith Director
Cathy R. Smith  

  

/s/ Amy A. Wendell Director
Amy A. Wendell

/s/ David S. Wilkes, M.D. Director
David S. Wilkes, M.D.

/s/ Peter M. Wilver Director
Peter M. Wilver
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Exhibit 10.27

BAXTER INTERNATIONAL INC.
DIRECTORS’ DEFERRED COMPENSATION PLAN
(Amended and Restated Effective January 31, 2024)

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ARTICLE I PURPOSE AND EFFECTIVE DATE
1.1    Purpose

1.2    Effective Date

ARTICLE II DEFINITIONS
2.1    Account

2.2    Administrator

2.3    Baxter

2.4    Beneficiary

2.5    Board

2.6    Code

2.7    Compensation

2.8    Compensation Committee

2.9    Deferral

2.10    Deferral Election Form

2.11    Distribution Election Form

2.12    DSU

2.13    Outside Director

2.14    Participant

2.15    Plan

2.16    Plan Year

2.17    Stock

2.18    Termination

2.19    Unforeseeable Emergency

ARTICLE III ELIGIBILITY FOR COMPENSATION DEFERRALS
3.1    Compensation Deferral Elections

3.2    Timing of and Changes in Deferral Election

3.3    Deferral of Stock Awards



ARTICLE IV CREDITING OF ACCOUNTS
4.1    Crediting of Accounts

4.2    Earnings
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BAXTER INTERNATIONAL INC.
DIRECTORS’ DEFERRED COMPENSATION PLAN
(Amended and Restated Effective January 31, 2024

ARTICLE I

PURPOSE AND EFFECTIVE DATE
1.1Purpose. Baxter has adopted the Plan to help Baxter retain the services of qualified individuals to serve as Outside Directors by

offering them the opportunity to defer payment of their retainers and directors’ fees through an unfunded deferred compensation arrangement.

1.2Effective Date. The original effective date of this Plan was July 1, 2003. The Plan has been amended and restated in its entirety to
comply with the final regulations issued by the Internal Revenue Service to implement the requirements of Section 409A of the Code, and for
certain other purposes. This amendment and restatement of the Plan is effective November 11, 2021.

ARTICLE II

DEFINITIONS
2.1Account. The bookkeeping account established to record a Participant’s interest in the Plan as provided in Article IV.

2.2Administrator. The person or entity appointed to administer the Plan as provided in Article VII.

2.3Baxter. Baxter International Inc., a Delaware corporation, and any other company that succeeds to the obligations of Baxter under
this Plan pursuant to Section 9.8.

2.4Beneficiary. A Participant’s Beneficiary, as defined in Article VI, is the Beneficiary designated to receive the Participant’s Account, if
any, from the Plan, upon the death of the Participant.

2.5Board. The Board of Directors of Baxter.

2.6Code. The Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.

2.7Compensation. All compensation (including equity awards other than stock options) payable by Baxter to a Participant for his/her
services as a member of the Board, including without limitation any annual retainer, fees for attending meetings of the Board or any committee
thereof, fees for acting as chairperson of any Board or committee meeting, and any other fees as may become payable to a non-employee
Director, including the additional retainer payable to the lead Outside Director.

2.8Compensation and Human Capital Committee. The Compensation and Human Capital Committee of the Board.

2.9Deferral. The Deferral is the amount of the Participant’s Compensation that the Participant elected to defer and contribute to the Plan,
which, but for such election, would have otherwise been paid to him/her.



2.10Deferral Election Form. The form that a Participant must complete and return to the Administrator, in accordance with the rules and
procedures as may be established by the Administrator, in order to elect to defer a portion of his or her Compensation into the Plan.

2.11Distribution Election Form. The form that a Participant must complete and return to the Administrator, in accordance with the rules
and procedures as may be established by the Administrator. This form is to be used by Participants for two purposes:

(a)To elect the manner in which the Participant’s Account will be distributed upon Termination.
(b)Prior to January 1, 2009, a Participant may also file a Distribution Election Form to request a scheduled in-service distribution

of all or a portion of his or her Account, in accordance with Section 5.2(B). Effective January 1, 2009, scheduled in-service distributions are no
longer permitted unless elected at the same time the Participant commences participation in the Plan.

To be effective, a Distribution Election Form must be filed at the same time as the Participant’s Deferral Election Form, or at such other time as
may be permitted by Section 5.2.

2.12DSU. Deferred Stock Units, an unfunded and unsecured promise to deliver shares of Stock.

2.13Outside Director. Any member of the Board who is not an employee of Baxter or its subsidiaries and who receives Compensation for
his or her services as a member of the Board.

2.14Participant. A Participant is any Outside Director or former Outside Director who has an Account balance in the Plan.

2.15Plan. The Baxter International Inc. Directors’ Deferred Compensation Plan.

2.16Plan Year. The Plan Year is the calendar year.

2.17Stock. Stock means the common stock, par value $1.00, of Baxter.

2.18Termination. For purposes of the Plan, Termination means a Participant ceasing to be a member of the Board for any reason,
including resignation, removal, or failure to be re-elected. A Participant who ceases to be an Outside Director, but is still a member of the Board,
shall not have incurred a Termination. Notwithstanding the foregoing, for purposes of determining when a Participant’s Account becomes
payable, Termination shall not be considered to have occurred until the Participant incurs a separation from service as defined in Treasury
Regulations issued pursuant to Section 409A of the Code. A Participant shall not be considered to have incurred a separation from service until
the Participant has ceased to provide any services as a director or independent contractor for Baxter, its subsidiaries, and any other entity that
would be treated as a member of a controlled group that includes Baxter under Sections 414(b) or (c) of the Code (as modified by substituting
50% ownership for 80% for all purposes thereof), without any expectation of the Participant being retained to provide future services as a
director or independent contractor; provided, however, that a Participant shall not be considered to have failed to incur a separation from service
if the Participant is, or becomes, an employee of any such entity.



2.19Unforeseeable Emergency. A severe financial hardship to the Participant resulting from an illness or accident of the Participant, the
Participant’s spouse, the Participant’s Beneficiary, or the Participant’s dependent (as defined in Section 152 of the Code, without regard to
Sections 152(b)(1), (b)(2), and (d)(1)(B)); loss of the Participant’s property due to casualty (including the need to rebuild a home following
damage to a home not otherwise covered by insurance); or other similar extraordinary and unforeseeable circumstances arising as a result of
events beyond the control of the Participant. Whether a Participant is faced with an unforeseeable emergency permitting a distribution under this
Plan is to be determined based on the relevant facts and circumstances of each case and in accordance with the requirements of Section 409A
of the Code.

ARTICLE III

ELIGIBILITY FOR COMPENSATION DEFERRALS
3.1Compensation Deferral Elections. Any Outside Director may elect to defer all or a portion of his or her Compensation as set forth on

his or her Deferral Election Form, in accordance with applicable rules and procedures established by the Administrator.

3.2Timing of and Changes in Deferral Election. An Outside Director may make a Deferral election for each Plan Year either:

(a)during the annual enrollment period established by the Administrator prior to the beginning of the Plan Year, in which event
such Deferral election shall apply to all Compensation payable to such Outside Director during such Plan Year; or

(b)not later than 30 days after the Outside Director is first elected to the Board, in which event such Deferral election shall apply
to all Compensation earned after the Deferral election is made in the remainder of the Plan Year (including a pro rata share of any annual
retainer or similar amount, determined by multiplying the amount of such Compensation by a fraction, the numerator of which is the number of
days remaining in the Plan Year after the election and denominator is the number of days remaining in the Plan Year after the Outside Director is
elected to the Board); provided, that prior to his or her election to the Board, the Outside Director did not participate in any elective deferred
compensation arrangement with respect to Baxter, its subsidiaries, and any other entity that would be treated as a member of a controlled group
that includes Baxter under Sections 414(b) or (c) of the Code, other than (i) the Baxter International Inc. and Subsidiaries Deferred
Compensation Plan, or any similar plan applicable only to employees, or (ii) a deferred compensation plan under which the Outside Director
either accrued no additional benefit (other than investment earnings) during the 24-month period prior to his or her election, or received a
complete distribution of his or her entire account balance and ceased to be eligible to participate prior to his or her election.
A Participant who has a Deferral election in effect may not change such election during the Plan Year, and may only revoke such election in
accordance with procedures established by the Administrator consistent with Treasury Regulations issued pursuant to Section 409A of the Code,
subject to Section 5.6.

3.3Deferral of Stock Awards. Each Participant may elect to defer the receipt of all (but not fewer than all) of the shares of Stock the
Participant is entitled to receive upon a grant of Stock to the Participant for service on the Board. Such deferral election must be made in
accordance with procedures established by the Administrator. If a Participant elects to defer a grant of Stock, the Participant shall receive DSUs
under this Plan, which shall be settled by delivery of all of the shares of Stock in connection with the DSUs within the first ninety days of the Plan
Year following



the Plan Year in which the Participant incurs a Termination (regardless of whether the Participant has elected payment of his or her Account in
installments). A Participant’s DSUs shall be accounted for separately as part of the Participant’s Account, and shall not be subject to Sections
4.1, 4.2 or 5.6, but shall otherwise be subject to the provisions of this Plan. 

ARTICLE IV

CREDITING OF ACCOUNTS
4.1Crediting of Accounts. All amounts deferred by a Participant under the Plan shall be credited to his/her Account in the Plan. Each

Participant’s Account shall be credited or charged with its share of investment earnings or losses determined in accordance with Section 4.2, and
shall be charged with all distributions made to the Participant or his/her Beneficiary. Accounts shall be maintained for bookkeeping purposes
only, and shall not require the segregation of funds or establishment of a separate fund.

4.2Earnings. Each Participant’s Account shall be adjusted upward or downward, on a weekly (or as otherwise determined by the
Administrator) basis to reflect the investment return that would have been realized had such amounts been invested in one or more investments
selected by the Participant from among the assumed investment alternatives designated by the Administrator for use under the Plan. Until
otherwise determined by the Administrator in its sole discretion, the investment alternatives shall be the same as those available under the
Baxter International Inc. and Subsidiaries Deferred Compensation Plan (including any limitations on amounts that may be invested in or
allocated or reallocated to any particular investment alternative), and until the Administrator determines otherwise, Accounts for which no election
is made shall be invested in the Stable Income Fund available under such plan. Prior to the first day of each calendar quarter (or at such other
intervals as may be determined by the Administrator), Participants may change the assumed investment alternatives in which their Account will
be deemed invested for such quarter. Participant elections of assumed investment alternatives shall be made at the time and in the form
determined by the Administrator, and shall be subject to such other restrictions and limitations as the Administrator shall determine.

4.3Account Statements. Account Statements will be generated effective as of the last day of each calendar quarter and provided to each
Participant as soon as administratively feasible. Account Statements will reflect all Account activity during the reporting quarter, including Account
contributions, distributions, and earnings credits. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the failure to provide an Account Statement shall not constitute a
breach of this Plan or entitle any Participant to any amount that he or she would not otherwise be entitled to under the Plan.

4.4Vesting. Subject to Sections 9.1 and 9.2, a Participant is always 100% vested in his or her Account in the Plan at all times.

ARTICLE V

DISTRIBUTION OF BENEFITS
5.1Distribution of Benefits. Subject to Section 5.2, distribution of a Participant’s Account, if any, will be made in accordance with the

Participant’s Distribution Election Form. The distribution restrictions under Section 409A of the Code shall apply to Participant’s entire account
balances under the Plan, whether deferred before or after January 1, 2005. Notwithstanding the foregoing,



if at any time any portion of a Participant’s account balance is includible in the Participant’s income pursuant to Section 409A of the Code, the
portion so included shall be distributed to the Participant as soon as administratively feasible.

5.2Distribution.

A.Distribution Election Form – Termination. A Participant’s Account will be paid after the Participant’s Termination, in accordance with the
form of payment designated in such Participant’s Distribution Election Form. Effective beginning with the 2022 Plan Year, a Participant may file a
Distribution Election Form with respect to a single Plan Year, pursuant to which the portion of the Participant’s Account that represents amounts
credited to the Account with respect to that Plan Year shall be distributed in accordance with the Distribution Election Form specific to such Plan
Year. A Participant may change the form of payment designated on his or her Distribution Election Form from time to time by filing a new
Distribution Election Form in accordance with procedures established by the Administrator; provided that, in the case of a change made after the
last day permitted for filing the initial Deferral Election Form, (i) distribution of the Account following the change shall commence not earlier than
five years after the distribution would otherwise have begun, and (ii) if the Participant incurs a Termination within 12 months after changing the
form of payment designated, the change shall be disregarded and his/her Account shall be distributed in accordance with the form of payment
designated prior to the change.

B.In-Service Distribution. Prior to January 1, 2009, a Participant also was permitted to elect to receive a distribution of all or a portion of
his or her Account at a specified future date, by filing a Distribution Election Form with the Administrator, either electing to have his or her entire
Account balance on such date distributed, or specifying the dollar amount of the distribution. A Participant who has elected to receive an in-
service distribution may subsequently elect to postpone the date of such distribution (but may not change the amount to be distributed) by filing a
new Distribution Election Form, provided that the new Distribution Election Form must be filed not later than twelve months prior to the original
specified distribution date, and the new distribution date must be at least five years after the original distribution date. If the balance in the
Participant’s Account on the specified distribution date is less than the dollar amount requested, the entire balance of the Account shall be
distributed. If the Participant has a Termination prior to the specific date requested on such Distribution Election Form, such form shall be ignored
and the Participant’s distribution election with respect to Termination shall be followed.

C.Forms of Distribution. The forms of distribution are:

(a)a lump sum payment, or

(b)for distributions upon Termination only, annual installments of at least two years, but not to exceed fifteen years.
Annual installments will commence in the first ninety days of the Plan Year following the Plan Year in which the Participant incurs a Termination.
Subsequent installments will be paid annually in the first ninety days of subsequent Plan Years, and each installment shall be equal to the
remaining balance in the Participant’s Account immediately prior to such payment divided by the number of installments remaining to be paid.
Lump sum payments pursuant to a Distribution Election Form relating to payments following Termination will be made in the first ninety days of
the Plan Year following the Plan Year in which the Participant incurs a Termination. All distributions of a Participant’s Account prior to Termination
will be paid in a lump sum as soon as administratively feasible after the date elected by the Participant in the Distribution Election Form.



If a Participant does not elect a form of distribution by the time the Deferral Election Form or the Distribution Election Form is required to be
completed, the Participant’s election will default to a lump sum payment in the first ninety days of the Plan Year following the Plan Year in which
the Participant incurs a Termination.
Notwithstanding the above, a Participant whose Account totals less than $50,000 as of the last day of the Plan Year in which he or she incurs a
Termination will receive lump sum payment of his or her Account in the first ninety days of the Plan Year following the Plan Year in which the
Participant incurs a Termination.

D.Distributions Upon Death. Upon the death of a Participant prior to the complete distribution of the Participant’s account, the
Participant’s remaining account balance shall be paid to his or her Beneficiary in a lump sum as soon as practical, but not later than ninety days
after the Participant’s death, regardless of whether the Participant had elected payment in installments or whether installment payments had
begun prior to the Participant’s death.

5.3Effect of Payment. Payment to the person, trust, or other entity reasonably and in good faith determined by the Administrator to be
the Participant’s Beneficiary will completely discharge any obligations Baxter or any other entity may have under the Plan. If a Plan benefit is
payable to a minor or a person declared to be incompetent or to a person the Administrator in good faith believes to be incompetent or incapable
of handling the disposition of property, the Administrator may direct payment of such Plan benefit to the guardian, legal representative, or person
having the care and custody of such minor, and such decision by the Administrator is binding on all parties. The Administrator may initiate
whatever action it deems appropriate to ensure that benefits are properly paid to an appropriate guardian.
The Administrator may require proof of incompetence, minority, incapacity, or guardianship, as it may deem appropriate prior to distribution of the
Plan benefit. Such distribution will completely discharge the Administrator, Baxter, and its affiliates from all liability with respect to such benefit.

5.4Taxation of Plan Benefits. It is intended that each Participant will be taxed on amounts credited to him or her under the Plan at the
time such amounts are received, and the provisions of the Plan will be interpreted consistent with that intention.

5.5Withholding and Payroll Taxes. Baxter will withhold from payments made hereunder any taxes required to be withheld for the
payment of taxes to the Federal government, or any state or local government.

5.6Distribution Due to Unforeseeable Emergency. Upon written request of a Participant and the showing of Unforeseeable Emergency,
the Administrator may authorize distribution of all or a portion of the Participant’s Accounts, and or the acceleration of any installment payments
being made from the Plan, but only to the extent reasonably necessary to relieve the Unforeseeable Emergency, including federal, state, local, or
foreign income taxes or penalties reasonably imposed upon the distribution. In any event, payment may not be made to the extent such
Unforeseeable Emergency is or may be satisfied through reimbursement by insurance or otherwise, including, but not limited to, liquidation of
the Participant’s assets (but not including hardship deferrals or loans from the Participant’s account in any qualified retirement plan, as defined in
Treasury Regulations Section 1.409A-1(a)(2)), to the extent that such liquidation would not in and of itself cause severe financial hardship. If the
Participant demonstrates the existence of an Unforeseeable Emergency, the Administrator shall first cancel the Participant’s deferrals for the
Plan Year (other than deferrals of Stock pursuant to Section 3.3), and the amount of the distribution required to relieve the Unforeseeable
Emergency shall take into account the additional income available to the Participant as the result of cancellation of such deferrals. The



Administrator may also impose such other conditions upon a distribution as it determines in its discretion to be appropriate and not inconsistent
with Section 409A of the Code.

ARTICLE VI

BENEFICIARY DESIGNATION
6.1Beneficiary Designation. Each Participant has the right to designate one or more persons, trusts, or, with the Administrator’s approval,

other entity as the Participant’s Beneficiary, primary as well as secondary, to whom benefits under this Plan will be paid in the event of the
Participant’s death prior to complete distribution to the Participant of the benefits due under the Plan. Each Beneficiary designation will be in a
written form prescribed by the Administrator and will be effective only when filed with the Administrator during the Participant’s lifetime.

6.2Amendments to Beneficiary Designation. Any Beneficiary designation may be changed by a Participant without the consent of any
Beneficiary by the filing of a new Beneficiary designation with the Administrator. Filing a Beneficiary designation as to any benefits available
under the Plan revokes all prior Beneficiary designations effective as of the date such Beneficiary designation is received by the Administrator. If
a Participant’s Account is community property, any Beneficiary designation will be valid or effective only as permitted under applicable law.

6.3No Beneficiary Designation. In the absence of an effective Beneficiary designation, or if all Beneficiaries predecease the Participant,
the Participant’s estate will be the Beneficiary. If a Beneficiary dies after the Participant and before payment of benefits under this Plan has been
completed, and no secondary Beneficiary has been designated to receive such Beneficiary’s share, the remaining benefits will be payable to the
Beneficiary’s estate.

ARTICLE VII

ADMINISTRATION

7.1Administration. The Plan is administered by the Compensation Committee, which shall be the Administrator for all purposes of the
Plan. Notwithstanding the foregoing, all authority to administer the Plan on an ongoing basis, including the authority to adopt and implement all
rules and procedures for the administration of the Plan, shall be exercised by such persons as may be designated by the Senior Executive Vice
President and Chief Human Resources Officer of Baxter, subject to the authority of the Compensation Committee, and all references to the
Administrator herein shall, as appropriate, be construed to refer to such person or persons.

7.2Administrator Powers. The Administrator has such powers as may be necessary to discharge its duties hereunder, including, but not
by way of limitation, the discretionary power, right, and duty to construe, interpret, and enforce the Plan provisions and to determine all questions
arising under the Plan including, but not by way of limitation, questions of Plan participation, eligibility for Plan benefits, and the rights of Outside
Directors, Participants, Beneficiaries, and other persons to benefits under the Plan and to determine the amount, manner, and time of payment
of any benefits hereunder, and to adopt procedures, rules, regulations, and forms to be utilized in the efficient administration of the Plan which
may alter any procedural provision of the Plan without the necessity of an amendment. The Administrator is empowered to employ agents (who
may also be employees of Baxter) and to delegate to them any of the administrative duties imposed upon the Administrator or Baxter.



7.3Finality of Decisions. Any ruling, regulation, procedure, or decision of the Administrator will be conclusive and binding upon all
persons affected by it. There will be no appeal from any ruling by the Administrator, which is within its authority, except as provided in Section 7.4
below.

7.4Claims Procedure. Any claim for benefits by a Participant, his or her Beneficiary or Beneficiaries, or any other person claiming the
right to receive any benefit from the Plan by reason of his or her relationship to a Participant or Beneficiary (the “applicant”) shall be in writing
and filed in accordance with procedures specified by the Administrator not more than one year after the claimant knows or with the exercise of
reasonable diligence should have known of the basis for the claim. If the claim is denied, the Administrator will furnish the applicant within a
reasonable period of time with a written notice that specifies the reason for the denial, and explains the claim review procedures of this
Section 7.4. If, within 60 days after receipt of such notice, the applicant so requests in writing, the Administrator will review its earlier decision.
The Administrator’s decision on review will be in writing, will include specific reasons for the decision, and will be given to the claimant with a
reasonable period of time after the request for review is received. By participating in the Plan, each Participant agrees, on behalf of himself or
herself and all persons claiming through him or her, not to commence any action or proceeding for payment of any amount claimed to be due
under the Plan without first complying with the foregoing procedures.

7.5Indemnity. To the extent permitted by applicable law and to the extent that they are not indemnified or saved harmless under any
liability insurance contracts, any present or former employees, officers, or directors of Baxter, or its subsidiaries or affiliates, if any, will be
indemnified and saved harmless by Baxter from and against any and all liabilities or allegations of liability to which they may be subjected by
reason of any act done or omitted to be done in good faith in the administration of the Plan, including all expenses reasonably incurred in their
defense in the event that Baxter fails to provide such defense after having been requested in writing to do so.

ARTICLE VIII

AMENDMENT AND TERMINATION OF PLAN

8.1Amendment. The Compensation Committee may amend the Plan at any time, except that no amendment will decrease the Accounts
of Participants and Beneficiaries at the time of the amendment. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Administrator may adopt any amendment to
the Plan that is technical, ministerial, or procedural in nature, and any rule or procedure properly adopted by the Administrator that is technical,
ministerial, or procedural in nature shall be deemed an amendment to the Plan to the extent of any inconsistency between such rule or
procedure and the provisions hereof.

8.2Right to Terminate. The Compensation Committee may at any time terminate the Plan.

8.3Payment at Termination. If the Plan is terminated, the Accounts of Participants shall continue to be held until distributed in
accordance with Article V, unless in connection with such plan termination the Compensation Committee amends the Plan to provide for
distribution of all Accounts in lump sum payments, provided that such distributions are permitted by Treasury Regulations issued pursuant to
Section 409A of the Code.



ARTICLE IX

MISCELLANEOUS

9.1Unfunded Plan. This Plan is intended to be an unfunded deferred compensation plan. All credited amounts are unfunded, general
obligations of Baxter. This Plan is not intended to create an investment contract. Participants are members of the Board of Baxter, who, by virtue
of their position, are uniquely informed as to Baxter’s operations and have the ability to affect materially Baxter’s profitability and operations.

9.2Unsecured General Creditor. In the event of Baxter’s insolvency, Participants and their Beneficiaries, heirs, successors, and assigns
will have no legal or equitable rights, interest, or claims in any property or assets of Baxter or any of its subsidiaries, nor will they be beneficiaries
of, or have any rights, claims, or interests in any life insurance policies, annuity contracts, or the proceeds therefrom owned or which may be
acquired by Baxter (the “Policies”) greater than those of any other unsecured general creditors. In that event, any and all of Baxter’s assets and
Policies will be, and remain, the general, unpledged, and unrestricted assets of Baxter. Baxter’s obligation under the Plan will be merely that of
an unfunded and unsecured promise of Baxter to pay money in the future.

9.3Nonassignability. Neither a Participant nor any other person will have any right to commute, sell, assign, transfer, pledge, anticipate,
mortgage, or otherwise encumber, transfer, hypothecate, or convey in advance of actual receipt the amounts, if any, payable hereunder, or any
part thereof, which are, and all rights to which are, expressly declared to be nonassignable and nontransferable. No part of the amounts payable
will, prior to actual payment, be subject to seizure or sequestration for the payment of any debts, judgments, alimony, or separate maintenance
owed by a Participant or any other person, nor be transferable by operation of law in the event of a Participant’s or any other person’s
bankruptcy or insolvency. Nothing contained herein will preclude Baxter from offsetting any amount owed to it by a Participant against payments
to such Participant or his or her Beneficiary.

9.4Protective Provisions. A Participant will cooperate with Baxter by furnishing any and all information requested by Baxter, in order to
facilitate the payment of benefits hereunder.

9.5Governing Law. The provisions of this Plan will be construed and interpreted according to the laws of the State of Illinois without
regard to any state’s conflict of laws principles.

9.6Severability. In the event any provision of the Plan is held invalid or illegal for any reason, any illegality or invalidity will not affect the
remaining parts of the Plan, but the Plan will be construed and enforced as if the illegal or invalid provision had never been inserted, and Baxter
will have the privilege and opportunity to correct and remedy such questions of illegality or invalidity by amendment as provided in the Plan,
including, but not by way of limitation, the opportunity to construe and enforce the Plan as if such illegal and invalid provision had never been
inserted herein.

9.7Notice. Any notice or filing required or permitted to be given to Baxter or the Administrator under the Plan will be sufficient if in writing
and hand-delivered, or sent by registered or certified mail to Baxter’s General Counsel and, if mailed, will be addressed to the principal executive
offices of Baxter. Notice to a Participant or Beneficiary may be hand-delivered or mailed to the Participant or Beneficiary at his or her most recent
address as listed in the



employment records of Baxter. Notices will be deemed given as of the date of delivery or mailing or, if delivery is made by certified or registered
mail, as of the date shown on the receipt for registration or certification. Any person entitled to notice hereunder may waive such notice.

9.8Successors. The provisions of this Plan will bind and inure to the benefit of Baxter, the Participants and Beneficiaries, and their
respective successors, heirs, and assigns. The term “successors” as used herein will include any corporate or other business entity, which,
whether by merger, consolidation, purchase or otherwise acquires all or substantially all of the business and assets of Baxter, and successors of
any such corporation or other business entity.

9.9Action by Baxter. Except as otherwise provided herein, any action required of or permitted by Baxter under the Plan will be by
resolution of the Compensation Committee or any person or persons authorized by resolution of the Compensation Committee. Any action
required of or permitted by Baxter in its role as Administrator may be taken by the Senior Executive Vice President and Chief Human Resources
Officer of Baxter or persons acting under his or her authority.

9.10Participant Litigation. In any action or proceeding regarding the Plan, Outside Directors, Participants, Beneficiaries, or any other
persons having or claiming to have an interest in this Plan will not be necessary parties and will not be entitled to any notice or process. Any final
judgment which is not appealed or appealable and may be entered in any such action or proceeding will be binding and conclusive on the parties
hereto and all persons having or claiming to have any interest in this Plan. To the extent permitted by law, if a legal action is begun against
Baxter, the Administrator, or any member of the Compensation Committee by or on behalf of any person and such action results adversely to
such person or if a legal action arises because of conflicting claims to a Participant’s or other person’s benefits, the costs to such person of
defending the action will be charged to the amounts, if any, which were involved in the action or were payable to the Participant or other person
concerned. To the extent permitted by applicable law, acceptance of participation in this Plan will constitute a release of Baxter, the Administrator,
and each member of the Compensation Committee, and their respective agents, from any and all liability and obligation not involving willful
misconduct or gross neglect.

*    *    *



Exhibit 10.31

April 22, 2023

Chris Toth

Dear Chris,

We are pleased to welcome you to Baxter International Inc. (“Baxter” or the “Company”) and to confirm our verbal offer of employment. This is where your
purpose accelerates our mission to Save and Sustain Lives. At Baxter, you will join around 60,000 colleagues, in 100 countries, who share common traits like
being reliable, ethical, and caring. Together, we create a place where we are happy, successful and inspire each other.

Your first day of employment will be determined at a mutually agreed later date, each party using best efforts to ensure that such date is no later than June 1,
2023. Your job title will be Executive Vice President and Group President, Kidney Care, reporting to Joe Almeida, Chairman, Chief Executive Officer &
President. This role is a full-time exempt position. Subject to formal appointment by the Board of Directors of Baxter (the “Board”), it is anticipated you will
be appointed as an executive officer of the Company.

TERMS OF EMPLOYMENT: EXECUTIVE VICE PRESIDENT AND GROUP PRESIDENT, KIDNEY CARE

The following explains the terms of your employment. Please note that all compensation actions have been approved by the Compensation and Human Capital
Committee (“CHCC”) of the Board.

• Your salary will be $1,000,000 annualized, less applicable deductions and withholdings.

• You will be eligible to participate in the Management Incentive Compensation Program (the “Program”) with a bonus target of 125% of your annual
salary. For 2023, you will be eligible for a prorated bonus opportunity based on the number of days worked in 2023. The actual bonus you will receive
will vary depending on both Baxter’s performance and your individual assessment for the year, and the bonus is subject to the other terms and
conditions of the Program.

• In addition, you will receive a one-time, supplemental cash payment of $3,200,000 minus applicable taxes. You will receive this supplemental cash
payment after ninety (90) days of employment with Baxter, provided you are actively employed on the date of payment. This supplemental payment
will not be considered eligible earnings for Baxter’s qualified retirement or welfare benefit plans. Should your employment with the Company be
terminated for any reason by you or by Baxter within twelve (12) months of your start date, you will be responsible for 100% re-payment of this
bonus, and if within 12-24 months you will be responsible for 50% re-payment of this bonus; provided, however that you will not be responsible for
repayment if: (i) your employment is involuntarily terminated for which you are eligible for severance under Baxter’s Executive Severance Plan or
your Change in Control agreement (as described below), as applicable; (ii) by December 31, 2024, the Business Transaction (as defined below) does
not occur; (iii) in connection with the consummation of the Business Transaction, you are not appointed as Chief Executive Officer of Kidney Co.; (iv)
you die; or (v) you become disabled as defined in the Baxter Long-Term Disability Plan. The amount of repayment will be equivalent to the amount
you are permitted to claim as a deduction or credit in the applicable tax year under Internal Revenue Service regulations. In addition, notwithstanding
anything to the contrary herein, if any of the events described in clauses (i) to (v) apply and the supplemental cash payment has not been made to you
prior such event, you will be paid such amount within thirty (30) days after the applicable event.
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• You will be eligible to participate in the Company’s annual equity program. The next annual equity grant is scheduled for March 2024. Your target
annual equity grant value will be $5,000,000. The annual equity grant is expected to be a mix of 50% performance share units (“PSUs”), 25%
restricted stock units (“RSUs”) and 25% stock options. Your target grant value will be converted into the applicable number of PSUs, RSUs and stock
options using the Company’s standard calculation methodology. The Company’s equity targets and mix are assessed annually and are subject to
change based on market competitiveness and the Company’s financial performance. Therefore, your equity target grant value and mix in the future
may be greater or less than what is stated in this letter. Your actual equity target grant value will be based on a combination of your equity target and
an assessment of your individual performance and potential. All equity grants are subject to the terms and conditions of the underlying equity plan and
corresponding agreements, including the Agreement Regarding Competition and Protection of Proprietary Interests (the “CPPI Agreement”).

• You will receive an off-cycle equity grant with a target grant value of $4,500,000 on the first quarterly off-cycle grant date after your date of hire
(customarily the first business day of March, June, September or December). The grant will be delivered fully in RSUs which will vest one-third per
year on the first three anniversaries of the grant date. This award will vest in full if (i) your employment with Baxter is involuntarily terminated (other
than due to the Business Transaction (as defined below)) without cause as defined in Baxter’s Executive Severance Plan or your Change in Control
agreement (as described below), as applicable, (ii) by December 31, 2024, the Business Transaction (as defined below) does not occur; or (iii) in
connection with the consummation of the Business Transaction, you are not appointed as Chief Executive Officer of Kidney Co. Additional
information will be provided after the grant date, and all equity grants are subject to the terms and conditions of the underlying equity plan and
corresponding agreements, including the CPPI Agreement.

• As an executive officer, your compensation increases are approved by the CHCC through a “pay for performance” philosophy.

• You will be eligible for the Company’s standard Change in Control agreement, which governs in the event of a change in control of the Company.
Upon joining the Company, you will be provided a copy of the agreement which will include a noncompetition provision no more restrictive to you
than the CPPI Agreement. For the avoidance of doubt, prior to the Business Transaction any additional noncompetition provisions with the Company
or its subsidiaries by which you become bound shall be no more restrictive to you than the CPPI Agreement.

• You will be eligible for 30 days of paid time off per year. Should your employment terminate, you will be paid for any earned and unused paid time
off in accordance with Baxter’s standard policy.

• The term of your employment is “at will”, which means that you or the Company may end your employment at any time and for any reason.

STOCK OWNERSHIP GUIDELINES

• You will be required to attain and hold Company stock equal in value to four (4) times your annual base salary. Under current guidelines, you will
have five years from your date of hire to achieve this level of ownership. Stock held for ownership determination includes common stock held directly
or indirectly and unvested RSUs. It does not include stock options or unvested PSUs. The Company reserves the right to change the guidelines at any
time.

TERMS OF EMPLOYMENT: CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER, KIDNEY CO.

It is anticipated that the Kidney Care business (comprised of the Renal Care and Acute Therapies businesses) will separate from Baxter in 2024 as a separate
publicly traded company (the “Business Transaction”). Subject to appointment by the Board of Directors of the new Kidney Co. organization, it is expected
you will become the Chief Executive Officer of the new Kidney Co. organization.

In connection with the business separation, your salary and bonus target percentage will remain the same, and the Company will recommend that your target
annual equity grant value will increase to $7,500,000. Please note that all compensation actions are contingent upon approval by the Board of Directors of the
new Kidney Co. organization.

All applicable Baxter policies and agreements (for example, any cash recoupment, change in control, severance, stock ownership guidelines, other policies,
etc.) in effect as of the separation of the business will be reviewed by the Board of Directors of the new Kidney Co. organization.
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BENEFITS

• Baxter provides a comprehensive benefits program. More detailed information regarding Baxter’s benefits program will be discussed in your new
employee orientation. If you have immediate questions about benefits and coverage, you may contact Martha Peterson, Vice President, Total Rewards
at 224-453-2353.

• As of your start date, you will be eligible to participate in Baxter’s Flexible Benefits Program which includes: Medical Benefits, Dental Benefits,
Prescription Service, and Personal Accident Insurance, subject to the Plan’s provisions. Please note that you must enroll within 21 days of your start
date to receive this coverage. You are also immediately eligible for Basic Employee Term Life Insurance, Long Term Disability Insurance, and
Business Travel Insurance. You will be eligible to contribute to the 401(k) plan upon hire. At that time, you will also be eligible to participate in the
company’s matching in the plan. All Company benefits are subject to amendment, modification, and cancellation from time to time and are subject to
the governing plan documents.

• You will be eligible for reimbursement for an annual executive physical examination. The Company has a preferred vendor relationship with
Northwestern Executive Health. Information about the program is available upon request.

• You will be eligible to participate in the U.S. Deferred Compensation Plan. Through this plan, you can elect to defer eligible compensation (base
salary and Management Incentive Compensation Program bonuses) and receive Company contributions in respect to amounts above the Internal
Revenue Service limits set for qualified 401(k) plans.

• You will be eligible to participate in the Employee Stock Purchase Program (the “Program”). However, as a designated Company insider, your
participation in the Program will be contingent on receiving the appropriate pre-clearance to participate. Your subscription will begin on the first day
of the calendar quarter (January 1, April 1, July 1 or October 1) following your enrollment. However, the deadline for entering your subscription is the
15th day of the month prior to the beginning of each calendar quarter (December 15, March 15, June 15 or September 15). If the first day of your
subscription period is not a trading day, then the next preceding trading day will be used. Please also note that these dates are subject to change and
additional blackout periods may arise in accordance with the terms of Baxter’s Securities Trading Policy.

• You are eligible for the Baxter International Inc. Executive Severance Plan, as may be amended from time to time, which provides certain benefits if
you are involuntarily separated from the Company under qualifying circumstances. For purposes of the Plan, you will be considered a Group 1
Executive. Aside from the reasons set forth in the Plan as a Qualifying Termination, you will also be eligible for severance under the Plan in the event
the decision not to appoint you as Chief Executive Officer of Kidney Co. and you resign. A copy of the Baxter International Inc. Executive Severance
Plan is available upon request.

• You will be expected to be in Deerfield, Illinois on a regular basis as appropriate for your role prior to your permanent relocation to Kidney Co.’s
headquarters. You will be eligible for the Baxter Relocation Program or such similar program created by Kidney Co. at the time of your relocation.

Please note that Baxter’s Benefits are subject to change and any such change would supersede this letter.

CONDITIONS OF EMPLOYMENT

• Background Screen: Your employment is contingent upon successful completion of a background screen that will be conducted on behalf of Baxter.
You will receive a notification with more information from our background vendor. A Fair Credit Reporting Act Disclosure and A Summary of Your
Rights Under the Fair Credit Reporting Act will be enclosed with the background check.

• Reference Verification: Your employment is contingent upon successful completion of and verification by your personal references you provide to
Baxter.

• This letter also confirms that you have no obligations, oral or in writing, with any of your former employers which restrict your ability to be employed
by Baxter. You understand that your continued employment is contingent upon this representation. Additionally, Baxter has not made this offer of
employment to you in order to obtain from you any confidential or trade secret information of your former employers, and Baxter will not ask you to
use or disclose such confidential and trade secret information in your Baxter employment. Indeed, you have a continuing obligation not to use or
disclose the confidential and trade secret information of your former employers, and, by entering into Baxter employment, you acknowledge that you
will not use or disclose any of the confidential and trade secret information of your former employers.
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• Drug Screening: Your employment is contingent upon your timely scheduling and completion of a drug screening test in accordance with Company
policy and receiving a negative result. If you have not already indicated your consent, you will be asked to do so before the screening is done. Please
complete your drug screen within 72 hours of receiving notification to do so.

• Authorization to Work: This offer and continued employment at Baxter are contingent upon providing valid authorization to work in the United
States. Federal guidelines require all new employees to complete I-9 forms within 72 hours of their start dates. You will receive an email with
instructions on how to electronically complete the Employee Section, or Section 1 prior and a link to the acceptable forms of identification that you
must bring on your first day. They will be used by your Human Resources representative to complete Section 2 of the I-9 form.

• Employment Agreement: You have accepted a position of trust, which requires the maintenance of confidence. Therefore, you are required to sign
the Company Employment Agreement as part of your job tasks prior to start date. The benefits set forth in this offer letter, including the annual bonus
opportunities, supplemental cash bonus, equity grants, Change in Control agreement and participation in the Executive Severance Plan are contingent
upon your execution of the Employment Agreement.

• Baxter Code of Conduct and Executive Compensation Recoupment Policy: You will be emailed about our Code of Conduct that communicates
Baxter’s business ethics policies and procedures. Please read it as soon as practicable. You will be asked to acknowledge your receipt and
understanding of Baxter’s Code of Conduct following your start date. You and all applicable compensation will be subject to the Executive
Compensation Recoupment Policy as in effect from time to time.

• Entire Agreement and Modifications: Together with the Employment Agreement and other agreements referenced herein, this offer letter includes
the entire agreement between the parties on the subject matter hereof, and supersedes and replaces any prior offer or promise. Any subsequent
modifications to this offer letter must be in writing and signed by a duly authorized representative of the Company.

Chris, we are confident that you will make a significant contribution to the Company. Please indicate your acceptance by signing the offer and returning it to
me. Please do not hesitate to contact me at if you need any assistance or have any questions.

Sincerely,

/s/ Jeanne Mason
Jeanne Mason
SVP, Human Resources

AGREED TO AND ACCEPTED BY:
/s/ Chris Toth 4/22/2023
Chris Toth Date

cc: Joe Almeida, Chairman, Chief Executive Officer & President
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EXHIBIT 21
BAXTER INTERNATIONAL INC.

The following is a list of subsidiaries of Baxter International Inc. as of December 31, 2023, omitting some subsidiaries which, when considered in
the aggregate, would not constitute a significant subsidiary. Where ownership is less than 100% by Baxter International Inc. or a Baxter
International Inc. subsidiary, such has been noted by designating the percentage of ownership. It also includes select subsidiaries, while not a
significant subsidiary as of December 31, 2023, that were established in anticipation of the proposed separation of the Kidney Care business
and may be deemed significant in the future.

Domestic Subsidiary Incorporation
Baxter Corporation Englewood Colorado
Baxter Healthcare Corporation Delaware
Baxter Healthcare of Puerto Rico LLC Delaware
Baxter Pharmaceutical Solutions LLC Delaware
Baxter Sales and Distribution LLC Delaware
Cheetah Medical, Inc. Delaware
Gambro Renal Products, Inc. Colorado
Gambro UF Solutions, Inc. Delaware
Hill-Rom Holdings, Inc Indiana
Laboratorios Baxter S.A. Delaware
Synovis Life Technologies, Inc. Minnesota
Synovis Micro Companies Alliance, Inc. Minnesota
Vantive Export LLC Delaware
Vantive Health LLC Delaware
Vantive US Healthcare LLC Delaware

Foreign Subsidiary Incorporation
Baxter Healthcare Pty Ltd Australia
Baxter Belgium SPRL Belgium
Baxter Distribution Center Europe SA Belgium
Baxter R and D Europe SPRL Belgium
Baxter SA Belgium
Baxter Services Europe SA Belgium
Baxter World Trade SPRL Belgium
Baxter Hospitalar Ltda. Brazil
Baxter Corporation (Canada) Canada
Baxter (China) Investment Co., Ltd China
Baxter Healthcare (Guangzhou) Company Ltd China 88 %
Baxter Healthcare (Shanghai) Company Ltd. China
Baxter Healthcare (Suzhou) Company Ltd China
Baxter Healthcare (Tianjin) Co., Ltd. China
Baxter Healthcare Trading (Shanghai) Co., Ltd. China
RTS Colombia SAS Colombia
Baxter Productos Medicos, Ltda. Costa Rica
Baxter S.A.S. France
Gambro Industries SAS France



Baxter Deutschland GmbH Germany
Baxter Oncology GmbH Germany
Gambro Dialysatoren GmbH Germany
Baxter (Hellas) EPE Greece
Baxter de Guatemala, Sociedad Anonima Guatemala
Baxter Healthcare Limited (Hong Kong, China) Hong Kong
Baxter (India) Private Limited India
Baxter Pharmaceuticals India Pvt Ltd. India
Baxter Innovations & Business Solutions Private Limited (India) India
Baxter Shared Services & Competencies Limited Ireland
Cheetah Medical (Israel), Ltd. Israel
Baxter S.p.A. Italy
Bieffe Medital S.p.A. Italy
Gambro Dasco S.p.A. Italy
Baxter Limited Japan
Baxter S.A. de C.V. Mexico
Gambro Renal Products, S.A. de C.V. Mexico
Baxter Healthcare Limited New Zealand
Baxter Polska Sp. z o.o. Poland
Baxter AO Russian Federation
Baxter Company Ltd Saudi Arabia 51 %
Baxter Healthcare SA (Singapore Woodlands Branch) Singapore
Baxter Pharmaceuticals (Asia) Pte Ltd. Singapore
Baxter Incorporated South Korea
Baxter, S.L. Spain
Baxter Medical AB Sweden
Gambro AB Sweden
Gambro Lundia AB Sweden
Baxter AG Switzerland
Baxter Healthcare SA Switzerland
Vantive Health GmbH Switzerland
Baxter Healthcare Limited (Taiwan) Taiwan
Baxter Healthcare (Thailand) Company Limited Thailand
Baxter Manufacturing, (Thailand) Co., Ltd. Thailand
Baxter Holding B.V. The Netherlands
ApaTech Limited United Kingdom
Baxter Healthcare Limited United Kingdom
Cheetah Medical (UK) Limited United Kingdom



EXHIBIT 23
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements on Form S-3 (No. 333-264528) and Form S-8 (Nos. 333-
104420, 333-143063, 333-174400, 333-174401, 333-206700, 333-206701, 333-255767, 333-255768 and 333-261610) of Baxter International
Inc. of our report dated February 8, 2024 relating to the financial statements and the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting,
which appears in this Form 10-K.

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Chicago, Illinois
February 8, 2024



EXHIBIT 31.1
Certification of Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as Amended

I, José E. Almeida, certify that:

1.    I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Baxter International Inc.;

2.    Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading
with respect to the period covered by this report;

3.    Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this
report;

4.    The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a)    Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed
under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries,
is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b)    Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be
designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c)    Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this
report based on such evaluation; and

(d)    Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5.    The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the
equivalent functions):

(a)    All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial
information; and

(b)    Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

/s/ José E. Almeida
José E. Almeida
Chair, President and
Chief Executive Officer

Date: February 8, 2024



EXHIBIT 31.2

Certification of Chief Financial Officer
Pursuant to Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as Amended

I, Joel T. Grade, certify that:

1.    I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Baxter International Inc.;

2.    Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading
with respect to the period covered by this report;

3.    Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this
report;

4.    The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a)    Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed
under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries,
is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b)    Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be
designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c)    Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this
report based on such evaluation; and

(d)    Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5.    The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the
equivalent functions):

(a)    All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial
information; and

(b)    Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

/s/ Joel T. Grade
Joel T. Grade
Executive Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer

Date: February 8, 2024



EXHIBIT 32.1

Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350,
as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

José E. Almeida, as Chair, President and Chief Executive Officer of Baxter International Inc. (the “Company”), certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C.
Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

(1)    the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2023 as filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”) fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or
15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2)    the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of
operations of the Company.

/s/ José E. Almeida
José E. Almeida
Chair, President and
Chief Executive Officer

February 8, 2024



EXHIBIT 32.2

Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350,

as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

Joel T. Grade, as Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of Baxter International Inc. (the “Company”), certifies, pursuant to 18
U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

(1) the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2023 as filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”) fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or
15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) the information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of
operations of the Company.

/s/ Joel T. Grade
Joel T. Grade
Executive Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer

February 8, 2024



EXHIBIT 97.1

BAXTER INTERNATIONAL INC.
MANDATORY CLAWBACK POLICY

I. BACKGROUND

    Baxter International Inc. (the “Company”) has adopted this policy (as amended and restated, this “Policy”) to provide for the recovery or
“clawback” of certain incentive compensation in the event of a Restatement. This Policy is intended to comply with, and will be interpreted
to be consistent with, the requirements of Section 303A.14 of the New York Stock Exchange (the “NYSE”) Listed Company Manual.
Certain terms used in this Policy are defined in Section VIII below.

II. STATEMENT OF POLICY

    The Company shall recover reasonably promptly the amount of erroneously awarded Incentive-Based Compensation in the event that
the Company is required to prepare an accounting restatement due to the material noncompliance of the Company with any financial
reporting requirement under the securities laws, including any required accounting restatement to correct an error in previously issued
financial statements that is material to the previously issued financial statements, or that would result in a material misstatement if the
error were corrected in the current period or left uncorrected in the current period (a “Restatement”).

    The Company shall recover erroneously awarded Incentive-Based Compensation in compliance with this Policy except to the extent
provided under Section V below.

III. SCOPE OF POLICY

    A. Covered Persons and Recovery Period. This Policy applies to Incentive-Based Compensation received by a person:

• after beginning service as an Executive Officer,

• who served as an Executive Officer at any time during the performance period for that Incentive-Based Compensation,

• while the Company has a class of securities listed on a national securities exchange, and

• during the three completed fiscal years immediately preceding the date that the Company is required to prepare a Restatement
(the “Recovery Period”).

    Notwithstanding this look-back requirement, the Company is only required to apply this Policy to Incentive-Based Compensation
received on or after October 2, 2023.

    For purposes of this Policy, Incentive-Based Compensation shall be deemed “received” in the Company’s fiscal period during which the
Financial Reporting Measure (as defined herein) specified in the Incentive-Based Compensation award is attained, even if the payment or
grant of the Incentive-Based Compensation occurs after the end of that period.

    B. Transition Period. In addition to the Recovery Period, this Policy applies to any transition period (that results from a change in the
Company’s fiscal year) within or immediately following the Recovery Period (a “Transition Period”), provided that a Transition Period
between the last day of the Company’s previous fiscal year end and the first day of the Company’s new fiscal year that comprises a
period of nine to 12 months will be deemed a completed fiscal year.

    C. Determining Recovery Period. For purposes of determining the relevant Recovery Period, the date that the Company is required
to prepare the Restatement is the earlier to occur of:

• the date the board of directors of the Company (the “Board”), a committee of the Board, or the officer or officers of the Company
authorized to take such action if Board action is not required, concludes, or reasonably should have concluded, that the Company
is required to prepare a Restatement, and

• the date a court, regulator, or other legally authorized body directs the Company to prepare a Restatement.

    For clarity, the Company’s obligation to recover erroneously awarded Incentive-Based Compensation under this Policy is not
dependent on if or when a Restatement is filed.
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    D. Method of Recovery. The Compensation and Human Capital Committee of the Company’s Board of Directors (the “Committee”)
will have discretion in determining how to accomplish recovery of erroneously awarded Incentive-Based Compensation under this Policy,
recognizing that different means of recovery may be appropriate in different circumstances.

IV. AMOUNT SUBJECT TO RECOVERY

    A. Recoverable Amount. The amount of Incentive-Based Compensation subject to recovery under this Policy is the amount of
Incentive-Based Compensation received that exceeds the amount of Incentive-Based Compensation that otherwise would have been
received had it been determined based on the restated amounts, computed without regard to any taxes paid.

    B. Covered Compensation Based on Stock Price or TSR. For Incentive-Based Compensation based on stock price or total
shareholder return (“TSR”), where the amount of erroneously awarded Incentive-Based Compensation is not subject to mathematical
recalculation directly from the information in a Restatement, the recoverable amount shall be determined by the Committee based on a
reasonable estimate of the effect of the Restatement on the stock price or TSR upon which the Incentive-Based Compensation was
received. In such event, the Company shall maintain documentation of the determination of that reasonable estimate and provide such
documentation to the NYSE.

V. EXCEPTIONS

    The Company shall recover erroneously awarded Incentive-Based Compensation in compliance with this Policy except to the extent
that the conditions set out below are met and the committee of independent directors responsible for executive compensation decisions
has made a determination that recovery would be impracticable:

    A. Direct Expense Exceeds Recoverable Amount. The direct expense paid to a third party to assist in enforcing this Policy would
exceed the amount to be recovered; provided, however, that before concluding it would be impracticable to recover any amount of
erroneously awarded Incentive-Based Compensation based on expense of enforcement, the Company shall make a reasonable attempt
to recover such erroneously awarded Incentive-Based Compensation, document such reasonable attempt(s) to recover, and provide that
documentation to the NYSE.

    B. Recovery from Certain Tax-Qualified Retirement Plans. Recovery would likely cause an otherwise tax-qualified retirement plan,
under which benefits are broadly available to employees of the Company, to fail to meet the requirements of 26 U.S.C. 401(a)(13) or 26
U.S.C. 411(a) and regulations thereunder.

VI. PROHIBITION AGAINST INDEMNIFICATION

    Notwithstanding the terms of any indemnification arrangement or insurance policy with any individual covered by this Policy, the
Company shall not indemnify any Executive Officer or former Executive Officer against the loss of erroneously awarded Incentive-Based
Compensation, including any payment or reimbursement for the cost of insurance obtained by any such covered individual to fund
amounts recoverable under this Policy.

VII. DISCLOSURE

    The Company shall file all disclosures with respect to this Policy and recoveries under this Policy in accordance with the requirements
of the U.S. Federal securities laws, including the disclosure required by the applicable Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”)
filings.

VIII. DEFINITIONS

    Unless the context otherwise requires, the following definitions apply for purposes of this Policy:
    
    “Executive Officer” means the Company’s president, principal financial officer, principal accounting officer (or if there is no such
accounting officer, the controller), any vice-president of the Company in charge of a principal business unit, division, or function (such as
sales, administration, or finance), any other officer who performs a policy-making function, or any other person who performs similar
policymaking functions for the Company. Executive officers of the Company’s subsidiaries, as applicable, are deemed Executive Officers
of the Company if they perform such policy making functions for the Company. Policy-making function is not intended to include
policymaking functions that are not significant. Identification of an Executive Officer for purposes of this Policy will include at a minimum
executive officers identified pursuant to 17 CFR 229.401(b).
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    “Financial Reporting Measures” means any of the following: (i) measures that are determined and presented in accordance with the
accounting principles used in preparing the Company’s financial statements, and any measures that are derived wholly or in part from
such measures, (ii) stock price and (iii) TSR. A Financial Reporting Measure need not be presented within the Company’s financial
statements or included in a filing with the SEC.

    “Incentive-Based Compensation” means any compensation (including without limitation any time-based incentive award) that is
granted, earned, or vested based wholly or in part upon the attainment of a Financial Reporting Measure.

IX. ADMINISTRATION; AMENDMENT; TERMINATION.

    All determinations under this Policy will be made by the Committee, including determinations regarding how any recovery under this
Policy is effected. Any determinations of the Committee will be final, binding and conclusive and need not be uniform with respect to each
individual covered by this Policy.

    The Committee may amend this Policy from time to time and may terminate this Policy at any time, in each case in its sole discretion.

X. EFFECTIVENESS; OTHER RECOUPMENT RIGHTS

    This Policy shall be effective as of December 1, 2023 (the “Effective Date”). Any right of recoupment under this Policy is in addition to,
and not in lieu of, any other remedies or rights of recoupment that may be available to the Company and its subsidiaries and affiliates
under applicable law or pursuant to the terms of any similar policy (including without limitation the Compensation Recoupment Policy) or
similar provision in any employment agreement, equity award agreement or similar agreement.

    This Policy amends and restates and supersedes in its entirety the Baxter International Inc. Executive Compensation Recoupment
Policy (the “Prior Executive Policy”) as of the Effective Date. The Prior Executive Policy shall apply with respect to Executive Incentive
Compensation (as defined in the Prior Executive Policy) awarded, prior to the Effective Date, to any person designated as an officer by
the Board. For the avoidance of doubt, notwithstanding the foregoing, this Policy shall also apply in accordance with its terms with respect
to all Incentive-Based Compensation received on or after October 2, 2023 by Executive Officers.
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